

Towards simpler medication regimens: understanding and addressing complex medication regimens for older people

Esa Yan Horng Chen

BPharm (Hons)

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Centre for Medicine Use and Safety Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences Monash University Melbourne, Australia 2020

Copyright notice

© Esa Yan Horng Chen (2020).

I certify that I have made all reasonable efforts to secure copyright permissions for third-party content included in this thesis and have not knowingly added copyright content to my work without the owner's permission.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstracti
Thesis including published works declarationv
Acknowledgements xii
Publications and presentationsxv
Publications included in the thesis xv
Paper submitted for publicationxv
Publications published during candidature which do not form part of the thesis
Conference presentations during candidaturexvii
List of abbreviations xx
Aim, objectives, and outlinexxii
PART A: EVALUATING CURRENT MEDICATION INTERVENTIONS FOR OLDER PEOPLE1
1. Chapter One: Background1
1.1 Introduction1
1.2 Healthcare for a global ageing population2
1.2.1 Overall medication burden
1.2.2 Use of high-risk medications
1.3 Medication regimen complexity5
1.3.1 Measuring medication regimen complexity5

1.3.2	Use of the Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI)6
1.3.3	Prevalence of complex medication regimens8
1.3.4	Poor health outcomes associated with complex medication regimens.15
1.4 Ove	erview of residential aged care services in Australia
1.4.1 Austra	Characteristics of individuals accessing residential aged care services in lia22
1.4.2	Medication management in Australian residential aged care23
1.4.3	Medication administration in Australian residential aged care24
1.5 Exist facilities .	sting medication-related interventions in Australian residential aged care
1.5.1	Residential Medication Management Reviews (RMMRs)26
1.5.2	Quality Use of Medicines (QUM)26
1.5.3	Simplification interventions28
1.5.4	Tools for optimising medication use29
1.6 Evi	dence for medication regimen simplification
1.7 Gap	os in the literature
1.8 Aim	is and objectives of the thesis
1.8.1	Aim
1.8.2	Objectives
2. Chapte	er Two: Process, impact and outcomes of medication review in Australian
residential a	aged care facilities: A systematic review

2.1	Synopsis
2.2	Chapter objective
2.3	Publication
2.4	Updated literature review56
PART I COMP	B: INVESTIGATING THE BURDEN OF MEDICATION REGIMEN _EXITY61
3. C	hapter Three: Medication regimen complexity and risk of bleeding in people
taking o	oral anticoagulants: A population-based cohort study in Hong Kong61
3.1	Synopsis61
3.2	Chapter objective62
3.3	Submitted paper
4. C motion	hapter Four: Medication administration in residential aged care: A time-and- study
4.1	Synopsis103
4.2	Chapter objective
4.3	Publication
PART (INTER)	C: ADDRESSING MEDICATION REGIMEN COMPLEXITY: A NOVEL
5. C Simplifi	hapter Five: Development and validation of the Medication Regimen cation Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE)
5.1	Synopsis120
5.2	Chapter objective

5.3	Publication1	21
6. C care fa activitie	hapter Six: Medication regimen complexity in 8 Australian residential aged cilities: impact of age, length of stay, comorbidity, frailty, and dependence in es of daily living	34
6.1	Synopsis1	34
6.2	Chapter objective1	34
6.3	Publication1	34
PARTI	D: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	48
7. C	hapter Seven: Discussion1	48
7.1	Main findings1	48
7.	.1.1 Measuring medication regimen complexity1	49
7.	.1.2 Current burden of medication regimen complexity1	52
7.	.1.3 Medication reviews to address medication regimen complexity1	55
7. ai	.1.4 Medication regimen complexity is a multidisciplinary problem that need n interdisciplinary intervention1	ds 57
7. ei	.1.5 The challenge of getting comprehensive data to inform care and nhance clinical outcomes1	59
7.2	Strengths and limitations1	61
7.	.2.1 Strengths1	61
7.	.2.2 Limitations	62
7.3	Implications for policy and clinical practice1	63
7.4	Future directions1	65

8.	Chapter Eight: Conclusion	169
REF	ERENCES	170
APP	ENDICES	194

Abstract

Background

Older people increasingly use multiple medications in complex medication regimens. Elements of medication regimens that make them complex, such as type of medication formulation, high frequency of administration and additional directions for medication use, increase the burden of medication management for people who manage their own medications. This burden may be exacerbated in people who are frail, have limited dexterity, cognitive impairment or swallowing difficulties. For residents of aged care facilities, this burden of complex medication regimens is usually shared with aged care staff responsible for administering their medication. Currently, as the number of people living in residential aged care facilities (RACFs) is increasing, and residents are older and frailer with more complex care needs, it is increasingly important to optimise medication management to reduce unnecessary burden for both residents and staff.

There is some evidence emerging that medication regimen complexity may be associated with medication non-adherence, adverse drug events, hospitalisation, and mortality. While interventions to simplify medication regimens have been trialled in community and hospital settings, there has been limited research in the RACF setting. It is not known to what extent complex medication regimens are already being addressed in residential aged care.

Aim

The overall aim of this thesis was to evaluate and address the burden of medication regimen complexity on older people and the health systems that serve them. This was undertaken in four parts:

Part A introduces the background and evaluates existing medication-related interventions in RACFs, with a focus on whether these interventions have addressed medication regimen complexity;

i

Part B investigates the burden of complexity in terms of contribution to adverse drug events from high-risk medications and time taken for medication administration;

Part C begins to address medication regimen complexity through the development, validation and evaluation of a simplification tool; and

Part D comprises the discussion and conclusion.

Methods

In Part A, a systematic review of four databases and the grey literature (January 1995 – July 2018) was undertaken to evaluate medication reconciliation and review in Australian RACFs.

Part B included a population-based cohort study in Hong Kong. People with atrial fibrillation (AF) who were new users of oral anticoagulants (OACs) between 2010 and 2016 were identified from the Hong Kong Hospital Authority's electronic medical records. Oral anticoagulants are a high-risk class of medications for which non-adherence and administration errors linked to regimen complexity could have important adverse outcomes. Cox proportional hazards regression was used to estimate the association between medication regimen complexity, measured using the validated scale Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI), and intracranial, gastrointestinal and other bleeding. Baseline characteristics were balanced using inverse probability of treatment weighting.

Time taken to administer complex medication regimens was investigated through a time-and-motion study in three South Australian RACFs. This study explored the factors that contribute to the time needed to perform different medication administration tasks. A single investigator observed a representative sample of medication administration rounds, including different times of day, units, and staff types. The validated Work Observation Method By Activity Timing (WOMBAT) software was used to record observations.

In Part C, a tool to guide medication regimen simplification in RACFs was developed using nominal group technique. Factors identified and prioritised by the sevenmember multidisciplinary expert panel were formulated into an implicit tool. The tool

ii

was validated by testing agreement between two clinical pharmacists applying the tool to a random sample of 50 medication charts.

The validated tool was evaluated in a cluster randomised controlled trial (RCT) of eight RACFs. A cross-sectional analysis of baseline data from this trial was used to explore characteristics of residents with complex medication regimens. Medication regimen complexity was quantified using both number of daily administration times and the MRCI.

Results

The systematic review identified 13 studies, which comprised eight on Residential Medication Management Reviews and five on other comprehensive medication reviews. The studies reported that medication reviews were effective in identifying an average of up to four medication-related problems per review. Between 45 and 84% of recommendations were accepted. There was a lack of clinical and resident-centred outcomes reported, and there was no evidence of simplification as an outcome or of tools being used to simplify medication regimens.

In Part B, people with AF who initiate oral anticoagulants and have the most complex medication regimens had a small but significant increase in risk of experiencing any bleed compared to people with the lowest medication regimen complexity scores (adjusted Hazard Ratio [aHR] 1.46, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.13-1.87), over a median of 501 days of follow-up. This association was not found to be significant in the first 90 days following OAC initiation.

The main finding of the time-and-motion study was that medication administration took an average of five minutes per resident per round. When analysed by type of residential unit, medication administration for residents in memory support units took an extra minute compared to residents in standard units (5.6 minutes vs 4.7 minutes, respectively). In memory support units, almost half (42%) of tablets/capsules were crushed. There was also a fixed time staff took to prepare for each medication round.

The Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE) was developed in Part C. MRS GRACE comprised five ordered open-

iii

ended questions. Based on a review of medication charts, the two clinical pharmacists identified opportunities for simplification for 30/50 and 29/50 residents with moderate agreement at a resident level (Cohen's kappa=0.38, 95% CI 0.12-0.64). This suggested that the tool was suitable for prospective evaluation in the residential aged care setting.

There were 242 residents recruited across eight aged care facilities in South Australia for the cluster RCT evaluating the application of MRS GRACE. In multivariate analysis, frailty was associated with number of daily administration times (Odds Ratio [OR]: 1.13, 95% CI: 1.03-1.24) and MRCI score (OR: 1.26, 95% CI: 1.13-1.41). Dementia severity was inversely associated with both multiple medication administration times (OR: 0.97, 95% CI: 0.94-0.99) and high MRCI score (OR: 0.95, 95% CI: 0.92-0.98).

Conclusion

This thesis identified that medication regimen complexity was not specifically being addressed for people accessing residential aged care, expanded the evidence for clinical and humanistic outcomes of medication regimen complexity, and developed a structured implicit tool to simplify medication regimens. There was existing scope for medication regimen simplification. However, more research is needed into clinical, resident-centred, and economic outcomes of medication regimen complexity. Further studies are needed into the translation of medication regimen simplification interventions in the residential aged care and other settings

Thesis including published works declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at any university or equivalent institution and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

This thesis includes four original papers published in peer reviewed journals and one submitted publication. The core theme of the thesis is evaluating and addressing the burden of medication regimen complexity on health systems. The ideas, development and writing up of all the papers in the thesis were the principal responsibility of myself, the student, working within the Centre for Medicine Use and Safety, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences under the supervision of Professor J Simon Bell, Professor Sarah Hilmer, Dr Jenni Ilomäki and Dr Janet Sluggett.

The inclusion of co-authors reflects the fact that the work came from active collaboration between researchers and acknowledges input into team-based research.

In the case of Chapters Two, Three, Four, Five and Six, my contribution to the work involved the following:

Thesis Chapter	Publication Title	Status	% and nature of student contribution	Co-author name(s) Nature and % of Co-author's contribution*	Co- author(s), Monash student Y/N*
2	Process, impact and outcomes of medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities: A systematic review	Published	55%: concept and design of study, literature search, screening of articles, data extraction and synthesis, preparation of manuscript	 K. Wang: concept and design of study, screening of articles, data extraction and synthesis, review of manuscript (20%) JK. Sluggett: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) J. Ilomäki: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) SN. Hilmer: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) M. Corlis: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) JS. Bell: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) 	Yes No No No No

Thesis Chapter	Publication Title	Status	% and nature of student contribution	Co-author name(s) Nature and % of Co-author's contribution*	Co- author(s), Monash student Y/N*
3	Medication regimen complexity and risk of bleeding in people taking oral anticoagulants: a population- based cohort study in Hong Kong	Submitted	50%: concept and design of study, data analysis and interpretation, preparation of manuscript	 JX. Zhao: concept and design of study, data analysis and interpretation, review of manuscript (10%) J. Ilomäki: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) JK. Sluggett: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) JS. Bell: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) BC. Wimmer: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) SN. Hilmer: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) JE. Blais: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) JE. Blais: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) JE. Concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) JE. Blais: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) ICK. Wong: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) EW. Chan: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) 	No No No No No No

Thesis Chapter	Publication Title	Status	% and nature of student contribution	Co-author name(s) Nature and % of Co-author's contribution*	Co- author(s), Monash student Y/N*
4	Medication administration in Australian residential aged care: A time-and- motion study	Published	50%: concept and design of study, recruitment, data collection, data analysis and interpretation, preparation of manuscript	 JS. Bell: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) J. Ilomäki: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) M. Corlis: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) ME. Hogan: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) T. Caporale: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) J. Van Emden: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) J. Westbrook: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) SN. Hilmer: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) 	No No No No No No No
				review of manuscript (10%)	INO

Thesis Chapter	Publication Title	Status	% and nature of student contribution	Co-author name(s) Nature and % of Co-author's contribution*	Co- author(s), Monash student Y/N*
				JK. Sluggett: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%)	No
				J llomäki: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%)	No
	Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE			SN. Hilmer: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%)	No
		evelopment d validation the edication egimen mplification uide for esidential jed CarE	52.5%: concept and design of study, recruitment, data collection, analysis and interpretation, preparation of manuscript	M. Corlis: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%)	No
				LJ. Picton: data analysis, review of manuscript (2.5%)	No
5				L. Dean: data analysis, review of manuscript (2.5%)	No
				CP. Alderman: data acquisition, review of manuscript (2.5%)	No
				N. Farinola: data acquisition, review of manuscript (2.5%)	No
				J Gailer: data acquisition, review of manuscript (2.5%)	No
	(MRS GRACE)			J. Grigson: data acquisition, review of manuscript (2.5%)	
				AR. Kellie: data acquisition, review of manuscript (2.5%)	No
				PJ. Putsey: data acquisition, review of manuscript	No
				(2.5%)	No
				S. Yu: data acquisition, review of manuscript (2.5%)	No
				JS. Bell: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%)	No

Thesis Chapter	Publication Title	Status	% and nature of student contribution	Co-author name(s) Nature and % of Co-author's contribution*	Co- author(s), Monash student Y/N*
6	Medication regimen complexity in 8 Australian residential aged care facilities: Impact of age, length of stay, comorbidity, frailty, and dependence in activities of daily living	Published	60%: concept and design of study, data analysis and interpretation, preparation of manuscript	 JS. Bell: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) J. Ilomäki: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) C. Keen: data analysis, review of manuscript (5%) M. Corlis: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) ME. Hogan: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) J. Van Emden: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) SN. Hilmer: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) JK. Sluggett: concept and design of study, review of manuscript (5%) 	No No No No No No

I have renumbered sections of submitted or published papers in order to generate a consistent presentation within the thesis.

Student name: Esa Yan Horng Chen

Student signature:

Date: 23/08/2020

I hereby certify that the above declaration correctly reflects the nature and extent of the student's and co-authors' contributions to this work. In instances where I am not the responsible author I have consulted with the responsible author to agree on the respective contributions of the authors.

Main Supervisor name: Simon Bell

Main Supervisor signature:

Date: 23/08/2020

Acknowledgements

The majority of this work was undertaken on land stolen from the Wurundjeri people of the mighty Kulin Nation. I acknowledge their sovereignty and pay my respects to their elders, past, present, and emerging. I also wish to acknowledge the continuing connection of First Nations people to land, water and community in all the places in Australia that this PhD has taken me. It is outrageous that the work in this thesis may disproportionately not benefit First Nations people because not only are First Nations people less likely than non-Indigenous Australians to reach older age, First Nations older people are also under-represented in residential aged care because they often do not believe that residential care is culturally safe for them. First Nations elders are holders of cultural knowledge, keepers of traditional lore and role models to younger generations. We must treasure and protect them.

My first thanks goes to my supervisors: Professor Simon Bell, Professor Sarah Hilmer, Dr Jenni Ilomaki, and Dr Janet Sluggett. It's not always the case to have supervisors who are also your sponsors, but my supervisors were always generous with encouraging me and putting me in the position to take advantage of opportunities. Thank you so much for your patience and for sharing your knowledge with me. I'm also grateful to Dr Julia Gilmartin-Thomas and Dr Vivienne Mak for their consistent guidance throughout my entire PhD journey on my review panel. A special thank you to Dr Dan Malone, who was the best panel chair I could have asked for and objectively the best panel chair ever.

I thank the Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre for my candidature. Not only for the funding, but for being such fierce advocates for including consumers in research. I was lucky to enter my research training with this value being foundational. Without a doubt, our community is better for it. To the residents and staff of the residential aged care facilities we partnered with, and especially those I got to visit and spend time with, thank you very much for having me. Your interest and enthusiasm for the research made me that much more interested and enthusiastic for it too. Thanks also to the Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, for topping up my scholarship, and to all the professional staff whose hard work facilitated this.

I was fortunate to be a recipient of an Endeavour Cheung Kong Research Fellowship, which allowed me to complete five months of my PhD abroad at The University of Hong Kong. Many thanks to the Australian Government Department of Education and Training for funding the Endeavour Awards. I would like to thank Dr Esther Chan for supporting my application, and both Dr Chan and Professor Ian Wong for welcoming me into their team. To all of my colleagues in Hong Kong, and especially to Jessica Shami, Joe Blais, Jesse Zhao, and Adrienne Chan, you made it so sad for me to leave. I'm so grateful to have had the chance to spend time with you during and outside of work. Most of all, I owe a great deal of thanks to my Uncle Sam and Aunty Janet, for welcoming me into their home in Hong Kong and supporting my study whilst I was there. I was humbled by your kindness and generosity.

A PhD can be an extremely isolating experience. To my friends at Monash, thank you for minimising the damage: Amanda Cross, Kate Wang, Jacqui Stanisopoulous, Stephen Wood, Leonie Picton, Natali Jokanovic, Samanta Lalic, Tali Ryan-Atwood, and Claire Keen. Extra thanks to the people I annoyed the most: Leslie Dowson, Kate Petrie and Thyroid CRE: Celene Yap, Wirawan Jeong, Jenifer Liang and Katrina Hui. To the friends I made in the Parkville Postgraduate Association: thank you for enriching my life and that of the campus community. Cheng Sun, Anna Sexton, and Lisa Barbaro: you are inspiring people and you make the world better. To my mentors, Simon McKenzie-Nickson and Dimi Hoppe, thank you for helping me through the many days I genuinely thought I couldn't do it. I have never taken your support and positivity for granted.

Outside of academia, I would like to thank Lina Ly for always answering her phone. I do kind of wish you hadn't indoctrinated me into the bubble tea cult though. To my favourite sister, Lilly, thanks for being strong and inspiring me to be also. Thanks to Beth and the Eckman family for everything you have done for me and Lilly. I am so grateful for my aunties who provide the best, most loving care for my grandma. You show me a model of "aged care" that I have yet to see replicated anywhere. To Taylor Swift, who I spent so much time with over these years, thank you and I'm sorry. Missing the tour remains one of the biggest sacrifices I had to make for this PhD. I also thank Meg Mac for reminding me, when I was struggling, to roll up my sleeves, that everything would be alright.

Finally, I stand on the shoulders of giants. My success is the success of my parents, Kam (邱金梅) and Francis (曾仁华), who came to Australia barely knowing English, overcame a few false starts, and have built a successful, beloved business that is going 26 years strong. Immigrants – they get the job done. I am so proud to be your daughter. Thank you for leading by example.

Publications and presentations

Publications included in the thesis

- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Bell JS, Ilomäki J, Corlis M, Hogan ME, Caporale T, Van Emden J, Westbrook JI, Hilmer SN, Sluggett JK. Medication administration in Australian residential aged care: A time-and-motion study. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 2021; 27(1): 103-110.
- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Bell JS, Ilomäki J, Keen C, Corlis M, Hogan ME, Van Emden J, Hilmer SN, Sluggett JK. Medication Regimen Complexity In 8 Australian Residential Aged Care Facilities: Impact Of Age, Length Of Stay, Comorbidity, Frailty, And Dependence In Activities Of Daily Living. *Clinical Interventions in Aging* 2019; 14: 1783-1795.
- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Wang KN, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Bell JS. Process, impact and outcomes of medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities: A systematic review. *Australasian Journal on Ageing* 2019; 38(S2): 9-25.
- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Picton LJ, Dean L, Alderman CP, Farinola N, Gailer J, Grigson J, Kellie AR, Putsey PJC, Yu S, Bell JS. Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE). *Clinical Interventions in Aging* 2018; 13: 975-986.

Paper submitted for publication

 <u>Chen EYH</u>, Zhao JX, Ilomäki J, Sluggett JK, Bell JS, Wimmer BC, Hilmer SN, Blais JE, Wong ICK, Chan EW. Medication regimen complexity and risk of bleeding in people taking oral anticoagulants: a population-based cohort study in Hong Kong.

Publications published during candidature which do not form part of the thesis

- Sluggett JK, Hopkins RE, <u>Chen EYH</u>, Ilomäki J, Corlis M, Van Emden J, Hogan ME, Caporale T, Ooi CE, Hilmer SN, Bell JS. Impact of Medication Regimen Simplification on Medication Administration Times and Health Outcomes in Residential Aged Care: 12 month follow up of the SIMPLER randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 2020; 9(4): 1053.
- Sluggett JK, <u>Chen EYH</u>, Ilomäki J, Corlis M, Van Emden J, Hogan ME, Caporale T, Keen C, Hopkins R, Ooi CE, Hilmer SN, Hughes GA, Luu A, Nguyen K, Comans T, Edwards S, Quirke L, Patching A, Bell JS. Reducing the Burden of Complex Medication Regimens: SImplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents (SIMPLER) Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 2020; 21(8): 1114-1120.e4.
- Bell JS, McInerney B, <u>Chen EYH</u>, Bergen PJ, Reynolds L, Sluggett JK. Strategies to simplify complex medication regimens. *Australian Journal of General Practice* 2020; 50(1-2): 43-48.
- Sluggett JK, Page AT, <u>Chen EYH</u>, Ilomäki J, Corlis M, Van Emden J, Hogan ME, Caporale T, Angley M, Hilmer SN, Ooi CE, Bell JS. Protocol for a nonrandomised pilot and feasibility study evaluating a multicomponent intervention to simplify medication regimens for people receiving community-based home care services. *BMJ Open* 2019; 9(7): e025345.
- Hughes GA, Bell JS, <u>Chen EYH</u>, Ooi CE, Caporale T, Hogan ME, Corlis M, Van Emden J, Sluggett JK. Would you like to participate? Factors impacting on participant recruitment for quality use of medicines interventions in residential aged care. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy* 2019; 15(5): e12.
- Wang KN, Bell JS, <u>Chen EYH</u>, Gilmartin-Thomas JFM, Ilomäki J. Medications and prescribing patterns as factors associated with hospitalizations from longterm care facilities: A systematic review. *Drugs & Aging* 2018; 35(5): 423-457.

- Sluggett JK, <u>Chen EYH</u>, Ilomäki J, Corlis M, Hilmer SN, Van Emden J, Ooi CE, Nguyen K, Comans T, Hogan ME, Caporale T, Edwards S, Quirke L, Patching A, Bell JS. SImplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents (SIMPLER): study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial. *Trials* 2018; 19(1): 37.
- 8. <u>Chen EYH</u>, Sluggett JK, Bell JS. What Steve Jobs knew about medicines. Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research 2018; 48(5): 401-402.

Conference presentations during candidature

- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Bell JS. Development, validation and application of the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE). Oral presentation (symposium speaker), APSA Annual Conference 2019, Melbourne, December 2019.
- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Bell JS, MRS GRACE consensus group. Variation in medication regimen complexity in Australian residential aged care. Poster presentation, Asian Conference for Pharmacoepidemiology, Kyoto, October 2019.
- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Luu A, Bell JS, Corlis M, Sluggett JK. Top recommendations to make medication regimens SIMPLER in aged care. Oral presentation (presented by Bell JS), Australian Association of Gerontology Conference, Melbourne, November 2018.
- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Bell JS, MRS GRACE consensus group. The Medication Regimen Simplification Guide in Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE): helping to make medications simpler. Poster presentation, National Medicines Symposium, Canberra, May 2018.

- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Bell JS, MRS GRACE consensus group. Development and validation of an implicit tool to simplify medication regimens in residential aged care. Poster presentation, Asian Conference for Pharmacoepidemiology, Brisbane, October 2017.
- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Bell JS, MRS GRACE consensus group. The Medication Regimen Simplification Guide in Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE): a novel tool to optimise medication regimens for residents of aged care facilities. Oral and poster presentation, Australasian Pharmaceutical Science Association-Australian Society of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacologists and Toxicologists Joint Scientific meeting, Brisbane, December 2017.
- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Bell JS, MRS GRACE consensus group. Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide in Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE). Poster presentation, NHMRC National Institute for Dementia Research Australian Dementia Forum, Melbourne, October 2017.
- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Bell JS, MRS GRACE consensus group. How can medication regimens be simplified for residents of aged care facilities? Oral and poster presentation, Parkville Postgraduate Association's 12th Annual Postgraduate Research Symposium, Melbourne, October 2017.
- 9. Sluggett JK, <u>Chen EYH</u>. Reducing unnecessary medication complexity in residential aged care. Oral presentation, PSA17, Sydney, July 2017.
- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Wang KN, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Bell JS. Medication review in residential aged care facilities: a systematic review. Oral and poster presentation, Australian Society of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacologists and Toxicologists-Molecular Pharmacology of G Protein-Coupled Receptors Joint Scientific meeting, Melbourne, November 2016.

- 11. <u>Chen EYH</u>, Wang KN, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Bell JS. A systematic review of Australia's medication review program in residential aged care. Oral and poster presentation, NHMRC Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre Annual Meeting, Sydney, November 2016.
- <u>Chen EYH</u>, Wang KN, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Bell JS. Clinical medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities (RACFs): a systematic review. Oral presentation, Parkville Postgraduate Association's 11th Annual Postgraduate Research Symposium, Melbourne, September 2016.

List of abbreviations

ADE	Adverse drug event
ADL	Activities of daily living
AF	Atrial fibrillation
aHR	Adjusted hazard ratio
AMCI	Antiretroviral Medication Complexity Index
ARC	Antiretroviral Regimen Complexity
CDARS	Clinical Data Analysis and Reporting System
CCI	Charlson Comorbidity Index
CI	Confidence interval
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
DOAC	Direct oral anticoagulant
ED	Emergency department
EMTCI	Epilepsy Medication Treatment Complexity Index
GP	General practitioner
HA	Hong Kong Hospital Authority
HR	Hazard ratio
IQR	Interquartile range
ISMP	Institute of Safe Medication Practices
LTCF	Long-term care facility

MCI	Medication Complexity Index
MRCI	Medication regimen complexity index
MRP	Medication-related problem
MRS GRACE	Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE
OAC	Oral anticoagulant
отс	Over the counter
OR	Odds ratio
QOL	Quality of life
QUM	Quality Use of Medicines
RACF	Residential aged care facility
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
RMMR	Residential Medication Management Review
SD	Standard deviation
SE	Standard error
SIMPLER	SImplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents
UMS	Universal Medication Schedule
USA	United States of America
WOMBAT	Work Observation Method By Activity Timing

Aim, objectives, and outline

The overall aim of this thesis was to evaluate and address the burden of medication regimen complexity on older people and the health systems that serve them. This aim was achieved through the following specific objectives:

- 1. To systematically review Australian literature on comprehensive medication review for residents of residential aged care facilities (RACFs);
- To investigate the association between medication regimen complexity and safety of oral anticoagulants in people with atrial fibrillation (AF) in a population-based study in Hong Kong;
- To estimate the time taken to administer medication regimens to residents of RACFs;
- 4. To develop and validate a medication regimen simplification guide for residents of RACFs; and
- To investigate the prevalence and correlates of medication regimen complexity in residents of RACFs prior to application of a medication regimen simplification guide.

Part A of the thesis focuses on current interventions that may address medication regimen complexity and medication-related harms. Chapter One includes a background on RACFs and medication use in older people including residents of RACFs. Chapter Two is a systematic review of the Australian literature investigating medication review and reconciliation, which forms the main intervention to identify and resolve medication-related problems in RACFs over the past two decades.

Part B of the thesis focuses on the burden of medication regimen complexity to older people with complex medications regimens and to the health systems they live within. Chapters Three and Four investigate the outcomes of complex medication regimens through a) clinical outcomes of hospitalisation due to bleeding, which is burdensome for older people themselves as well as the wider health system, and b) time spent on medication administration in RACFs, which is burdensome for both RACF staff and residents. Part C describes the development of a new tool to assist clinicians undertake medication simplification and address the burden of complex medication regimens. Chapter Five introduces the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE). The application of this tool by a clinical pharmacist was evaluated in the Simplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-term care residents (SIMPLER) cluster-randomised controlled trial. Chapter Six investigates the baseline variability in medication regimen complexity of participants in the SIMPLER trial.

Part D of the thesis includes Chapter Seven, a discussion of the main findings of the thesis, strengths, limitations, and future directions. Chapter Eight concludes the thesis.

PART A: EVALUATING CURRENT MEDICATION INTERVENTIONS FOR OLDER PEOPLE

CHAPTER ONE: BACKGROUND

CHAPTER TWO: Process, impact and outcomes of medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities: A systematic review

Chen EYH, Wang KN, Sluggett JK, et al. Process, impact and outcomes of medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities: A systematic review. *Australasian Journal on Ageing.* 2019; 38(S2): 9-25.

PART B: INVESTIGATING THE BURDEN OF MEDICATION REGIMEN COMPLEXITY

CHAPTER THREE: Medication regimen complexity and risk of bleeding in people taking oral anticoagulants: a population-based cohort study in Hong Kong

Chen EYH, Zhao JX, Ilomäki J, et al. Medication regimen complexity and risk of bleeding in people taking oral anticoagulants: a population-based cohort study in Hong Kong.

<u>CHAPTER FOUR: Medication administration in Australian residential aged care: A time-and-</u> motion study

Chen EYH, Bell JS, Ilomäki J, et al. Medication administration in Australian residential aged care: A time-and-motion study. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 2020; online early. DOI: 10.1111/jep.13393.

PART C: ADDRESSING MEDICATION REGIMEN COMPLEXITY: A NOVEL INTERVENTION

<u>CHAPTER FIVE: Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Simplification</u> <u>Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE)</u>

Chen EYH, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, et al. Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE). *Clinical Interventions in Aging* 2018; 13: 975-986.

<u>CHAPTER SIX: Medication regimen complexity in 8 Australian residential aged care</u> <u>facilities: impact of age, length of stay, comorbidity, frailty, and dependence in activities of</u> <u>daily living</u>

Chen EYH, Bell JS, Ilomäki J, et al. Medication Regimen Complexity In 8 Australian Residential Aged Care Facilities: Impact Of Age, Length Of Stay, Comorbidity, Frailty, And Dependence In Activities Of Daily Living. *Clinical Interventions in Aging* 2019; 14: 1783-1795.

PART D: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

CHAPTER SEVEN: Discussion

CHAPTER EIGHT: Conclusion

PART A: EVALUATING CURRENT MEDICATION INTERVENTIONS FOR OLDER PEOPLE

1. Chapter One: Background

1.1 Introduction

Older people are using more medications to manage multimorbidity associated with ageing.¹ As more people are getting older, associated demands on health systems are also increasing.² In Australia, more people are entering residential aged care, and the point of entry is becoming more acute as government policy encourages and provides support for people to stay in their homes for longer.^{3,4} Residents of aged care are a vulnerable population that often rely on aged care staff for medication administration and other care duties.³ Additionally, the increased number of people with complex care needs needing residential aged care means it is increasingly challenging to provide high quality and safe care for residents.⁵ Finding ways to optimise medication management is therefore important.

Medication regimen complexity is of increasing concern as people are supported to stay in their homes for longer and are therefore responsible for managing their increasing medication burden. This includes organising their own medication regimens, which may be prescribed by multiple prescribers in a fragmented care team.⁶⁻⁸ Medication regimens may then be highly complex if or when people enter residential aged care. Elements of medication regimens including formulations, frequency of administration, and additional directions for medication use, when considered as a whole as 'medication regimen complexity' has been associated with medication non-adherence, adverse drug events, hospitalisation and mortality.⁹⁻¹¹

Medication regimen simplification is a promising intervention because the potential benefits are multifaceted. Simplification, which involves consolidating the number of medication dosing times through administering medication at the same time and optimising the use of medication formulations, may improve clinical outcomes which complex medication regimens have been associated with. Reducing complexity may improve the experience of medication administration for residents by reducing the burden of frequent administration and/or pill burden.¹² For aged care staff

responsible for administering medication, time saved from reduced frequency of administration may be redirected into other care activities that improve the safety and/or quality of care.⁵

The aim of this thesis was to evaluate and address the burden of medication regimen complexity on older people and the health systems that serve them. First, a review of existing medication-related interventions undertaken in Australian residential aged care facilities that may potentially be reducing medication regimen complexity was completed. Then, investigation into the burden of complex medication regimens in terms of clinical outcomes and human resources was undertaken. While the studies were conducted mainly in the Australian residential aged care setting, a population-based study in Hong Kong provided an opportunity to investigate a clinical outcome of medication regimen complexity in older people in a different health system. The research in Hong Kong focused on oral anticoagulants (OACs) because this is a high-risk medication class and non-adherence and administration errors linked to regimen complexity may be associated with serious adverse outcomes. OACs are often but not exclusively used by older people who may have difficulty self-managing their medication regimen due to frailty, limited dexterity or cognitive impairment.^{13,14} Finally, a tool to guide medication regimen simplification was developed and validated to address regimen complexity. A crosssectional analysis explored characteristics of residents with complex medication regimens prior to application of the medication regimen simplification tool.

1.2 Healthcare for a global ageing population

Population ageing is a global trend with wide-ranging implications for individuals and health systems. Overall, people aged 65 years and older comprise the fastest growing age group.² In Australia, people aged 65 or older comprised approximately 15% of the population in 2017.¹⁵ Hong Kong reported a similar proportion of 16% in 2017.¹⁶ The oldest group, comprising people aged 80 years and older, is also set to increase.² The increasing number of people living longer reflects considerable advances in public health. However, quality of life during these longer life spans, and how we care for the increasing number of older people is now of imminent

importance. This includes a focus on how older people can safely and effectively manage medications to minimise the risk of medication-related harm.

1.2.1 Overall medication burden

Medical conditions, particularly chronic conditions, increase with age, and so too does medication use to treat those medical conditions. Polypharmacy, or the use of multiple medications, is on the rise internationally in line with global ageing trends.^{17,18} Older people have a higher risk of medication-related problems than younger people due to changing physiology which can affect the absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion of medications.¹⁹ In addition, changing riskbenefit profiles of medications and frequent medication changes increase the burden of medication management. A study of over 350,000 older veterans in the United States of America (USA) aged 65 years and older found a median of four medication changes over a one year period, while the overall number of medications used remained stable.²⁰ In 12% of participants, there were 10 or more medication changes.²⁰ Addition of a new medication was the most common type of medication change (occurring in 61% of participants).²⁰ In contrast, a German study found discontinuation and dosage alterations were the most frequent changes, with 99% of participants experiencing at least one medication change in nine months.²¹ The overall number of medications also remained stable.²¹ "Treatment complexity and feasibility when making clinical management decisions for older adults with multimorbidity" was identified as a guiding principle for patient-centred care of older adults with multiple chronic conditions by the American Geriatrics Society Expert Panel on the Care of Older Adults with Multimorbidity.²²

1.2.2 Use of high-risk medications

High-risk medications are medications that have a higher risk of significant medication harm if involved in errors.^{23,24} Various lists of high-risk medications have been developed, often based on setting and local use. The National Safety and Quality Health Service Standard requires Australian health services to identify their high-risk medications and develop appropriate protocols to ensure safe use.²⁵ The Institute of Safe Medication Practices (ISMP) have listed high-alert medications utilised within acute care, community, and long-term care settings.^{23,26,27} Common

3

classes across the various settings include opioids, insulin, and chemotherapeutic agents.^{23,24,26,27} However, there is not yet a clear, international consensus on the definition of high-risk medications or list of high-risk medications.²⁸ Despite the lack of general consensus, the use of high-risk medications is common in older people and may lead to serious adverse outcomes.

For example, in acute care, all antithrombotic medications are considered to be highrisk medications by the ISMP, while only parenteral and OACs are considered as high-risk in long-term care, and only warfarin is listed in community settings.^{23,26,27} OACs are indicated for reducing ischaemic stroke risk in people with atrial fibrillation (AF), but may also increase risk of bleeding. In older people, there is some hesitancy in prescribing due to the perceived risk/benefit ratio. A meta-analysis of OAC use in people with and without dementia found a mean prevalence of OAC use of 32% in people living with dementia and 48% in people without dementia.²⁹ The median age ranged from 73 to 85 years.²⁹ An audit of 19 RACFs in southeast Queensland found that around 40% of residents who were assessed to have AF, and were indicated OAC use, were not prescribed anticoagulation.³⁰ These residents also did not have any clinical notes to indicate why OACs had not been prescribed.³⁰ A retrospective review of 1952 residents of Australian RACFs receiving medication reviews found that only 35% of eligible residents took an anticoagulant, and residents were less likely to receive anticoagulation as they got older.³¹ Bleeding risk was identified as a greater influence on anticoagulant prescribing than stroke risk.³¹ OACs are high-risk medications but remain guideline-recommended therapy with evidence of efficacy in older people.³²

The introduction of direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs) has led to an overall increased use of OACs.^{33,34} DOACs offer standard dosing, fewer drug interactions, and less intensive laboratory monitoring.³⁴ While utilisation and public cost of OACs has been steadily increasing, there is room for improvement in OAC prescribing.³⁵ DOAC uptake has not been equal between populations, with residents of RACFs less likely to receive DOACs.³³ Prescribers may feel more confident with more evidence around the safety profile of OACs and pre-existing risk factors in older people.

4

1.3 Medication regimen complexity

Medication regimen complexity refers to medication regimen elements in addition to a simple count of the number of medications, or polypharmacy. Polypharmacy is the use of multiple medications, commonly nine or more, or the inappropriate or unnecessary use of medications.³⁶ Medication regimens comprise other elements in addition to the number of medications. Elements that contribute to the complexity of medication regimens that have been included in various measures of complexity have been administration frequency, route of administration, number of tablets or dosage units per administration, relationship of administration to food, and other additional instructions.^{37,38} It is important to consider these elements together as they all contribute to the burden of medication administration and management.³⁹

1.3.1 Measuring medication regimen complexity

Multiple approaches to measuring medication regimen complexity are described in the literature. A systematic review of literature published up to May 2012 investigated the different scales and methods.³⁸ While there were 10 studies that defined complexity using their own algorithms, there were five validated scales used by the majority of studies: Medication Regimen Complexity Index, Medication Complexity Index (MCI), Epilepsy Medication Treatment Complexity Index (EMTCI), Antiretroviral Regimen Complexity (ARC), and Antiretroviral Medication Complexity Index (AMCI).³⁸ Since the systematic review, new indexes have been created to cater for specific settings in which the existing scales do not perform well.⁴⁰ For example, in intensive care units, critically ill hospitalised patients rely completely on the care of medical and care staff who are responsible for their medications.^{41,42} In this setting, a patient-oriented index designed assuming chronic medications as the norm was not sensitive enough to be useful.

The Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI) has emerged to be the goldstandard and most widely used method of quantifying medication regimen complexity.^{11,38} It has been translated and validated in German,⁴³ Brazilian Portuguese,⁴⁴ Spanish,⁴⁵ Turkish,⁴⁶ and Korean⁴⁷ for use internationally.

5
1.3.2 Use of the Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI)

The MRCI is a validated 65-item scale comprising of three sections. Section A assesses the type and number of different formulations present in the regimen (e.g. tablet, cream, turbuhaler). Section B assesses the frequency of administration for each medication (e.g. once daily, every eight hours). Section C assesses additional directions for medication administration (e.g. to have with food, to break tablets). Scores from each section are added to calculate the MRCI of the medication regimen. The MRCI treats complexity mainly as a dimension related to the medication regimen, largely independent to the patient, although some patient factors such as swallowing difficulties may be included through weighting for need to crush tablets.

The MRCI does not contain a direct count of the number of medications in a regimen. Regimens with the same number of medications may return different MRCI scores based on other complexity factors.⁴⁸ The minimum MRCI score is 1.5, which represents an oral tablet with instructions to take one tablet daily when required.^{48,49} There is no "maximum" MRCI score as theoretically there is no limit to the number of medications a person can be using.⁴⁸

The MRCI is sensitive enough to discriminate between medication regimens with the same number of medications. This is illustrated in Figure 1, where all regimens have three medications, but different MRCI scores. Regimen 1 receives additional points for the added complexity of having to break tablet A and twice daily administration of tablets A and B. However, MRCI score and medication count still show strong correlation.⁴⁸ One limitation of the use of the MRCI is that there is no direct count of the number of overall daily administration times. Section B of the MRCI adds the frequency of each individual medication. That is, Regimens 2 and 3 in Figure 1 have the same MRCI score, despite Regimen 2 having three overall daily administration times, and Regimen 3 having two overall daily administration times. This is particularly relevant in settings such as RACFs, where number of overall daily administration rounds needed.



	Regimen 1	Regimen 2	Regimen 3
MRCI section A	1	1	1
MRCI section B	5	4	4
MRCI section C	1	0	0
Total MRCI score	7	5	5

Figure 1: Example medication regimens with the same therapeutic intent

In addition to the original application, the MRCI has been used in two main ways in the literature to quantify regimen complexity: disease-specific and patient-level. Disease-specific use of the MRCI involves counting only those medications used to treat a singular disease. For example, including only antidiabetic medications will produce a diabetes-specific MRCI score.^{50,51} This approach has been used to compare complexity of disease-specific regimens and the impact on disease-specific clinical outcomes, such as A1C goals in people with diabetes.⁵⁰

While the MRCI was developed and validated in a cohort of people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), the regimens used in the development and validation included all prescription medications, not only those used to manage COPD.⁵⁰ This indicates that a disease-specific application was not the originally intended use of the MRCI. The original MRCI instructions also restrict the MRCI to all regular and pro re nata (PRN, or as needed) prescription medications only.⁴⁸ However, people may use complementary and alternative medicines or supplements that have not been prescribed but would contribute to the patient's experience of regimen complexity.⁵² To differentiate from the disease-specific uses and original MRCI, the term "patient-level" MRCI score is sometimes used to refer to an MRCI score that includes all the medications a person is using, including prescription and

over-the-counter medications.^{52,53} The patient-level MRCI was proposed to be a more practical measure of regimen complexity for patients across different disease states and with comorbid conditions.⁵³ However, it is still largely a medication-related measure that excludes patient factors, such as health literacy or dexterity, that contribute to the patient perspective on complexity.

Disease-specific and patient-level MRCI are not always correlated. A number of factors contribute to the extent to which they overlap, and the extent to which they can predict clinical outcomes. For example, number of comorbidities and relative severity of conditions may determine the proportion of patient-level MRCI score that disease-specific complexity contributes. Other conditions and medications present in the regimen may impact on clinical outcomes.⁵⁰

1.3.3 Prevalence of complex medication regimens

The prevalence and intensity of complex medication regimens differs among different populations and settings.⁵¹ The use of the MRCI as a validated and gold-standard index has allowed comparison between studies, but what is considered to be a "highly complex" medication regimen has not been well established. MRCI scores can vary relative to individual settings and populations, given different prescribing patterns and guidelines in different countries and risk profiles for medication use in people of various ages.^{49,52} As a result, studies using the MRCI have used various cut points established using differing methods, commonly based on sample-specific distributions (Table 1). Few studies have been undertaken in the RACF setting.

Table 1. Summary of studies investigating medication regimen complexity thresholds using the Medication Regimen Complexity

 Index (MRCI)

Author, year	Setting	Population	Sample size	Age	Medication	MRCI	Outcome	MRCI cut	Determination
(study type)	(country)				assessment (included OTC)	score		point(s)	of cut points
Díez- Manglano et al, 2020 ⁵⁴ (cohort study)	Internal medicine departments in 5 hospitals (Spain)	People with ≥2 chronic, interrelated, progressive diseases whose progression cause disability	223	Mean: 79.8 (SD 8.6)	Not reported (U)	Mean: 32 (SD 15.2)	Mortality	Low: <21 High: ≥21	Lowest MRCI quartile in the study sample
Ruiz Ramos et al, 2020 ⁵⁵ (retrospective observational study)	1 tertiary hospital (Spain)	>65 years and visited emergency department	201	Mean: 77.6 (SD 15.3)	Electronic primary care prescription system (N)	Medians Admission: 21 (IQR 14-30.5) Discharge: 25 (IQR 17.5-33)	Repeat visits to the health care system in those patients who visit emergency departments due to an MRP	>20	Median value
Ayele et al, 2019 ⁵⁶ (cross- sectional study)	1 general hospital (Ethiopia)	>18 years with type 2 diabetes mellitus	275	Mean: 53.7 (SD 9.94)	Hospital medication chart (U)	Range: 2- 19	Adherence, glycaemic control	Low: ≤4 Medium: 5–8 High: >8	Adapted from Yeh et al. (2017)

Author, year (study type)	Setting (country)	Population	Sample size	Age	Medication assessment (included OTC)	MRCI score	Outcome	MRCI cut point(s)	Determination of cut points
Morillo- Verdugo et al, 2019 ⁵⁷ (cross- sectional study)	1 tertiary hospital (Spain)	>50 years with HIV taking antiretroviral treatment	223	Median: 53.0 (IQR 52.0-57.0)	Electronic hospital pharmacy dispensing records (U)	Not reported	Polypharmacy	11.25	Receiver operating characteristics curves
Santos et al, 2019 ⁵⁸ (cross- sectional study)	1 general public hospital (Brazil)	All ≥60 years	255	Mean: 75.0 (SD 13.0)	Electronic medical records (U)	Mean: 17.0 (SD 14.5)	ED visit within 30 days of hospitalisation	>16.5	Adapted from Pantuzza et al. (2018)
Pantuzza et al, 2018 ⁵⁹ (cross- sectional study)	2 primary healthcare centres (Brazil)	≥60 years with at least 1 medication	227	Mean: 71.4 (SD 7.5)	Face-to-face interviews (U)	Median: 12 (IQR 3-38)	Standardize the adapted Brazilian version of the MRCI for the population of elderly patients	Low: ≤9.0 Medium: >9 and ≤16.5 High: >16.5	P25 and P75 MRCI percentiles
Colavecchia et al, 2017 ⁶⁰ (retrospective cohort study)	1 hospital (USA)	≥18 years hospitalised for heart failure and discharged to home	1452	Readmitted mean: 68 (SD 15) Not readmitted mean: 68 (SD 15)	Medication discharge list (U)	Readmitted mean: 15 (SD 6.2) Not readmitted mean: 14 (SD 6.8)	30-day hospital readmission	≥15	Adapted from Schoonover et al. (2014)

Author, year (study type)	Setting (country)	Population	Sample size	Age	Medication assessment (included OTC)	MRCI score	Outcome	MRCI cut point(s)	Determination of cut points
Sevilla- Sanchez et al, 2017 ⁶¹ (cross- sectional study)	1 acute geriatric unit in a referral hospital (Spain)	All with advanced chronic conditions needing palliative care and with limited life expectancy	235	Mean: 86.8 (SD 5.37)	Medical records (U)	Mean: 38.0 (SD 16.54)	Prevalence, causality, severity, and preventability of the ADEs	>38	Sample mean
McDonald et al, 2016 ⁶² (clustered randomised trial)	1 urban home care agency (USA)	All	Intervention: 2550 Control: 5369	Intervention mean: 68.4 (SD 14.1) Control mean: 67.1 (SD 14.4)	Electronic medical records (U)	Not reported	Hospitalisation and ED presentation	≥24.5	Highest quintile of study sample
Yeh et al, 2016 ⁵⁰ (cross- sectional study)	1 healthcare centre (USA)	≥18 years with type 2 diabetes mellitus	368	Mean: 63	Electronic medication list (Y)	Range 2- 98.5	A1C goal attainment	Low: ≤20 Moderate: >20 to 40 High: >40	Tertiles in the study sample
Herson et al, 2015 ⁶³ (cross- sectional study)	6 RACFs in South Australia (Australia)	≥65 years	383	Mean: 87.5 (SD 6.2)	Extracted from medication records by trained study nurses	Median: 43.5 (range 4-113)	Factors associated with medication regimen complexity	Q1: ≤32.5 Q2: > 32.5– 43.5 Q3: >43.5– 55.5 Q4: >55.5	Quartiles in the study sample

Author, year (study type)	Setting (country)	Population	Sample size	Age	Medication assessment	MRCI score	Outcome	MRCI cut point(s)	Determination of cut points
					(included OTC)				
Wimmer et al, 2015 ⁶⁴ (cohort study)	1 district in central Stockholm (Sweden)	≥60 years living at home or in a non-home setting	3348	Median: 72 (IQR 66-84)	Clinical examination for home settings and medical records for non-home settings (Y)	Median: 9 (IQR 4-16) Mean: 11.0 (SD 9.6)	Unplanned hospitalisation	14	Receiver operating characteristics curves
Wimmer et al, 2015 ⁶⁵ (cross- sectional study)	1 district in central Stockholm (Sweden)	≥60 years living at home or in a non-home setting	3348	Median: 72 (IQR 66-84)	Clinical examination for home settings and medical records for non-home settings (Y)	Median: 9 (IQR 4-16)	Factors associated with medication regimen complexity	>20	Highest MRCI quintile
Olson et al, 2014 ⁶⁶ (secondary analysis)	15 Medicare- certified home health care agencies (USA)	≥65 years admitted to home care agency after hospital discharge	911	Not reported	Medication records (Y)	Mean: 35.4	Medication- related hospital readmission	33	Receiver operating characteristics curves

Author, year (study type)	Setting (country)	Population	Sample size	Age	Medication assessment (included OTC)	MRCI score	Outcome	MRCI cut point(s)	Determination of cut points
Schoonover et al, 2014 ⁶⁷ (secondary analysis)	Home care agencies (USA)	≥50 years admitted to home care agency after hospital discharge with at least one comorbid condition	Potential for ADE: 181 No potential for ADE: 32	Potential for ADE mean: 70.85 (SE 0.71) No potential for ADE mean: 74.06 (SE 1.94)	Hospital discharge medication lists and home care medication list (U)	Discharge medication list mean: 26.8 (SE 1.50) Home medication list mean: 19.57 (SE 1.49)	Unplanned 30- day hospital readmission	Discharge: ≥22 Home: ≥15	Mean score in discharge and home MRCI in the study samples
Wimmer et al, 2014 ⁶⁸ (prospective cohort study)	1 geriatric evaluation and management unit in a tertiary care hospital (Australia)	All ≥70 years	163	Mean: 85.2 (SD 6.4)	Discharge summaries (Y)	40 (24.5%) had MRCI>35	Hospital discharge destination	>35	Highest quartile of regimen complexity in the study sample

Author, year (study type)	Setting (country)	Population	Sample size	Age	Medication assessment (included OTC)	MRCI score	Outcome	MRCI cut point(s)	Determination of cut points
Willson et al, 2013 ⁶⁹ (case- control study)	4 hospitals (Not reported)	All	Revisit: 92 No revisit: 228	Revisit mean: 50.29 (SD 17.21) No revisit mean: 49.39 (SD 17.46)	Electronic medical records (U)	Revisit admission mean: 27.38 (SD 17.78) No revisit admission mean: 16.21 (SD 14.84)	Hospital readmission for adverse drug events	≥8	Receiver operating characteristics curves

ADE, adverse drug event; ED, emergency department; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; IQR, interquartile range; MRCI, medication regimen complexity index; MRP, medication-related problem; N, no; OTC, over the counter medication; SD, standard deviation; SE, standard error; U, unknown; USA, United States of America; Y, yes.

1.3.4 Poor health outcomes associated with complex medication regimens

Recent systematic reviews of the literature have investigated clinical outcomes associated with medication regimen complexity in older people, and when measured using measures that include multiple complexity elements (Table 2).⁹⁻¹¹

Studies investigating clinical outcomes associated with medication regimen complexity were predominantly cross-sectional, case-control and cohort studies. There were no randomised-controlled trials included in the systematic reviews that have investigated whether simplifying complex medication regimens leads to improvements in clinical outcomes.⁹⁻¹¹ No studies have specifically investigated the safety of complex medication regimens in people initiating anticoagulants.

The publication of systematic reviews in 2017, 2018 and 2019 included studies as recently as April 2018. Since the publication of these systematic reviews, additional studies have investigated clinical outcomes related to complexity. These additional studies are summarised below:

Adherence

Manzano-García et al. (2018) was a single-centre observational study in one hospital in Spain that found that global medication regimen complexity was significantly associated with nonadherence to antiretroviral therapy (p < 0.001).⁷⁰

Re-hospitalisation

Díez-Manglano et al. (2020) was a cohort study across five hospitals in Spain. People with two or more chronic conditions whose progression cause disability were included. Results found that people in the lowest quartile of MRCI score had significantly less re-hospitalisations in the following year compared to people with higher MRCI scores (p=0.012).⁵⁴

• Adverse drug events (ADEs)

Curtain et al. (2020), in an Australian study of people aged 65 years or older, found that medication regimen complexity was not significantly different in people with an ADE related hospitalisation compared to people with other medical admissions.⁷¹

• Emergency department (ED) presentation

Ruiz Ramos et al. (2020) studied one hospital in Spain and found that MRCI>20 (the median score of the sample) was associated with repeat emergency department presentation and repeat visits to the health system (hospitals, LTCFs and primary care centres).⁵⁵

Santos et al. (2019), in a cross-sectional study of one hospital in Brazil, found that MRCI>16.5 was associated with ED presentation within 30 days of hospitalisation in multivariate analysis (OR 2.1; 95%CI 1.11-4.02).⁵⁸

• Mortality

The cohort study by Díez-Manglano et al. (2020) across five hospitals in Spain also found that people in the lowest MRCI score quartile had a lower risk of mortality over four years compared to people with higher MRCI scores (HR 0.634; 95% CI 0.414– 0.970).⁵⁴

Sevilla-Sanchez et al. (2018), a cross-sectional study of people with advanced chronic disease needing palliative care in one acute-geriatric unit in a Spanish hospital, did not find any difference in two year mortality in people with high or low MRCI score (HR 1.21, 95%CI: 0.85 to 1.71).⁷²

Hospital discharge destination

Sevilla-Sanchez et al. (2018), a cross-sectional study of people with advanced chronic disease needing palliative care in one acute-geriatric unit in a Spanish hospital, did not find any difference in hospital discharge destination (nursing home, home, intermediate care) between people with high or low complexity.⁷²

Trends in medication regimen complexity cannot be generalized across different settings. For example, the relationship between age and medication regimen complexity has been inconsistent between settings. Previous studies in Israeli and Spanish acute hospitals did not find a correlation between medication regimen complexity and age.^{73,74} This is in contrast with a Swedish population-based study of community-dwelling older people which showed that people with the most complex medication regimens were older.⁶⁵ An Italian population-based study reported that the number of daily medications increases up to 85 years of age, beyond which it may decrease rather than continue to increase.⁷⁵

In the existing literature, there are few studies of medication regimen complexity in residential aged care settings. It has been suggested that residents of RACFs have more complex medication regimens than older people living at home in the community.⁶⁵ As older people living permanently in RACFs often do not self-administer their own medication, medication regimen complexity may have different implications in the RACF setting. Therefore, it is important to investigate medication regimen complexity in RACFs separately.

T I I A A	~			111 1				
Table 7 Summ	ary of si	vstematic rev	views of r	health outcomes	associated with	n compley	(medication	realmens
	iui y 01 0 j	yotomatio io	10000			i compiez	moulouion	regimens

Author,	Search	Study designs (#	Country (#	Population (#	Measures of	Association with comp	Association with complexity		
year	range (#	studies)	studies)	studies)	complexity	Positive (# studies)	None (#	Negative (#	
	studies)				(# studies)		studies)	studies)	
Pantuzza	Inception-	Cross sectional	USA (25)	Outpatient (51)	MRCI (9)	Non-adherence (29)	Adherence (16)		
et al,	March	(37)	Brazil (6)	Hospital (2)	MCI (4)	Adherence (9)			
2017 ⁷⁶	2016 (54)	Prospective cohort	Italy (3)	Supported	ARCI (3)				
		(9)		housing facility	EMTCI (1)				
		Retrospective		(1)	Number of				
		cohort (8)			medications				
					(13)				
					Self-				
					perceived				
					complexity				
					scales (2)				
					Differentiated				
					self-report of				
					perceived				
					complexity				
					(4)				
					Dose				
					frequency (5)				
					Other (13)				

Author,	Search	Study designs (n)	Country (n)	Population (n)	Measures of	Association with comple	exity	
year	range (#				complexity	Positive (n)	None (n)	Negative (n)
	studies)				(n)			
Wimmer et	Inception-	Cross sectional (6)	USA (7)	Home-dwelling	MRCI (10)	Non-adherence (2)	Adherence (3)	Non-adherence
al, 2017 ⁹	June	Retrospective	Australia (4)	(4)	MCI (5)	Unplanned hospital	ED visit (2)	(1)
	2016 (16)	cohort (2)	Canada (2)	Hospital	Other (1)	admission (1)	Unplanned	Unplanned
		Prospective cohort	Sweden (2)	discharge (8)		Unplanned hospital re-	hospital re-	hospital re-
		(3)	Israel (1)	Rehabilitation		admission (1)	admission (1)	admission from
		Population-based		hospital		Medication management	Post-discharge	home (1)
		cohort (2)		inpatient (1)		capacity (1)	medication	Hospital
		Longitudinal (1)		Home-dwelling		Family Caregiver	modification (1)	discharge to
		Quasi-experimental		and non-home		Medication	Change in	home (1)
		(1)		(2)		Administration Hassles	medication- and	Knowledge of
		Prospective		LTCFs (1)		(1)	health-related	medication (1)
		interview and		All with at least		Post-discharge potential	problems (1)	Medication self-
		follow-up,		80% of		adverse drug events (1)	Staff informant-	administration
		retrospective file		participants		All-cause mortality (1)	rated quality of	errors (1)
		review (1)		were aged 60 or		Medication self-	life (1)	
				over		administration errors (1)		

Author,	Search	Study designs (n)	Country (n)	Population (n)	Measures of	Association with comple	exity	
year	range (#				complexity	Positive (n)	None (n)	Negative (n)
	studies)				(n)			
Alves-	January	Cohort (9)	USA (8)	Hospital (8)	MRCI (23)	Hospital readmission (6)	Acute care	Medication
Conceição	2004-April	Cross sectional (8)	Australia (6)	Outpatient care		Non-adherence (4)	utilisation (1)	adherence (2)
et al,	2018 (23)	Case-control (2)	Brazil (2)	facility (5)		Hospitalisation (3)	Medication	Quality of life (1)
2018 ¹¹		Quasi-experimental	Israel (2)	Home care		Number of	adherence (1)	
		(1)	Sweden (2)	service (2)		hospitalisations (1)	Post-	
		Not identified (3)	Spain (1)	Family health		Number of days	bronchodilator	
			Not reported	unit (1)		hospitalised (1)	forced	
			(2)	Adult protective		COPD assessment test	expiratory	
				services state		score (1)	volume in 1	
				agency (1)		St George's respiratory	second (1)	
				Church (1)		questionnaire score (1)	Adverse drug	
				LTCF (1)		Prior year exacerbation	event (1)	
				Multiple (3)		of COPD (1)	Hospital	
				Not identified (1)		Prior year hospitalisation	readmission (1)	
						(1)	ED visit (2)	
						6-minute walk test (1)	Hospital	
						Adverse drug event (2)	readmission (2)	
						Hospitalisation for	Hospital	
						adverse drug event (1)	discharge	
						Mortality (1)	destination (1)	

Author,	Search	Study designs (n)	Country (n)	Population (n)	Measures of	Association with comple	exity	
year	range (#				complexity	Positive (n)	None (n)	Negative (n)
	studies)				(n)			
Brysch et	Inception-	Cohort (7)	Not reported	Outpatient (11)	MRCI (11)	Non-adherence (1)	Staff informant-	Hospital
al, 2018 ⁷⁷	March	Cross sectional (3)				Unplanned hospital	rated quality of	discharge to
	2017 (11)	Retrospective				admission from home	life (1)	home (1)
		analysis (1)				(1)	Hospital	
						Hospitalisation (1)	readmission (1)	
						Number of	Unplanned	
						hospitalisations (1)	hospital	
						Number of hospital days	admission from	
						(1)	non-home	
						All-cause mortality (1)	settings (1)	
Alves-	January	Cohort (10)	USA (5)	Hospital (6)	MRCI (12)	Hospital readmission (3)	Hospital	Hospital
Conceição	2004-April	Case-control (2)	Australia (3)	LTCF (3)		Non-adherence (2)	readmission (4)	discharge to
et al,	2018 (12)		Sweden (2)	Outpatient care		Hospitalisation (1)	Unplanned	home (1)
2019 ¹⁰			Israel (1)	facility (2)		Unplanned hospital	hospital re-	
			Not reported	Not reported (1)		admission (1)	admission from	
			(1)			Mortality (1)	home (1)	

ARCI, Antiretroviral Regimen Complexity Index; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; ED, emergency department;

EMTCI, Epilepsy Medication Treatment Complexity Index; LTCF, long-term care facility; MCI, medication complexity index; MRCI,

medication regimen complexity index; USA, United States of America.

1.4 Overview of residential aged care services in Australia

Broadly, the Australian approach to aged care service provision includes: community-based home care which provides services to support people living within their own home, and residential care, which is provided in residential aged care facilities (RACFs) with 24-hour supported care for people whose daily tasks and healthcare needs can no longer be met within their own homes.^{3,78-80} RACFs may also be known as aged care homes, long-term care facilities, nursing homes, or elderly care homes.³ Short-term and transition care may also be provided in RACFs to support rehabilitation or recovery.⁸⁰ Residential care comprises the majority of government spending in the sector (67% of \$18.4 billion in 2017-18).⁸¹

1.4.1 Characteristics of individuals accessing residential aged care services in Australia

In Australia, the number of people accessing residential aged care is increasing.^{4,82} A total of 7% of people aged over 65 accessed permanent or respite residential aged care in 2017-18.⁸³ In 2018-19, 59% of residents in residential aged care are 85 years or older, two-thirds are women, and one-third were born overseas.⁸¹ The average length of stay was 2.8 years.⁸⁴

People requiring aged care have increasingly complex care needs when entering aged care.^{8,85} Of people accessing permanent residential aged care, 64% needed a high level of care due to the types of cognitive and behavioural symptoms experienced.⁸¹ Over half (52%) of residents in Australian residential aged care are living with dementia.^{4,86} Compared to residents without dementia, residents living with dementia are more likely to have high care needs for activities of daily living (ADLs), behaviour, and complex health care including taking medications.⁸⁶ Polypharmacy is also prevalent in RACFs. Between 36% and 39% of residents experience polypharmacy when defined as nine or more medications.^{36,87}

Frailty is also common in Australian RACFs, with prevalence estimated to be up to 85% of residents.⁸⁸ Frailty is defined as a 'progressive age-related decline in physiological systems, which confers extreme vulnerability to stressors and increases the risk of a range of adverse health outcomes'.⁸⁹ The measurement of

frailty often uses tools that include health measures that indicate higher care needs, such as independent transfer, incontinence and help with dressing.^{88,90} The higher care needs of residents is also reflected internationally. A systematic review of the prevalence of frailty in aged care estimated that approximately half of residents experienced frailty.⁹¹ More recently, individual studies from Belgium and Australia have found up to 76-85% of residents could be classified as frail.^{88,92} Frailty overlaps considerably with polypharmacy and complex medication regimens to treat multimorbidity.⁹³

1.4.2 Medication management in Australian residential aged care

In RACFs, medications are usually managed by a multidisciplinary care team with residents at the centre. The usual prescribers for residents are general practitioners (GPs, synonymous with family physicians), supported by specialist physicians and allied health professionals as required. The care team coordinates to meet the needs of the individual resident. The goal in RACFs is to provide patient-centred care, where residents participate, are involved in their care, and respected as an autonomous individual. 'Patient-centred' care requires good relationships between the residents' and their care teams. The result should be individualised care that meets the resident's unique physical and emotional needs.⁹⁴

Medications are supplied based on GP medication orders (prescriptions) that are dispensed by pharmacists located in community pharmacies separated from the RACF.³ Medication use and management in Australian RACFs is supported by the 'Guiding Principles for Medication Management in Residential Aged Care Facilities'.⁹⁵ These 17 principles assist in the development of local policy and procedures that ensure safe and quality use of medication at a facility level.^{3,95} Adherence to these principles, although not directly assessed, can be used as evidence for meeting the Aged Care Quality Standards.

Aged care service providers in Australia must meet minimum quality standards in order to receive government subsidies for residents' care.⁹⁶ All providers are assessed against the standards through an accreditation process managed by the Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission.⁹⁶ The expectation that "care recipients' medication is managed safely and correctly" was set out in Standard 2: Health and

Personal Care in the 2014 Australian Aged Care Accreditation Standards.⁹⁷ This included having a safe medication management system according to legislative, regulatory and professional standards and guidelines.⁹⁷ These accreditation standards were succeeded by the Aged Care Quality Standards from July 2019.⁹⁶ The current standard states that "risk can be minimised through effective policies and procedures that support safe use of medicines".⁹⁸ In the guidance document for aged care providers on the quality standards, consumer preferences with respect to taking medication is specified as an example of the level of detail required in care and services plans.⁹⁸

1.4.3 Medication administration in Australian residential aged care

Most residents in Australian RACFs rely on nurses or medication-endorsed personal care assistants for assistance with administering medications.³ Staff may also support residents to self-administer medication if residents have been assessed as able to do so; however, this is uncommon.^{3,95} All registered nurses are qualified and authorised to administer medications. Enrolled nurses work under the supervision of registered nurses and are authorised to administer medication training. In some RACFs, personal care workers or nursing assistants may also administer medication if they have received medication management training.^{3,95} This optional vocational training enables personal care workers or nursing assistants to prepare for and provide medication assistance, supporting residents' self-administration, and complete medication documentation.⁹⁹ It is delivered by registered training organisations regulated through the Australian Skills Quality Authority.

Regular medications are administered in scheduled medication rounds.¹⁰⁰ Common processes in medication administration rounds are illustrated in Figure 2.





Safe medication management takes time. A significant proportion of staff time is spent on medication administration rounds, which includes complex processes such as modification of dose forms by crushing or cutting tablets, and opening capsules, in approximately one quarter of all oral dose form administration.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰³ The ability of residential aged care services to provide high-quality care, with resident-centred activities that keep residents mentally and physically active, and which manage dignity, is increasingly challenging.¹⁰⁴ The Australian Nursing and Midwifery Foundation has recommended that an average of 4 hours and 18 minutes of direct care in 24 hours is required to be provided to each resident to ensure safe and quality care.⁵ This ranges between 2.5 hours for the residents needing the lowest levels of care and 5 hours for residents needing the highest levels of care.⁵ This includes nursing time as well as care time undertaken by allied health professionals such as physiotherapists and social workers.

1.5 Existing medication-related interventions in Australian residential aged care facilities

In Australia, the main pharmacist-led, collaborative medication-related interventions are the Residential Medication Management Review (RMMR) and Quality Use of Medicines (QUM) programs. These programs are government funded and support pharmacists to participate in these interventions. Pharmacists may also participate in other medication-related interventions, such as Health assessment for people aged 75 years and older, or case conferences with medication components. However, there is no specific remuneration for participation for pharmacists in these programs.^{105,106} While there are moves towards embedding pharmacists in RACFs to provide clinical services and on-site medication support, at present, remunerated pharmacist services in RACFs are limited to RMMR and QUM services.^{107,108}

1.5.1 Residential Medication Management Reviews (RMMRs)

RMMRs are comprehensive medication reviews that are conducted collaboratively between pharmacists, residents, and their GPs.¹⁰⁹ The main aim of an RMMR is to 'improve the appropriateness of medicines, reduce harm and improve health outcomes, while incorporating the resident's preferences, beliefs, attitudes, and priorities'.¹⁰⁹ RMMRs will be discussed in detail in Chapter Two.

1.5.2 Quality Use of Medicines (QUM)

The QUM program provides funding and a framework for pharmacists to promote QUM at a facility-level.¹¹⁰ Quality use of medicines is a central tenet of Australia's National Medicines Policy and this program aims to support RACFs to ensure medication use is judicious, appropriate, safe and efficacious.¹¹⁰ Examples of QUM activities are listed in Box 1. The exact type and frequency of QUM services are agreed upon between the pharmacist (or service provider) and the RACF, with work designed and tailored to meet the needs of the residents and the individual RACF.¹¹¹ A recent government-commissioned review of the QUM program found that while the program has successfully been implemented and delivered to RACFs across Australia of all facility sizes and all socio-economic status', the QUM activities delivered did not always have strong evidence supporting their use.¹¹² This, in conjunction with the flexible nature of the service contract, meant that significant variations were likely in the activities and benefits seen by residents and RACFs. The lack of monitoring for guality and outcomes was identified as a limitation for evaluating the program in meeting the intended objectives and outcomes.¹¹² Despite this, pharmacists and RACFs provided positive qualitative feedback, reporting that the program was effective and was positively impacting on medication management

practices within RACFs.¹¹² Guidance on QUM activities have recently been updated to focus on resident-centred care and acknowledge the broad clinical contribution pharmacists can make.¹¹⁰ Feedback and continuous monitoring for outcomes of QUM services were also included in the delivery process.¹¹⁰

Box 1. Examples of Quality Use of Medicines activities (adapted from Pharmaceutical Society of Australia and Pharmacy Programs Administrator)^{110,111}

Clinical governance

- Participate in Medication Advisory Committees
- Participate in Drug Use Evaluations
- Advise the healthcare team on medications (e.g. storage, administration, formulation, adverse effects)
- Participate in medication management policy and procedure development
- Assist in the development of nurse-initiated medication lists

Education Activities

- Provide education for nursing staff, residents and carers on medication therapy, disease state management or prescribing trend issues
- Provide medication information to the healthcare team, including the provision of newsletters

Continuous Improvement Activities

- Assist the RACF to meet and maintain accreditation standards and to comply with regulatory requirements
- Conduct medication administration audits and surveys on medication errors, dose form modification, and psychotropic drug use
- Assist with the development of, and report on, quality indicators and other quality measures

Resident focused activities

- Assess competency of residents to self-administer medications
- Opportunistic advice to healthcare team on medication storage requirements, monitoring and standards, including labelling, safe disposal of unwanted and expired medication, and security of medication storage areas

1.5.3 Simplification interventions

While there may be situations in which complex medication regimens are indicated, this is often not the case. Unnecessary medication regimen complexity can be reduced without changing therapeutic intent through medication regimen simplification. Administration times, routes of administration, pill burden and additional directions may be reduced by standardising administration times and routes of administration, the use of long-acting formulations or fixed-dose combinations.^{113,114}

Medication regimen complexity was commonly identified by experts as an important factor in polypharmacy review and rationalisation (86% of respondents (n=19) gave a score of "high importance").¹¹⁵ However, medication regimen complexity was not included in the international core outcome set for clinical trials of medication review in multi-morbid older patients with polypharmacy.¹¹⁶ In practice, the existing RMMR program has not been associated with reductions in MRCI.¹¹⁷ This is despite previous studies suggesting that recommendations would result in simpler medication regimens. In a review of moderate to high significance medication-related problems identified by RMMRs, 21% (n=21) were untreated indications while 32% (n=32) were toxicity or adverse reaction.¹¹⁸ Recommendations made by pharmacists from RMMRs were more frequent for 'cease/withdraw therapy' (n=145) compared to 'add drug to therapy' (n=89).¹¹⁹ 'Dose frequency/schedule change' was also a common recommendation, but it was not specified whether the change was an increase or a decrease.¹¹⁹

The recommendation to 'cease/withdraw therapy' may be addressed through deprescribing. Deprescribing refers to the 'stepwise reduction of unnecessary or potentially inappropriate medications after consideration of therapeutic goals, benefits and risks, and medical ethics'.¹²⁰ Although deprescribing may decrease the complexity of medication regimens, it only addresses one component of complexity and aims to change the therapeutic intent of the regimen. Simplification aims to address all complexity components of medication regimens to make existing regimens easier to manage.

The novel research presented in this thesis comprises part of the first intervention provided in Australia residential aged care to target unnecessary medication regimen complexity in RACFs.

1.5.4 Tools for optimising medication use

There are many tools available to clinicians when providing interventions to optimise medication use (Table 3). Broadly, tools can be categorised into explicit or implicit tools based on their structure.¹²¹ Explicit tools present recommendations for specific medications and/or situations, with little room for clinical judgement based on context of comorbidities, polypharmacy, or patient preferences. In contrast, implicit tools rely on clinical and clinician judgement about a specific patient or resident.¹²¹ Implicit tools may be more resource intensive, requiring more time and expertise compared to explicit tools.¹²¹ However, implicit tools provide greater flexibility to incorporate each patient's or resident's unique values and goals of care.

At the time of commencing this thesis, there were no explicit or implicit tools available to facilitate medication regimen simplification in RACFs.

Table 3	. Examples	of tools used	l to optimise	medication use

Tool	Purpose	Structure
American Geriatrics	Identify potentially	Explicit list of medications
Society Beers Criteria ¹²²	inappropriate medication	
	use	
Deprescribing	Target medications	Explicit flowchart with
algorithm ¹²³	suitable for deprescribing	implicit judgement
Drug burden index ¹²⁴	Measure exposure to	Explicit equation
	anticholinergic and	(application of the index
	sedative medications	requires clinician
		judgement)
Medication	Assess appropriateness	Implicit index (application
Appropriateness Index ¹²⁵	of medications in the	of explicit criteria requires
	context of concomitant	clinician judgement)
	medications, clinical	
	conditions and settings	
Medication	Appropriate medication	Explicit list of criteria
Appropriateness Tool for	management of co-	
Co-morbid Health	morbidities for people	
conditions in Dementia ¹²⁶	living with dementia	
STOPP/START ¹²⁷	Identify potentially	Explicit list of criteria
	inappropriate medications	
	and potential prescribing	
	omissions	

1.6 Evidence for medication regimen simplification

Medication regimen simplification is an opportunity to improve care. When left to organise their own medication regimens, community-dwelling people rarely identify the simplest method of administration. In a previous study of 464 communitydwelling participants in the USA, only 1% (n=3) were able to organise a simulated 7medication regimen into three daily administration times, which was the simplest regimen possible while following all of the individual medications' administration instructions.⁷ The average number of daily administration times identified was six.⁷ In residential aged care settings, it is even less likely that residents would simplify their own regimen. This is because medications are usually supplied in dose administration aids (e.g. sachets, blister packs), most residents do not selfadminister their own medications, and may have little knowledge of their medication regimens. However, medication regimens can often be simplified without altering the therapeutic intent of the resident's treatment. This scope for simplification has been established. In patients discharged from a hospital in Germany, 86% of individual medication regimen complexity characteristics were potentially preventable.¹²⁸ Almost half of older people living at home in the USA could have their medications simplified.129

A range of interventions to reduce complexity have been investigated, targeting medication formulations and health professional practice interventions.

1.6.1 Single-pill combination medications

Fixed-dose single-pill combination medications combine two or more active ingredients in a single dose form. Use of a combination product can simplify medication regimens by reducing pill burden and number of administration times per day, when compared with using the same active ingredients separately.

Multiple studies have investigated the impact of combination versus single-ingredient preparations. A 2007 meta-analysis of nine studies evaluated fixed-dose combination medications for tuberculosis, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) disease, and diabetes. Overall, fixed-dose combinations decreased risk of medication non-adherence by 26% (pooled relative risk 0.74; 95%CI 0.69-0.80).¹³⁰ In

three studies that also included efficacy outcomes, fixed-dose single-pill combinations were at least as efficacious as the free equivalent components, suggesting that this is a safe intervention.¹³⁰ These findings were similar to a 2011 meta-analysis of combination therapies for hypertension. Nine of 15 included studies investigated adherence. Adherence and persistence to combination antihypertensive medicines was found to be higher for single-pill combinations compared to using free equivalent components.¹³¹ There was also a saving in annual all-cause and hypertension-related health care costs.¹³¹

A systematic review of studies published between January 2000 and May 2019 investigated the impact of decreasing pill burden through the use of fixed-dose combinations for all conditions. Out of 67 included studies, 56 (84%) found significantly higher adherence when fixed-dose combinations were used.¹³² Seven studies (10%) found no significant difference, and two studies had both positive and negative results regarding adherence.¹³² People initiating fixed-dose combination of amlodipine and a statin had a 15% lower risk of ceasing combination therapy when compared to people initiating the free equivalent components.¹³³ Using a different methodological approach, a group-based trajectory modelling analysis of combination antiretroviral therapy in Brazil suggested that single-pill combinations had a positive impact on adherence compared to multiple tablet regimens.¹³⁴

While single-pill combinations are suitable for people with stable medication regimens, they do not offer flexibility to titrate doses, which is a barrier for this type of simplification. The emergence of 3D printing may in the future offer dynamic, multi-active ingredient tablet manufacturing with doses tailored for individual people to simplify their regiments. While feasibility has been established, there currently remains several technical and regulatory challenges to solve before commercial adoption.¹³⁵

Additionally, these studies all included only the fixed-dose single-pill combination medicines and the free equivalent components in the adherence or persistence. They did not consider the effect on the person's other medications and their overall medication regimen.

1.6.2 Reducing frequency of administration

Patients generally prefer medication regimens with fewer administration times.^{136,137} Some medications may be able to be administered less frequently by increasing the dose of an existing drug while increasing the dose interval (e.g. enalapril can be administered in divided doses or once daily), by using novel formulations of existing medications (e.g. metformin immediate release or extended release), or through substituting a similar drug that allows less frequent dosing (e.g. captopril twice daily to trandolapril once daily).^{138,139} Reducing frequency of administration has been of interest mainly as a tool to increase medication adherence, with a considerable body of literature investigating its efficacy.

Systematic reviews and meta-analyses assessing the association between dose frequency and medication adherence measured using electronic monitoring devices have found that overall, once daily dosing was associated with higher mean adherence compared with multiple daily dosing.^{37,140}

Other literature reviews have stratified studies by medical conditions. It was possible to reduce dose frequency safely and effectively in regimens for osteoarthritis, diabetes mellitus, angina, depression, Parkinson's disease, COPD, pain syndromes and overactive bladder.^{138,141} Improvements were found in health-related quality of life for people with angina, asthma, COPD, Parkinson's Disease and seizure disorders, and no studies reported decreased quality of life.¹³⁸ Reduced frequency of dosing was linked to improved adherence in people with asthma, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, depression, epilepsy, respiratory tract infections, and HIV.^{138,139,141,142} Cost savings were found with reducing the frequency of daily dosing for diabetic peripheral neuropathic pain, lower respiratory tract infections, immunosuppression following kidney transplantation, ulcerative colitis, hypertension and Parkinson's disease.^{138,139}

These studies have a number of limitations. Almost all of the reviews were funded by pharmaceutical companies who may have an interest in demonstrating that new product formulations offering less frequent dosing schedules have advantages over existing products. In two reviews that assessed publication bias, it could not be ruled out.^{139,140} The measures of adherence were also heterogenous, which makes

comparisons difficult. Finally, the literature has focused on reducing administration frequency for single therapies, rather than for the overall medication regimen.

1.6.3 Health professional practice interventions

A limited number of interventions targeting health professionals have been trialled to simplify medication regimens, with existing literature pertaining only to hospital and community settings.

Pre-post intervention studies involving pharmacist delivered clinical medication review have shown reductions in medication regimen complexity in hospital settings.^{113,143} Another intervention in a hospital setting involved providing a visual medication regimen grid to prompt prescribers to consider medication regimen complexity. The mean doses per day decreased by 2.47 per person in the intervention group, compared to an increase of 3.83 in the control group (p<0.001).¹⁴⁴

A universal medication schedule (UMS) was proposed as a way to simplify regimens by reducing administration times to four standard times daily (morning, noon, evening, bedtime).¹⁴⁵ To support these standard times, the UMS also provided standardised language around those four times to use in medication instructions (e.g. "take one tablet in the morning and one tablet in the evening" instead of "take one tablet twice a day").¹⁴⁶ People managing their own medications using these standard instructions may be more likely to organise their regimen with fewer daily administration times. Prescriptions with UMS instructions had better adherence compared to prescriptions that did not use UMS instructions.¹⁴⁵

A cluster RCT investigated the automation of the MRCI calculation with an alert flagging nurses when people with high medication regimen complexity were admitted to a home care agency.⁶² These clinical alerts directed nurses to a module prompting evidence-based interventions for regimen simplification. The study found no significant impact on MRCI in intention-to-treat analysis, but the authors note there was low use of the module following the high MRCI alert among nurses in the intervention group. In nurses who used the module, there was a significant reduction in MRCI compared to the control group.⁶²

While these interventions have shown that medication regimens can be simplified, the studies did not investigate the sustainability of the interventions or clinical outcomes associated with the simplification. The interventions were also targeted at hospital and community settings.

1.7 Gaps in the literature

Despite being high users of medications and health systems, older people are underrepresented in the clinical trials which inform the evidence base for the use of the medications and health systems.³ An international panel of experts recently identified eight research priorities in geriatric pharmacotherapy and pharmacoepidemiology, including QUM, vulnerable patient groups, polypharmacy and multimorbidity, personcentred practice and research, deprescribing and medication simplification, methodological development, variability in medication use, and national and international comparative research.¹⁴⁷ Both interventional and observational research involving older people is needed to fill the evidence gaps for this increasing and vulnerable population.

In Australia, access to population-wide data with the ability to investigate interventions, including medications, with clinical outcomes is complex, timeconsuming and costly. Other countries are already using such data. Hong Kong has an example of a high-quality real-world database that is being used to answer clinical research questions about older people.¹⁴⁸ The Hong Kong Hospital Authority (HA) is the sole provider of government-funded healthcare in Hong Kong, and so has broad coverage of the entire seven million Hong Kong population. HA uses an electronic medical records system named Clinical Data Analysis and Reporting System (CDARS) throughout their entire network of 42 hospitals, 49 specialist outpatient clinics, and 73 general outpatient clinics.¹⁴⁹ CDARS' primary purpose is to provide a retrospective clinical decision support environment via centralised recording and management of patient medical records from all HA provided services, including procedures, prescriptions, imaging, and pathology. It is also used for clinical audit, to aid management decisions, and for research purposes. The accuracy of data are dependent on the clinical staff who input information into the system. Studies published using CDARS have demonstrated high coding accuracy in the outcomes

used to date, including studies investigating questions of relevance to older people such as fracture risk.^{148,150,151}

At the time of commencing this thesis there was a need for more literature on the burden and outcomes of complex medication regimens for older people, especially residents of RACFs. There are major challenges imminent with the ability to cope with the increasing number of older people who will need to use residential aged care. Increasing understanding of the current burden will allow adequate planning and may identify areas where care can be delivered more efficiently. Medication regimen simplification may decrease medication burden for residents and staff of RACFs and improve outcomes for residents. This thesis will address current evidence and practice gaps by identifying the burden of medication regimen complexity, evaluating our current medication review system and developing a tool to assist and standardise medication regimen simplification. This evidence is essential to the current and future planning of medication management and quality care for older people.

1.8 Aims and objectives of the thesis

1.8.1 Aim

The overall aim of this thesis was to evaluate and address the burden of medication regimen complexity on older people and the health systems that serve them.

1.8.2 Objectives

The specific objectives of this thesis were:

- 1. To systematically review Australian literature on comprehensive medication review for residents of RACFs;
- To investigate the association between medication regimen complexity and the safety of oral anticoagulants in people with AF in a population-based study in Hong Kong;
- To estimate the time taken to administer medication regimens to residents of RACFs;

- 4. To develop and validate a medication regimen simplification guide for residents of RACFs; and
- 5. To investigate the prevalence and correlates of medication regimen complexity in residents of RACFs prior to application of a medication regimen simplification guide.

2. Chapter Two: Process, impact and outcomes of medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities: A systematic review

2.1 Synopsis

This chapter reviews the literature for evidence surrounding an existing major medication intervention in Australian aged care. Medication reconciliation and medication reviews are well-established methods used internationally for identifying and resolving medication-related problems. The Australian Government has funded the provision of comprehensive, multidisciplinary medication review in residential aged care facilities since 1997. Broad uptake of the program has been poor. A recent study of residents who entered permanent residential aged care in Australia between 2012 and 2015, received at least one medication in the previous year and were alive at 90 days post-RACF entry found that 21.5% of residents received an RMMR within 90 days.¹⁵² Until now been no comprehensive evaluation of both peerreviewed scientific literature and grey literature on the program at the time of this study. It is not known whether pharmacists actively recommend medication regimen simplification when conducting RMMRs, or whether RMMRs are associated with reduced medication regimen complexity.

2.2 Chapter objective

To systematically review Australian literature on medication review for residents of RACFs.

2.3 Publication

This chapter is a reproduction of the following publication:

<u>Chen EYH</u>, Wang KN, Sluggett JK, et al. Process, impact and outcomes of medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities: A systematic review. *Australasian Journal on Ageing.* 2019; 38(S2): 9-25.

Received: 13 December 2018 Revised: 28 April 2019 Ac

DOI: 10.1111/ajag.12676

Accepted: 30 April 2019

REVIEW ARTICLE

Australasian Journal on Ageing WILEY

Process, impact and outcomes of medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities: A systematic review

Esa Y. H. Chen^{1,2} | Kate N. Wang¹ | Janet K. Sluggett^{1,2} | Jenni Ilomäki^{1,3} | Sarah N. Hilmer^{2,4} | Megan Corlis^{2,5} | J. Simon Bell^{1,2,3}

¹Centre for Medicine Use and Safety, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Parkville, Victoria, Australia ²NHMRC Cognitive Decline Partnership

Centre, University of Sydney, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

³Department of Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine, School of Public Health and Preventative Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

⁴Kolling Institute, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney and Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, NSW, Australia

⁵Helping Hand Aged Care, North Adelaide, South Australia, Australia

Correspondence

Esa Y. H. Chen, Centre for Medicine Use and Safety, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, 381 Royal Parade, Parkville, Vic. 3052, Australia. Email: esa.chen@monash.edu

Abstract

Objective: To systematically review literature reporting processes, impact and outcomes of medication review and reconciliation in Australian residential aged care facilities (RACFs).

Methods: PubMed/MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL, Informit Health and grey literature were searched from 1995 to July 2018. Studies reporting outcomes of a stand-alone medication review or reconciliation interventions in Australian RACFs were included. **Results:** Thirteen studies investigated medication review, eight of which studied Residential Medication Management Reviews (RMMRs). Five studies reported that medication reviews identified an average of 2.7-3.9 medication-related problems (MRPs) per resident. One study reported medication reviews had no impact on quality of life, hospitalisation or mortality, but was not powered to assess these. Three studies reported general practitioners' acceptance of pharmacists' recommendations to resolve MRPs, ranging between 45 and 84%.

Conclusions: Medication review may be a useful strategy to identify and prompt resolution of MRPs. However, the impact on clinical and resident-centred outcomes remains unclear.

KEYWORDS

aged care, geriatric medicine, health services, medication review, medication therapy management, pharmacist intervention

1 | **INTRODUCTION**

Multimorbidity, polypharmacy and age-related psychological decline mean that residents of residential aged care facilities (RACFs) are at high risk of medication-related problems (MRPs). A review of international literature reported that up to 43% of residents use one or more potentially inappropriate medications (PIMs).¹ Over three-quarters of residents in 17 Australian RACFs participating in the INvestigating Services Provided In the Residential care Environment for people with Dementia (INSPIRED) study used anticholinergics, sedatives or PIMs in the previous 100 days.² Use of PIMs has been associated with poor health-related quality of life, poor psychological well-being, higher medication costs, hospitalisations and increased risk of mortality.³⁻⁶ Controlled trials of medication review in RACFs in Switzerland, the United States of America (USA) and Northern Ireland have demonstrated that rates of PIM use reduced for residents who received a medication review.⁷⁻⁹ Conversely, a recent observational study in the United States found higher medication

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2019 The Authors. Australasian Journal on Ageing published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of AJA Inc.

Australas J Ageing. 2019;38(Suppl. 2):9-25.

wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/ajag 9

¹⁰WILEY- Australasian Journal on Ageing

review completion rates were associated with improvements in four of 17 medication-related quality indicators but an increase in chronic use of atypical antipsychotic medications among Medicare Part D beneficiaries in RACFs.¹⁰ Medication reconciliation and review have been shown to identify and resolve MRPs in community and hospital settings.¹¹⁻¹⁴ Available evidence from studies in RACFs is more limited,¹² but suggests the finding may extend to the RACF setting.¹⁵ Pharmacist-led medication reconciliation was identified as the top priority for reducing polypharmacy in Australian RACFs by health professionals and consumers.¹⁶

Australia has had a national, government-funded collaborative medication review service in RACFs since 1997.17 This service, known as Residential Medication Management Review (RMMR), is similar to clinical medication review in the UK, comprehensive medication reviews provided under the medication therapy management program in the United States and MedsCheck LTC in Canada.¹⁸⁻²⁰ Residential Medication Management Reviews are conducted to optimise medication use, improve clinical outcomes and ensure the quality use of medicines (QUM; i.e "judicious, appropriate, safe and effective use of medicines").²¹ Medication review programs are increasingly recognised in health policy and quality standards internationally.^{18,22-24} However, although studies have reported positive impacts on MRPs and prescribing, results are conflicting for studies that investigated clinical outcomes such as decreased or no change in falls,^{9,25} decreased or no change in hospitalisations ^{8,25-27} and decreased, no change, or increased in mortality.²⁵⁻²⁸ Three Australian studies were included in a recent systematic review of randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and observational studies of medication reviews in RACFs but other Australian studies were cross-sectional and, therefore, excluded.15 It is important to evaluate the evidence from these descriptive studies of "real-world" program outcomes.

The current Australian RMMR program enables residents referred by their general practitioner (GP, or family physician, the primary prescribers in RACFs in Australia) to receive a review from a clinical pharmacist every 2 years or more frequently if clinical circumstances change.²⁹ A report with recommendations from the RMMR is provided to the GP, who is responsible for implementing the recommendations in consultation with residents, carers and RACF staff.²¹ Over 1.15 million RMMRs were subsidised from 2007 to 2016, and the most recent government-funding agreement for national medication management programs allocated \$14.2 million to RMMRs.^{30,31} Although this is a wellestablished program, the magnitude of service provision and costs means there is a need to understand the processes, impact and outcomes of the existing and previous iterations of the program in Australia.³² Recent consultation and reviews continue to consider changes to program structure and eligibility.33-35 It is also important to understand impact and outcomes for residents in the light of increasing focus on the

Policy Impact

Residents of aged care facilities are often exposed to polypharmacy and high-risk medications. This review suggests that the Australian governmentfunded Residential Medication Management Review (RMMR) program is useful to identify and prompt resolution of medication-related problems.

Practice Impact

This review suggests that RMMRs identify 2.7-3.9 medication-related problems (MRPs) per resident and general practitioners (GPs) accept 45-84% of recommendations to resolve these MRPs. This highlights the value of pharmacists and GPs working together to optimise medication management in this setting.

need for clinical pharmacy services in RACFs.³⁶ A recent systematic review explored the process and outcomes of the corresponding Australian Home Medicines Review service and reported medication reviews are beneficial for people living in the community.¹¹ However, no systematic reviews have specifically explored the value of medication review and reconciliation in Australian RACFs.

The objective was to systematically review peer-reviewed and grey literature reporting processes, impacts and outcomes of medication review and reconciliation in Australian RACFs.

2 | METHOD

This review was conducted as per the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) statement (Figure 1).³⁷ The protocol was published prospectively on PROSPERO (CRD42016041773).³⁸

2.1 | Search strategy

PubMed, MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL and Informit Health were searched using subject headings and keywords related to medication review, medication reconciliation and RACFs. The search was limited to English language articles with publication dates between January 1995 and July 2018. These publication dates were selected to include research published in the lead-in period to the RMMR program launch in 1997.²¹ Conference proceedings, relevant websites, relevant local journals, reference lists and publications of key authors in the field were manually searched to identify relevant full-text articles for inclusion (see Appendix A for full search strategy).

```
CHEN ET AL
```



FIGURE 1 Flow chart of the literature search and study selection

2.2 | Study selection and synthesis

Studies reporting any process, impact or outcome of medication review or reconciliation for permanent residents of Australian RACFs were included. RACFs in Australia are synonymous with "nursing homes" or "long-term care facilities" in other countries and provide supported accommodation for people with care needs that can no longer be met in their own homes.¹⁷ Only stand-alone medication review or reconciliation interventions were included. Medication review was defined according to the Pharmaceutical Society of Australia's definition as "evaluation of a resident's complete medication regimen with the aims to optimise clinical outcomes, maximise benefits of medicine use and reduce risks of medicine use".²¹ This included but was not limited to evaluation of medication reviews funded through the RMMR program.

Interventions that focused on a specific medication or single class of medications were excluded. However, studies that included a complete medication review but only reported results for a specific medication or class of medication were included. Medication reconciliation was defined according to the World Health Organization as "systematically obtaining, verifying, and documenting a best possible medication history, identifying any discrepancies between this and medication orders written at transitions of care, and resolving these

Australasian Journal on Ageing –WILEY 11

discrepancies in a timely manner".³⁹ We searched the literature for medication reconciliation interventions completed before medication review or as part of a stand-alone intervention. Literature reviews, editorials, commentaries and case reports were excluded.

After removing duplicate records using EndNote X7.2, EYHC screened titles according to inclusion and exclusion criteria. Abstracts and full texts were screened independently by EYHC and KNW. At both stages, discrepancies were resolved through discussion and referred to a third investigator if consensus could not be reached.

Data were systematically extracted from each article using a pilot tested data extraction form. Process referred to how the program was implemented. For the purpose of the review, impact was operationally defined as an intermediary measure of change brought about by the program. Outcomes were any results that measured the success of the program against its stated aims to optimise medication use (eg, decrease in MRPs or inappropriate prescribing in a resident's therapy) and improve clinical outcomes (eg, quality of life, hospitalisations, mortality).^{29,40} Data extraction was completed independently by EYHC and KNW, with discrepancies resolved through discussion.

Studies included in the review categorised MRPs using different systems. To synthesise findings across studies, MRPs identified in each study were mapped to the DOCUMENT (Drug selection, Over or underdose, Compliance, Undertreated, Monitoring, Education, Not classifiable, Toxicity or adverse drug reaction) system.⁴¹ The DOCUMENT system was selected because it has been validated for use with Australian medication review data.^{42,43} Results from studies reporting the number of MRPs identified, recommendations made, acceptance and implementation of recommendations were extracted and pooled for analysis. Because of apparent inconsistencies with the use of the terms "acceptance" and "implementation" in the included studies, these terms were not considered to be interchangeable for the purpose of this review.

2.3 | Quality assessment

The corresponding Joanna Briggs Institute Checklist for prevalence studies, cohort studies and RCTs was used to assess the risk of bias for individual studies.⁴⁴ Methods used for the identification of outcomes were considered to be valid if based on existing definitions or widely used instruments and applied by trained professionals. Study samples were considered appropriate if the reported sample characteristics were representative of the larger RACF population. When studies did not include a sample size calculation, we calculated power to assess whether the sample size was adequate for assessing the primary outcome. Results of the checklist were reviewed when assessing and critiquing the quality of evidence. Studies were not excluded based on the quality assessment.
WILEY– Australasian Journal on Ageing

3 | RESULTS

Thirteen studies met the inclusion criteria (Table 1). All studies focused on medication review, and no stand-alone medication reconciliation interventions were identified. All studies involved elements of multidisciplinary collaboration but pharmacists were responsible for leading the medication review in 11 studies, geriatricians in one study ⁴⁵ and a GP in one study.⁴⁶ Eight studies included medication reviews conducted under the RMMR program (Table 1).^{42,47-53} No additional studies were identified by searching the grey literature.

3.1 | Methodological quality of studies

The assessment of risk of bias is summarised in Appendix B. Nine retrospective studies analysed medication reviews conducted as part of routine clinical care. Four prospective studies analysed medication review interventions.

No studies included an a priori sample size calculation. The resident sample sizes ranged from 48 to 849. Five studies did not report the number of RACFs from which the resident samples were drawn. In the remaining studies where this was reported, the resident samples included between eight and 39 reviews per RACF.

More than one pharmacist or geriatrician delivered the medication review service in nine of the 13 included studies.^{42,45,47,49-54} This reflected "real-world" practice and increased generalisability of results.²⁰ Nine studies used a recognised classification system to categorise MRPs and/ or recommendations, which facilitates more reliable comparisons.^{47-52,55,56} The lack of parallel comparison groups weakens the quality of evidence. The included studies in this review may also be subject to publication bias, where studies with positive results are more likely to be published.

3.2 | Processes

One study reported the views of GPs and nursing staff regarding medication review.⁵⁴ Of those who responded, 90% of nursing staff (n = 9/10) and 60% (n = 9/15) of prescribers found medication review to be beneficial and useful. Some prescribers had negative comments regarding having their prescribing reviewed by pharmacists.⁵⁴ No study reported resident perspectives, but six out of 15 prescribers responding to the survey reported their perception that medication reviews improved resident well-being.⁵⁴ There were no data in the included studies on resident satisfaction with the RMMR service.

One study conducted a cost analysis of the medication review intervention.⁵⁴ From a government perspective, there were overall savings in medication costs (\$29.88 per resident reviewed) but an overall increase in pathology expenditure (\$2.16 per resident reviewed).⁵⁴ The analysis was not a full

economic analysis and did not include, for example, the cost of providing the intervention.

One study evaluated PIM use in residents receiving RMMRs before and after a change in the frequency of RMMR eligibility from once a year to once every 2 years and found no significant difference in PIM use.⁵³

3.3 | Impact

An average of 2.7-3.9 MRPs was identified per review (n = 5 studies).^{42,48-50,54} Among these five studies, three different classification systems were used to categorise the MRPs and one study did not use a recognised classification system.⁵⁴

To investigate the most prevalent MRPs, 4144 MRPs from four studies with a combined resident sample size of 1374 were pooled (Figure 2).^{42,48,49,54} The most commonly reported MRPs across the four studies were undertreated conditions (23%, n = 948) (eg, untreated conditions, missing preventative treatments) and drug selection problems (22%, n = 892) (eg, duplication, drug interactions, wrong dose, strength, or form, missing indications, contraindications present). One study reported that the most common undertreatment recommendation was the addition of calcium and cholecalciferol for osteoporosis treatment.⁴⁹

Eight studies reported the types of recommendations identified during medication reviews.^{45,48-50,53-55,57} The mean number of review recommendations per resident was between 1.9 and 4.0. Results from seven studies were pooled to examine the most prevalent types of recommendations (n = 1897 residents with 5286 recommendations) (Figure 3).^{45,48,49,53-}

 55,57 The most common recommendation made was a change in or new clinical or laboratory monitoring (27% of recommendations, n = 1416). The recommendation to add a medication to the resident's therapy, for example to address undertreated conditions, comprised 6% of recommendations (Figure 3).

Four studies reported the acceptance of recommendations by GPs.^{48,50,54,57} Acceptance of recommendations for 1177 residents across three studies was pooled,^{48,54,57} in which 45% to 84% recommendations were accepted by GPs. Recommendations related to education or counselling had a higher acceptance rate (98%, n = 186/190) (Figure 4). Recommendations that did not involve changes in therapies had a higher acceptance rate than those that did. The highest acceptance rate involving a change in therapy was to change a dose formulation (82%, n = 106/129), followed by the addition of a new medication to therapy (75%, n = 218/289). The remaining study only reported the three most frequent recommendations in the top 10 anatomic therapeutic chemical pharmacological subgroups.⁵⁰

Three studies reported the implementation of recommendations by GPs,^{45,50,55} in which 58%-72% of pharmacist recommendations were implemented. Two of the studies were



conducted retrospectively with access to medication charts and medical records, 50,55 but only one study reported data extraction being cross-checked. 50

3.4 | Outcomes

One study reported clinical and resident-centred outcomes following medication review as secondary outcomes and was not adequately powered to assess these. Quality of life decreased in both intervention and control groups (a mean decrease of 1.0 (SD \pm 4.3 and \pm 4.7, respectively) when assessed using the Quality of Life in Alzheimer's Disease Scale (P = 0.94)). In the intervention group, 23/45 residents were hospitalised at least once compared with 24/48 in the control group (P = 0.99). After 12 months, 12/45 residents who received the intervention had died, compared to 19/48 residents in the control group (HR: 0.60, 95% CI: 0.30-1.22).⁴⁶

¹⁴ WILEY – Australasian Journal on Ageing

Medication reviews were found to significantly decrease anticholinergic and/or sedative medication burden in two studies.^{47,51} Retrospective review of RMMRs found that pharmacist recommendations effectively halved exposure to anticholinergic and sedative medications from one to half of a minimum efficacious dose (ie, the minimum daily dose approved by the United States' Food and Drug Administration ⁵⁸) of an anticholinergic or sedative medication per resident, measured using the drug burden index. Overall, 61% of recommendations to reduce anticholinergic or sedative medications were implemented by GPs.⁵¹ Nervous system medications, including paracetamol, were implicated in over one-third (34%, n = 381) of accepted recommendations in three studies that reported by medication class.^{45,50,57}

The remaining studies investigated the impacts of comprehensive medication reviews on specific areas of therapy (Table 1). Improvements were found for the appropriateness of prescribing for older people ^{45,53} and the appropriateness of prescribing of renally cleared medications.⁴⁸ There was no impact on the prevalence of use of antithrombotic medications for residents with atrial fibrillation who received a medication review.⁵²

4 | DISCUSSION

This systematic review identified a lack of research on clinical and resident-centred outcomes of medication reviews conducted. One study reported that medication reviews had no impact on quality of life, hospitalisation or mortality, but this study was underpowered to detect a significant difference in these outcomes. There was evidence that medication reviews may assist to optimise medication use by decreasing anticholinergic and/or sedative medication burden and inappropriate prescribing. Comprehensive medication reviews were successful in identifying 2.7-3.9 MRPs per resident, with up to 84% of recommendations to resolve MRPs accepted by GPs.

4.1 | RMMR program implications

Residents entering RACFs have more complex care needs, are frailer and experience more polypharmacy than when the RMMR program commenced over 20 years ago. For these reasons, access to medication review services is arguably more important than ever, as is understanding how best to target medication reviews to residents most likely to benefit and determining the clinical impact of the reviews.¹⁷ This systematic review did not identify whether specific residents benefit most from medication review, nor the optimum frequency of medication reviews. It has been estimated that only 38% of residents of Australian RACFs currently receive an RMMR annually.¹⁷ Data do not exist on the proportion of residents at risk of medication

CHEN ET AL

misadventure. It was not clear from the seven studies of RMMRs included in this review whether the RMMR service is specifically being targeted to those residents at highest risk of medication-related harm.^{42,47-51,53} In Australian RACFs, 35% of residents stay <1 year.⁵⁹ Changes to the RMMR funding rules introduced in 2014 meant most residents are eligible for a RMMR every 2 years rather than every year as per the pre-2014 funding rules.⁶⁰ The implication has been that many residents now receive only one RMMR. In contrast, comparable programs in the UK, Canada and the United States permit medication reviews to be provided once per year.^{10,61,62} Evidence for the optimal frequency for medication review is sparse in both the Australian and international settings. Despite positive comments from prescribers and nursing staff regarding the value of medication review,54,63 one-third of directors of nursing were able to identify residents who did not receive an RMMR despite having an unmet clinical need.⁶⁴ One study compared RMMRs conducted in 2012 and 2015 before and after the funding rule changed and did not find a significant difference in PIM use.⁵³ An alternative RMMR funding model that incorporates clinical audit procedures and ensures the RMMR service is specifically targeted to residents at high risk of medication-related harm (eg, due to dementia diagnosis or frailty) has been suggested to guide RMMR referral.⁶⁰ This may also improve the costeffectiveness of running a national medication review program, as the prevalence and cost of PIM use are high.^{1,5}

This systematic review found that overall 60% of medication review recommendations were accepted for all recommendation classes, except "other changes to medication" (18% acceptance rate). This rate was comparable with international observational studies on medication review (58%-68%).¹⁵ Recommendations for education and monitoring had higher acceptance rates than recommendations to change medication regimens. Higher implementation rates may have been achieved if inter-professional follow-up care were provided. A systematic review of the relationship between GP-pharmacist collaboration and recommendation implementation found medication reviews involving more intensive GP-pharmacist collaboration were more likely to result in regimen changes than reviews without intensive collaboration.65 This was consistent with findings from a review of international systematic reviews of pharmacist-led medication review in community settings.¹⁴ Inter-professional communication pre- and postmedication review was a central component of medication review models investigated in early Australian and international research.^{28,66-68} A post-review discussion between the GP and pharmacist remains part of the program guidelines, and is mandatory unless any changes are considered minor in nature.²¹ The current Australian RMMR program does not provide specific funding to incentivise postreview collaboration as in Canada and United

CHEN ET AL.				Austra	alasian Journal on Ageing $-WILEY^{15}$
		Outcome	2012 group: After GPs' acceptance of pharmacist recom- mendations, MAI score was 20. 2015 group: After GPs' acceptance of pharmacist recom- mendations, MAI score was 22	Significantly lower ACB scores as meas- ured using each of the seven scales. ~30% of recommenda- tions pertaining to ACMs implemented. 114 dosage changes	N/A (Continues)
		Impact	2012 group: 197 recommendations made that had an impact on MAI. After pharmacist review, MAI score would have been 15.5. 2015 group: 176 recommendations made that had an impact on MAI. After pharmacist review, MAI score would have been 20. Over 50% of recommendations that impacted MAI were to cease a medication	Overall number of ACMs pre- scribed decreased following RMMR and after GP uptake of pharmacist recommendations. 103 recommendations made due to possible anticholinergic adverse events identified by the pharmacist	No recommendations made to pre- scribe antithrombotics for 10 eli- gible residents for antithrombotic therapy but were not prescribed any antithrombotics. No recommendations made to start antithrombotics for 30 residents eligible (without contraindications) to start guideline-recommended antithrombotics.
	Results	Measure and baseline	MAI score, excluding 2 (accuracy of directions and cost-effectiveness) of the 10 criteria. 2012 group: MAI score before review was 26 2015 group: MAI score before review was 27	ACB (measured using seven scales). 36-67% (depending on scale used) of residents prescribed at least one regular ACM.	Use of antithrombotic therapies. 115/146 (79%) of residents prescribed antithrom-botics. 7% (n = 5) of antiplatelet users were appropriately prescribed. 67 residents were not prescribed antithrombotic therapy according to guidelines
		Mean number of medications (±SD)	2012 group: 7.7 (主2.9) 2015 group: 7.2 (主2.4)	11.4 (±4.9)	Not reported
	Population	Mean age (±SD)	2012 group: 86.0 (±7.6) 2015 group: 87.4 (±5.9) for 2015	85.6 (±7.7)	88.4 (±7.5)
studies		No of participants (No of RACFs)	112 from 2012 (not reported) 111 from 2015 (not reported)	814 (not reported)	146 (not reported)
mmary of included s	Intervention	Type	RMMR	RMMR	RMMR
TABLE 1 Sur		Author (year), study design	Koria et al. (2018), ⁵³ retro- spective cohort study	McLarin et al. (2016), ⁴⁷ retro- spective cross- sectional study	Nishtala et al. (2016), ⁵² retro- spective cross- sectional study

Chapter Two

16	Ļγ	VILEY	— Australasian Journal on Ageing		CHEN ET AL	-
		Outcome	Withdrawal of identi- fied deprescribing targets achieved in 207 medicines (81%) in 42 people. Mean change in unique regular meds at 12 months in interven- tion was -1.9 ± 4.1 and in control $+0.1 \pm 3.5$.	17% of high-risk medications creased, altered dose in 3%	93% (n = 87) recommendations to moni- mendations to moni- tor renal function were accepted by GPs 71% (n-20) recom- mendations to change treatment for resi- dents inappropriately prescribed renally cleared medications were accepted by GPs	(collulates)
		Impact	348 deprescribing targets identified for 45 residents.	Recommendations: Withdrawal of medication 10%, new medication 48%. Cease: due to ADEs (n = 66), no clear indication/medication burden (n = 63), disease cured (n = 16)	3054 recommendations made, mean of 3.6 (\pm 1.9) per resident. Recommendations to monitor renal function were made for 94 (29%) residents with CKD. There were 28 recommendations to resolve MRPs for renally cleared medica- tions in residents with CKD. 2560 (84%) recommendations implemented, mean 3.0 (\pm 1.9) per resident.	
	Results	Measure and baseline	Number of unique regular medicines at 12 months postrandomisation. Intervention: 9.6 regular medications at baseline Control: 9.5 regular medi- cations at baseline	Inappropriate prescrib- ing (high-risk medica- tions list created based on 2012 Beers Criteria, McLeod Criteria, the Laroche Criteria, the PRISCUS criteria and the Norwegian General Practice Criteria). ≥1 high-risk medication was prescribed to 58% of residents	MRPs (DOCUMENT classification). 2712 MRPs in 98% of residents, mean 3.2 (\pm 1.7) per resident. Inappropriate prescrib- ing of renally cleared medications. 154 residents had CKD. 28 CKD residents were inappropriately pre- scribed renally cleared medications	
		Mean number of medications (±SD)	9.6 (±5.0) intervention 9.5 (±3.6) control	9.6 (±4.2)	11.2 (±4.8)	
	Population	Mean age (±SD)	84 (土6) intervention 84 (土8) control	83.0 (±8.1)	84.9 (±8.8)	
		No of participants (No of RACFs)	47 intervention 48 control (4)	153 (4)	847 (not reported)	
ntinued)	Intervention	Type	Medication review conducted by GP	Comprehensive geriatric assessment	RMMR	
TABLE 1 (Cor		Author (year), study design	Potter et al. (2016), ⁴⁶ randomised con- trolled trial	Poudel et al. (2015), ⁴⁵ prospec- tive observational cohort study	Gheewala et al. (2014), ⁴⁸ retro- spective cross- sectional study	

EN et	AL.					———— Austr	alasian Jourr	nal on Ageing —WILEY	17
		Outcome	N/A	N/A	N/A	Mean DBI after GP uptake of recom- mendations was 0.52 (SD ± 0.58).	N/A	N/A	(Continues)
		Impact	741 recommendations made. 37 recommendations implemented (49% of known outcomes, $n = 75$).	 196 recommendations made, mean 4 (range 1-7) per resident. ~70% of recommendations implemented. 	Number of recommendations not reported. 73% recommendations accepted. 58% recommendations implemented	Mean DBI after pharmacist recom- mendations would have been 0.47 (SD \pm 0.53), a 20% decrease (n = 0.12) from baseline.	Number of recommendations not reported. Acceptance of recommendations not reported.	409 recommendations made, fre- quently cease therapy (n = 160), then change to dose regimen (n = 79), and biochemical tests (n = 56). 141 changes were made in 69 (51% of 135 residents whose medica- tions were discussed with GP) residents.	
	Results	Measure and baseline	MRPs (Strand et al. 1990 definition) ⁸⁴ . 802 MRPs total 2.7 (range 0-12) per review	MRPs (PNCE V5.01, 2006 classification). Number of MRPs not reported.	MRPs (Bergen District Nursing Home study classification). 1433 MRPs identified in 96% of residents (mean of 3.0 per resident).	DBI, a measure of expo- sure to medications with anticholinergic and seda- tive properties. Mean DBI before review: $0.59 (SD \pm 0.60)$	MRPs (DOCUMENT classification). Mean of 3.9 (\pm 2.0) MRPs identified per resident.	MRPs (no formal definition). Number of MRPs not reported.	
		Mean number of medications (±SD)	11.3 (土4.8)	9.0 (±not reported)	7.4 (±3.5)	7.4 (±3.5)	9.7 (±3.8)	3.9 (±2.8)	
	Population	Mean age (±SD)	82.0 (±11.1)	86.0 (±not reported)	84.0 (±9.0)	84.0 (±9.0)	83.9 (±9.3)	86.4 (±not reported)	
		No of participants (No of RACFs)	296 (6)	48 (1)	500 (62)	500 (62)	96 (not reported)	202 (14)	
(tinued)	Intervention	Type	RMMR	Medication review by pharmacist as part of routine clinical care	RMMR	RMMR	RMMR	Medication review by pharmacists	
TABLE 1 (Cor		Author (year), study design	Kaur et al. (2012), ⁴⁹ retro- spective cross- sectional study	Khalil et al. (2011), ⁵⁵ retro- spective cross- sectional study	Nishtala et al. (2011), ⁵⁰ retro- spective cross- sectional study	Nishtala et al. (2009), ⁵¹ retro- spective cross- sectional study	Stafford et al. (2009), ⁴² retro-spective cross-sectional study	Smith et al. (2002), ⁵⁷ prospective observational cohort study	

CHE

18	–W	ΊL	E	Y-	Australasian	Journal	on Agei	ng
						0	0	

Author (year),		No of participants		of medications			
study design	Type	(No of RACFs)	Mean age (±SD)	(∓SD)	Measure and baseline	Impact	Outcome
Elliott and Thomson (1999), ⁵⁴ prospec- tive observational cohort study	Medication review by pharmacists	128 (4)	82 (±8.9)	7.4 (土3.4)	MRPs (actual or potential problems, no formal definition). 254 MRPs identified at baseline.	247 recommendations made. 149 (60%) recommendations implemented.	N/A
bbreviations: ACB: audex; MRP: medication	nticholinergic burden; A n-related problem; RAC	CM: anticholinergic med F: residential aged care f	lication; ADEs: adverse dr acility; SD: standard devia	ug events; CKD: chror tion.	uc kidney disease; DBI: drug burd	len index; GP: general practitioner; MAI	: medication appropriatenes

Results

Population

Intervention

(Continued)

TABLE 1

Mean number

CHEN ET AL.

States,¹⁹ or remuneration for case conferencing as suggested by a previous evaluation of the RMMR program.⁶⁰ Lack of opportunity for collaboration in resident follow-up has been identified as a barrier to clinical decision-making and deprescribing in the RACF setting.^{60,69} There is increasing focus on integrating clinical pharmacists within RACFs which would support inter-professional communication.36

Clinical implications 4.2

One of the included studies reported clinical outcomes of medication review as secondary outcomes and was not adequately powered to assess these.46 Small sample size was also identified as a factor that limited interpretation of the findings from the three Australian studies included in the recent international systematic review of medication reconciliation and review in RACFs.12 Earlier Australian studies have reported medication review improved pain and mobility but were not associated with changes in morbidity or survival, although measuring improvements in these outcome measures is difficult.^{26,28} It is also inherently difficult to compare outcomes among residents who did and did not receive RMMRs, given that residents who were unwell, had more complex medication regimens or were at higher risk of medication-related harm may be more likely to receive RMMRs. Although the RMMR program has existed for over 20 years, there is a lack of Australian research into clinical and resident-centred outcomes in the RACF setting.

Undertreatment was the most common MRP identified in this systematic review, although only one study described the specific health conditions that were undertreated. This is counter-intuitive because medication review is often advocated as a method to decrease polypharmacy.70,71 In the present review, 16% (n = 846/5286) of all recommendations were to cease a medication. Planned and supervised medication cessation, known as deprescribing, is an area of increasing interest in RACFs. Deprescribing may include the conscious decision to withhold guidelinerecommended therapies in accordance with the residents' goals of care. For this reason, apparent undertreatment may actually reflect an intentional prescribing decision informed by discussions with the resident and their family members. In a survey of residents in South Australia, 41% of residents wanted to decrease their number of regular medications and 79% of residents indicated a willingness to have medications deprescribed if recommended by their doctor.⁷² Lack of information on goals of care in RMMR referrals has been identified as a barrier for deprescribing.⁶⁹ No studies investigated to what extent residents' goals of care were considered in medication review recommendations, so it is unknown to what extent the MRPs identified by pharmacists reflected intentional and unintentional undertreatment. Another factor contributing to this finding may be that people with dementia are less likely

CHEN ET AL.

to be prescribed guideline-recommended medications for chronic conditions.⁷³ Clinicians may perceive the benefits and risks of medicines are different among older people with and without dementia. More than half of all residents in Australian RACFs are living with dementia.⁷³

The most common recommendation related to the need for additional tests or monitoring (27% of recommendations, n = 1416/5286). This finding was consistent with common recommendations in international studies of similar interventions.8,25,74 Although close monitoring is often necessary in older people due to physiological changes that occur with ageing, there may also be inconsistent understanding of the role and value of routine laboratory monitoring in this setting.^{57,75} For example, intensive management of type 2 diabetes is no longer recommended for residents of RACFs. Care should instead be individualised to maximise the residents' quality of life.⁷⁶ While monitoring may detect and prevent adverse drug events (ADEs), in some cases the rate of detection may not justify invasive testing.^{77,78} Where laboratory tests have occurred, results may not have been well documented or communicated to allied health professionals involved in the resident's care. Over half of all residents included in an Australian study did not have serum creatinine values recorded in clinical notes, despite 61% of residents receiving one or more renally cleared medications.48 Careful consideration of what monitoring is necessary may avoid the cost, time and burden to residents in the RACF setting.⁷⁹

4.3 | Strengths and limitations

A strength of this review was the inclusion of a range of prospective and retrospective studies including medication reviews delivered as part of research studies and as part of routine clinical care. This allowed a comprehensive and robust evaluation of all aspects of the medication review intervention.

A limitation of this review was that studies that included medication reviews as part of complex multifactorial interventions were excluded. This included medication reviews conducted in conjunction with multidisciplinary case conferences.^{26,28} Other complementary interventions include QUM activities that are independently subsidised by the Australian government. The QUM program is a complementary service whereby pharmacists work with local stakeholders to deliver interventions at a facility level to improve medication management.¹⁷ Interventions specifically addressing particular classes of medications were also excluded by our criteria. The processes for assessing single medication classes may be similar to a complete medication review and may be relevant in reducing MRPs and risk of ADEs.

The use of different MRP classification systems limited comparison between studies included in this review. For

Australasian Journal on Ageing $-WILEY^{-19}$

example, we were unable to separate medication dose increases from decreases, while the implications may be quite different. Similar categories from three different classification systems were re-classified into the DOCUMENT system to facilitate comparisons between studies.⁴¹ However, there were inherent limitations with this approach because each classification system differs in terms of definitions, structure and approach. These factors can influence the apparent number of MRPs identified.⁸⁰ The terminology of MRPs identified, recommendations made, acceptance and implementation of recommendations were not consistently applied to differentiate between the four categories, despite having different clinical implications. Therefore, our pooled analyses may not be a true reflection of MRPs. Additionally, the sensitivity and specificity of MRPs identified could not be evaluated.

To investigate the uptake of recommendations, the included studies used the terms "acceptance" and/or "implementation," but no study provided definitions. In our pooled analysis of "acceptance" and "implementation," we used the author terms and did not consider the terms interchangeable. Therefore, our results for "acceptance" and "implementation" are not directly comparable. In general, the difference between acceptance and implementation may be that the resident did not accept the recommendation, in which case the GP would agree with the recommendation but not change the therapy due to resident preference. The difference between "recommendation" and "acceptance" may also be due to a difference in information available to the pharmacist and the GP. The GP may accept the recommendation in principle but not implement the recommendation due to having access to clinical information that was not available to or considered by the pharmacist at the time of medication review.

4.4 | Future directions

While the high rate of acceptance of recommendations found in this systematic review may translate to resident benefit, there was minimal published evidence to support this. Hospitalisations, pain, cognitive function or residentreported outcomes were only reported in one study, which was not powered to assess these outcomes. Evidence from international studies with similar interventions is mixed. While one US study found that medication review reduced hospitalisations,⁸¹ a RCT in the UK showed a reduction in the number of falls, but no impact on GP visits, hospitalisations or mortality.²⁵ Further longitudinal studies with parallel comparison groups are needed to investigate these and other resident-reported outcomes. Given the small sample sizes of existing studies, the increasing availability of "big data" for recipients of aged care services could play a role in understanding the impacts and outcomes of medication reviews on a wider population

20 WILEY – Australasian Journal on Ageing

level.⁸² The need for a core outcome set for medication review intervention studies, including standard measurement instruments, has been suggested.⁸³ This evidence would inform targeting of medication reviews and may allow medication review data to be used at policy level to manage medication-related risk.

5 | CONCLUSIONS

Collaborative medication reviews are a useful strategy to identify and resolve MRPs in RACFs and may improve the optimal use of medicines. However, there were no adequately powered data on the impact of medication review on clinical and resident-centred outcomes. It was unclear what proportion of residents at high risk of MRPs receive a medication review. There were no studies that focused on stand-alone medication reconciliation. Future studies of medication interventions in RACFs which assess clinical and resident-centred outcomes are needed.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

This work is supported by the NHMRC Partnership Centre: Dealing with Cognitive and Related Functional Decline in Older People known as the Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre (CDPC) (grant number GNT9100000). KNW is supported by an Australian Government Research Training Scholarship. JKS is a pharmacist accredited to provide medication reviews to residents of aged care homes. JI and JKS were supported by an NHMRC Early Career Fellowship. MC is employed by an organisation that provides residential aged care services. JSB is funded through an NHMRC Dementia Leadership Fellowship. No other authors have any conflicts of interests to declare.

ORCID

Esa Y. H. Chen (D) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9615-1916

REFERENCES

- Morin L, Laroche ML, Texier G, Johnell K. Prevalence of potentially inappropriate medication use in older adults living in nursing homes: a systematic review. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2016;17(9):862.e1-9
- Harrison SL, Kouladjian O'Donnell L, Bradley CE, et al. Associations between the Drug Burden Index, potentially inappropriate medications and quality of life in residential aged care. *Drugs Aging*. 2018;35(1):83-91.
- Dedhiya SD, Hancock E, Craig BA, Doebbeling CC, Thomas J III. Incident use and outcomes associated with potentially inappropriate medication use in older adults. *Am J Geriatr Pharmacother*. 2010;8(6):562-570.
- Juola A-L, Pylkkanen S, Kautiainen H, et al. Burden of potentially harmful medications and the association with quality of life and

mortality among institutionalized older people. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2016;17(3):276.e9-e14.

- Harrison SL, Kouladjian O'Donnell L, Milte R, et al. Costs of potentially inappropriate medication use in residential aged care facilities. *BMC Geriatr.* 2018;18(1):9.
- Wang KN, Bell JS, Chen EYH, Gilmartin-Thomas JFM, Ilomäki J. Medications and prescribing patterns as factors associated with hospitalizations from long-term care facilities: a systematic review. *Drugs Aging*. 2018;35(5):423-457.
- Milos V, Rekman E, Bondesson Å, et al. Improving the quality of pharmacotherapy in elderly primary care patients through medication reviews: a randomised controlled study. *Drugs Aging*, 2013;30(4):235-246.
- Lapane KL, Hughes CM, Christian JB, Daiello LA, Cameron KA, Feinberg J. Evaluation of the Fleetwood model of long-term care pharmacy. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2011;12(5):355-363.
- Patterson SM, Hughes CM, Crealey G, Cardwell C, Lapane KL. An evaluation of an adapted U.S. model of pharmaceutical care to improve psychoactive prescribing for nursing home residents in Northern Ireland (Fleetwood Northern Ireland study). J Am Geriatr Soc. 2010;58(1):44-53.
- Wang Y, Farley JF, Ferreri SP, Renfro CP. Do comprehensive medication review completion rates predict medication use and management quality? *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2019;15:417-424.
- Jokanovic N, Tan EC, Van den Bosch D, Kirkpatrick CM, Dooley MJ, Bell JS. Clinical medication review in Australia: a systematic review. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2015;12(3):384-418.
- Lehnbom EC, Stewart MJ, Manias E, Westbrook JI. Impact of medication reconciliation and review on clinical outcomes. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2014;48(10):1298-1312.
- Bondesson Å, Eriksson T, Kragh A, Holmdahl L, Midlöv P, Höglund P. In-hospital medication reviews reduce unidentified drug-related problems. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2013;69(3):647-655.
- Jokanovic N, Tan EC, Sudhakaran S, et al. Pharmacist-led medication review in community settings: an overview of systematic reviews. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2017;13(4):661-685.
- Thiruchelvam K, Hasan SS, Wong PS, Kairuz T. Residential aged care medication review to improve the quality of medication use: a systematic review. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2017;18(1):87. e1–e14.
- Jokanovic N, Wang KN, Dooley MJ, et al. Prioritizing interventions to manage polypharmacy in Australian aged care facilities. *Res Social Adm Pharm*. 2017;13(3):564-574.
- Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Seaman KL, Corlis M, Bell JS. Medication management policy, practice and research in Australian residential aged care: current and future directions. *Pharmacol Res.* 2017;116:20-28.
- Pellegrino AN, Martin MT, Tilton JJ, Touchette DR. Medication therapy management services: definitions and outcomes. *Drugs*. 2009;69(4):393-406.
- Houle SKD, Grindrod KA, Chatterley T, Tsuyuki RT. Paying pharmacists for patient care: a systematic review of remunerated pharmacy clinical care services. *Can Pharm J.* 2014;147(4): 209-232.
- Blenkinsopp A, Bond C, Raynor DK. Medication reviews. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2012;74(4):573-580.
- Pharmaceutical Society of Australia. Guidelines for Pharmacists Providing Residential Medication Management Review (RMMR) and Quality Use of Medicines (QUM) Services. Deakin: Pharmaceutical Society of Australia; 2011.
- Department of Health and Ageing. Guiding Principles for Medication Management in Residential Aged Care Facilities. Canberra: Department of Health and Ageing; 2012.

CHEN ET AL.

- Australian Aged Care Quality Agency. Pocket Guide to the Accreditation Standards. Parramatta: Australian Aged Care Quality Agency; 2014.
- 24. Care Quality Commission. Regulation 12: Safe care and treatment. Care Quality Commission; 2017 [updated 9 February 2017]. http:// www.cqc.org.uk/content/regulation-12-safe-care-and-treatment. Accessed February 28, 2017.
- Zermansky AG, Alldred DP, Petty DR, et al. Clinical medication review by a pharmacist of elderly people living in care homes randomised controlled trial. *Age Ageing*. 2006;35(6):586-591.
- Roberts MS, Stokes JA, King MA, et al. Outcomes of a randomized controlled trial of a clinical pharmacy intervention in 52 nursing homes. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2001;51(3):257-265.
- Furniss L, Burns A, Craig SKL, Scobie S, Cooke J, Faragher B. Effects of a pharmacist's medication review in nursing homes: randomised controlled trial. *Br J Psychiatry*. 2000;176:563-567.
- King MA, Roberts MS. Multidisciplinary case conference reviews: improving outcomes for nursing home residents, carers and health professionals. *Pharm World Sci.* 2001;23(2):41-45.
- 29. The Sixth Community Pharmacy Agreement. Residential Medication Management Review Programs (RMMR) and Quality Use of Medicines Program (QUM) Program Rules. Canberra: The Sixth Community Pharmacy Agreement; 2017.
- Australian Government Department of Health. Medication management review data, 2018 [updated 21 March 2018]. http://www. health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/Medication-Management-Review-Data. Accessed 20 February, 2019.
- Australian Government Department of Health. The Sixth Community Pharmacy Agreement. Canberra: Australian Government Department of Health; 2015.
- Chen TF. Pharmacist-led home medicines review and residential medication management review: The Australian model. *Drugs Aging*. 2016;33(3):199-204.
- 33. Carnell K, Paterson R. Review of national aged care quality regulatory processes. 2017. Retrieved from the Australian Government Department of Health. https://agedcare.health.gov.au/sites/g/files/ net1426/f/documents/10_2017/review_report_final_23_october_2017.pdf. Accessed August 23, 2018.
- 34. Australian Government Department of Health. Single set of aged care quality standards. Commonwealth of Australia; 2017 [updated 8 March 2017]. https://agedcare.health.gov.au/quality/singleset-of-aged-care-quality-standards. Accessed April 4, 2017.
- 35. Parliament of Australia. Inquiry Into the Quality of Care in Residential Aged Care Facilities in Australia. Canberra: Parliament of Australia; 2017. https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Busin ess/Committees/House/Health_Aged_Care_and_Sport/AgedC areFacilities. Accessed December 13, 2017.
- Pharmaceutical Society of Australia. Federal Budget Submission 2019–20. Deakin West: Pharmaceutical Society of Australia; 2019.
- Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. J Clin Epidemiol. 2009;62(10):e1-e34.
- Clinical medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities: A systematic review. [Internet]. PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews. 2016. http://www.crd. york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display_record.asp?ID=CRD4201604 1773. Accessed 23 June, 2016.

Australasian Journal on Ageing –WILEY 21

- World Health Organization. The High 5s project standard operating protocol for medication reconciliation: Version 3, 2014. http:// www.who.int/patientsafety/implementation/solutions/high5s/h5ssop.pdf. Accessed June 1, 2016.
- Agency for Clinical Innovation. Understanding Program Evaluation: An ACI Framework. Chatswood: Agency for Clinical Innovation; 2013.
- Williams M, Peterson GM, Tenni PC, Bindoff IK, Stafford AC. DOCUMENT: a system for classifying drug-related problems in community pharmacy. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2012;34(1):43-52.
- Stafford AC, Tenni PC, Peterson GM, et al. Drug-related problems identified in medication reviews by Australian pharmacists. *Pharm World Sci.* 2009;31(2):216-223.
- Van Mil JW, Westerlund LO, Hersberger KE, Schaefer MA. Drug-related problem classification systems. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2004;38(5):859-867.
- The Joanna Briggs Institute. Joanna Briggs Institute Reviewers' Manual: 2016 Edition. Adelaide, SA, Australia: The Joanna Briggs Institute; 2016.
- Poudel A, Peel NM, Mitchell CA, Gray LC, Nissen LM, Hubbard RE. Geriatrician interventions on medication prescribing for frail older people in residential aged care facilities. *Clin Interv Aging*. 2015;10:1043-1051.
- Potter K, Flicker L, Page A, Etherton-Beer C. Deprescribing in frail older people: a randomised controlled trial. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(3):e0149984.
- McLarin PE, Peterson GM, Curtain CM, Nishtala PS, Hannan PJ, Castelino RL. Impact of Residential Medication Management Reviews on anticholinergic burden in aged care residents. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2016;32(1):123-131.
- 48. Gheewala PA, Peterson GM, Curtain CM, Nishtala PS, Hannan PJ, Castelino RL. Impact of the pharmacist medication review services on drug-related problems and potentially inappropriate prescribing of renally cleared medications in residents of aged care facilities. *Drugs Aging*, 2014;31(11):825-835.
- Kaur S, Roberts JA, Roberts MS. Evaluation of medication-related problems in medication reviews: a comparative perspective. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2012;46(7–8):972-982.
- Nishtala PS, McLachlan AJ, Bell JS, Chen TF. A retrospective study of drug-related problems in australian aged care homes: medication reviews involving pharmacists and general practitioners. J Eval Clin Pract. 2011;17(1):97-103.
- Nishtala PS, Hilmer SN, McLachlan AJ, Hannan PJ, Chen TF. Impact of Residential Medication Management Reviews on Drug Burden Index in aged-care homes: a retrospective analysis. *Drugs Aging*. 2009;26(8):677-686.
- Nishtala PS, Castelino RL, Peterson GM, Hannan PJ, Salahudeen MS. Residential Medication Management Reviews of antithrombotic therapy in aged care residents with atrial fibrillation: assessment of stroke and bleeding risk. *J Clin Pharm Ther*. 2016;41(3):279-284.
- Koria LG, Zaidi TS, Peterson G, Nishtala P, Hannah PJ, Castelino R. Impact of medication reviews on inappropriate prescribing in aged care. *Curr Med Res Opin*. 2018;34(5):833-838.
- Elliott RA, Thomson WA. Assessment of a nursing home medication review service provided by hospital-based clinical pharmacists. *Aust J Hospital Pharm.* 1999;29(5):255-260.
- Khalil H. A review of pharmacist recommendations in an aged care facility. *Aust J Prim Health*. 2011;17(1):35-39.

²² WILEY – Australasian Journal on Ageing

- Atkin PA, Keoghan J, Veitch PC, Ogle SJ. The positive effect of medication chart review in nursing homes: a valid hypothesis. *Aust J Pharm.* 1997;78(926):526.
- Smith MA, Simpson JM, Benrimoj SI. General practitioner acceptance of medication review in Sydney nursing homes. *J Pharm Pract Res.* 2002;32(3):227-231.
- Hilmer SN, Mager DE, Simonsick EM, et al. Drug Burden Index score and functional decline in older people. Am J Med. 2009;122(12):1142-1149.e11492
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *Residential aged care* and home care 2013–14, 2015. http://www.aihw.gov.au/aged-care/ residential-and-home-care-2013-14/. Accessed March 14, 2016
- 60. PricewaterhouseCoopers. Combined review of fifth community pharmacy agreement medication management programmes. 2015. Retrieved from the Australian Government Department of Health. https://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing. nsf/Content/6EF022DE87761986CA257EC80013198B/\$File/ combined-review-5cpa-medication-management-programmes-final-report-and-appendices.pdf. Accessed June 2, 2016.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Medicines* Management in Care Homes. London, England: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2015.
- 62. Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-term care. Medscheck Program for LTC Home Residents. Toronto, Ontario, Canada: Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-term care; 2016.
- Smith M, Pond D, Webster P, Acheson T. GPs' attitudes to a pharmacist's medication review of nursing home patients. *Med Today*. 2001;2(3):99-101.
- Campbell Research and Consulting. Evaluation of the Residential Medication Management Review Program. Canberra: Campbell Research and Consulting; 2010.
- 65. Kwint HF, Bermingham L, Faber A, Gussekloo J, Bouvy ML. The relationship between the extent of collaboration of general practitioners and pharmacists and the implementation of recommendations arising from medication review: a systematic review. *Drugs Aging*. 2013;30(2):91-102.
- Crotty M, Halbert J, Rowett D, et al. An outreach geriatric medication advisory service in residential aged care: a randomised controlled trial of case conferencing. *Age Ageing*. 2004;33(6):612-617.
- 67. Crotty M, Rowett D, Spurling L, Giles L, Phillips P. Does the addition of a pharmacist transition coordinator improve evidencebased medication management and health outcomes in older adults moving from the hospital to a long-term care facility? Results of a randomized, controlled trial. *Am J Geriatr Pharmacother*. 2004;2(4):257-264.
- Pope G, Wall N, Peters CM, et al. Specialist medication review does not benefit short-term outcomes and net costs in continuingcare patients. *Age Ageing*. 2011;40(3):307-312.
- Turner JP, Edwards S, Stanners M, Shakib S, Bell JS. What factors are important for deprescribing in australian long-term care facilities? Perspectives of residents and health professionals. *BMJ Open*. 2016;6(3):e009781.
- Jokanovic N, Tan ECK, Dooley MJ, Kirkpatrick CM, Bell JS. Prevalence and factors associated with polypharmacy in longterm care facilities: a systematic review. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2015;16(6):535.e1-e12.

- Lalic S, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, et al. Polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity as risk factors for hospitalization among residents of long-term care facilities: a prospective cohort study. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2016;17(11):1067.e1-e6.
- Kalogianis MJ, Wimmer BC, Turner JP, et al. Are residents of aged care facilities willing to have their medications deprescribed? *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2016;12(5):784-788.
- Reeve E, Bell J, Hilmer S. Barriers to optimising prescribing and deprescribing in older adults with dementia: a narrative review. *Curr Clin Pharmacol.* 2015;10(3):168-177.
- Alldred DP, Zermansky AG, Petty DR, et al. Clinical medication review by a pharmacist of elderly people living in care homes: pharmacist interventions. *Int J Pharm Pract.* 2007;15(2):93-99.
- Hilmer SN, McLachlan AJ, Le Couteur DG. Clinical pharmacology in the geriatric patient. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol.* 2007;21(3):217-230.
- Stasinopoulos J, Bell J, Manski-Nankervis J, Hogan M, Jenkin P, Sluggett J. Medication management of type 2 diabetes. *Aust J General Pract.* 2018;47:675-681.
- Handler SM, Shirts BH, Perera S, et al. Frequency of laboratory monitoring of chronic medications administered to nursing facility residents: results of a national internet-based study. *Consult Pharm.* 2008;23(5):387-395.
- Kim DE, Berlowitz DR. The limited value of routine laboratory assessments in severely impaired nursing home residents. *J Am Med Assoc*. 1994;272(18):1447-1452.
- The BMJ. Too much medicine 2017. http://www.bmj.com/ too-much-medicine. Accessed March 3, 2017.
- Basger BJ, Moles RJ, Chen TF. Application of drug-related problem (DRP) classification systems: a review of the literature. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2014;70(7):799-815.
- Trygstad TK, Christensen DB, Wegner SE, Sullivan R, Garmise JM. Analysis of the North Carolina long-term care polypharmacy initiative: a multiple-cohort approach using propensityscore matching for both evaluation and targeting. *Clin Ther*. 2009;31(9):2018-2037.
- Registry of Older South Australians (ROSA). Registry of older South Australians: Stage 1 historical cohort report, 2018.
- Beuscart J-B, Pont LG, Thevelin S, et al. A systematic review of the outcomes reported in trials of medication review in older patients: the need for a core outcome set. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2016;83(5):942-952.
- Strand LM, Morley PC, Cipolle RJ, Ramsey R, Lamsam GD. Drug-related problems: Their structure and function. *Ann Pharmacother*. 1990;24(11):1093-1097. https://doi. org/10.1177/106002809002401114

How to cite this article: Chen EYH, Wang KN, Sluggett JK, et al. Process, impact and outcomes of medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities: A systematic review. *Australas J Ageing*. 2019;38(Suppl. 2):9–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/</u> ajag.12676 CHEN ET AL.

APPENDIX A Search strategy

MEDLINE VIA OVID

- 1 exp Aged/
- 2 Homes for the aged/
- 3 exp Nursing Homes/
- 4 Long-term care/
- 5 Assisted Living Facilities/
- 6 residential aged care facilit*.mp.
- 7 Aged care hom*.mp.
- 8 care home\$1.mp.
- 9 (long-term adj2 facilit\$3).mp.
- 10 Nursing home\$1.mp.
- 11 (Residential\$1 adj2 facilit\$3).mp.
- 12 ((Residential\$1 or home\$1 or house\$1) adj2 (old or elderly or aged or geriatric\$1)).mp.
- 13 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12
- 14 exp Medication errors/
- 15 exp Utilization Review/
- 16 Medication Therapy Management/
- 17 Pharmacists/
- 18 medicat* use\$.mp.
- 19 medica* reconciliation.mp.
- 20 (medicat* review\$ OR medicine* review\$).mp.
- 21 (medica* adj3 management).mp.
- 22 pharmaci*.mp.
- 23 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21 or 22
- 24 exp Australia/
- 25 Australia*.mp.
- 26 (New South Wales or NSW or Victoria or VIC or South Australia or SA or Western Australia or WA or Northern Territory or NT or Queensland or QLD or Tasmania or TAS or Australian Capital Territory or ACT).mp.
- 27 (Sydney or Melbourne or Adelaide or Hobart or Brisbane or Perth or Darwin or Canberra).mp.
- 28 24 or 25 or 26 or 27
- 29 13 and 23 and 28
- 30 RMMR*.mp.
- 31 Residential medication management review*.mp.
- 32 30 or 31
- 33 29 or 32
- 34 limit 33 to (yr="1995 -Current" and english)
- 35 limit 34 to (addresses or autobiography or biography or comment or dictionary or directory or editorial or festschrift or letter or portraits)
- 36 34 not 35

Australasian Journal on Ageing –WILEY 23

PUBMED

((((((((Homes for the aged) OR Nursing homes) OR Longterm care) OR Residential aged care facilit*) OR Aged care hom*)) AND ((((((((Medication reconciliation) OR Utilization review) OR Medication therapy management) OR Medication review) OR Medicine review) OR Medicines review) OR Medication management) OR Pharmacist)) AND Australia[Affiliation])) OR ((((RMMR) OR RMMRs) OR Residential medication management review*) OR Residential medication management review)

Publication date from 1995/01/01 to 2018/07/31.

EMBASE VIA OVID

- 1 exp Aged/
- 2 exp Very elderly/
- 3 exp Frail elderly/
- 4 exp Nursing home/
- 5 exp Home for the aged/
- 6 Residential care/
- 7 Residential aged care facilit*.mp.
- 8 Aged care hom*.mp.
- 9 (long-term adj2 facilit\$3).mp.
- 10 Nursing home\$1.mp.
- 11 ((Residential\$1 or home\$1 or house\$1) adj2 (old or elderly or aged or geriatric\$1)).mp.
- 12 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11
- 13 exp Medication therapy management/
- 14 exp "Drug use"/
- 15 exp Inappropriate prescribing/
- 16 Pharmacist/
- 17 Medicat* use\$.mp.
- 18 Medica* reconciliation.mp.
- 19 Medicat* review\$.mp.
- 20 (medicat* adj3 management).mp.
- 21 Pharmaci*.mp.
- 22 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21
- 23 exp Australia/
- 24 Australia*.mp.
- 25 (New South Wales or NSW or Victoria or VIC or South Australia or SA or Western Australia or WA or Northern Territory or NT or Queensland or QLD or Tasmania or TAS or Australian Capital Territory or ACT).mp.
- 26 (Sydney or Melbourne or Adelaide or Hobart or Brisbane or Perth or Darwin or Canberra).mp.
- $27 \ \ 23 \ or \ 24 \ or \ 25 \ or \ 26$
- 28 12 and 22 and 27
- 29 RMMR*.mp.
- 30 Residential medication management review*.mp.
- 31 29 or 30
- 32 28 or 31
- 33 limit 32 to (yr="1995 -Current" and english)

24 WILEY – Australasian Journal on Ageing

CINAHL

- S1 (MH "Aged+")
- S2 (MH "Nursing Homes+")
- S3 (MH "Nursing Home Patients")
- S4 (MH "Long Term Care")
- S5 Residential Aged Care Facilit*
- S6 Aged Care Hom*
- S7 Long-term N2 Facilit*
- S8 "Nursing Hom*"
- S9 ((Residential# or home# or house#) N2 (old or elderly or aged or geriatric#))
- S10 S1 OR S2 OR S3 OR S4 OR S5 OR S6 OR S7 OR S8 OR S9
- S11 (MH "Medication Reconciliation")
- S12 (MH "Record Review")
- S13 (MH "Medication History")
- S14 (MH "Medication Compliance")
- S15 (MH "Medication Errors+")
- S16 (MH "Drug Utilization")
- S17 (MH "Utilization Review+")
- S18 (MH "Pharmacists")
- S19 Medicat* Use*
- S20 Medica* Reconciliation
- S21 Medicat* Review*
- S22 Medicine* Review*

- S23 Medicat* N3 Management
- S24 S11 OR S12 OR S13 OR S14 OR S15 OR S16 OR S17 OR S18 OR S19 OR S20 OR S21 OR S22 or S23
- S25 AF Australia
- S26 S10 AND S24 AND S25
- S27 RMMR*
- S28 Residential medication management review*
- S29 S27 OR S28
- S30 S26 OR S29
- S31 Limit S30 to Publication Year: 1995-2018
- S32 Narrow S31 by Language: English
- S33 Narrow S32 by SubjectAge: -aged, 80 and over, andmiddle aged: 45-64 years

INFORMIT HEALTH COLLECTION

(SUBJECT:Aged OR (SUBJECT:"Older people") OR (SUBJECT:"Old age homes") OR (SUBJECT:"Longterm care") OR (SUBJECT:Nursing ! SUBJECT:hom*) OR (ID:residential ID:aged ID:care ID:facility) OR (Aged % care % hom*) OR (Residential ! aged ! care ! facility*)) AND (SUBJECT:Drugs OR (Medicat* % management) OR (Medica* %2 reconciliation) OR (Medicat* % review*) OR (Medicine* % review*) OR (Pharmacis*)) limit to date 1995-2018.

CHEN ET AL.

	bias
	of
	risk
m	of
X	nt
ê.	ne
	ISS
PP	sse
◄	

CHEN ET AL.

Checklist for prevalence studies
Appraisal
JBI Critical
1B
ABLE
L

Author (year), retrospective cross- sectional study	Sample frame appropriate to address the target population	Study participants sampled in an appropriate way	Adequate sample size	Study subjects and setting described in detail	Data analysis con- ducted with suf- ficient coverage of the identified sample	Valid methods used for iden- tification of the condition	Condition meas- ured in a standard, reliable way for all participants	Appropriate statistical analysis	Response rate adequate or low response rate managed appropriately
McLarin et al. (2016)	Yes	Unclear	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Yes	Yes	Unclear	N/A
Nishtala et al. (2016)	Unclear	Yes	Unclear	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	N/A
Gheewala et al. (2014)	Unclear	Unclear	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Yes	Yes	Unclear	N/A
Kaur et al. (2012)	Unclear	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Yes	Yes
Nishtala et al. (2011)	Unclear	Unclear	Yes	No	Unclear	Yes	Yes	Yes	N/A
Khalil et al. (2011)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Yes
Stafford et al. (2009)	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Yes	Yes	Yes	N/A
Nishtala et al. (2009)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Unclear	Yes	Unclear	Yes	N/A

TABLE 2B JBI Critical Appraisal Checklist for cohort studies

	і Арріаізаі Спослі	or tot collott studic	0								
Author (year), prospective observational cohort study	Similar groups recruited from the same population	Similar meas- urement of expo- sure of groups for assignment	Valid and reliable exposure measures	Confounders identified	Adjustment to deal with confounders	Groups free of outcome at moment of exposure	Valid and reliable outcome measures	Reported sufficient follow-up time	Follow-up complete or explored for loss to follow-up	Follow-up adjustment for incomplete follow-up	Statistical analysis appropriate
Koria et al. (2018)	N/A^{a}	N/A^{a}	Yes	Unclear	No	Unclear	Yes	Unclear	N/A	N/A	Yes
Poudel et al. (2015)	N/A^{a}	N/A^{a}	Yes	No	No	Unclear	Yes	Unclear	Yes	N/A	Yes
Smith et al. (2002)	N/A^{a}	N/A^{a}	Yes	Unclear	No	Unclear	Unclear	Yes	N/A	N/A	Yes
Elliott and Thomson (1999)	N/A^{a}	N/A^{a}	Yes	No	No	Unclear	Unclear	Yes	Yes	N/A	Yes
^a Single group.											
TABLE 3B JBI Critical	Appraisal Checklii	st for randomised c	controlled tri	als							

- Australasian Journal on Ageing -WILEY 25

Author (year)	True ran- domisation used to assign participants	Concealed allocation	Treatment groups similar at baseline	Participants blinded to assignment	Those delivering treatment blinded to assignment	Outcome assessors blinded to assignment	Treatment groups treated equally except- ing intervention	Follow-up complete or explored for loss to follow-up	Participants analysed in the same random groups	Same outcome measurement for groups	Reliable outcome measurement	Appropriate statistical analysis	Appropriate trial design or any design deviations explained
Potter et al. (2016)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Unclear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

2.4 Updated literature review

An updated search of Pubmed, MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL and Informit Health from January 2018 to May 2020 was conducted to identify recent literature published since the publication of the systematic review. There were 2147 records identified. After removing duplicates and screening titles, abstracts, and full-text articles, there were an additional four studies that met the inclusion criteria (Table). All four studies involved the RMMR program. The additional studies contributed to the range of processes, impact and outcomes results.

Two studies investigated process elements of RMMRs.^{153,154} In both studies, pharmacists expressed their belief that medication reviews improved medication management for residents. A qualitative study used semi-structured interviews to explore pharmacist perspectives on RMMRs for residents with advanced dementia.¹⁵³ Trust and interdependence were seen as essential elements for effective collaboration on medication reviews but were limited by the reality that these elements need time to build.¹⁵³ Factors identified as barriers to high-quality medication reviews were remuneration for case conferencing, inadequate frequency, and lack of accountability for follow-up.¹⁵³ Remuneration was also seen as a barrier among respondents of a questionnaire of pharmacists in Western Australia.¹⁵⁴ This was supported by the finding that the average time to complete an RMMR was approximately 2 hours.¹⁵⁴

Two studies reported impact of RMMRs on medication regimen complexity and appropriate use of QT-prolonging medications.^{117,155} Both studies were retrospective cross-sectional analyses, which were common among previously included studies. Neither study found that RMMRs resulted in improvements to their outcomes. There was a trend towards statistical significance that suggested that GPs were implementing recommendations that led to reduced medication regimen complexity.¹¹⁷ There were few recommendations found in regard to QT-prolonging medications, and GP acceptance was not reported.¹⁵⁵ Pouranayatihosseinabad et al. reported that 74% of recommendations were accepted by GPs, which was consistent with those included in the published study.¹¹⁷

The additional studies added to the findings by increasing understanding of process and impact of RMMRs. However, there remains a lack of clinical and residentcentred outcomes. **Table 1**. Studies on Residential Medication Management Reviews reporting processes, impact and/or outcomes, published August2018-May 2020

Author (year),	Intervention	Populatior	1	Results		
study design	No of participants (No of RACFs)	Mean age (±SD)	Mean number of medications (±SD)	Process	Impact	Outcome
Pouranayatihos seinabad et al. (2018), retrospective cross-sectional analysis	285 (not reported)	85.5 (±7.7)	8.8 (±3.3)	N/A	Medication regimen complexity index (MRCI) score baseline median: 25.5 (IQR 19.0-32.5) Post RMMR median MRCI score: 25.0 (IQR 19.0-33.5) 764 recommendations made; 29% (n=222) increased MRCI score; 30% (n=229) decreased MRCI score	Post GP uptake median MRCI score: 25.0 (IQR 19.0- 33.0) 74.5% (n=569) of recommendations accepted by GPs
Disalvo et al. (2019), semi- structured interviews	15 (N/A)	N/A	N/A	Pharmacist perspectives on barriers and facilitators to RMMR's potential for improving medication use. RMMR program structures were seen as restrictive for collaborative practice, with a lack of accountability.	N/A	N/A

Chapter Two

Author (year),	Intervention	Population	1	Results		
study design	No of participants (No of RACFs)	Mean age (±SD)	Mean number of medications (±SD)	Process	Impact	Outcome
Christensen et al. (2019), retrospective cross-sectional analysis	400 (not reported)	79 (±13)	12 (±4)	N/A	Mean number of medications with known risk of QT prolongation at baseline: 0.2 (±0.5) Mean risk of QT prolongation (RISQ-PATH score) at baseline: 9.5 (±4) Risk of QT prolongation was identified in 9% (n=6) of residents taking a medication with a known risk of QT prolongation (n=6). The recommendations made were dose reduction (n=2), assess/monitor/review (n=2) and no recommendation (n=2).	N/A

Chapter Two

Author (year), study design	Intervention	Population		Results		
	No of participants (No of RACFs)	Mean age (±SD)	Mean number of medications (±SD)	Process	Impact	Outcome
Czarniak et al. (2020), questionnaire	30 (not reported)	N/A	N/A	Extent and characteristics of RMMR services provided in Western Australia. 57% (n=17) of respondents performed 1-50 RMMRs in the previous 12 months. Average of 127 minutes spent per RMMR. 93% (n=28) of respondents felt RMMRs results in improved resident outcomes.	N/A	N/A

GP, general practitioner; IQR, interquartile range; MRCI, Medication Regimen Complexity Index; N/A, not applicable; RACFs, residential aged care facilities; RMMR, Residential Medication Management Reviews; SD, standard deviation.

PART B: INVESTIGATING THE BURDEN OF MEDICATION REGIMEN COMPLEXITY

3. Chapter Three: Medication regimen complexity and risk of bleeding in people taking oral anticoagulants: A population-based cohort study in Hong Kong

3.1 Synopsis

This chapter investigates whether overall medication regimen complexity in people using OACs is associated with the risk of bleeding. This study was undertaken at the Centre for Safe Medication Practice and Research (CSMPR), University of Hong Kong, as part of an Endeavour Cheung Kong Fellowship. CSMPR have access to a unique population-based database, which presented an excellent opportunity to investigate clinical outcomes associated with medication regimen complexity. Atrial fibrillation (AF) is a condition associated with older age managed using OACs, which are high-risk medications. A study identified in the systematic review described in Chapter Two reported that medication regimen complexity was a potential reason that OACs were not being recommended to eligible residents after a medication review.¹⁵⁶ Prescribers may choose not to prescribe OACs to people who they perceive are at high risk of bleeding. Barriers to OAC prescribing includes perceived increased risk of bleeding in older people, or a reluctance to add medications for older people with cognitive and/or functional impairment or other comorbidities which may lead to polypharmacy and complex medication regimens.^{31,157,158} However, there was no evidence from my research to suggest medication regimen complexity was associated with the risk of bleeding. Additionally, this was the first study to investigate the complexity of medication regimens in people with atrial fibrillation. This study contributes to our understanding of the impacts of medication regimen complexity on the safety of OACs.

3.2 Chapter objective

To investigate the association between medication regimen complexity and safety of oral anticoagulants in people with AF in a population-based study in Hong Kong.

3.3 Submitted paper

At the time that this thesis was submitted, this paper was submitted to the journal *JAMA Internal Medicine*.

Medication regimen complexity and risk of bleeding in people who initiate oral anticoagulants for atrial fibrillation: a population-based study

Esa YH Chen, BPharm(Hons)^{1,2,3}, Jiaxi Zhao, MSc³, Jenni Ilomäki, PhD¹, Janet K Sluggett, PhD^{1,2,4}, J Simon Bell, PhD^{1,2}, Barbara C Wimmer, PhD⁵, Sarah N Hilmer, PhD^{2,6}, Joseph E Blais, BScPharm³, Ian CK Wong, PhD^{3,7}, Esther W Chan, PhD³

¹ Centre for Medicine Use and Safety, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Victoria, Australia

² NHMRC Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre, Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, New South Wales, Australia

³ Centre for Safe Medication Practice and Research, Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacy, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China

⁴ UniSA Allied Health and Human Performance, University of South Australia, South Australia, Australia

⁵ School of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, College of Health and Medicine, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Australia

⁶ Kolling Institute, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney and Royal North Shore Hospital, New South Wales, Australia

⁷ Research Department of Practice and Policy, UCL School of Pharmacy. London United Kingdom

Abstract

Importance

Oral anticoagulants (OACs) are high-risk medications due to risk of bleeding. Clinicians do not routinely consider the overall complexity of a patient's medication regimen when assessing bleeding risk when deciding whether or not to initiate an OAC.

Objective

This study assessed the association between overall medication regimen complexity and bleeding in people with atrial fibrillation (AF) initiating oral anticoagulants.

Design

Population-based cohort study using the Hong Kong Clinical Database and Reporting System between 2010-2016. Follow-up until December 31, 2017.

Setting

Public-sector primary, secondary and tertiary care provided by the Hong Kong Hospital Authority, Hong Kong.

Participants

All inpatients and outpatients diagnosed with AF and initiated on OACs (warfarin, dabigatran, rivaroxaban, apixaban) within the study period. Baseline characteristics were balanced using inverse probability of treatment weighting.

Exposure

The 65-item validated Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI) was computed for each person and categorized into quartiles Q1 <=14, Q2 >14.0-22.0, Q3 >22.0-32.5 and Q4 >32.5, with higher scores indicating greater medication regimen complexity.

Main outcomes and measures

First bleed (intracranial haemorrhage, gastrointestinal bleeding or other bleeding) resulting in hospitalisation. People were censored at discontinuation of the index OAC, death or end of the follow-up period, whichever occurred first. Cox regression was used to estimate associations between MRCI and bleeding during all follow-up, and at 30-, 60- and 90- days post-initiation.

Results

There were 19 292 new users of OACs with AF (n=9092 warfarin and n=10,200 direct oral anticoagulants [DOACs]). The mean (standard deviation) age at initiation was 73.9 (11.0) years. People were followed for a median (interquartile range) of 501 (119-1040) days. People with more complex medication regimens had increased risk of bleeding (Q3: adjusted hazard ratio (aHR) 1.32, 95%CI 1.06-1.65; and Q4: aHR 1.46, 95%CI 1.13-1.87, compared to Q1). No significant association between MRCI and bleeding risk was observed during the initial 30-, 60- or 90-days of treatment. In subgroup analysis, the highest quartile of regimen complexity was associated with an increased risk of bleeding among both warfarin and DOAC users.

Conclusion and relevance

Among people with AF who initiate an OAC, having a more complex medication regimen is associated with higher bleeding risk over periods longer than 90 days. Medication regimen complexity may be a risk factor to consider when assessing bleeding risk.

Keywords

Medication regimen complexity; anticoagulant; atrial fibrillation; bleeding; adverse drug event; warfarin

Introduction

Oral anticoagulants, such as warfarin and direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs), are indicated to reduce ischaemic stroke risk in older people with atrial fibrillation (AF). Oral anticoagulants (OAC)s are high-risk medications due to an increased risk of serious adverse drug events (ADEs) such as intracranial, gastrointestinal, and other bleeding, particularly in older people. In the United States (US), bleeding requiring hospitalization was highest in people initiating warfarin (4.66 per 100 person-years) compared to DOACs (between 2.35 and 4.57 per 100-person-years).¹ A recent population-based cohort study of OAC users demonstrated incidence of major bleeding increased with age, from 3.5% per year in people 65-74 years to 6.1% in people 75-89 years and 10.5% in people 90 years and over.² Prescription claims data suggest that OAC use is increasing in people aged 65 years and older, including in vulnerable population such as those with dementia in Australia and in the United Kingdom (UK).^{3,4}

As an age-related condition, people with AF are increasingly treated with complex regimens to manage comorbidities.⁵⁻⁷ Number of medications, multiple daily doses, different formulations and specific dosing instructions (e.g. split tablets, take with food) are all factors that contribute to medication regimen complexity.⁸ Regimen complexity may affect an individual's ability to correctly self-manage and administer medications.⁹ While the use of multiple medications (polypharmacy) is strongly correlated with medication regimen complexity, other aspects of complexity such as specific dosing instructions have shown independent association with outcomes such as adherence.^{10,11} Complex medication regimens have been associated with medication non-adherence in older people.^{5,12} In intensive-care units, medication regimen complexity has been correlated with longer lengths of stay and higher number of drug interactions.¹³ There is growing evidence that medication regimen complexity is an independent predictor of clinical outcomes such as hospitalisation.^{12,14}

Warfarin is complex to administer due to variable dosing, multiple tablet strengths, need for international normalized ratio monitoring, and drug-drug and drug-food interactions.^{15,16} In contrast, DOACs have standard dosing regimens and require less intensive monitoring. However, both OACs contribute to overall medication regimen

complexity.¹³ A physician's perception of patients' ability to adhere with their treatment regimen can be a barrier to prescribing of OACs.¹⁷ Despite this, no previous studies have characterized medication regimen complexity in people with AF.¹⁸

The association between overall medication regimen complexity and bleeding risk among people initiating OACs has not been investigated. This is an important clinical question because decisions to initiate OACs, including balancing of stroke and bleeding risk, are made within the context of people with AF, who are generally older and use multiple medications.¹⁹ In the US, over half of people 75 years and older with AF use five or more medications.²⁰ People with AF admitted to an Australian hospital used a mean (±standard deviation (SD)) of 11.3±4 medications.²¹ In an Italian hospital, a cross-sectional study of older people admitted to an acute geriatric unit showed that people with AF had significantly more comorbidities (Charlson Comorbidity Index score of 3 vs. 2, P < 0.001) and used a higher number of medications (4 vs. 3, p<0.001) compared to people without AF.²² Current risk assessment scores used to inform prescribing do not consider medication regimen factors.^{23,24} The objective of this study was to evaluate the association between overall medication regimen complexity and bleeding risk in people with AF who initiate OACs.

Methods

Study design and data source

A population-based cohort study was undertaken using electronic medical records from the Clinical Data Analysis and Reporting System (CDARS) of the Hong Kong Hospital Authority. The Hospital Authority is the sole comprehensive public-funded population-wide healthcare provider to Hong Kong's population of over seven million people.²⁵ Electronic medical records, including demographics, date of hospital admission and discharge, diagnoses, procedures, laboratory tests, and medication prescription records, are centralized in the Hospital Authority system and regularly audited. The records cover all patient consultations with the Hospital Authority,

including inpatient, discharge and outpatient clinic visits. All medications that are prescribed at any consultation are captured. International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) and ICD-10-CM were used for identifying diagnoses and cause of death respectively in CDARS. Deidentified data were extracted. CDARS has demonstrated high coding accuracy, with positive predictive values over 90% for diagnosis records for AF, intracranial haemorrhage, gastrointestinal bleeding, and ischaemic stroke.^{26,27} CDARS has been extensively used to study the outcome of oral anticoagulant use.^{28,29} This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Hong Kong/Hospital Authority Hong Kong West Cluster (reference number: UW13-468) and registered with the Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee. Informed consent was not required for the use of de-identified data in the absence of patient contact.

Population

People aged 18 years or older with a diagnosis of AF (ICD-9-CM code 427.3) between 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2016 were included. Individuals with a diagnosis of valvular disease, hyperthyroidism and those who underwent valve replacement at or prior to their AF diagnosis were excluded using the ICD-9-CM codes listed in Supplementary Table 1.

The index date was defined as the first day of a prescription of an OAC (warfarin, dabigatran, rivaroxaban, apixaban) following the first recorded AF diagnosis. Warfarin and dabigatran were captured from 2010, rivaroxaban from 2012 and apixaban from 2013. Medication names were used to identify OACs from electronic prescription records. To select new users of OAC, people with any prescription of an OAC within 180 days before index date were excluded.

Exposure

Medication regimen complexity was quantified using the validated 65-item Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI). This is the most widely used measure of overall regimen complexity.^{8,30} The MRCI assigns weights for each medication in the regimen across three domains of formulation, dose frequency, and special instructions.⁸ The points were then summed for the total MRCI score. Fields

extracted from CDARS used to calculate MRCI included prescription start and end date, medication name, route, medication strength, dosage, medication frequency, and unit of measurement of the medication (e.g. millilitres). The MRCI score on the index date was calculated for each person. Prescriptions were included if the person's index date fell in the duration on and between the prescription start and end dates. Vaccines were excluded. Information on special administration instructions were deduced from CDARS records where possible, such as splitting tablets (e.g. 0.5 tablet) or having with food. There are no widely accepted cut-offs for MRCI scores considered to be "high" or "low".^{31,32} The population was divided into quartiles based on MRCI scores (quantiles 1-4 (Q1-4), with 1 being the lowest and 4 being the highest MRCI scores). This approach to categorization of MRCI has been used in previous studies.³³⁻³⁷

Primary and secondary outcomes

The primary outcome was defined as the first episode following index date of any of: intracranial haemorrhage (ICH), gastrointestinal bleeding (GIB), other bleeding requiring hospitalisation. Other bleeding was defined as including hemopericardium, hemoptysis and haemorrhage from the kidney, throat, or vagina, epistaxis, hemarthrosis, hematuria and metrorrhagia (Supplementary Table 1). We examined outcomes occurring in the first 30-, 60-, and 90-days, and through the entire followup period, with follow-up occurring from the index date until the first occurrence of any outcome of interest, end of study period (31 December 2017), death, switching to another oral anticoagulant, or discontinuation of the index oral anticoagulant. Discontinuation of therapy was defined as a gap greater than 10 days between the end of one prescription and the start of the next prescription. The mean gap for OAC prescriptions was five days. To capture most of the continuous users, we doubled this period and kept it short enough to get a reliable estimate for the 30-day followup. Secondary outcomes were the first episodes of ICH and GIB, and all-cause mortality.

Statistical analysis

Baseline characteristics were expressed as means (standard deviation [SD]) for continuous variables and as frequencies (percentages) for categorical variables.

Incidence rates were calculated by dividing the number of events over follow up time. Cumulative incidence of any bleed over time and all-cause mortality were depicted using Kaplan-Meier curves.

To account for confounding and indication bias between exposure groups, inverse probability of treatment weighted approach was applied. Propensity scores were estimated using logistic regression based on age (continuous), sex, oral anticoagulant, index year, medical history of myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure, hypertension, diabetes, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), ischaemic stroke/transient ischaemic attack/systemic embolism, vascular disease, renal disease, or prior bleed; recent use (<90 days prior to index date) of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor/angiotensin receptor blocker, beta blocker, amiodarone, dronedarone, aspirin, clopidogrel, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), histamine type-2-receptor antagonist, calcium channel blocker, statins, selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitor (SSRI)/selective noradrenaline re-uptake inhibitor (SNRI), oral corticosteroids and spironolactone; and CHADS2-VASc and HAS-BLED score (continuous). In Hong Kong, most aspirin and NSAIDs use is recorded in CDARS. The covariates identified by ICD-9-CM and identification of medications are listed in supplementary material. Balance between baseline characteristics in exposure groups was assessed using standardized mean differences, with differences <0.2 considered balanced.

Cox proportional hazard regression was used to estimate cause specific hazard ratios (HR) and their confidence intervals (CI). Characteristics with a standardised mean difference >0.1 after adjustment were also included in the Cox regression model to further adjust the model. Subgroup analyses were conducted to investigate the effect of MRCI within age groups (<80 and 80 years or older) and type of OAC (warfarin and DOACs). Analyses were conducted in R v 3.6.3 (Comprehensive R Archive Network) with RStudio v 1.2.5042.

Results

Baseline characteristics

Of 71,630 people with AF identified, there were 19,292 new users of an OAC with a mean (SD) age at initiation of 73.9 (11.0) years (Figure 1). The median follow-up was 501 (IQR 119-1040) days. MRCI scores ranged from 1.5-129.5; while the mean (SD) MRCI score was 24.82 (14.62). Quartile cut-offs were identified as MRCI scores \leq 14 (26.2%), >14.0-22.0 (25.3%), >22.0-32.5 (24.1%), and >32.5 (24.4%) (Table 1). People with the most complex medication regimens had more comorbidities. The mean (SD) number of medications prescribed increased with increasing complexity quartile, from 4.7 (1.6) in Q1, 7.6 (1.6) in Q2, 10.2 (1.9) in Q3, and 15.0 (3.7) in the highest complexity Q4.

Bleeding outcomes

There were 2494 people who had a bleeding event during the follow up period. The highest medication complexity quantile (Q4) had the most people experiencing any bleed (n=717, 15.2%) (Table 2). Rate of all-cause mortality was also highest in the highest quantile (Q4). Quantile 2 had the highest number of ICHs (n=140, 3.0%), while Q4 had the highest number of GIBs (n=318, 6.7%). The crude incidence rate of bleeding was highest in the first 30 days after OAC initiation for all levels of medication regimen complexity. Unweighted Kaplan-Meier curves are provided in Supplementary Figure 1.

People with the higher complexity scores had higher risk of bleeding outcomes compared with people with the lowest complexity scores (aHR 1.33, 95%Cl 1.06-1.66 for Q3 and aHR 1.45, 95%Cl 1.13-1.87 for Q4), after balancing baseline characteristics (Table 3). For the initiation periods of 30-, 60- and 90-days following OAC prescription, MRCl did not have a significant impact on the bleeding risk. When analysed by type of bleed, MRCl was not associated with higher risk of ICHs (aHR 1.05, 95%Cl 0.55-1.99 for Q2; aHR 1.29, 95%Cl 0.68-2.42 for Q3; aHR 1.09, 95%Cl 0.54-2.17 for Q4). People with higher complexity scores had a higher risk for GIB (aHR 1.51, 95%Cl 1.13-2.01 for Q3; aHR 1.76 95%Cl 1.27-2.45 for Q4).

Subgroup analyses

In subgroup analyses by age, MRCI was significantly associated with an increased risk of bleeding for people aged under 80 years across all higher complexity quantiles (Q2-4) (Figure 2). Results for people aged 80 years or older were not significant. In analyses between OACs, high MRCI score (Q4) was associated with increased risk of bleeding in people initiated on warfarin and in people initiated on DOACs (HR 1.50, 95%CI 1.06-2.12 and HR 1.43, 95%CI 1.02-1.99, respectively).

Discussion

To our knowledge, this was the first study to characterise medication regimen complexity in people with AF. The main finding was that medication regimen complexity is an independent predictor of bleeding in people who initiate OACs. This has important clinical implications. Firstly, increasing rates of multimorbidity in people with AF mean that people who initiate OACs have increasingly complex medication regimens.³⁸ Medication regimen complexity may increasingly need to be considered when making treatment decisions. Second, widely used bleeding risk assessment tools such as HAS-BLED do not consider the overall complexity of a person's medication regimen.²³

Our results are the first to demonstrate an association between overall medication regimen complexity and bleeding risk. This result is concordant with preliminary findings that suggested MRCI was associated with 12-month medication-related hospitalization in people with heart failure and AF.³⁹ However, the study did not find a significant association between MRCI and all-cause hospitalization.³⁹ Our findings are also consistent with secondary analyses of the landmark randomised trials that demonstrate polypharmacy is associated with increased bleeding risk. The Rivaroxaban Once Daily Oral Direct Factor Xa Inhibition Compared with Vitamin K Antagonism for Prevention of Stroke and Embolism Trial in Atrial Fibrillation (ROCKET-AF) and Apixaban for Reduction in Stroke and Other Thromboembolic

Events in Atrial Fibrillation (ARISTOTLE) study showed polypharmacy was associated with an increased risk of bleeding.^{40,41} Polypharmacy (defined as ≥5 medications) was prevalent in two-thirds of the ROCKET AF cohort. Both warfarin and rivaroxaban were associated with increased risk of major bleeding in the presence of polypharmacy.⁴⁰ In ARISTOTLE, the risk of major bleeding increased with increasing number of concomitant medications (6-8 medications: HR 1.24, 95%CI 1.04-1.49; 9 or more: HR 1.72, 95%CI 1.41-2.10).⁴¹ Polypharmacy was associated with increased GIB but not ICH.⁴¹ A US study of people 75 years or older found that use of five or more medications was associated with an increased risk of major bleeding (HR 1.16, 95%CI 1.12-1.20).²⁰

In our study, the incidence of bleeding was highest in the initiation period, consistent with previous studies that found that higher risk of bleeding within this period.⁴²⁻⁴⁴ However, in adjusted analysis, MRCI score was not associated with bleeding within 90-days following OAC initiation. This could be because the additional risk associated with regimen complexity is small relative to the risk of bleeding due to other factors, such as prior bleeding, during this initial period. The increased risk of ADEs due to interactions or medication errors that arise from managing complex medication management may be more likely to materialize over a longer period of time.^{45,46} Limited literacy, cognitive decline and multimorbidity were independent predictors of dosing errors over nine years.⁴⁶ Additionally, we estimated MRCI on the index date. Medication regimens may have changed throughout the follow up period. However, the decision to initiate an OAC is made on the index date and so assessing complexity at this time is consistent with how knowledge of bleeding risk would be used by clinicians in routine clinical practice.⁴⁹ A cohort study of people with AF found that over half had new comorbidities diagnosed during the follow-up.³⁸ Subsequent initiation or discontinuation of medications throughout the follow-up period, including those which would impact bleeding risk such as aspirin, were not considered in our analyses.

Our findings are consistent with existing literature investigating complexity as measured by dosing frequency, which is included as a domain in the MRCI.^{50,51} A comparison of persistence and discontinuation between once-daily rivaroxaban and twice-daily dabigatran showed people using rivaroxaban were 11% less likely to

become non-persistent (have large gaps between prescription refills) and 29% less likely to discontinue therapy.⁵² A Turkish study compared people receiving oncedaily and twice-daily DOACs, and did not find a difference in bleeds, despite finding lower adherence in people in the twice-daily dosing group.⁵³ A proposed mechanism was the smaller pharmacokinetic risk of medication dose errors (missing a dose or taking an extra dose) for DOACs with twice-daily regimens compared to once-daily regimens.⁵³ However, the presence of three or more additional medical conditions was an independent risk factor for bleeding.⁵³ Our study calculated the MRCI based on the patients' complete medication regimen rather than the complexity of only the OACs. A once-daily DOAC may have been taken as part of an overall medication regimen that had more than one administration time. This is in contrast to studies which have investigated outcomes related to complexity of only medications for specific conditions. Complexity of medication regimens to treat single indications have been found to represent less than 20% to an overall MRCI score.⁵⁴ Hence, overall MRCI may be a more important indicator of clinical outcomes.

An intervention to reduce medication regimen complexity such as simplification may not reduce the risk of bleeding but may support an individual to self-manage their medications at home when an additional medication is added. A range of interventions have been trialled and developed to identify and reduce unnecessary medication regimen complexity among recipients of community-based home care services and residential aged care.^{51,57} Whether medication regimen complexity is a modifiable risk factor for bleeding requires further investigation.

Strengths and limitations

This study used large real-world population-based data and investigated validated clinical outcomes.^{25,44} A strength of this study was the large sample size. We used a validated scale to calculate MRCI, so results are comparable to other studies internationally that have used MRCI to quantify complexity despite MRCI distributions varying depending on populations.^{14,32,35,36,48,55}

Our calculation of MRCI was conservative. Only prescriptions current on the index date were included, however, prescription durations for many chronic medications were long and so would likely have been captured. Similar to other studies using

electronic medical records, complementary and alternative medications and any nonprescribed over-the-counter medications were not captured in CDARS and so were not included. Furthermore, electronic medical records cannot measure adherence to OACs. Non-adherence to OACs has been associated with lower risk of bleeding.⁵⁶ Additional patient-specific administration instructions, such as crushing tablets to aid swallowing difficulties, may have been counselled but not recorded. These factors may have contributed to an underestimation of complexity. There may be residual confounding factors despite a rigorous approach to balance known and measured factors. Finally, the relationship between MRCI and bleeding may not be causal.

Conclusion

Higher medication regimen complexity is associated with increased bleeding risk over treatment periods longer than 90 days among people with AF. Medication regimen complexity may be a bleeding risk factor to consider when initiating an OAC.

Acknowledgements

EYHC, JZ, JI, JEB and EWC contributed to the concept and design of the study. All authors contributed to the acquisition, analysis or interpretation of data. EYHC drafted the manuscript, all authors critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. EYHC and JZ had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Conflicts of interest and financial disclosures

EYHC was supported by an Endeavour Cheung Kong research fellowship funded by the Australian Government Department of Education and Training and a postgraduate research scholarship funded by the Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre and the Monash University Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences. JKS and JI were supported by NHMRC Early Career Fellowships. JSB was supported by a NHMRC Dementia Research Leadership Fellowship. JEB was

supported by the Hong Kong Research Grants Council as a recipient of the Hong Kong PhD Fellowship Scheme. ICKW received grants from the Research Grants Council (RGC, Hong Kong), Innovative Medicines Initiative (IMI), Shire, Janssen-Cilag, Eli-Lily, Pfizer, Bayer, European Union FP7 program, outside the submitted work. ICKW is a member of the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) ADHD Guideline Group, the British Association for Psychopharmacology ADHD 1 guideline group, and advisor to Shire. EWC has received honorarium from the Hospital Authority, research grants from Research Grants Council (RGC, HKSAR), Research Fund Secretariat of the Food and Health Bureau (HMRF, HKSAR), National Natural Science Fund of China (NSFC), National Health and Medical research Council NHMRC, Australia), Wellcome Trust, Bayer, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Pfizer, Janssen, Amgen, Takeda, and Narcotics Division of the Security Bureau of HKSAR, outside the submitted work. No other disclosures were reported.

References

 Lip GYH, Pan X, Kamble S, et al. Major bleeding risk among non-valvular atrial fibrillation patients initiated on apixaban, dabigatran, rivaroxaban or warfarin: A "real-world" observational study in the United States. *Int J Clin Pract.* 2016;70(9):752-763.

2. Chao T-F, Chiang C-E, Liao J-N, Chen T-J, Lip GYH, Chen S-A. Comparing the effectiveness and safety of nonvitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants and warfarin in elderly Asian patients with atrial fibrillation: A nationwide cohort study. *Chest.* 2019;157(5):1266-1277.

3. Ilomäki J, Fanning L, Keen C, et al. Trends and predictors of oral anticoagulant use in people with Alzheimer's Disease and the general population in Australia. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2019;70(3):733-745.

4. Mongkhon P, Alwafi H, Fanning L, et al. Patterns and factors influencing oral anticoagulant prescription in people with atrial fibrillation and dementia: Results from UK primary care. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2020;n/a(n/a).

5. Lam PW, Lum CM, Leung MF. Drug non-adherence and associated risk factors among Chinese geriatric patients in Hong Kong. *Hong Kong Med J.* 2007;13(4):284-292.

6. Proietti M, Raparelli V, Olshansky B, Lip GY. Polypharmacy and major adverse events in atrial fibrillation: Observations from the AFFIRM trial. *Clin Res Cardiol.* 2016;105(5):412-420.

7. Harskamp RE, Teichert M, Lucassen WAM, van Weert HCPM, Lopes RD. Impact of polypharmacy and P-glycoprotein- and CYP3A4-modulating drugs on safety and efficacy of oral anticoagulation therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther.* 2019;33(5):615-623.

8. George J, Phun Y-T, Bailey MJ, Kong DCM, Stewart K. Development and validation of the medication regimen complexity index. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2004;38(9):1369-1376.

 Schmidt SJ, Wurmbach VS, Lampert A, et al. Individual factors increasing complexity of drug treatment—a narrative review. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2020;76(6):745-754.
10. Wimmer BC, Johnell K, Fastbom J, Wiese MD, Bell JS. Factors associated with medication regimen complexity in older people: A cross-sectional population-based study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2015;71(9):1099-1108.

11. George J, Vuong T, Bailey MJ, Kong DCM, Marriott JL, Stewart K. Medication regimen complexity and adherence in patients at risk of medication misadventure. *Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research.* 2006;36(2):99-102.

12. Wimmer BC, Cross AJ, Jokanovic N, et al. Clinical outcomes associated with medication regimen complexity in older people: A systematic review. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2017;65(4):747-753.

13. Newsome AS, Smith SE, Olney WJ, et al. Medication regimen complexity is associated with pharmacist interventions and drug-drug interactions: A use of the novel MRC-ICU scoring tool. *J Am Coll Clin Pharm.* 2020;3(1):47-56.

14. Lalic S, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, et al. Polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity as risk factors for hospitalization among residents of long-term care facilities: A prospective cohort study. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2016;17(11):1067.e1061-1067.e1066.

15. Sabir I, Khavandi K, Brownrigg J, Camm AJ. Oral anticoagulants for Asian patients with atrial fibrillation. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* 2014;11(5):290-303.

16. Hixson-Wallace JA, Dotson JB, Blakey SA. Effect of regimen complexity on patient satisfaction and compliance with warfarin therapy. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost.* 2001;7(1):33-37.

17. Pugh D, Pugh J, Mead GE. Attitudes of physicians regarding anticoagulation for atrial fibrillation: A systematic review. *Age Ageing.* 2011;40(6):675-683.

18. January CT, Wann LS, Calkins H, et al. AHA/ACC/HRS focused update of the 2014 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2019;74(1):104.

19. Farinola N, Caughey GE, Bell JS, Johns S, Hauta-Aho M, Shakib S. Influence of stroke and bleeding risk on prescribing of oral anticoagulants in older inpatients; has the availability of direct oral anticoagulants changed prescribing? *Ther Adv Drug Saf.* 2018;9(2):113-121.

20. Alam A, Chen N, Lutsey PL, et al. Abstract p369: Polypharmacy, adverse outcomes, and treatment effectiveness in elderly patients with atrial fibrillation. *Circulation.* 2020;141(Suppl_1):AP369-AP369.

21. Nguyen TN, Cumming RG, Hilmer SN. The impact of frailty on mortality, length of stay and re-hospitalisation in older patients with atrial fibrillation. *Heart Lung Circ.* 2016;25(6):551-557.

22. Annoni G, Mazzola P. Real-world characteristics of hospitalized frail elderly patients with atrial fibrillation: Can we improve the current prescription of anticoagulants? *J Geriatr Cardiol.* 2016;13(3):226-232.

23. Ding WY, Harrison S, Gupta D, Lip GYH, Lane DA. Stroke and bleeding risk assessments in patients with atrial fibrillation: Concepts and controversies. *Front Med (Lausanne).* 2020;7:54-54.

24. Hanis Z, Lip GYH, Lane DA. Bleeding risk scores in atrial fibrillation and venous thromboembolism. *Am J Cardiol.* 2017;120(7):1139-1145.

25. Law SWY, Lau WCY, Wong ICK, et al. Sex-based differences in outcomes of oral anticoagulation in patients with atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2018;72(3):271-282.

26. Chan EW, Lau WCY, Leung WK, et al. Prevention of dabigatran-related gastrointestinal bleeding with gastroprotective agents: A population-based study. *Gastroenterology.* 2015;149(3):586-595.e583.

27. Chan EW, Lau WCY, Siu CW, et al. Effect of suboptimal anticoagulation treatment with antiplatelet therapy and warfarin on clinical outcomes in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: A population-wide cohort study. *Heart Rhythm.* 2016;13(8):1581-1588.

28. Lau WCY, Chan EW, Cheung CL, et al. Association between dabigatran vs warfarin and risk of osteoporotic fractures among patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. *JAMA*. 2017;317(11):1151-1158.

29. Lau WCY, Cheung C-L, Man KKC, et al. Association between treatment with apixaban, dabigatran, rivaroxaban, or warfarin and risk for osteoporotic fractures among patients with atrial fibrillation. *Ann Intern Med.* 2020;173(1):1-9.

30. Paquin AM, Zimmerman KM, Kostas TR, et al. Complexity perplexity: A systematic review to describe the measurement of medication regimen complexity. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* 2013;12(6):829-840.

31. Wimmer BC, Bell JS, Fastbom J, Wiese MD, Johnell K. Medication regimen complexity and number of medications as factors associated with unplanned hospitalizations in older people: A population-based cohort study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2015;71(6):831-7.

32. Ferreira JM, Galato D, Melo AC. Medication regimen complexity in adults and the elderly in a primary healthcare setting: Determination of high and low complexities. *Pharm Pract (Granada).* 2015;13(4).

Wimmer BC, Dent E, Bell JS, et al. Medication regimen complexity and unplanned hospital readmissions in older people. *Ann Pharmacother.*2014;48(9):1120-1128.

34. Wimmer BC, Dent E, Visvanathan R, et al. Polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity as factors associated with hospital discharge destination among older people: A prospective cohort study. *Drugs Aging.* 2014;31(8):623-630.

35. Chen EY, Bell JS, Ilomaki J, et al. Medication regimen complexity in 8
Australian residential aged care facilities: Impact of age, length of stay, comorbidity, frailty, and dependence in activities of daily living. *Clin Interv Aging*.
2019;2019(14):1783-1795.

36. Pantuzza LLN, Ceccato MdGB, Silveira MR, Pinto IVL, Reis AMM. Validation and standardization of the Brazilian version of the medication regimen complexity index for older adults in primary care. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International.* 2018;18(6):853-859.

37. Herson M, Bell JS, Tan ECK, Emery T, Robson L, Wimmer BC. Factors associated with medication regimen complexity in residents of long-term care facilities. *Eur Geriatr Med.* 2015;6(6):561-564.

38. Chao TF, Lip GYH, Liu CJ, et al. Relationship of aging and incident comorbidities to stroke risk in patients with atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2018;71(2):122-132.

39. Ferguson C, Shaikh F, Pasch L, et al. Medication regimen complexity in individuals with heart failure and concomitant atrial fibrillation: A secondary analysis. *Heart Lung Circ.* 2018;27:S385.

40. Piccini JP, Hellkamp AS, Washam JB, et al. Polypharmacy and the efficacy and safety of rivaroxaban versus warfarin in the prevention of stroke in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. *Circulation*. 2016;133(4):352-360.

41. Jaspers Focks J, Brouwer MA, Wojdyla DM, et al. Polypharmacy and effects of apixaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation: Post hoc analysis of the ARISTOTLE trial. *BMJ*. 2016;353:i2868.

42. Chen EYH, Diug B, Bell JS, et al. Spontaneously reported haemorrhagic adverse events associated with rivaroxaban and dabigatran in Australia. *Ther Adv Drug Saf.* 2015;7(1):4-10.

43. Lamberts M, Staerk L, Olesen JB, et al. Major bleeding complications and persistence with oral anticoagulation in non-valvular atrial fibrillation: Contemporary findings in real-life Danish patients. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2017;6(2):e004517.

44. Lau WCY, Li X, Wong ICK, et al. Bleeding-related hospital admissions and 30-day readmissions in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation treated with dabigatran versus warfarin. *J Thromb Haemost.* 2017;15(10):1923-1933.

45. Alves-Conceição V, Rocha KSS, Silva FVN, Silva ROS, Silva DTd, Lyra-Jr DPd. Medication regimen complexity measured by MRCI: A systematic review to identify health outcomes. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2018;52(11):1117-1134.

46. Bailey SC, Opsasnick LA, Curtis LM, et al. Longitudinal investigation of older adults' ability to self-manage complex drug regimens. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2020;68(3):569-575.

47. Alves-Conceicao V, Rocha KSS, Silva FVN, et al. Are clinical outcomes associated with medication regimen complexity? A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2019:54(4):301-313.

48. Wimmer BC, Bell JS, Fastbom J, Wiese MD, Johnell K. Medication regimen complexity and polypharmacy as factors associated with all-cause mortality in older people: A population-based cohort study. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2016;50(2):89-95.

49. Brookhart MA. Counterpoint: The treatment decision design. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2015;182(10):840-845.

50. Advinha AM, de Oliveira-Martins S, Mateus V, Pajote SG, Lopes MJ. Medication regimen complexity in institutionalized elderly people in an aging society. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2014;36(4):750-756.

51. Chen EY, Sluggett JK, Ilomaki J, et al. Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE). *Clin Interv Aging.* 2018;13(1178-1998 (Electronic)):975-986.

52. Nelson WW, Song X, Thomson E, et al. Medication persistence and discontinuation of rivaroxaban and dabigatran etexilate among patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2015;31(10):1831-1840.

53. Emren SV, Zoghi M, Berilgen R, et al. Safety of once- or twice-daily dosing of non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants (NOACS) in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: A NOAC-TR study. *Bosn J Basic Med Sci.* 2018;18(2):185-190.

54. Libby AM, Fish DN, Hosokawa PW, et al. Patient-level medication regimen complexity across populations with chronic disease. *Clin Ther.* 2013;35(4):385-398.e381.

Alves-Conceição V, Silva DTd, Santana VLd, Santos EGd, Santos LMC, Lyra DPd. Evaluation of pharmacotherapy complexity in residents of long-term care facilities: A cross-sectional descriptive study. *BMC Pharmacol Toxicol.* 2017;18(1):59.

56. Obamiro KO, Chalmers L, Bereznicki LRE. A summary of the literature evaluating adherence and persistence with oral anticoagulants in atrial fibrillation. *Am J Cardiovasc Drugs.* 2016;16(5):349-363.

57. Sluggett JK, Ooi CE, Gibson S, Angley MT, Corlis M, Hogan ME, Caporale T, Hughes GA, Van Emden J, Bell JS. Simplifying medication regimens for people receiving community-based home care services: Outcomes of a non-randomized pilot and feasibility study. *Clin Interv Aging.* 2020;15:797-809.

Patients newly diagnosed with atrial fibrillation (AF) identified in CDARS between 2010 and 2016 (n=71,630)



- • Missing date of birth or sex (n=5)
- Aged below 18 years (n=45)
- Transient AF within previous 3 months before index date (n=3304)
- Valvular disease/replacement or hyperthyroidism (n=3512)
- Died at first AF occurrence (n=211)
- Did not receive oral anticoagulant during study period (n=41,941)
- Received an oral anticoagulant within previous 180 days before index date (n=3282)
- Had prescription records for other oral anticoagulant(s) on index date (n=38)

New users of oral anticoagulants within the study period (n=19,292) Warfarin (n=9092) DOAC (n=10,200) [dabigatran (n=5353), rivaroxaban (n=3063), apixaban (n=1784)]

Figure 1. Study flowchart of participant selection



Figure 2. Forest plot of subgroup analysis for full follow-up. aHR, adjusted hazard ratio, adjusted for Charlson Comorbidity Index score, prior bleeding, and recent use of amiodarone, dronedarone, or clopidogrel.

Table 1.	Baseline	characteristics,	mean (SD)	unless specified
----------	----------	------------------	-----------	------------------

MRCI quartile	Q1 (n=5060)	Q2 (n=4876)	Q3 (n=4643)	Q4 (n=4713)	SMD*	Adj
						SMD*
Definition (MRCI)	0-14.0	>14.0-22.0	>22.0-32.5	>32.5		
Follow up, days	764 (719)	734 (685)	653 (646)	548 (582)		
Age, years	70.4 (11.6)	73.2 (10.8)	75.2 (10.3)	77.1 (10.0)	0.6200	-0.0239
Female, n (%)	2182 (43)	2335 (48)	2352 (51)	2430 (52)	0.1692	0.0440
Oral anticoagulant, n (%	5)					
Warfarin	2256 (44.6)	2192 (45.0)	2182 (47.0)	2462 (52.2)	0.1536	-0.0432
Dabigatran	1508 (29.8)	1478 (30.3)	1304 (28.1)	1063 (22.6)	-0.1738	-0.0100
Rivaroxaban	897 (17.7)	776 (15.9)	712 (15.3)	678 (14.4)	-0.0916	0.0284
Apixaban	399 (7.9)	430 (8.8)	445 (9.6)	510 (10.8)	0.1013	0.0617
Baseline medical condit	ions, n (%)					
Congestive heart	682 (13.5)	1072 (22.0)	1336 (28.8)	1956 (41.5)	0.6534	-0.0471
failure						
Hypertension	1868 (36.9)	2460 (50.5)	2620 (56.4)	3115 (66.1)	0.5978	0.0448
Diabetes mellitus	467 (9.2)	984 (20.2)	1539 (33.1)	2196 (46.6)	0.7049	-0.0390
Prior ischemic stroke	1188 (23.5)	1486 (30.5)	1552 (33.4)	1547 (32.8)	0.2178	-0.0231
or TIA or systemic						
embolism						
Vascular disease	446 (8.8)	875 (17.9)	1249 (26.9)	1809 (38.4)	0.7275	-0.0381
Myocardial infarction	94 (1.9)	225 (4.6)	434 (9.4)	722 (15.3)	0.5118	0.0529
COPD	119 (2.4)	195 (4.0)	314 (6.8)	1089 (23.1)	0.7552	0.0190

Renal disease	118 (2.3)	295 (6.1)	439 (9.5)	886 (18.8)	0.5841	-0.0907		
Cancer	304 (6.0)	373 (7.7)	340 (7.3)	461 (9.8)	0.1478	0.0398		
Prior bleed	576 (11.4)	733 (15.0)	834 (18.0)	1215 (25.8)	0.3823	-0.1048		
Medications prescribed	Medications prescribed in the 90 days prior to index date, n (%)							
ACEI/ARB	1520 (30.0)	2340 (48.0)	2637 (56.8)	3008 (63.8)	0.6984	0.0318		
Beta blocker	2623 (51.8)	3130 (64.2)	3103 (66.8)	2937 (62.3)	0.3100	-0.0381		
Calcium channel	2251 (44.5)	2834 (58.1)	2886 (62.2)	3360 (71.3)	0.5559	-0.0269		
blocker								
Amiodarone	324 (6.4)	502 (10.3)	688 (14.8)	957 (20.3)	0.4190	-0.1765		
Dronedarone	68 (1.3)	40 (0.8)	33 (0.7)	25 (0.5)	-0.0886	-0.1113		
Aspirin	3274 (64.7)	3699 (75.9)	3664 (78.9)	3880 (82.3)	0.4144	0.0583		
Clopidogrel	250 (4.9)	373 (7.6)	455 (9.8)	614 (13.0)	0.2862	-0.1282		
Dipyridamole	29 (0.6)	59 (1.2)	101 (2.2)	135 (2.9)	0.1774	0.0462		
NSAID	216 (4.2)	297 (6.1)	363 (7.8)	497 (10.5)	0.2441	-0.0282		
H2RA	2491 (49.2)	2795 (57.3)	2746 (59.1)	2818 (59.8)	0.2138	-0.0351		
Proton pump inhibitor	875 (17.3)	1212 (24.9)	1531 (33.0)	2169 (46.0)	0.6427	-0.0845		
Statin	1808 (35.7)	2514 (51.6)	2765 (59.6)	2831 (60.1)	0.4967	-0.0421		
SSRI/SNRI	50 (1.0)	107 (2.2)	178 (3.8)	267 (5.7)	0.2675	0.0404		
Oral corticosteroid	82 (1.6)	162 (3.3)	319 (6.9)	1066 (22.6)	0.7838	0.0546		
Spironolactone	63 (1.3)	117 (2.4)	137 (3.0)	239 (5.1)	0.2281	0.0249		
Risk scores			·	·				
CHADS2	1.46 (1.25)	2.02 (1.38)	2.38 (1.45)	2.76 (1.46)				
CHAD2S2-VASc	2.67 (1.59)	3.46 (1.75)	3.99 (1.80)	4.54 (1.82)	1.0726	-0.0354		
HAS-BLED	2.16 (1.14)	2.65 (1.20)	2.90 (1.20)	3.26 (1.22)	0.9291	-0.0578		

Chapter Three

Charlson Comorbidity	0.81 (1.07)	1.28 (1.38)	1.65 (1.49)	2.47 (1.93)		
Index						
ACEI/ARB, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor/angiotensin receptor blocker; CHADS2, congestive heart failure,						
hypertension, age \geq 75	hypertension, age ≥ 75 years, diabetes mellitus, prior stroke/transient ischemic attack/systemic embolism (doubled); CHA2DS2-					HA2DS2-
VASc, congestive heart	failure, hypertension,	age ≥ 75 years (doub	oled), diabetes mellit	us, age 65–74 yea	rs, prior	
stroke/transient ischemi	c attack/systemic emb	oolism (doubled), vaso	cular disease, and se	ex category (female	e); HAS-BLE	D,
hypertension, abnormal	liver or kidney functio	n, stroke history, blee	ding history, labile ir	nternational normal	ized ratio [no	ot
included], elderly [age >	65 years], drug, and a	alcohol use; H2RA, his	stamine type-2-rece	ptor antagonist; MF	RCI, medicat	ion
regimen complexity inde	x; NSAIDs, non-sterc	idal anti-inflammatory	/ drugs; SMD, standa	ardised mean differ	rence; SNRI	s, selective
noradrenaline reuptake	inhibitor; SSRI, select	ive serotonin reuptak	e inhibitor; TIA, trans	sient ischemic attac	ck.	
*maximum standardised pairwise difference, crude and adjusted using inverse probability of treatment weighting with no						
truncation						

Table 2. Incidence of bleeding events

MRCI quartile	Q1		Q2		Q3		Q4	
	Events	Incidence/	Events	Incidence/	Events	Incidence/	Events	Incidence/
		100 ру		100 py		100 ру		100 py
All follow up – range (1-2	2,927 days),	mean 685.8 da	ays					
All bleeding	520	4.7	612	6.2	645	7.8	717	10.1
Intracranial bleed	95	0.8	140	1.3	139	1.5	128	1.6
GI bleed	183	1.6	225	2.2	266	3.0	317	4.2
Other bleeding	254	2.2	287	2.8	297	3.4	318	4.2
Mortality	265	2.4	398	4.1	476	5.7	915	12.9
Incidence of bleeding – 3	30 day follow	up		·		·		
All bleeding	75	19.0	92	24.6	113	32.0	139	39.7
Intracranial bleed	12	3.0	30	8.0	34	9.5	36	10.2
GI bleed	25	6.3	32	8.5	37	10.4	50	14.1
Other bleeding	36	9.1	27	7.2	44	12.3	45	12.7
Mortality	17	0.2	23	0.2	45	0.5	147	2.1
Incidence of bleeding –	60 day follow	up						
All bleeding	109	14.3	128	17.8	164	24.2	191	28.9
Intracranial bleed	14	1.8	34	4.7	43	6.3	43	6.4
GI bleed	38	4.9	46	6.3	56	8.2	72	10.7
Other bleeding	36	9.1	27	7.2	44	12.3	45	12.7
Mortality	26	0.2	47	0.5	74	0.9	238	3.4

Chapter Three

Incidence of bleeding – 90 day follow up								
All bleeding	130	11.7	155	14.8	201	20.5	235	24.7
Intracranial bleed	16	1.4	41	3.9	50	5.0	46	4.7
GI bleed	45	4.0	51	4.8	71	7.1	89	9.2
Other bleeding	67	6.0	61	5.7	84	8.4	90	9.3
Mortality	36	0.3	62	0.6	104	1.3	293	4.1

	Unadjusted HR (95%CI)	Adjusted HR (95%CI)		
30-day follow up				
Q1	1	1		
Q2	0.89 (0.38-2.05)	1.00 (0.48-2.09)		
Q3	1.08 (0.48-2.45)	1.25 (0.61-2.54)		
Q4	1.06 (0.46-2.44)	1.15 (0.54-2.45)		
60-day follow up				
Q1	1	1		
Q2	0.88 (0.46-1.68)	0.99 (0.55-1.78)		
Q3	1.13 (0.61-2.12)	1.28 (0.73-2.26)		
Q4	1.17 (0.60-2.31)	1.27 (0.68-2.39)		
90-day follow up				
Q1	1	1		
Q2	0.89 (0.51-1.56)	0.98 (0.59-1.65)		
Q3	1.16 (0.67-2.00)	1.30 (0.79-2.14)		
Q4	1.28 (0.71-2.32)	1.37 (0.78-2.40)		
All follow up				
Q1	1	1		
Q2	1.14 (0.90-1.45)	1.17 (0.93-1.49)		
Q3	1.27 (1.01-1.60)	1.33 (1.06-1.66)		
Q4	1.43 (1.10-1.85)	1.45 (1.13-1.87)		
MRCI: medication	regimen complexity index.	*adjusted for Charlson		
Comorbidity Index score, prior bleeding, and recent use of amiodarone,				
dronedarone, or clopidogrel				

Table 3. Association between MRCI quarter and bleeding over various follow up periods

Supplemental Table 1. International Classification of Diseases codes, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) codes used in the study

ICD-9-CM	Descriptions
codes	Descriptions
Atrial fibrillation	1
427.3	Atrial fibrillation and flutter
Transient atrial	fibrillation
Cardiac surgery	(procedure codes)
00.5	Other cardiovascular procedures
35	Operations on valves and septa of heart
36	Operations on vessels of heart
37	Other operations on heart and pericardium
Pericarditis	
391	Rheumatic fever with heart involvement
393	Chronic rheumatic pericarditis
420	Acute pericarditis
423.2	Constrictive pericarditis
036.41	Meningococcal pericarditis
074.21	Coxsackie pericarditis
093.81	Syphilitic pericarditis
098.83	Gonococcal pericarditis
Myocarditis	
130.3	Myocarditis due to toxoplasmosis
391.2	Acute rheumatic myocarditis
398.0	Rheumatic myocarditis
422	Acute myocarditis
429.0	Myocarditis, unspecified
032.82	Diphtheritic myocarditis
036.43	Meningococcal myocarditis
074.23	Coxsackie myocarditis
093.82	Syphilitic myocarditis
Pulmonary embo	blism
415.1	Pulmonary embolism and infarction
Valvular heart d	liseases/replacement or hyperthyroidism
242	Thyrotoxicosis with or without goitre
394.0	Mitral stenosis

Valvular heart su	rgery (procedure codes)
35.20	Open and other replacement of unspecified heart valve
35.22	Open and other replacement of aortic valve
35.24	Open and other replacement of mitral valve
35.26	Open and other replacement of pulmonary valve
35.28	Open and other replacement of tricuspid valve
Intracranial hae	morrhage
430	Subarachnoid haemorrhage
431	Intracerebral haemorrhage
432	Other and unspecified intracranial haemorrhage
Gastrointestina	l bleeding
531.0	Acute gastric ulcer with hemorrhage
531.2	Acute gastric ulcer with hemorrhage and perforation, without
	mention of obstruction
531.4	Chronic or unspecified gastric ulcer with hemorrhage
531.6	Chronic or unspecified gastric ulcer with hemorrhage and
	perforation
532.0	Acute duodenal ulcer with hemorrhage
532.2	Acute duodenal ulcer with hemorrhage and perforation
532.4	Chronic or unspecified duodenal ulcer with hemorrhage
532.6	Chronic or unspecified duodenal ulcer with hemorrhage and
	perforation
533.0	Acute peptic ulcer of unspecified site with hemorrhage
533.2	Acute peptic ulcer of unspecified site with hemorrhage and
	perforation
533.4	Chronic or unspecified peptic ulcer of unspecified site with
	hemorrhage
533.6	Chronic or unspecified peptic ulcer of unspecified site with
	hemorrhage and perforation
534.0	Acute gastrojejunal ulcer with hemorrhage
534.2	Acute gastroleiunal ulcer with hemorrhage and perforation.
	without mention of obstruction
534.4	Chronic or unspecified gastroieiunal ulcer with hemorrhage
534.6	Chronic or unspecified gastrojejunal ulcer with hemorrhage
	and perforation
535.01	Acute gastritis, with hemorrhage
535.11	Atrophic gastritis, with hemorrhage
535.21	Gastric mucosal hypertrophy, with hemorrhade
535 31	Alcoholic gastritis with hemorrhage
535 41	Other specified gastritis, with hemorrhage
555.41	ourer specified gastrius, with nemormage

535.51	Unspecified gastritis and gastroduodenitis, with hemorrhage
535.61	Duodenitis, with hemorrhage
535.71	Eosinophilic gastritis, with hemorrhage
562.02	Diverticulosis of small intestine with hemorrhage
562.03	Diverticulitis of small intestine with haemorrhage
562.12	Diverticulosis of colon with haemorrhage
562.13	Diverticulitis of colon with haemorrhage
569.3	Hemorrhage of rectum and anus
569.85	Angiodysplasia of intestine with haemorrhage
569.86	Dieulafoy lesion (hemorrhagic) of intestine
578.0	Hematemesis
578.1	Melena
578.9	Hemorrhage of gastrointestinal tract, unspecified
Other bleeding	
423.0	Hemopericardium
459.0	Haemorrhage NOS
593.81	Vascular disorders of kidney
599.7	Haematuria
623.8	Other specified noninflammatory disorders of vagina
626.2	Excessive menstruation
626.6	Metrorrhagia
719.1	Hemarthrosis
784.7	Epistaxis
784.8	Haemorrhage from throat
786.3	Haemoptysis
Charlson como	rbidity index
Myocardial infarc	ption
410	Acute myocardial infarction
412	Old myocardial infarction
Congestive Hear	t Failure
398.91	Rheumatic heart failure (congestive)
402.01	Malignant hypertensive heart disease with heart failure
402.11	Benign hypertensive heart disease with heart failure
402.91	Unspecified hypertensive heart disease with heart failure
404.01	Hypertensive heart and chronic kidney disease, malignant,
	with heart failure and with chronic kidney disease stage I
	through stage IV, or unspecified

404.03	Hypertensive heart and chronic kidney disease, malignant, with heart failure and with chronic kidney disease stage V or end stage renal disease
404.11	Hypertensive heart and chronic kidney disease, benign, with heart failure and with chronic kidney disease stage I through stage IV, or unspecified
404.13	Hypertensive heart and chronic kidney disease, benign, with heart failure and chronic kidney disease stage V or end stage renal disease
404.91	Hypertensive heart and chronic kidney disease, unspecified, with heart failure and with chronic kidney disease stage I through stage IV, or unspecified
404.93	Hypertensive heart and chronic kidney disease, unspecified, with heart failure and chronic kidney disease stage V or end stage renal disease
428	Heart failure
Peripheral vasc	ular disease
441	Aortic aneurysm and dissection
443.9	Peripheral vascular disease, unspecified
785.4	Gangrene
V43.4	Blood vessel replaced by other means
Carabrayaaayla	r diagona
430-438	
Chronic obstruc	tive pulmonary disease
490-496	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease and Allied Conditions
500	Coal workers' pneumoconiosis
501	Asbestosis
502	Pneumoconiosis due to other silica or silicates
503	Pneumoconiosis due to other inorganic dust
504	Pneumonopathy due to inhalation of other dust
505	Pneumoconiosis, unspecified
506.4	Respiratory conditions due to chemical fumes and vapors
Demontia	
	Demontion
290	Demenuas
Paralysis	
342	Hemiplegia and hemiparesis
344.1	Paraplegia

Diabetes without	chronic complication
250	Diabetes mellitus
250.0	Diabetes mellitus without mention of complication
250.1	Diabetes with ketoacidosis
250.2	Diabetes with hyperosmolarity
250.3	Diabetes with other coma
250.7	Diabetes with peripheral circulatory disorders
Diabetes with ch	ronic complication
250.4	Diabetes with renal manifestations
250.5	Diabetes with ophthalmic manifestations
250.6	Diabetes with neurological manifestations
Chronic renal fail	lure
582	Chronic glomerulonephritis
583.0	Nephritis and nephropathy, not specified as acute or chronic,
	with lesion of proliferative glomerulonephritis
583.1	Nephritis and nephropathy, not specified as acute or chronic,
	with lesion of membranous glomerulonephritis
583.2	Nephritis and nephropathy, not specified as acute or chronic,
	with lesion of membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis
583.4	Nephritis and nephropathy, not specified as acute or chronic,
	with lesion of rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis
583.6	Nephritis and nephropathy, not specified as acute or chronic,
	with lesion of renal cortical necrosis
583.7	Nephritis and nephropathy, not specified as acute or chronic,
	with lesion of renal medullary necrosis
585	Chronic kidney disease
586	Renal failure, unspecified
588	Disorders resulting from impaired renal function
Mild liver disease	e (Various cirrhodites)
571.2	Alcoholic cirrhosis of liver
571.4	Chronic hepatitis
571.5	Cirrhosis of liver without mention of alcohol
571.6	Biliary cirrhosis
Moderate-severe	liver disease
456.0	Esophageal varices with bleeding
456.1	Esophageal varices without bleeding
456.2	Esophageal varices in diseases classified elsewhere

570.0	Lienstin encenheinnethy
572.2	Repair encephalopathy
572.3	Portal hypertension
572.4	Hepatorenal syndrome
572.8	Other sequelae of chronic liver disease
Ulcers	
531	Gastric ulcer
532	Duodenal ulcer
533	Peptic ulcer site unspecified
534	Gastrojejunal ulcer
Rheumatoid arth	ritis and other inflammatory polyarthropathies
710.0	Systemic lupus erythematosus
710.1	Systemic sclerosis
710.4	Polymyositis
714.0	Rheumatoid arthritis
714.1	Feltv's syndrome
714.2	Other rheumatoid arthritis with visceral or systemic
	involvement
714 81	Rheumatoid lung
725	Polymyalgia rheumatica
120	
Acquired Immun	e Deficiency Syndrome
	Human immunodeficiency virus [HIV] disease
042	
Malignanov	
	Malignant peoplese of linearcless with and phonymy
140-149	Malignant neoplasm of directive errors and parity new
150-159	Malignant neoplasm of digestive organs and perioneum
160-165	Malignant neoplasm of respiratory and intrathoracic organs
1/0-1/2, 1/4-	Malignant neoplasm of bone, connective tissue, and breast
1/6	
179-189	Malignant neoplasm of genitourinary organs
190-195	Malignant neoplasm of other sites
200-208	Malignant neoplasm of lymphatic and hematopoietic tissue
Metastatic solid	tumour
196	Secondary and unspecified malignant neoplasm of lymph
	nodes
197	Secondary malignant neoplasm of respiratory and digestive
	systems
198	Secondary malignant neoplasm of other specified sites
199	Malignant neoplasm without specification of site

HASBLED score	e					
Bleeding – same	e as intracranial haemorrhage, gastrointestinal bleeding and					
other bleeding	other bleeding					
Hypertension						
401	Essential hypertension					
402	Hypertensive heart disease					
403	Hypertensive chronic kidney disease					
404	Hypertensive heart and chronic kidney disease					
405	Secondary hypertension					
437.2	Hypertensive encephalopathy					
Renal disease						
403	Hypertensive chronic kidney disease					
404	Hypertensive heart and chronic kidney disease					
580	Acute glomerulonephritis					
581	Nephrotic syndrome					
582	Chronic glomerulonephritis					
583	Nephritis and nephropathy not specified as acute or chronic					
584	Acute kidney failure					
585	Chronic kidney disease					
586	Renal failure unspecified					
590.0	Chronic pyelonephritis					
753.1	Cystic kidney disease					
Liver disease						
570	Acute and subacute necrosis of liver					
571	Chronic liver disease and cirrhosis					
573	Other disorders of liver					
790.4	Nonspecific elevation of levels of transaminase or lactic acid					
	dehydrogenase [LDH]					
Ischaemic stroke						
433.01	Occlusion and stenosis of basilar artery with cerebral					
	infarction					
433.11	Occlusion and stenosis of carotid artery with cerebral					
	infarction					
433.21	Occlusion and stenosis of vertebral artery with cerebral					
	infarction					

433.31	Occlusion and stenosis of multiple and bilateral precerebral
	arteries with cerebral infarction
433.81	Occlusion and stenosis of other specified precerebral artery
	with cerebral infarction
433.91	Occlusion and stenosis of unspecified precerebral artery with
	cerebral infarction
434	Occlusion of cerebral arteries
436	Acute, but ill-defined, cerebrovascular disease
437.0	Cerebral atherosclerosis
437.1	Other generalized ischemic cerebrovascular disease
Systemic embolis	sm
444	Arterial embolism and thrombosis
445	Atheroembolism
Transient ischae	mic attack
435	Transient cerebral ischemia
Alcohol use	
291	Alcohol-induced mental disorders
303	Alcohol dependence syndrome
305.0	Nondependent alcohol abuse
357.5	Alcoholic polyneuropathy
425.5	Alcoholic cardiomyopathy
535.3	Alcoholic gastritis
571.0	Alcoholic fatty liver
571.1	Acute alcoholic hepatitis
571.2	Alcoholic cirrhosis of liver
571.3	Alcoholic liver damage, unspecified
790.3	Excessive blood level of alcohol
977.3	Poisoning by alcohol deterrents
980	Toxic effect of alcohol
V11.3	Personal history of alcoholism
CHADS2 / CHA2	2DS2-VASc
Congestive near	tallure – same as in Charlson Comorbidity Index
Hypertension, isc	chaemic stroke, systemic embolism, transient ischaemic attack
– same as in HA	SBLED SCOLE
Vascular disease	
<u>410-414</u>	lschemic heart disease
443.8	Other specified peripheral vascular diseases
443.8	Other specified peripheral vascular diseases

Chapter Three

443.9	43.9 Peripheral vascular disease, unspecified				
Diabetes					
250	Diabetes mellitus				

Supplemental Table 2. Drugs used in the study

Drug class or drug	Drug name(s)
Angiotensin-	Captopril, cilazapril, enalapril, fosinopril, imidapril,
converting enzyme	lisinopril, perindopril, quinapril, ramipril, trandolapril,
inhibitors/Angiotensin	azilsartan, candesartan, eprosartan, irbesartan, losartan,
II Receptor Blockers	olmesartan, telmisartan, valsartan
Beta blockers	Acebutolol, atenolol, bisoprolol, carvedilol, celiprolol,
	esmolol, labetalol, metoprolol, nadolol, nebivolol,
	oxprenolol, pindolol, propranolol, sotalol
Calcium channel	Amlodipine, diltiazem, felodipine, lacidipine, lercanidipine,
blockers	nifedipine, nimodipine, verapamil
Amiodarone	Amiodarone
Dronedarone	Dronedarone
Aspirin	Aspirin
Clopidogrel	Clopidogrel
Dipyridamole	Dipyridamole
Nonsteroidal anti-	Diclofenac, ibuprofen, indomethacin, mefenamic acid,
inflammatory drugs	naproxen, piroxicam, sulindac, celecoxib, etoricoxib,
	meloxicam
Histamine type-2-	Cimetidine, famotidine, ranitidine
receptor antagonists	
Proton pump	Dexlansoprazole, esomeprazole, lansoprazole,
inhibitors	omeprazole, pantoprazole, rabeprazole
Statins	Atorvastatin, fluvastatin, lovastatin, pravastatin,
	rosuvastatin, simvastatin
Selective serotonin	Citalopram, escitalopram, fluoxetine, fluvoxamine,
reuptake	paroxetine, sertraline, desvenlafaxine, duloxetine,
inhibitors/Selective	venlafaxine
noradrenaline	
reuptake inhibitor	
Oral corticosteroid	Prednisolone, hydrocortisone, fludrocortisone,
	methylprednisolone
Spironolactone	Spironolactone





a) Kaplan-Meier curve of first bleeding event

MRCI quartiles - Q1 - Q2 - Q3 - Q4



b) Kaplan-Meier curve of all-cause mortality

MRCI quartiles - Q1 - Q2 - Q3 - Q4

4. Chapter Four: Medication administration in residential aged care: A time-and-motion study

4.1 Synopsis

This chapter quantifies the burden of complex medication regimens in terms of time of medication administration. In RACFs, medication administration is usually undertaken by registered nurses, enrolled nurses, or care staff.^{3,95} The time and resources required for medication administration can be considered to be another type of burden of complex medication regimens, both for staff and residents. Understanding the time taken to administer medications is important because if it is possible to reduce medication regimen complexity it may be possible to direct nursing time to other direct care activities. Ability to comply with medication administration within a prescribed time frame (e.g. eight-hourly intervals for medications used three times daily) decreases as the frequency of daily doses increases.³⁷

4.2 Chapter objective

To estimate the time taken to administer medication regimens to residents of RACFs.

4.3 Publication

This chapter is a reproduction of the following publication:

<u>Chen EYH</u>, Bell JS, Ilomäki J, et al. Medication administration in Australian residential aged care: A time-and-motion study. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 2020; online early. DOI: 10.1111/jep.13393.

Received: 28 January 2020 Revised: 15 March 2020 Accepted: 16 March 2020 DOI: 10.1111/jep.13393

ORIGINAL PAPER

Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice

WILEY

Medication administration in Australian residential aged care: A time-and-motion study

Esa Y. H. Chen BPharm (Hons)^{1,2} | J. Simon Bell BPharm (Hons), PhD^{1,2,3} | Jenni Ilomäki MSc (Pharm), PhD^{1,3} | Megan Corlis BAppSc (Nursing)^{2,4} | Michelle E. Hogan BNursing⁴ | Tessa Caporale Diploma of Nursing⁴ | Jan Van Emden MAppSc (Physio)^{2,4} | Johanna I. Westbrook BAppSc (Dinstic.), GradDipAppEpidemio, MHA, PhD⁵ | Sarah N. Hilmer MBBS, PhD, FRACP^{2,6} | Janet K. Sluggett BPharm (Hons), GDipClinEpid, PhD^{1,2} ()

¹Centre for Medicine Use and Safety, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Parkville, Melbourne, Australia

²NHMRC Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre, Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, Sydney, Australia

³Department of Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine, School of Public Health and Preventative Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

⁴Helping Hand Aged Care, North Adelaide, Australia

⁵Centre for Health Systems and Safety Research, Australian Institute of Health Innovation, Macquarie University, Sydney, Australia

⁶Kolling Institute, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney and Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, Australia

Correspondence

Esa Y. H. Chen, Centre for Medicine Use and Safety, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Parkville, 381 Royal Parade, Parkville, Vic 3052, Australia. Email: esa.chen@monash.edu

Funding information

National Health and Medical Research Council, Grant/Award Number: GNT9100000

Abstract

Rationale/aim: Medication administration is a complex and time-consuming task in residential aged care facilities (RACFs). Understanding the time associated with each administration step may help identify opportunities to optimize medication management in RACFs. This study aimed to investigate the time taken to administer medications to residents, including those with complex care needs such as cognitive impairment and swallowing difficulties.

Method: A time-and-motion study was conducted in three South Australian RACFs. A representative sample of 57 scheduled medication administration rounds in 14 units were observed by a single investigator. The rounds were sampled to include different times of day, memory support units for residents living with dementia and standard units, and medication administration by registered and enrolled nurses. Medications were administered from pre-prepared medication strip packaging. The validated Work Observation Method By Activity Timing (WOMBAT) software was used to record observations.

Results: Thirty nurses were observed. The average time spent on scheduled medication administration rounds was 5.2 h/unit of average 22 residents/day. The breakfast medication round had the longest duration (1.92 h/unit). Resident preparation, medication preparation and provision, documentation, transit, communication, and cleaning took an average of 5 minutes per resident per round. Medication preparation and provision comprised 60% of overall medication round time and took significantly longer in memory support than in standard units (66 vs 49 seconds per resident per round for preparation, 79 vs 58 for provision; P < .001 for both). Almost half (42%) of tablets/capsules were crushed in memory support units. The time taken for medication administration was not significantly different among registered and enrolled nurses. **Conclusions:** Nurses took an average of 5 minutes to administer medications per resident per medication round. Medication administration in memory support units took

I Eval Clin Pract 2020-1-8

wilevonlinelibrary com/iournal/ien

2 Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice International Journal of Public Health Policy and Health Services Research

an additional minute per resident per round, with almost half of tablets and capsules needing to be crushed.

KEYWORDS

aged, long-term care facilities, medication administration, medication safety, time and motion study

1 | INTRODUCTION

People entering residential aged care are increasingly frail, have a high prevalence of cognitive impairment and often have complex care needs.¹⁻³ Residents often have medication regimens comprising multiple administration times, formulations, and administration instructions.^{4,5} Medication administration is a complex and time-consuming task in residential aged care facilities (RACFs). Residents take a median of 13 regular and as-needed medications.^{3,5} Around a third to almost half of medications are administered two or more times a day.^{3,5} Addressing the complexity of medication management in residential aged care is a research priority in Australia and internationally.^{6,7} Most residents rely on nurses or care workers for assistance with medication administration and other instrumental activities of daily living. Medication administration can be challenging for residents living with dementia and for residents with dysphagia.⁸ Over half of residents in aged care have swallowing difficulties which may necessitate modification of medications prior to administration or giving medications one by one.⁸ Medication preparation and administration are therefore important aspects of safe and high-quality care in RACFs.6

Regimens that are complex and time-consuming to administer may be associated with a higher risk of administration errors.⁹ In Australia, medications are administered by registered nurses (RNs), enrolled nurses (ENs), and care workers with medication credentials according to standardized processes. Medication administration errors, in which the medication administered differs from the medication ordered (such as wrong dose, given at the wrong time), are a source of harm.⁹ Administration errors were implicated in 6 out of 13 medication-related deaths in Australian residential aged care investigated by the coroner from 2000 to 2013.¹⁰ In the United Kingdom (UK) Care Homes' Use of Medicines study, staff administration errors were observed for 22% of residents.⁹ Medication administration is generally considered as "must do" work when staff are short on time. For this reason, medication administration may be completed under time-pressure which may increase the risk of errors.^{11,12}

Medication rounds represent a large portion of nursing time. Australian and Canadian studies have reported medication administration accounts for 27% to 38% of shift time for staff employed to undertake this activity.¹³⁻¹⁵ Identifying efficiencies may help relieve time-pressure.¹⁶ Identifying possibilities to shift time to focus on high-risk parts of the medication round or to other resident care activities, while maintaining safe medication administration, is likely to be valuable. Previous studies have used trained observers to record the amount of time spent on various tasks in RACFs.^{13,14,17,18} Few have undertaken in-depth observations of medication administration rounds. One previous study observed 12 morning medication rounds in two units of a single Australian RACF which averaged 3 hours for 35 residents. Almost one-third of that time was spent on medication preparation.¹³ Further research is required to understand the generalizability of these findings and to identify areas for support to facilitate both efficient and safe medication practices. The present study aimed to investigate the time taken to administer medications to residents, including those with complex care needs such as cognitive impairment or dysphagia.

2 | METHODS

A "time and motion" study design was conducted according to relevant criteria of the Suggested Time And Motion Procedures (STAMP).^{17,19,20} Independent continuous observation of workflow and methods was used. This method was consistent with previous time and motion studies of health care workers in hospitals and RACFs.²¹⁻²⁵ Ethics approval was granted from the Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee (project number 11054) and the study was reviewed by the participating aged care provider organization's ethical review panel.

2.1 | Study setting

In Australia, residential aged care is provided in private and publicsector RACFs. The RACFs provide supported accommodation for predominantly older people who have care needs that can no longer be supported in their own homes.¹ Residents are supported to selfadminister medications if assessed as able to do so, but most require assistance from nurses and care workers.¹ Although variation in medication administration practices exists, medications are administered in accordance with national guidelines and State-based regulations.²⁶ Briefly, medications are prescribed by general practitioners, dispensed and packed into dose administration aids by offsite community pharmacies, and delivered to the RACF. Immediately prior to administration, medications are removed from dose administration aids or original packaging and checked against the medication administration chart. Medications may need to be altered to facilitate administration (eg, crushed). Medication administration is documented on medication administration charts and nurses and care workers monitor for and document any adverse events.²⁷ Tasks may not always be performed linearly and may often overlap.27

CHEN ET AL.

Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice

-Wiley⊥

2.2 | Study context

This study was conducted over 10 weekdays and 2 weekend days in July and August 2018. Three metropolitan private, not-for-profit RACFs operated by the same South Australian aged care provider organizations participated. Medications were supplied to these RACFs in pre-packed medication strip packaging.²⁸ Paper-based medication administration charts were used for documentation. In the participating RACFs, regular medication rounds were completed by one EN or RN. Other medication rounds for controlled medications (eg, opioids) were completed by two nurses, one of whom needed to be a RN. The three participating RACFs had six scheduled regular administration rounds each day.

2.3 | Participant selection and enrolment

Prior to the observation periods, the residential services manager at each RACF provided information about the study to all nursing staff involved in medication administration. Two investigators and the residential services manager sampled the medication administration rounds for observation. The rounds were purposively sampled to include different times of day, memory support units for residents living with dementia and other units, and medication administration by RNs and ENs. Nurses responsible for the identified medication rounds were then approached individually and invited to participate. Nurses who consented to participate provided informed written consent and completed a demographic questionnaire which captured information about their role (ie, RN or EN), years of experience working in aged care, years of experience nursing, and years of experience in their current position.

There were 11 breakfast administration rounds (8:00 AM), 11 noon, 7 afternoon (2:00 PM), 11 pre-dinner (4:00 PM), 8 dinner (5:00 PM) and 9 bedtime (8:00 PM) rounds observed during the study period. Administration outside of scheduled regular administration rounds (eg, prore-nata [PRN] medications) were not observed. Residents who selfadministered medication were not included in the observation of the medication administration round.

2.4 | Observations

Observations were undertaken by a single investigator (E.Y.C). Medication administration in the participating RACFs comprised a series of discrete activities including preparing the medication trolley, resident and medication; providing the medication; documentation; transit; communication; cleaning up; miscellaneous care and other activities. The definition and classification of each discrete activity was adapted from a previous time-and-motion study in Australian RACFs in consultation with a research nurse experienced in medication administration (Appendix S1).¹³ Time taken to complete discrete activities involved in medication preparation and administration were recorded using a tablet computer running the Work Observation Method By Activity Timing (WOMBAT) software (Appendix S2). WOMBAT software was specifically developed for time-and-motion studies and captures time and duration information in addition to activity classifications. The WOMBAT software has been validated in time-and-motion studies of healthcare workers' activities conducted in a variety of hospital settings.²⁹⁻³³ A pilot observation period was undertaken prior to the study period to familiarize the observer with the RACF layout and discrete activity definitions in the WOMBAT software. The duration of the entire round was also recorded. The medication administration round started when the nurse either started preparing the medication trolley (if needed and as indicated by the nurse) or when the nurse began transit out of the medication room. The medication administration room and the nurse indicated the round had finished, or when the nurse returned to the medication room without the trolley (in cases where the trolley remained in the medication room for the duration of the round) and the nurse indicated that the round had finished.

2.5 | Data analysis

The mean (±SD) length of time to complete an overall medication round was determined. The mean time needed for staff to undertake each activity, the frequency of each activity, and proportion of time spent on each activity in the administration round were also calculated. Analyses were stratified by the time of day of the administration round, activity category, type of RACF unit (memory support unit or not), nursing qualification, route of medication administration and method of preparation. Comparisons between continuous variables that were not normally distributed were made using the Mann-Whitney *U*-test. Comparisons between multiple groups were made using a one-way analysis of variance test. A statistically significant difference was defined as P < =.05. Data were analysed using R version 3.5.0 (Comprehensive R Archive Network) with RStudio version 1.1.453.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Sample

Out of 32 nurses invited, 30 nurses provided consent to participate. The sample comprised of 24 ENs and 6 RNs. Seventeen nurses were observed for two or more medication rounds. Participants had a mean of 14.4 years (\pm 12.6) of experience working in aged care, 11.2 years (\pm 10.9) of nursing experience, and 9.6 years (\pm 10.3) of experience in their current position.

3.2 | Overall duration of the administration round

A total of 51.91 hours of medication administration across 57 medication administration rounds in 14 RACF units were observed. The average time taken for the six scheduled rounds was 5.2 hours each day per facility. Approximately half of this was spent on breakfast, noon and afternoon rounds. These rounds were typically completed during a

4 _______ Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice

single day shift. The duration of each scheduled medication administration round varied. The breakfast medication round was the longest, with an average of $1.92 (\pm 0.53)$ hours spent administering medications to a median of 22 residents (ie, 7.8 minutes for each resident) (Table 1).

3.3 | Time spent on discrete activities

The average time for round preparation, which included any initial arranging, stocking and cleaning of the trolley directly before medication administration, was 61 seconds (\pm 49) per round. Medication preparation and provision took similar amounts of time and collectively comprised 60% of the time spent on the medication round. Among the three RACFs included in the study, significant differences were found in medication preparation, medication provision, documents, communication, and cleaning up (Table C1, Appendix S3).

The average time spent on resident preparation, medication preparation, medication provision, documentation, transit, communication, and cleaning up was 5 minutes per resident per round. Medication preparation took an average of 53 seconds (\pm 44) per resident per round (Table 2). Medication provision took an average of 63 seconds (\pm 50) per resident per round and was the single longest activity, with the exception of miscellaneous care and "other."

TABLE 1 Total time taken to complete scheduled medication administration rounds

	Mean number of observations per round	Mean (SD) in hours	Range in hours
Breakfast	129	1.92 (0.53)	1.05-2.71
Noon	37	0.48 (0.17)	0.09-0.70
Afternoon	25	0.30 (0.12)	0.11-0.44
Pre-dinner	51	0.70 (0.38)	0.11-1.33
Dinner	48	0.58 (0.50)	0.09-1.43
Bedtime	91	1.22 (0.54)	0.56-2.38

Communication during a medication round, which included all communication for the nurse being observed, comprised 7.4% of the total observed time and most frequently involved care workers (20%), telephone calls (18%), RNs (15%), and residents (13%). Residents' family comprised 3% of communication, and the "other" 31% was a mixture of communication with the observer, physicians, and other allied health professionals (eg, pharmacists).

3.4 | Staff role

RNs were responsible for 10 of the observed medication rounds; half of these were on weekends. There were no significant differences between RNs and ENs in terms of the average time spent per resident on resident preparation, medication preparation, medication provision, documentation, transit, communication, and cleaning up (mean 4.95 vs 4.99 minutes, respectively) (Table C2, Appendix S3).

3.5 | Memory support units

The average time spent on resident preparation, medication preparation, medication provision, documentation, transit, communication, and cleaning up was 5.6 minutes per resident per round in memory support units and 4.7 minutes per resident in other units. The proportion of total time spent on the round activities in each unit was consistent across units, but medication preparation, medication provision, documentation and transit took significantly longer in memory support units (Table 2) than other units.

3.6 | Route of administration

Tablets and capsules were the most commonly administered form of medication within the medication round (Table 3). These dose forms

 TABLE 2
 Time taken to complete parts of the medication round per resident per medication administration round

			Stratified by unit type				
	Overall		Memory support units		Other units		Р
	Count of observations (n = 3777) n (%)	Mean (SD) in seconds	Count of observations (n = 885) n (%)	Mean (SD) in seconds	Count of observations (n = 2892) n (%)	Mean (SD) in seconds	
Resident preparation	41 (1.1)	36.7 (25.6)	18 (2.0)	42.5 (27.9)	23 (0.8)	32.2 (23.3)	0.351
Medication preparation	1024 (26.7)	53.2 (44.1)	232 (25.7)	66.4 (52.5)	792 (27.0)	49.4 (40.5)	<.001
Medication provision	886 (23.1)	63.0 (50.1)	205 (22.7)	78.5 (66.5)	681 (23.2)	58.3 (42.9)	<.001
Documentation	414 (10.8)	40.4 (51.5)	113 (12.5)	31.4 (27.9)	301 (10.3)	43.8 (57.6)	0.026
Transit	679 (17.7)	33.1 (25.7)	139 (15.4)	36.2 (23.4)	540 (18.4)	32.4 (26.2)	0.003
Communication	294 (7.7)	47.1 (52.3)	68 (7.5)	48.4 (54.0)	226 (7.7)	46.7 (51.9)	0.447
Cleaning up	253 (6.6)	24.3 (23.9)	66 (7.3)	33.1 (30.3)	187 (6.4)	21.2 (20.3)	<.001
Miscellaneous care	171 (4.5)	73.5 (165.1)	41 (4.6)	109.7 (304.8)	130 (4.4)	62.1 (81.1)	0.351
Other	15 (0.4)	82.7 (48.0)	3 (0.3)	85.3 (30.0)	12 (0.4)	82.1 (52.6)	1

Notes: P values compare memory support units and standard units.

CHEN ET AL.

Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice

TABLE 3	Time taken to prepare and provide different	formulations of medications pe	er formulation per medication administration round	
---------	---	--------------------------------	--	--

	Medication preparation		Medication provision		
	Count of observations (n = 1026) n (%)	Mean time (SD) in seconds	Count of observations (n = 886) n (%)	Mean time (SD) in seconds	
Tablets/capsules	644 (62.8)	65.1 (47.7)	577 (65.1)	67.6 (47.7)	
Patch	10 (1.0)	61.3 (60.5)	10 (1.1)	72.9 (81.9)	
Injection	30 (2.9)	52.0 (47.8)	39 (4.4)	60.4 (28.5)	
Topical	26 (2.5)	27.2 (18.8)	27 (3.1)	82.9 (46.8)	
Liquid	90 (8.8)	31.7 (18.7)	93 (10.5)	56.7 (79.7)	
Respiratory	70 (6.8)	28.8 (22.7)	56 (6.3)	43.6 (22.7)	
Eye/ENT	69 (6.7)	24.9 (22.9)	82 (9.3)	42.7 (25.4)	
Powders	85 (8.3)	38.5 (25.4)	NA	NA	
Other	2 (0.2)	21.5 (2.1)	2 (0.2)	122.0 (66.5)	

TABLE 4 Time taken to (A) prepare and (B) provide tablets in different ways per resident per medication administration round

	(A) Time taken to prepare numbers of tablets in different ways per resident per medication administration round					
	Not crushed		Crushed			
	Count of observations (n = 500)	Mean (SD) in seconds	Count of observations (n = 144)	Mean (SD) in seconds		
1-5	371	49.8 (38.2)	114	77.8 (41.6)		
6-10	92	91.4 (55.5)	24	136.2 (54.1)		
11+	14	97.8 (50.5)	1	162.0		
Missing	23	47.3 (30.2)	5	54.2 (40.18)		

(B) time taken to provide numbers of tablets in different ways per resident per medication administration round

	Whole and together		One by one		Crushed	
	Count of observations (n = 280)	Mean (SD) in seconds	Count of observations (n = 158)	Mean (SD) in seconds	Count of observations (n = 139)	Mean (SD) in seconds
1-5	237	52.1 (41.3)	105	81.4 (46.3)	101	62.7 (31.3)
6-10	34	68.1 (57.5)	43	106.6 (47.8)	20	85.7 (42.2)
11+	4	58.8 (19.4)	8	156.8 (76.5)	2	27.5 (12.0)
Missing	5	91.8 (109.5)	2	41.5 (30.4)	16	68.1 (48.8)

took less time to administer compared to other formulations but took the longest to prepare overall (Table 4A). Topical medications (ie, creams or ointments) took the longest to provide at a mean of 83 seconds per administration, followed by patches at a mean of 73 seconds per administration.

3.7 | Method of preparation and administration

There were 644 observations of tablets/capsules being prepared, and 577 observations of tablet/capsules being provided (Table 3). The difference was due to medications being prepared but not provided, such as when the resident could not be found, was toileting or bathing, or refused medication. In these cases, the medications would often be put aside to attempt provision later.

Overall, 22% of tablets/capsule observations (n = 144/644) required crushing. This proportion was higher in memory support

units (42%, n = 68/144) compared with standard units (15%, n = 76/500). Crushed tablets/capsules took longer to prepare and administer compared with whole tablets/capsules (Tables 4A,B) when 10 or less tablets were given at once.

Tablets/capsules that were provided one by one took the longest to provide (mean of 91.61 ± 51.75 seconds), compared with crushed tablets (mean of 66.12 ± 36.05 seconds) or when the nurse provided the resident with their medications whole (ie, without any dose alterations) and together at the same time (ie, not one by one) (mean of 54.84 ± 45.39 seconds).

4 | DISCUSSION

The main finding of this time-motion study involving 57 rounds across 14 RACF units was that medication administration activities took an average of 5 minutes per resident per round. The overall average time

MILEY Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice International Journal of Public Health Policy and Health Services Research

CHEN ET AL.

spent on medication administration during the 6 scheduled rounds was 5.2 hours per day for a unit of average 22 residents. This was consistent with previously published estimates that medication administration consumes approximately one-third of shift time for staff.¹³⁻¹⁵ Medication administration in memory support units took an additional minute per resident per round, with almost half of tablets and capsules needing to be crushed prior to administration in this setting. The time taken for medication administration was not significantly different among RNs and ENs.

Medication administration to residents living with dementia in memory support units took 1 minute longer than the time taken for residents in other units. The average time of 5 minutes per resident per round was longer than the 3.3 minutes reported by Qian et al in a previous Australian study of medication administration that did not include memory support units,¹³ and comparable to the 4.8 minutes reported by McDerby et al. who included residents living with advanced dementia.¹⁶ A Canadian study found that medication administration for residents living with moderate to advanced dementia in memory support units took 3.5 (±1.1) minutes per resident per round compared to 3.1 (±1.1) minutes for residents with or without cognitive impairment in standard units, and 4.2 (±1.0) minutes for residents in behavioural care units.¹⁴ Over half the residents of RACFs are living with dementia,34 many of whom do not live in memory support units. Our findings have implications for appropriate scheduling of staff and care tasks throughout the day for residents with complex care needs, and government funding for these activities. More time is needed to deliver care to residents living with dementia, who have complex care needs, compared to residents without dementia.^{2,14}

A factor that may contribute to this extra time is preparing and administering dose modifications. Crushing was required for almost half of observed tablet/capsule administrations in memory support units. Overall many residents had swallowing difficulties and 22% of tablets and capsules were crushed. It was encouraging that 60% of total medication administration round time was spent on medication preparation and provision, where there is high potential for error.³⁵ Inappropriate medication modification (eg, cutting or crushing tablets) has been reported for 17% to 32% of medications in previous Australian RACF studies.^{16,36,37} In these previous studies, non-oral formulations were more likely to be involved in medication administration errors. Compared with tablets or capsules in pre-packed administration aids, liquids were four times more likely to be administered incorrectly; topical, transdermal and injectable medications were 20 times more likely to be administered incorrectly; and inhalers were more than 30 times more likely to be administered incorrectly.³⁸ A recent Australian pilot study suggested that integrating a pharmacist in RACFs may reduce inappropriate dose modification and the corresponding risk of medication-related harm.16 Our study did not observe and document administration errors in RACFs. Further research is needed to understand the time needed to ensure dose modification is undertaken in a safe and efficient manner.

Although resident and medication factors are major determinants of the time needed to safely administer medications, other activities also consume a large proportion of time. There may be scope to improve efficiency in activities such as communication, documentation, and transit, allowing time to be shifted to elsewhere within the medication round to improve safety, or to other resident care activities. A pilot study focused on improving operational efficiency in medication administration, including optimizing medication storage, clarifying the labelling on resident medications and frequent removal of ceased or expired medication reduced time spent administering medications from 4.8 (±1.1) to 3.2 minutes (±1.7) in the intervention group (P < .05).¹⁶ A cluster RCT investigating the impact of a structured intervention to simplify medication regimens on resident health outcomes and the efficiency of medication administration in RACFs is currently underway in eight RACFs in South Australia.³⁹ Additionally, the use of electronic medication systems has been suggested to improve efficiency and safety of medication administration by improving workflow and facilitate access to updated resident information.⁴⁰ It is unclear from previous studies in RACFs and hospitals if electronic medication systems lead to significant differences in time spent on medication administration or care tasks, but have suggested that prescribing error rates may be reduced.^{31,40,41}

While there is potential that reducing the amount of time spent on medication rounds may reduce opportunities to detect and deliver other "ad hoc" care, the relatively low proportion of time spent on other care activities during the medication administration round suggests that the impact on other resident care would be small. Miscellaneous care and "other" activities, which included ad hoc resident care or assistance that may have otherwise been missed, comprised nearly 3.5 of the 52 hours observed during medication rounds. Involving other care staff in these activities outside of the medication administration round where possible may enable nursing time to be spent on other care activities and decrease distraction and medication administration errors.²⁷

4.1 | Strengths and limitations

A strength of this study is the higher number and type of units observed and mix of staff compared to any previous Australian study.¹³ The study involved observing more than 1000 separate occasions of medication preparation. The large sample size provided an opportunity to measure average time taken for activities involved in medication administration for a range of different times and resident care needs. Observations were undertaken over a wide range of hours (07:00 AM to 10:00 PM) and a mix of weekdays and weekends. Direct continuous observation, although labour-intensive, allowed close observation and therefore accurate measurement of discrete activities undertaken within the medication administration round.¹⁷ However, having an observer shadow nursing staff during medication administration may have been disruptive to the normal work routine of participants.

Limitations include that the three RACFs were operated by the same aged care provider organization, which may limit generalizability to other aged care providers. It was a limitation that the study involved a single observer. Use of multiple observers may have improved the reliability of

CHEN ET AL.

Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice

time measurements. However, using multiple observers may have introduced possible inconsistences between observers in how time was measured. The study did not investigate the impact of interruptions nor the clinical appropriateness of dose form alterations. Like previous studies, this study did not analyse clinical outcome data or investigate staff perception of acute time pressure. The study did not investigate the time necessary to safely administer medications nor the time taken to communicate with residents appropriately. Further research is required to investigate the relationship between time and safe medication administration and quality care.

5 | CONCLUSION

Nurses took on average 5 minutes to administer medications to residents with complex care needs at each medication round. Nurses took an additional 1 minute per resident per round to administer medications to residents living with dementia. Altering medication prior to administration by crushing also increased the time needed for medication administration. Overall, medication preparation and provision took approximately equal time and together comprised 60% of the medication round. Further research is needed to understand the adequate time needed for safe medication administration, but it may be possible to make parts of the medication administration round more efficient.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank the Residential Services Managers, staff, and residents at the RACFs who participated in this study. This work was supported by the NHMRC Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre (grant number GNT9100000). The Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre receives support from the NHMRC and funding partners including Helping Hand Aged Care, HammondCare, Brightwater and Dementia Australia. The contents of the published materials are solely the responsibility of the individual authors identified, and do not reflect the views of the NHMRC and any other funding bodies or the funding partners. E.Y.H.C. was supported by a postgraduate research scholarship funded by the Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre and the Monash University Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences. JSB was supported by a NHMRC Dementia Research Leadership Fellowship. MC, MH, TC and JvE are employed by Helping Hand Aged Care. JKS and JI were supported by NHMRC Early Career Fellowships.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

Authors declare no conflicts of interest.

ORCID

Esa Y. H. Chen D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9615-1916 Janet K. Sluggett D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9059-5209

REFERENCES

 Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Seaman KL, Corlis M, Bell JS. Medication management policy, practice and research in Australian residential aged care: current and future directions. *Pharmacol Res.* 2017;116:20-28. Willis E, Price K, Bonner R, et al. Meeting Residents' Care Needs: A Study of the Requirement for Nursing and Personal Care Staff. Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation; 2016.

-WILEY⊥

- Chen EY, Bell JS, Ilomäki J, et al. Medication regimen complexity in 8 Australian residential aged care facilities: impact of age, length of stay, comorbidity, frailty, and dependence in activities of daily living. *Clin Interv Aging*. 2019;2019(14).
- Advinha AM, de Oliveira-Martins S, Mateus V, Pajote SG, Lopes MJ. Medication regimen complexity in institutionalized elderly people in an aging society. Int J Clin Pharmacol. 2014;36(4):750-756.
- Herson M, Bell JS, Tan ECK, Emery T, Robson L, Wimmer BC. Factors associated with medication regimen complexity in residents of longterm care facilities. *Eur Geriatr Med.* 2015;6(6):561-564.
- Rayner J, Fetherstonhaugh D, Cowen S. Research priorities in residential aged care services: a statewide survey. *Australas J Ageing*. 2019;1-8.
- Tan ECK, Sluggett JK, Johnell K, et al. Research priorities for optimizing geriatric pharmacotherapy: an international consensus. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2018;19:193-199.
- Forough SA, Wong YMS, Lau TLE, et al. Nurse experiences of medication administration to people with swallowing difficulties living in aged care facilities: a systematic review of qualitative evidence. JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep. 2018;16(1):71-86.
- Barber ND, Alldred DP, Raynor DK, et al. Care homes' use of medicines study: prevalence, causes and potential harm of medication errors in care homes for older people. *Qual Saf Health Care*. 2009;18 (5):341-346.
- Jokanovic N, Ferrah N, Lovell JJ, et al. A review of coronial investigations into medication-related deaths in Australian residential aged care. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2018;15(4):410-416.
- 11. Bowers BJ, Lauring C, Jacobson N. How nurses manage time and work in long-term care. J Adv Nurs. 2001;33(4):484-491.
- Härkänen M, Vehviläinen-Julkunen K, Murrells T, Paananen J, Rafferty AM. Text mining method for studying medication administration incidents and nurse-staffing contributing factors: a pilot study. *Comput Inform Nurs*. 2019;37(7):357-365.
- Qian S, Yu P, Hailey DM, Wang N. Factors influencing nursing time spent on administration of medication in an Australian residential aged care home. J Nurs Manag. 2016;24(3):427-434.
- Thomson MS, Gruneir A, Lee M, et al. Nursing time devoted to medication administration in long-term care: clinical, safety, and resource implications. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2009;57(2):266-272.
- Qian S, Yu P, Hailey D. Nursing staff work patterns in a residential aged care home: a time-motion study. *Aust Health Rev.* 2015;40(5): 544-554.
- McDerby N, Kosari S, Bail K, Shield A, Peterson G, Naunton M. The effect of a residential care pharmacist on medication administration practices in aged care: a controlled trial. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2019;44 (4):595-602.
- Finkler SA, Knickman JR, Hendrickson G, Lipkin M Jr, Thompson WG. A comparison of work-sampling and time-and-motion techniques for studies in health services research. *Health Serv Res.* 1993;28(5): 577-597.
- Dellefield ME, Harrington C, Kelly A. Observing how rns use clinical time in a nursing home: a pilot study. *Geriatr Nurs*. 2012;33(4):256-263.
- Wirth P, Kahn L, Perkoff GT. Comparability of two methods of time and motion study used in a clinical setting: work sampling and continuous observation. *Med Care*. 1977;15(11):953-960.
- Zheng K, Guo MH, Hanauer DA. Using the time and motion method to study clinical work processes and workflow: methodological inconsistencies and a call for standardized research. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2011;18(5):704-710.
- Shinder GA, Paradis PE, Posman M, et al. Patient and work flow and costs associated with staff time and facility usage at a comprehensive cancer Centre in Quebec, Canada – a time and motion study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2012;12(1):1-10.

8 WILEY Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice

- Lopetegui M, Yen P-Y, Lai A, Jeffries J, Embi P, Payne P. Time motion studies in healthcare: what are we talking about? J Biomed Inform. 2014;49:292-299.
- Mallidou AA, Cummings GG, Schalm C, Estabrooks CA. Health care aides use of time in a residential long-term care unit: a time and motion study. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(9):1229-1239.
- Meguerditchian AN, Krotneva S, Reidel K, Huang A, Tamblyn R. Medication reconciliation at admission and discharge: a time and motion study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13(1):1-11.
- Schofield B, Cresswel K, Westbrook J, et al. The impact of electronic prescribing systems on pharmacists' time and workflow: protocol for a time-and-motion study in english NHS hospitals. *BMJ Open.* 2015;5 (10):e008785.
- Department of Health and Ageing. Guiding Principles for Medication Management in Residential Aged Care Facilities. Canberra, Australia: Department of Health and Ageing; 2012.
- Odberg KR, Hansen BS, Aase K, Wangensteen S. Medication administration and interruptions in nursing homes: a qualitative observational study. J Clin Nurs. 2018;27(5–6):1113-1124.
- Cready CM, Hudson C, Dreyer K. Type of oral solid medication packaging and medication preparation time in nursing homes: a direct observation study. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2017;42(6):710-719.
- Walter SR, Li L, Dunsmuir WTM, Westbrook JI. Managing competing demands through task-switching and multitasking: a multi-setting observational study of 200 clinicians over 1000 hours. *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2014;23(3):231-241.
- Ballermann MA, Shaw NT, Mayes DC, Gibney RTN, Westbrook JI. Validation of the work observation method by activity timing (WOMBAT) method of conducting time-motion observations in critical care settings: an observational study. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2011;11:32-32.
- Westbrook JI, Li L, Georgiou A, Paoloni R, Cullen J. Impact of an electronic medication management system on hospital doctors' and nurses' work: a controlled pre-post, time and motion study. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2013;20(6):1150-1158.
- Arabadzhiyska PN, Baysari MT, Walter S, Day RO, Westbrook JI. Shedding light on junior doctors' work practices after hours. *Intern Med J.* 2013;43(12):1321-1326.
- Li L, Hains I, Hordern T, Milliss D, Raper R, Westbrook J. What do ICU doctors do? A multisite time and motion study of the clinical work patterns of registrars. *Crit Care Resusc.* 2015;17(3):159-166.

- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Dementia in Australia. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2012.
- Lane SJ, Troyer JL, Dienemann JA, Laditka SB, Blanchette CM. Effects of skilled nursing facility structure and process factors on medication errors during nursing home admission. *Health Care Manage Rev.* 2014; 39(4):340-351.
- Mercovich N, Kyle GJ, Naunton M. Safe to crush? A pilot study into solid dosage form modification in aged care. *Australas J Ageing*. 2014; 33(3):180-184.
- Paradiso LM, Roughead EE, Gilbert AL, et al. Crushing or altering medications: What's happening in residential aged-care facilities? *Australas J Ageing*. 2002;21(3):123-127.
- Alldred DP, Standage C, Fletcher O, et al. The influence of formulation and medicine delivery system on medication administration errors in care homes for older people. *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2011;20(5): 397-401.
- Sluggett JK, Chen EYH, Ilomäki J, et al. SImplification of medications prescribed to long-tErm care residents (SIMPLER): study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial. *Trials*. 2018;19(1):37.
- Fuller A, Makowsky M. Use of electronic medication administration records (EMAR) to support medication administration practices in long-term care: a scoping review of the quantitative and qualitative evidence. *Can Pharm J.* 2017;150(4):S61.
- Qian S, Yu P, Hailey DM. The impact of electronic medication administration records in a residential aged care home. Int J Med Inform. 2015;84(11):966-973.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Chen EYH , Bell JS, Ilomäki J, et al. Medication administration in Australian residential aged care: A time-and-motion study. *J Eval Clin Pract*. 2020;1–8. <u>https://</u>doi.org/10.1111/jep.13393

Appendix A: Activity classifications

Table B1: Nurses' activities in morning medication rounds, adapted from Qian et al. J Nurs Manag, 2016.

Category	Activity	Activity description
Preparation for	Medications and	Prepare a medication trolley (e.g. get spoons, cups, medication administration records, refrigerated
administration or round	consumables	medication, rubbish bag or general waste, pureed fruit/custard/etc for crushed medications)
	Resident	Locate a resident or check if a resident is ready for medications
		• Prepare a resident for medication administration (e.g. help a resident to sit up and lay back down)
		Prepare a cup of water/juice (non-thickened fluids)
		Prepare thickened fluids or custard, or similar, in which to mix medications or to give after
		medication administration
		Bring prepared medications and other supplies (e.g. tissue, spoon) to a resident
Preparation of	Tablets or capsules	Prepare packed tablets or capsule (e.g. check the medication, open the plastic sachet, transfer into
medication		a cup)
		The number of tablets or capsules administered to each resident at each administration time was
		also noted alongside "Preparation of tablets or capsules" and "Provision of tablets or capsules".
	Powders, granules or	Prepare powder medications (e.g. locate on trolley, check the medication, open the package, put
	effervescent tablets	the powder into a drinking cup, add water, stir)
	Liquid	Prepare liquid medications (e.g. locate on trolley, check the medication, pouring the liquid
		medication into a small plastic cup)
		Prepare resource (e.g. a drink to supply nutrition, get from refrigerator)

Chapter Four

	Cream, gel, ointment	• Prepare topical medications (e.g. lotions, creams, paints; e.g. locate on trolley, including checking
	or lotion	with administration records, checking expiry date)
	Eye or ear drop, gel or	• Prepare eye drops/ointment, ear drops, nasal sprays/drops (e.g. check the expiration date, get from
	ointment, nasal spray	refrigerator)
	or drops	
	Patch	Prepare patches (e.g. writing the date on the patch)
	Miscellaneous	Prepare metered dose inhalers with spacers (e.g. get the spacer, attach the inhaler to the spacer)
	respiratory	Prepare nebulizer (e.g. check the expiration date, put nebulizer into the nebulizer equipment)
		Prepare oxygen concentrator
	Other	Prepare injections (e.g. wipe the insulin bottle cap with an alcohol swab, open the package of the
		syringe, measure the insulin)
		Check injections prior to administration (Registered nurses only)
Provision of	Tablets or capsules	Provide tablets where resident able to take by themselves with nurse waiting
medication		Provide medication in meals and feeding
		Provide and help take tablets
	Powders, granules or	Provide powder/granule medications
	effervescent tablets	
	Liquid	Provide liquid medications
		Provide nutrition drink
		Return to resident and check drink is finished
	Cream, gel, ointment or lotion	Provide topical medications (including taking cap off and putting it back on)
Chapter Four

	Eye or ear drop, gel or	Provide eye drops/ointment
	ointment, nasal spray	Provide ear drops
	or drops	Provide nasal sprays or drops
	Patch	Provide patches
	Miscellaneous	Provide puffers/inhalers
	respiratory	Provide nebulizer
	Other	Provide a rectal medication
		Provide a pessary or vaginal cream
		Provide medications via PEG feed
		Provide injections
Cleaning up	Cleaning up	Travel back to medication trolley
		Dispose clinical or general wastes or put medications (e.g. eye drops) back into trolley or
		refrigerator
		 Bring/collect spoons and cups to/from wash-up room.
		Plug in medication trolley to electric socket
		Alcohol hand wash
		Water hand wash
		Put on/take off gloves

Chapter Four

Communication	Verbal communication	Verbal communication with a resident, including redirecting residents who may be wandering
	("talk")	Verbal communication with another nurse
		Verbal communication with other internal staff (i.e. physiotherapist, kitchen staff)
		 Verbal communication with an external health professional (e.g. a doctor)
		Verbal communication with a visitor
		Receive/answer/make a phone call
		Answer call bells
		Contact a registered nurse to administer pro re nata (as needed) or controlled medication, or to
		check insulin or other injections
Documentation	Documentation	Use medication administration record, including Nicki pump and controlled analgesic patch records,
		signing off administration or refusals (ongoing documentation throughout the shift)
		Use paper notes or handover sheet
		Use controlled drugs register
Transit	Transit	Push a medication trolley
		Walk/stand in corridor, dining room, etc.
		Prepare a controlled medication (i.e. retrieve from safe)
Other	Other	Other activities not included above (e.g. interaction with the observer)

Appendix B: Screenshot of WOMBAT layout

	- Activity Timing (DUMMY)				
Active	WHAT					
10.44.42	Round prep 🛛 🖾	Meds prep 🛛 🗢	Meds prov 🛛 🗢			
	Documentati	Transit	Talk			
	Cleaning up	Care misc	Other			
	HOW MANY					
	1	2	3			
	4	5	6			
	7	8	9			
	10	11	12+			
	HOW					
	One by one	Whole toget	Crushed			
	WHERE					
	Bedroom	Dining	Lounge			
	Bathroom	Med room	Kitchen			
	Office	Med trolley	Other			
	wно					
End Session	n Next Task					

Chapter Four

🖬 🗣						
	WOMBAT - Activity Timing (DUMMY)					
Active	booumentati	Hanot	T GIN			
Active	Cleaning up	Care misc	Other			
10:44:42	HOW MANY					
	1	2	3			
	4	5	6			
	7	8	9			
	10	11	12+			
	ноw					
	One by one	Whole toget	Crushed			
	WHERE					
	Bedroom	Dining	Lounge			
	Bathroom	Med room	Kitchen			
	Office	Med trolley	Other			
	wно					
	Resident	Care staff	RN			
	Phone	Family	Other			
End Sessior	n Next Task					

Appendix C: Supplementary tables

Table C1: time taken to complete parts of the medication round by RACF per resident per medication administration round

	RACF #1 (n=15.63 hours)		RACF #2 (n=18.46 hours)		RACF #3 (n=17.82 hours)		Р
	Number of	Mean time (SD)	Number of	Mean time (SD)	Number of	Mean time (SD)	
	observations	in seconds	observations	in seconds	observations	in seconds	
	(N=981)		(n=1487)		(n=1309)		
Resident preparation	16	41.3 (31.7)	16	27.1 (20.8)	9	45.7 (16.3)	0.950
Medication	312	59.9 (52.4)	374	49.8 (41.1)	338	50.9 (37.9)	0.010
preparation							
Medication provision	222	70.0 (50.1)	342	61.6 (47.2)	322	59.6 (52.6)	0.023
Documentation	81	63.0 (70.6)	204	31.3 (44.0)	129	40.6 (43.9)	0.014
Transit	197	32.9 (30.6)	263	33.8 (23.7)	219	32.5 (23.0)	0.863
Communication	61	67.3 (72.5)	94	38 (33.7)	139	44.4 (50.2)	0.021
Cleaning up	34	22.1 (18.1)	122	19.2 (18.7)	97	31.5 (29.2)	0.002
Miscellaneous care	55	85.0 (105.2)	65	56.3 (66.4)	51	83.0 (272.9)	0.930
Other	3	80.3 (30.3)	7	82.6 (55.7)	5	84.4 (54.4)	0.912
RACF: residential aged care facility; SD: standard deviation. P values compare the 3 residential aged care facilities							

Table C2: time taken to complete parts of the medication round by different nurse classification per resident per medication administration round

	Registered nurse (n=7.64 hours)		Enrolled nurse (n=44.27 hours)		Р	
	Number of	Mean time (SD) in	Number of	Mean time (SD) in		
	observations (n=540)	seconds	observations	seconds		
	n (%)		(n=3296) n (%)			
Round preparation	7 (1.3)	49.3 (44.7)	56 (1.7)	62.5 (49.5)	0.289	
Resident preparation	12 (2.2)	28.8 (23.5)	29 (0.9)	40.0 (26.1)	0.125	
Medication preparation	148 (27.4)	59.4 (47.2)	874 (26.5)	52.2 (43.5)	0.074	
Medication provision	126 (23.3)	63.8 (44.6)	758 (23.0)	62.9 (51.0)	0.636	
Documentation	66 (12.2)	41.9 (67.4)	348 (10.6)	40.1 (48.1)	0.900	
Transit	105 (19.4)	39.0 (37.6)	574 (17.4)	32.1 (22.7)	0.381	
Communication	35 (6.5)	41.8 (32.4)	259 (7.9)	47.8 (54.5)	0.933	
Cleaning up	19 (3.5)	22.2 (14.6)	234 (7.1)	24.5 (24.5)	0.753	
Miscellaneous care	21 (3.9)	50.0 (68.5)	150 (4.6)	76.8 (174.3)	0.332	
Other	1 (0.2)	172.0 (NA)	14 (0.4)	76.4 (42.7)	0.132	
SD: standard deviation; P values compare registered nurses and enrolled nurses.						

PART C: ADDRESSING MEDICATION REGIMEN COMPLEXITY: A NOVEL INTERVENTION

5. Chapter Five: Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE)

5.1 Synopsis

This chapter describes the development and validation of a tool to identify opportunities for medication regimen simplification. While regimen simplification may be addressed during existing medication review, Chapter Two did not identify evidence to suggest this is currently common practice. a study of a sample of RMMRs performed between 2011 and 2012 did not identify that RMMRs reduced medication regimen complexity.¹¹⁷ This could be because pharmacists or GPs do not prioritise medication regimen simplification, or because recommendations to start medications to address undertreatment (a common MRP identified by medication reviews) cancelled out any simplification. The medication charts used in this Chapter were from residents that were eligible for RMMRs, however, the date of the last RMMR was not recorded in this study. It is possible that some or all of the medication charts had already received been reviewed as part of an RMMR service, which may have already addressed some medication regimen complexity. This suggests that a previous RMMR may not have impacted the number of residents for whom simplification might be possible in our sample.

There was also no evidence that tools that were available to support medication regimen simplification. This was a practice gap that we addressed by developing this novel tool to assist medication regimen simplification. This tool was subsequently evaluated in the SImplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents (SIMPLER) cluster-randomised controlled trial.^{114,159} The prevalence and factors associated with having a complex medication regimen among participants in the SIMPLER study is presented in Chapter Six.

5.2 Chapter objective

To develop and validate a medication regimen simplification guide for residents of RACFs.

5.3 Publication

This chapter is a reproduction of the following publication:

<u>Chen EYH</u>, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Hilmer SN, Corlis M, Picton LJ, et al. Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE). *Clinical Interventions in Aging* 2018; 13: 975-986.

Clinical Interventions in Aging

Open Access Full Text Article

Dovepress cess to scientific and medical research

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE)

Esa YH Chen,^{1,2} Janet K Sluggett,^{1,2} Jenni Ilomäki,^{1,3} Sarah N Hilmer,^{2,4} Megan Corlis,^{2,5} Leonie J Picton,¹ Laura Dean,¹ Christopher P Alderman,⁶ Nicholas Farinola,⁷ Joy Gailer,⁸ Jane Grigson,⁵ Andrew R Kellie,⁹ Peter JC Putsey,⁵ Solomon Yu,¹⁰ J Simon Bell^{1–3}

Centre for Medicine Use and Safety, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Parkville, VIC, Australia; ²NHMRC Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre, Sydney Medical School – Northern, Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, Hornsby, NSW, Australia; ³Department of Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; ⁴Kolling Institute, Sydney Medical School, The University of Sydney and Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, NSW, Australia; ⁵Helping Hand Aged Care, North Adelaide, SA, Australia; ⁶School of Pharmacy and Medical Sciences, University of South Australia, Adelaide, SA, Australia; ⁷Department of Clinical Pharmacology. Royal Adelaide Hospital, North Terrace, Adelaide, SA, Australia; ⁸Drug and Therapeutics Information Service, Repatriation General Hospital, Daw Park SA, Australia: ⁹East Adelaide Healthcare Newton, SA, Australia; ¹⁰Aged and Extended Care Services, The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Woodville South, SA, Australia

Correspondence: Esa YH Chen Centre for Medicine Use and Safety, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, 381 Royal Parade, Parkville, VIC 3052, Australia Tel +61 3 9903 9533 Email esa.chen@monash.edu



Background: Residents of aged care facilities use increasingly complex medication regimens. Reducing unnecessary medication regimen complexity (eg, by consolidating the number of administration times or using alternative formulations) may benefit residents and staff.

Objective: To develop and validate an implicit tool to facilitate medication regimen simplification in aged care facilities.

Method: A purposively selected multidisciplinary expert panel used modified nominal group technique to identify and prioritize factors important in determining whether a medication regimen can be simplified. The five prioritized factors were formulated as questions, pilottested using non-identifiable medication charts and refined by panel members. The final tool was validated by two clinical pharmacists who independently applied the tool to a random sample of 50 residents of aged care facilities to identify opportunities for medication regimen simplification. Inter-rater agreement was calculated using Cohen's kappa.

Results: The Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE) was developed as an implicit tool comprising of five questions about 1) the resident; 2) regulatory and safety requirements; 3) drug interactions; 4) formulation; and 5) facility and follow-up considerations. Using MRS GRACE, two pharmacists independently simplified medication regimens for 29/50 and 30/50 residents (Cohen's kappa=0.38, 95% CI 0.12–0.64), respectively. Simplification was possible for all residents with five or more administration times. Changing an administration time comprised 75% of the two pharmacists' recommendations.

Conclusions: Using MRS GRACE, two clinical pharmacists independently simplified over half of residents' medication regimens with fair agreement. MRS GRACE is a promising new tool to guide medication regimen simplification in aged care.

Keywords: medication therapy management, long-term care, geriatrics, drug administration, medication regimen complexity

Introduction

Older people are using increasingly complex medication regimens. The number of people aged 65 years and older who use five or more medications in the USA tripled from 13% to 39% between 1988 and 2010.¹ Residents of aged care facilities, also known as "nursing homes," "long-term care facilities," or "residential aged care facilities,"² use an average of four to 17 regular medications.³ Increasing regimen complexity accompanies increasing polypharmacy, which has been attributed to changing resident mix, better adherence to disease-specific clinical practice guidelines and reluctance to discontinue medications initiated by other prescribers.⁴

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2018:13 975–986

975

Commercial use of this work, please see paragraphs 4.2 and 5 of our Terms (https://www.dovperess.com/terms.php)

Medication regimen complexity is a function of the number of medications, number of medication administration times, multiple or complicated dose formulations, and special instructions for medication administration (eg, to crush tablets, take with food or a specific fluid).5 Initiatives to reduce the number of medications through "deprescribing" have attracted widespread attention.6,7 Simplification without altering therapeutic intent of medication regimens is possible through addressing the other factors that contribute to unnecessary complexity, and is of increasing interest.8-10 Medication regimen simplification has been identified as a priority area for geriatric pharmacotherapy by a panel of international experts.11 The Victorian Government Department of Health and Human Services has introduced a new quality indicator for "more than four administration times" for aged care services in Victoria, Australia.12 Recent Australian recommendations for the prevention of injuryrelated deaths in residential aged care services contain two recommendations (27 and 37) that support the need for medication regimen simplification. Recommendation 37 also recommends the development of standardized procedures to achieve medication simplification.13

Although only a small number of residents may selfadminister their medications,² there are multiple reasons to implement structured and comprehensive approaches to reduce medication regimen complexity in aged care facilities. Complexity is an independent risk factor for hospitalization from aged care facilities and discharge to aged care facilities.14,15 High complexity is associated with direct costs through time and workload to administer medications, and indirect costs through poorer resident health outcomes.^{16,17} Furthermore, unnecessarily complex medication regimens are burdensome and may lead to difficulty adhering to prescribed administration times, increased risk of potentially inappropriate medication use, increased risk of medication administration error, and decreased resident satisfaction.18,19 Reducing the number of medication administration times has been found to improve health-related quality of life in people with a variety of medical conditions.²⁰ Despite this, there remains no structured method to guide medication regimen simplification in aged care facilities. The aim of this study was to develop and validate a judgment-based (ie, implicit) tool²¹ to facilitate medication regimen simplification in aged care facilities.

Method

Study design

This study was completed in two phases. Phase 1 focused on development of a regimen simplification tool. The developed

tool was then validated in phase 2. Qualitative elements of this study in the development phase were reported according to the consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative studies where possible.²² This study was approved by the Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee (project number 0731). For the validation in phase 2, individual resident consent to review their medication charts was waived by the Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee due to the non-identifiable nature of the copies of the medication charts used.

Phase 1: development of the medication regimen simplification tool

A modified nominal group technique (NGT) was used to develop the medication regimen simplification tool. NGT is a structured process to explore a research question, clarify ideas, and gain consensus among experts.^{4,23,24} An expert panel was convened in October 2016. The panel was purposefully selected to comprise health professionals with practical experience in aged care and consumer representation. Potential panelists were identified through their clinical leadership roles and with the assistance of an organization that provides aged care services. Potential panelists were approached by email with a short statement of the purpose of the meeting. The panel was held at an aged care facility and moderated by two pharmacist researchers with experience using NGT (JSB and JS).

Following introductions, the facilitators introduced the concept of medication regimen complexity and the aim of the session. The focus was specifically identified as simplifying the existing regimen, rather than discontinuing medications. The panel was divided into two multidisciplinary pairs and one group of three. This approach was chosen to encourage collaboration and sharing of perspectives. Firstly, each pair and group of three generated and presented an exhaustive list of factors to consider when deciding whether a medication regimen could be simplified. Secondly, these factors were grouped into themes through moderated discussion with the full panel. Thirdly, each multidisciplinary pair or group of three was assigned a theme by facilitators, and separately tasked with formulating question or statement prompts that could be incorporated into an implicit tool. The panel discussed all the questions and statements for duplication, feasibility, and priority, and the final key questions for the tool were determined. Discussion points were transcribed during the session.

Each multidisciplinary pair and group of three applied the draft simplification tool to identify opportunities for simplification for a sample medication regimen listed on a

Dovepress

non-identifiable medication chart of a resident of an aged care facility. The panel performed an initial face validity check and discussed the ordering of the prompts and saturation of factors important to consider for regimen simplification. The tool was refined by investigators, taking care to capture all ideas generated at the meeting. The five prioritized factors were formulated as questions and circulated to the full expert panel for endorsement.

Phase 2: validation of the medication regimen simplification tool

The validity of the developed tool was established by comparing the proportion of residents in a sample whose regular medications could be simplified (eg, any change to the administration time, route of administration, or use of combination or extended release preparations) when the tool was applied by two people independently.

Sample selection

A stratified random sample of 50 residents from a census sample of 439 residents from 10 Australian aged care facilities were used to validate the developed tool. Non-identifiable medication administration charts were collected as part of an earlier unrelated study undertaken by the research team. The random sample in the present validation study was selected from medication charts for residents with two or more medication administration times (n=432) because there was no scope to reduce the number of administration times for residents with one administration time.

Clinical and medication data

The medication charts had standard dose administration times of pre-breakfast, breakfast, mid-morning, lunch, mid-afternoon, tea, evening, and settling. The name, strength, dose, dose form, route, administration time, and start date were recorded for each medication. Resident age (in years), allergies, medical diagnoses, and any notes pertaining to medication administration were also recorded.

Application of the medication regimen simplification tool

Two clinical pharmacists (A and B) were introduced to the concept of medication regimen simplification and the developed tool. The two clinical pharmacists independently applied the developed tool to the non-identifiable medication charts. The clinical pharmacists had three and ten years' experience performing medication reviews for residents of aged care facilities, respectively. A working relationship

Development and validation of the MRS GRACE

between the clinical pharmacists did not exist prior to this study. When applying the simplification tool, the pharmacists were instructed to assume each resident's medication regimen had already been reviewed for clinical appropriateness. The pharmacists also assumed that the resident and facility would be willing and able to accommodate any recommendation. The pharmacists manually noted details of any recommended changes (medication name, form, route, dose, administration time, and any required monitoring or follow up), and reasons for not being able to simplify a medication regimen (if applicable).

Statistical analysis

Primary outcome measure

The agreement between two users of the developed tool when applied to a sample of residents whose regular medications could be simplified was established using inter-rater reliability analysis using Cohen's kappa. A dichotomous variable of "able to simplify the medication regimen" and "not able to simplify the medication regimen" was used. The inter-rater reliability was considered slight if between 0.0 and 0.2, fair if between 0.21 and 0.4, moderate if between 0.41 and 0.6, substantial if between 0.61 and 0.8, and almost perfect if between 0.81 and 1.0.25,26 To assist interpretation of kappa, the maximum attainable kappa was also calculated.²⁷ Average proportions of agreement for positive and negative responses, and raw percentage agreement were also reported to support interpretation.²⁵ Microsoft Excel (2013) (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA, USA) and SAS v9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) were used for data analysis.

Secondary outcome measures

A secondary analysis was conducted for simplification that included a decrease in administration times. The inter-rater agreement for ability to decrease the number of regular administration times per day was calculated separately. All recommendations for and barriers to simplification were analyzed descriptively.

Sample size calculation for validation phase

To detect with 80% power a Cohen's kappa value of 0.8 against a null hypothesis value of 0.4,²⁵ the minimum required sample size was estimated to be 42 residents.²⁷ A probability of simplification of 0.5 was assumed, based on a previous proportion of older people with medication regimens that could be simplified.²⁸ A random number generator was used to select the final sample of 50 residents.²⁹ The final sample contained the same proportion of residents with each number of dose administration times as the census sample.

Results

Phase 1: development of the simplification tool

Eleven people were approached to participate in the expert panel meeting. Two people declined an invitation to participate due to travel. Two people who agreed to participate did not attend the meeting. Seven people attended the expert panel meeting (five male and two female members). Panel members had experience in prescribing, reviewing, administering or receiving medications in aged care (a general medical practitioner [GP, or family physician], a clinical pharmacologist, a geriatrician, two medication review pharmacists, a nurse practitioner, and a consumer advocate).

During the five-hour meeting, the expert panel generated 52 ideas in small groups. Investigators grouped these ideas into three broad themes: 1) environment/system (eg, multiple prescribers, continuity of care, a single "gate keeper" for the overall regimen); 2) resident/carer (eg, variation in symptoms with time, patient preference and understanding of medications); and 3) medication/regimen (eg, size and presentation of solid oral dose forms, medication absorption profile). A series of question or statement prompts were generated by further small group work. When applied to a medication chart, the panel were able to use the prompts to simplify the medication regimen. The prompts and the initial tool were assessed to have good content and face validity, respectively, after application to a sample medication chart from an aged care facility. The initial prompts were condensed into five questions for the final tool: the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE) and an accompanying explanatory statement (Box 1; see Figure S1 for full explanatory statement).

Phase 2: validation of the simplification tool

Of the 50 residents included in the validation phase, the mean age $(\pm SD)$ was 82.3 ± 9.8 years and 76% were female (n=38).

Box I Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE)

Consideration can be given to administering all medications at the
same time each day unless the following apply:
I. Is there a resident related factor that precludes simplification?
2. Is there a regulatory or safety imperative that precludes
simplification?
3. Is simplification likely to result in any clinically significant drug-drug,
drug–food, or drug–time interactions?
4. Is there no alternative formulation available that can support less
complex dosing?
5. Is simplification likely to result in any unintended consequences for

5. Is simplification likely to result in any unintended consequences for the resident or facility?

978 submit your manuscript | www.dovepress.com Dovepress Dovepress

Residents took a mean (\pm SD) of 9.9 \pm 4.2 regular medications. In total, residents in the validation sample took 491 regular medications. The most frequent number of regular administration times per day was four (34%, n=17), while 14% (n=7) of residents had two administration times per day, 26% (n=13) had three, 16% (n=8) had five, and 10% (n=5) had six or more (Figure 1).

Each pharmacist identified opportunities and made recommendations for simplification for 30/50 and 29/50 residents' medication regimens (Figure 1A). There were 22 residents who both pharmacists agreed could have simplified medication regimens, and 13 residents' medication regimens that both pharmacists agreed could not be simplified. Simplification recommendations were made for all residents with five or more administration times (Figure 1A). Three quarters of simplification recommendations were to move an administration time without changing the dose administered (Table 1). The raw agreement between pharmacists was 70%. The proportions of positive and negative agreement were 75% and 63%, respectively. The pharmacists had fair agreement regarding simplification of medication regimens (Cohen's kappa=0.38±0.13, 95% CI 0.12-0.64). The maximum obtainable kappa statistic was 0.96.

Each pharmacist decreased the number of regular administration times for 23/50 residents, of which 18 were for the same residents (Figure 1B). Both pharmacists eliminated one administration time for 21 residents, and two administration times for two residents (not the same residents). Neither pharmacist was able to recommend simplification for residents with two administration times. The pharmacists had moderate agreement regarding decreasing administration times only (Cohen's kappa=0.48±0.12, 95% CI 0.24–0.72).

When classified by the anatomical therapeutic chemical (ATC) main group, nervous system medications were the most frequently implicated in recommendations (ATC group N) (Figure 2). Paracetamol was the most frequently implicated drug in this class (n=10/60 and 8/46 recommendations). Twelve percent of nervous system medications could be simplified (n=19/144 and 17/144). Cardiovascular medications (ATC group C, eg, atorvastatin, furosemide) had the highest level of disagreement, with pharmacists A and B recommending simplification for 19% and 9% of cardiovascular medications (n=16/85 and 8/85 medications), respectively.

All barriers to simplification noted during the validation were possible barriers identified during the development phase. Barriers related to medication, resident, and facility factors. Medication factors included frequent dosing of medications for Parkinson's disease, and timespecific administration of medications due to behavior or

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2018:13



Figure 1 Agreement and ability to (A) simplify and (B) decrease regular administration times for residents in the validation sample, stratified by number of administration times per day for regular medications.

symptomatic management. Examples of resident related factors were swallowing difficulty, and existing anxiety about taking multiple tablets. Facility related barriers included special administration procedures surrounding controlled analgesic medications and warfarin.

Discussion

To our knowledge, MRS GRACE is the first tool to assist clinicians to identify opportunities to simplify medication regimens in aged care facilities. Taking medications is a burden for both staff and residents in aged care facilities,

Table I	Frequency of	each type of	recommendation to	simplify med	dication charts
---------	--------------	--------------	-------------------	--------------	-----------------

Type of recommendation to simplify	Pharmacist A n=60 (%)	Pharmacist B n=46 (%)	Example
Change of an administration time with no change in dose at each administration time	47 (78.3)	34 (73.9)	Atorvastatin 20 mg I evening to I tea
Change of an administration time with a change in dose at an administration time (same total daily dose)	13 (21.7)	12 (26.1)	Spironolactone 25 mg I breakfast and I mid-afternoon to 2 breakfast
Change in strength of formulation given (same total daily dose)	0 (0)	3 (6.5)	Sertraline 50 mg I breakfast and I evening to 100 mg I breakfast
Change of formulation	7 (11.7)	4 (8.7)	Paracetamol 500 mg IR 2 breakfast, 2 lunch, 2 tea and 2 evening to paracetamol 665 mg MR 2 breakfast, 2 mid-afternoon and 2 evening
Total unique recommendations	60	46	

Note: Recommendations could have been counted in more than one category if applicable.

Abbreviations: IR, immediate release; MR, modified release.

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2018:13

submit your manuscript | www.dovepress.com 979
Dovepress



Dovepress



Figure 2 Agreement and ability to simplify regular medications in medication regimens of residents in the validation sample, categorized by Anatomic Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) main group classification.

Abbreviations: A, alimentary tract and metabolism; B, blood and blood forming organs; C, cardiovascular system; D, dermatologicals; G, genito-urinary system and sex hormones; H, systemic hormonal preparations, excluding sex hormones and insulins; J, anti-infectives for systemic use; L, antineoplastic and immunomodulating agents; M, musculoskeletal system; N, nervous system; R, respiratory system; S, sensory organs; V, various.

with many residents resisting medications. Reducing the number of times a day that the stress of taking medications occurs has benefits for both staff and residents. Furthermore, the residents can benefit from the opportunity costs that arise from freeing up nursing time from unnecessarily frequent medication administration. This tool provides a standardized approach to regimen simplification which may counteract the variability that may already be present in clinical pharmacist and other medication reviews for consistent results.

The scope for simplification of medication regimens in aged care facilities is substantial, despite pharmacists regularly performing similar clinical work and undergoing accreditation to perform full medication reviews. The medication charts used in the present study were from aged care facilities where clinical pharmacists conduct Australian Government funded residential medication management reviews (RMMRs).² Therefore, it would appear that further simplification is possible even among recipients of medication review. MRS GRACE may serve as a prompt and reminder for pharmacists or physicians when conducting medication management reviews.

A wide range of stakeholders were consulted in the development of MRS GRACE. At the beginning of the development phase, our panel of experts generated a comprehensive list of distinct factors. Although a number of concepts were subsequently considered peripheral to regimen simplification, concepts judged important to optimizing medication regimens were incorporated into the explanatory statement where relevant. Examples included ensuring the accuracy of medication records, recognizing that residents may have multiple prescribers with different treatment priorities and the need to ensure continuity across transitions of care. The expert panel recognized that regimen simplification is distinct from "medication reconciliation" and "deprescribing",30 although successful simplification is dependent on first obtaining an accurate medication list and ensuring all medications are clinically indicated. The incorporation of all relevant aspects identified contributed to face validity of the developed tool.

MRS GRACE was purposefully developed as a judgement-based, or implicit, tool.²¹ Implicit tools, such as the Medication Appropriateness Index (MAI), avoid making

Dovepress

recommendations for specific medications or situations.³¹ Clinicians are thereby able to use it in different aged care settings and across different countries because the tool prompts evaluation of each individual facility's protocols and processes. The implicit format was considered the most appropriate for older people living in aged care facilities, due to its flexibility and the lack of evidence to inform prescribing in this setting.^{32,33} This also means there is no single ideal "solution" as to how a medication regimen may be simplified. MRS GRACE includes in the explanatory statement some further guidance should clinical knowledge be limited (eg, consult a pharmacist for full range of formulations). Therefore, although agreement calculated by Cohen's kappa was fair, the higher raw agreement demonstrates that the tool is effective in aiding pharmacists to simplify medication regimens. The similar proportion of positive and negative agreements also indicates a lack of bias during interpretation and application of the tool.

While highly mobile, implicit tools rely on the user having good pharmacological knowledge and familiarity with different product formulations. For example, to effectively consider question 4 "Is there an alternative formulation that can support less complex dosing?", clinicians must combine knowledge of available formulations with knowledge of each resident's ability to use alternative formulations (eg, due to swallowing difficulties that require medications to be crushed). While MRS GRACE was validated by two pharmacists, it was piloted during the expert panel meeting by a range of different health professionals. The expert panel perceived that application of MRS GRACE could be undertaken by any health professional group with the knowledge required to apply the implicit tool in their context.

The expert panel identified and the validation study subsequently confirmed that medication regimen complexity may be unavoidable for various reasons. This may be due to the medication itself. "Time critical" medications, such as short-acting insulins or medications for Parkinson's disease, may cause harm or reduced efficacy if administration is early or delayed.34 Other reasons relate to the resident. Some residents may prefer to spread their medications over multiple administration times rather than take all medications at the same time each day. The expert panel recognized that, "Is there a resident related factor that precludes simplification?", was considered an important first prompt to elucidate whether residents desire a simplified medication regimen. However, a specific list of medications or reasons that preclude simplification is not included in the tool as there may be cases where barriers can be addressed at the discretion of the clinician.

This also increases the generalizability of MRS GRACE, as medications or reasons that preclude simplification may also be country-specific.

MRS GRACE prompts users to evaluate barriers to simplification through the wording "clinically significant" in question 3. In the validation phase, this was a source of disagreement. For example, one pharmacist considered that the falls risk associated with administering mirtazapine at dinner outweighed the potential benefit of administering mirtazapine with residents' other dinner medications, and therefore did not suggest changing bedtime administration times. The "clinically significant" judgement was also a source of simplification recommendations through correcting common medicine misconceptions. A recurring example in the validation was moving the administration time of atorvastatin. The misconception was that statins should be taken at night to increase drug efficacy. However, while short-acting statins are slightly but significantly more effective if taken at night, long-acting statins (eg, atorvastatin) are effective at any time.35

Limitations

In developing the tool, a limitation was that we were unable to consult with residents directly to ascertain resident related factors prioritized as important to residents taking medication regimens. We instead engaged a resident advocate to contribute to the development of MRS GRACE. However, the resident perspective would also be considered when deciding whether to implement the identified opportunities for simplification, a step that may often be outside the scope of MRS GRACE.

In the validation phase, agreement was measured between two pharmacists despite the tool not being specifically targeted for pharmacist use. Clinical information about the resident that may impact on decision making was not available and pharmacists A and B were unable to speak with residents, caregivers or facility staff. Therefore, it was not possible to fully consider the resident perspective or facility resources section of the simplification tool (questions 1 and 2, respectively), or clarify any unintended consequences that the simplified medication regimen may have (question 5). This may have decreased agreement as disagreement between the pharmacists in the validation phase may be resolved in practice by consulting the prescriber or care manager in the aged care facility.

There was also no scope to assess the clinical appropriateness of the simplified regimen, or if a prescriber would have accepted and implemented the simplification

submit your manuscript | www.dovepress.com 981 Dovepress

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2018:13

recommendations generated as a result of using the tool. While the safety of the regimen is the ideal measure, it is very difficult to quantify. We used inter-rater reliability as an adequate surrogate marker, assuming that the pharmacists applied the tool as intended, to simplify medication regimens without sacrificing safety.

Future directions

Simplification could be undertaken as a stand-alone activity, or as part of comprehensive medication review programs and geriatric assessments undertaken by physicians and pharmacists in aged care facilities. However, further research is needed to explore possible differences and similarities in application of the tool by different health professionals. It may also be appropriate to use MRS GRACE following medication reconciliation on admission to aged care facilities, or after returning from hospital. The panel suggested that a single "simplification champion" could act as a "gate keeper" to take responsibility for coordinating regimen simplification in aged care facilities at these times. Research to understand uptake of simplification recommendations, and impact of medication simplification on outcomes for residents and aged care providers, is currently underway in an ongoing randomized controlled trial (SImplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents [SIMPLER]).36

Conclusion

By applying MRS GRACE, two clinical pharmacists independently simplified two-thirds of residents' medication regimens with fair agreement. MRS GRACE is a validated tool that may be adopted by clinicians and aged care providers as a standardized approach to simplification and may reduce the burden of medication administration for aged care providers.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge funding provided by the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Partnership Centre on Dealing with Cognitive and Related Functional Decline in Older People. The contents of the published materials are solely the responsibility of the individual authors identified, and do not reflect the views of the NHMRC and any other Funding Bodies or the Funding Partners.

The abstract of this paper was presented at the NHMRC's National Institute for Dementia Research Australian Dementia Forum in Melbourne, VIC, Australia in October 2017 as a poster presentation with interim findings. The poster's abstract was published in "Special Supplement: Australian

Dovepress

Dementia Forum Abstracts" in the Australian Journal of Dementia Care.

Disclosure

JI is supported by an NHMRC Early Career Fellowship. MC is employed by Helping Hand Aged Care, an organization providing residential aged care services. CPA was employed by Ward Medication Management, an organization providing medication review services to aged care facilities. The authors report no other conflicts of interest in this work.

References

- Charlesworth CJ, Smit E, Lee DSH, Alramadhan F, Odden MC. Polypharmacy among adults aged 65 years and older in the United States: 1988–2010. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2015;70(8):989–995.
- Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Seaman KL, Corlis M, Bell JS. Medication management policy, practice and research in Australian residential aged care: current and future directions. *Pharmacol Res.* 2017;116: 20–28.
- Jokanovic N, Tan ECK, Dooley MJ, Kirkpatrick CM, Bell JS. Prevalence and factors associated with polypharmacy in long-term care facilities: a systematic review. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2015;16(6): 535.e1–535.e12.
- Jokanovic N, Tan EC, Dooley MJ, Kirkpatrick CM, Elliott RA, Bell JS. Why is polypharmacy increasing in aged care facilities? The views of Australian health care professionals. *J Eval Clin Pract*. 2016;22(5): 677–682.
- George J, Phun Y-T, Bailey MJ, Kong DCM, Stewart K. Development and validation of the medication regimen complexity index. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2004;38(9):1369–1376.
- Scott IA, Hilmer SN, Reeve E, Potter K, Couteur D, Rigby D. Reducing inappropriate polypharmacy: the process of deprescribing. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2015;175:827–834.
- Turner JP, Edwards S, Stanners M, Shakib S, Bell JS. What factors are important for deprescribing in Australian long-term care facilities? Perspectives of residents and health professionals. *BMJ Open.* 2016; 6(3):e009781.
- Witticke D, Seidling HM, Lohmann K, Send AF, Haefeli WE. Opportunities to reduce medication regimen complexity: a retrospective analysis of patients discharged from a university hospital in Germany. *Drug Saf.* 2013;36(1):31–41.
- Elliott RA, O'Callaghan C, Paul E, George J. Impact of an intervention to reduce medication regimen complexity for older hospital inpatients. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2013;35(2):217–224.
- Tam SHY, Hirsch JD, Watanabe JH. Medication regimen complexity in long-term care facilities and adverse drug events-related hospitalizations. *Consult Pharm.* 2017;32(5):281–284.
- Tan ECK, Sluggett JK, Johnell K, et al. Research priorities for optimizing geriatric pharmacotherapy: an international consensus. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2018;19(3):193–199.
- Sluggett JK, Stasinopoulos J, Bell JS. Medication management by informal caregivers – under-recognized and under-supported. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2018;14(3):215–217.
- Ibrahim JE. Recommendations for Prevention of Injury-Related Deaths in Residential Aged Care Services. Southbank: Health Law & Ageing Research Unit, Department of Forensic Medicine, Monash University; 2017.
- Lalic S, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, et al. Polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity as risk factors for hospitalization among residents of long-term care facilities: a prospective cohort study. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2016;17(11):1067.e1–1067.e6.

Dovepress

- Wimmer BC, Dent E, Visvanathan R, et al. Polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity as factors associated with hospital discharge destination among older people: a prospective cohort study. *Drugs Aging*. 2014;31(8):623–630.
- Schoonover H, Corbett CF, Weeks DL, Willson MN, Setter SM. Predicting potential postdischarge adverse drug events and 30-day unplanned hospital readmissions from medication regimen complexity. *J Patient Saf.* 2014;10(4):186–191.
- Hixson-Wallace JA, Dotson JB, Blakey SA. Effect of regimen complexity on patient satisfaction and compliance with warfarin therapy. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost.* 2001;7(1):33–37.
- Stange D, Kriston L, von Wolff A, Baehr M, Dartsch DC. Medication complexity, prescription behaviour and patient adherence at the interface between ambulatory and stationary medical care. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2013;69(3):573–580.
- Nothelle SK, Sharma R, Oakes AH, Jackson M, Segal JB. Determinants of potentially inappropriate medication use in long-term and acute care settings: a systematic review. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2017;18(9): 806.e1–806.e17.
- Richter A, Anton SE, Koch P, Dennett SL. The impact of reducing dose frequency on health outcomes. *Clin Ther*. 2003;25(8):2307–2335.
- Hamilton HJ, Gallagher PF, O'Mahony D. Inappropriate prescribing and adverse drug events in older people. *BMC Geriatr.* 2009;9:5.
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (Coreq): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *Int J Qual Health Care*. 2007;19(6):349–357.
- Van de Ven AH, Delbecq AL. The nominal group as a research instrument for exploratory health studies. *Am J Public Health*. 1972;62(3): 337–342.
- Harvey N, Holmes CA. Nominal group technique: an effective method for obtaining group consensus. *Int J Nurs Pract.* 2012;18(2):188–194.

Development and validation of the MRS GRACE

- Gisev N, Bell JS, Chen TF. Interrater agreement and interrater reliability: key concepts, approaches, and applications. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2013;9(3):330–338.
- Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics*. 1977;33(1):159–174.
- Sim J, Wright CC. The kappa statistic in reliability studies: use, interpretation, and sample size requirements. *Phys Ther*. 2005;85(3):257–268.
- Elliott RA. Reducing medication regimen complexity for older patients prior to discharge from hospital: feasibility and barriers. *J Clin Pharm Ther.* 2012;37(6):637–642.
- Haahr M, Haahr S. True random number generator [homepage on the Internet]. 1998. Available from: https://www.random.org/. Accessed January 24, 2017.
- Page A, Clifford R, Potter K, Etherton-Beer C. A concept analysis of deprescribing medications in older people. *J Pharm Pract Res.* Epub 2018 Mar 7.
- Hanlon JT, Schmader KE, Samsa GP, et al. A method for assessing drug therapy appropriateness. J Clin Epidemiol. 1992;45(10):1045–1051.
- Hilmer SN, McLachlan AJ, Le Couteur DG. Clinical pharmacology in the geriatric patient. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*. 2007;21(3):217–230.
- Reeve E, Trenaman SC, Rockwood K, Hilmer SN. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic alterations in older people with dementia. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol*. 2017;13(6):651–668.
- Institute for Safe Medication Practices (ISMP). Acute Care Guidelines for Timely Administration of Scheduled Medicines. 2011.
- Awad K, Serban M-C, Penson P, et al. Effects of morning vs evening statin administration on lipid profile: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Clin Lipidol. 2017:972–985.
- Sluggett JK, Chen EYH, Ilomäki J, et al. SImplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents (SIMPLER): study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial. *Trials*. 2018;19(1):37.

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2018:13

983

Dovepress

Supplementary material

Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE): Explanatory statement and specific instructions

The purpose of this validated tool is to identify opportunities to reduce unnecessary complexity in medication regimens. Simpler medication regimens may increase residents' satisfaction and are easier for carers to administer.

Consider undertaking a full medication reconciliation and review before applying this simplification tool to ensure all current medications are listed and appropriate. Identification of a "simplification champion" responsible for the medication regimen may assist in implementing the simplest regimen. These processes may also help to inform simplification.

Please note: the term "simpler medication regimens" refers to regimens that have fewer administration times, decreased pill burden and/or fewer routes of administration.

Consideration can be given to administering medications at the same time each day unless the following apply:

Question 1: Is there a resident related factor that precludes simplification?

Definition

Resident related factors include individual needs and preferences, and cannot be generalized. Resident needs refers to factors related to cognitive and functional status.

Resident preferences refers to lifestyle or comfort factors of taking a medication regimen.

Instructions

Clinicians should engage in an open and respectful discussion to elucidate the resident's needs and preferences. Consultation with the resident, the resident's family and other health professionals may also be of assistance in determining whether needs and preferences can be accommodated to allow simplification. Medical conditions, such as dementia, may influence the approach to simplification.

Examples

Simplification may not be appropriate if the resident:

- · prefers to have more frequent administration times if it means less tablets at each administration time
- has difficulty swallowing whole oral formulations or requires medications to be crushed, precluding some modified-release formulations
- had a previous adverse drug event that would limit simplification options (for example, a previous reaction to once daily atenolol may restrict options for simplification of twice daily metoprolol)
- wishes but cannot be supported to self-administer medications in a simplified regimen.

Question 2: Is there a regulatory or safety imperative that precludes simplification?

Definition

A regulatory imperative refers to aspects of medication ordering, storage, and administration that must comply with laws and regulations.

A safety imperative refers to any aspect of medication ordering, storage, and administration that occurs in order to reduce risk of medication misadventure.

These are generally facility level factors.

Instructions

Medication administration is often determined by legislative requirements. Individual facilities may have policies dictating medication administration times, equipment and/or personnel. Refer to relevant local authorities for clarification.

Examples

Simplification may not be feasible if the facility cannot accommodate:

- administering opioid analgesics or other controlled medications in the same medication round as other medications due to legal requirements
- having qualified staff available to administer medications via a variety of routes and to administer medications that may not be able to be packed in a dose administration aid in the same medication round (for example, to apply topical medication).

Figure SI (Continued)

Chapter Five

Dovepress

Development and validation of the MRS GRACE

Question 3: Is simplification likely to result in any clinically significant drug-drug, drug-food, or drug-time interactions?

Definition

Drug-drug interactions occur when co-administration of two or more medications results in changes to the pharmacological effect of any of the medications.

Drug-food interactions occur when administration of a medication with or without food results in changes to the pharmacological effect of the medication or results in clinically significant side effects.

Drug-time interactions occur when there is a clinically significant change in medication efficacy related to changing the time of day the medication is administered. Drug-time interactions may also occur due to certain side effects of a medication that would limit normal daily activities.

Instructions

Not all drug interactions will preclude simplification. Clinical judgement should be exercised to determine if the interaction can be accommodated. Prescribers and facility managers may need to be consulted to determine feasibility.

Examples

There may be ways to accommodate simplification despite "medication myths":

• increased laboratory monitoring in the initial period (for example, when changing administration of thyroxine from before breakfast to with breakfast).

Simplification may not be appropriate where:

- there are two medications that must have separated dose administration times due to pharmacokinetic interaction (for example, bisphosphonates and calcium and/or iron supplements)
- the resident experiences significant nausea if the medication is not given with food
- there are lifestyle limiting diurnal or nocturnal side effects (for example, giving a sedative medication in the morning)
- a condition has effects that must be managed with medication at specific times (for example, Parkinson's disease or behavioral disturbance related to specific daily activities).

Question 4: Is there no alternative formulation available that can support less complex dosing?

Definition

Medications can be available in a variety of dosage formulations and can be administered via different routes.

Instructions

Simpler medication regimens generally have as few different routes of administration as possible. However, administering the same dosage form multiple times a day may be easier than administering different dosage forms at the same time of day. Consult references or pharmacists for a full range of products that are available.

Examples

- Simplification may not be possible if there are no:
- long-acting or controlled-released formulations
- combination products
- alternate dosing regimens (for example, monthly instead of daily vitamin D).

Question 5: Is simplification likely to result in any unintended consequences?

Definition

Changing any part of a medication regimen may have consequences for the resident or facility staff that may not be immediately clear. Medication regimens that appear simpler on the medication chart do not necessarily translate to medication regimens that are simpler to administer in practice.

Instructions

Consider all persons who will be involved in the simplified medication regimen and what will be required to ensure the new regimen is successfully implemented and received. Consult prescriber or facility manager for guidance. Special attention may need to be given to people with dementia as it may be more difficult to assess changes and identify adverse outcomes among people with dementia.

Examples

- Simplification may not be desirable if it would result in a need to:
- · perform additional invasive monitoring (for example, more frequent blood tests)
- increase time spent on administration (for example, changing from a daily oral medication to a weekly patch may require more nursing time to apply and monitor patch adhesion)
- increase the level of qualification needed for staff administering the medication regimen (for example, changing formulation may preclude administration from a dose administration aid)
- increase the overall cost of the medication regimen if alternative medications or formulations are more expensive for the resident or facility.

Figure SI The Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE): explanatory statement and specific instructions.

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2018:13

submit your manuscript | www.dovepress.com 985 Dovepress

Dovepress



Clinical Interventions in Aging

Publish your work in this journal

Clinical Interventions in Aging is an international, peer-reviewed journal focusing on evidence-based reports on the value or lack thereof of treatments intended to prevent or delay the onset of maladaptive correlates of aging in human beings. This journal is indexed on PubMed Central, MedLine,

Dovepress

CAS, Scopus and the Elsevier Bibliographic databases. The manuscript management system is completely online and includes a very quick and fair peer-review system, which is all easy to use. Visit http://www.dovepress.com/testimonials.php to read real quotes from published authors.

 $\textbf{Submit your manuscript here:} \ \texttt{http://www.dovepress.com/clinical-interventions-in-aging-journal} \\$

986 submit your manuscript | www.dovepress.com Dovepress Clinical Interventions in Aging 2018:13

6. Chapter Six: Medication regimen complexity in 8 Australian residential aged care facilities: impact of age, length of stay, comorbidity, frailty, and dependence in activities of daily living

6.1 Synopsis

This chapter characterises the baseline prevalence and factors associated with complex medication regimens among residents who participated in the SIMPLER study conducted in eight RACFs in South Australia. This information helps to demonstrate and quantify how complex medication regimens interact with other factors to contribute to and multiply medication burden. Findings may also assist in the identification of residents who would benefit most from a simplification intervention, providing an opportunity for prioritisation of these residents for review and simplification.

6.2 Chapter objective

To investigate the prevalence and correlates of medication regimen complexity in residents of RACFs.

6.3 Publication

This chapter is a reproduction of the following publication:

<u>Chen EYH</u>, Bell JS, Ilomäki J, et al. Medication Regimen Complexity In 8 Australian Residential Aged Care Facilities: Impact Of Age, Length Of Stay, Comorbidity, Frailty, And Dependence In Activities Of Daily Living. *Clinical Interventions in Ageing* 2019; 14: 1783-1795.

Clinical Interventions in Aging

Open Access Full Text Article

Dovepress

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Medication Regimen Complexity In 8 Australian Residential Aged Care Facilities: Impact Of Age, Length Of Stay, Comorbidity, Frailty, And Dependence In Activities Of Daily Living

> This article was published in the following Dove Press journal: Clinical Interventions in Aging

Esa YH Chen (1)^{1,2} J Simon Bell¹⁻³ Jenni Ilomaki (2)^{2,3} Claire Keen (1)¹ Megan Corlis^{2,4} Michelle Hogan⁴ Jan Van Emden^{2,4} Sarah N Hilmer^{2,5} Janet K Sluggett (1)^{1,2}

¹Centre for Medicine Use and Safety, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Parkville, VIC, Australia; ²NHMRC Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre, Hornsby Kuring-gai Hospital, Hornsby, NSW, Australia; ³Department of Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine, School of Public Health and Preventative Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; ⁴Helping Hand Aged Care, North Adelaide, SA, Australia; ⁵Kolling Institute, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney and Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, NSW, Australia

Objective: To explore variation in medication regimen complexity in residential aged care facilities (RACFs) according to resident age, length of stay, comorbidity, dementia severity, frailty, and dependence in activities of daily living (ADLs), and compare number of daily administration times and Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI) as measures of regimen complexity.

Methods: This study was a cross-sectional analysis of baseline data from the SImplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents (SIMPLER) cluster-randomized controlled trial. The SIMPLER study recruited 242 residents with at least one medication charted for regular administration from 8 RACFs in South Australia. Comorbidity was assessed using the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI). Dementia severity was assessed using the Dementia Severity Rating Scale. Frailty was assessed using the FRAIL-NH scale. Dependence in ADLs was assessed using the Katz ADL scale.

Results: The median age of participants was 87 years (interquartile range 81–92). Over onethird of participants (n=86, 36%) had 5 or more daily medication administration times. The number of daily administration times and MRCI scores were positively correlated with resident length of stay (r_s =0.19; 0.27), FRAIL-NH score (r_s =0.23; 0.34) and dependence in ADLs (r_s =-0.21; -0.33) (all p<0.01). MRCI was weakly negatively correlated with CCI score (r_s =-0.16; p=0.013). Neither number of daily administration times nor MRCI score were correlated with age or dementia severity. In multivariate analysis, frailty was associated with number of daily administration times (OR: 1.13, 95% CI: 1.03–1.24) and MRCI score (OR: 1.26, 95% CI: 1.13–1.41). Dementia severity was inversely associated with both multiple medication administration times (OR: 0.97, 95% CI: 0.94–0.99) and high MRCI score (OR: 0.95, 95% CI: 0.92–0.98).

Conclusion: Residents with longer lengths of stay, more dependent in ADLs and most frail had the most complex medication regimens and, therefore, may benefit from targeted strategies to reduce medication regimen complexity.

Keywords: Aged, nursing homes, medication regimen complexity, frailty index, activities of daily living, multimorbidity, long-term care facilities

Correspondence: Esa YH Chen Centre for Medicine Use and Safety, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, 381 Royal Parade, Parkville, VIC 3052, Australia Tel +61 3 9903 9533



Email Esa.Chen@monash.edu

Plain Language Summary

This study analyzed data collected from 242 residents from 8 residential aged care facilities (RACFs) in South Australia. We were interested in the characteristics of residents with differing levels of medication regimen complexity. The complexity of a medication regimen

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2019:14 1783–1795 1783 © 019 Chen et al. This work is published and licensed by Dove Medical Press Limited. The full terms of this license are available at https://www.dovepress.com/terms.php work of the form the Commercial use of the work are permitted without any further permission for Dove Medical Press Limited, provided the work is properly attributed. For permission for commercial use of this work, please see paragraphs 4.2 and 5 of our Terms (http://www.dovepress.com/terms.php).

depends on the number of medications, the form of medications, how often the medications need to be taken, and additional directions for how to take the medications. We measured medication regimen complexity in two different ways: counting the overall number of times medications were given each day and using a previously published scale (the Medication Regimen Complexity Index). The measures gave similar results when the complexity of medication use was examined among residents of varying age, length of stay in the RACF, health conditions, cognitive impairment, frailty and need for help in day-to-day activities. By both measures, residents with longer lengths of stay, were dependent in activities of daily living and had advanced frailty were more likely to have the most complex medication regimens and may benefit the most from targeted strategies to reduce medication regimen complexity.

Introduction

With more older people now receiving community-based aged care, residents admitted to RACFs are increasingly older, frailer and have more complex care needs.¹ A review of international literature reported that up to 74% of residents of long-term care facilities use 9 or more regular medications.² However, there are other factors apart from the number of medications that contribute to a resident's medication burden. Medication regimen complexity is also a contributing factor. Medication regimen complexity includes the number of doses of medications, the medication schedule (i.e. what times the medications are administered), medication formulation (e.g. tablet, patch, inhaler), preparation requirements (e.g. need to crush, mix with thickened fluids or inhaler priming), and special instructions for administration (e.g. take on an empty stomach).³

Complex medication regimens are challenging for residents and RACF staff to administer and, therefore, may increase risk of medication administration errors such as administration of the wrong medication, to the wrong resident, or at the wrong time.⁴⁻⁶ Medication administration errors in RACFs have been reported to occur during 7.1% to 24.6% of observed administration events.⁷⁻⁹ Higher medication regimen complexity has been associated with a higher likelihood of medication discrepancies in ambulatory care patients.¹⁰ Emerging evidence also suggests that complex medication regimens may be associated with medication non-adherence, adverse drug events, hospitalization, hospital readmission, and mortality among RACF residents and in community settings.¹¹⁻¹³ Simplifying complex medication regimens may help to improve these outcomes for residents. In RACFs, simplification is important from an organizational level to minimize risk of harm from medication errors for residents who often cannot manage their own medications. Complex medication regimens have been associated with an increased risk of hospitalization from RACFs.¹¹ Simplification may also benefit staff who administer medication, who may experience frustration over frequent medication administration.⁴

Complexity of medication regimens has been measured using a variety of methods in older people.¹⁴ The Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI) is the most common method and has been used internationally to characterize complex medication regimens in RACFs.14-17 In practice, the MRCI has some limitations. The first is that the MRCI score can be time-consuming to calculate. Automatic methods of calculation have been developed but are not widely accessible.18,19 The second is that the MRCI does not specifically account for the overall number of daily administration times. The number of daily administration times reflects the frequency of medication administration organized over 24 hrs.²⁰ A United States' (US) study showed communitydwelling older people demonstrate large variability in the number of times they would administer medications each day when presented with the same seven medications.²⁰ Fewer studies have investigated number of daily administration times as a measure of complexity.²¹ Reducing the number of daily administration times may improve resident quality of life, satisfaction and convenience, and free up nursing time to focus on other aspects of clinical care.^{13,22-24} Number of daily administration times is an easier measure of complexity to calculate in clinical practice than MRCI.

Increasing awareness of the potential for medicationrelated harm in RACFs has highlighted the need to identify residents with high medication burden who will benefit most from medication management interventions. It is important to understand the prevalence and correlates of complex medication regimens to better target potential interventions, including to those who are frail, dependent in activities of daily living (ADLs) or are living with dementia. Previous studies in community and hospital settings have found scope to simplify medication regimens measured using number of daily administration times.^{21,25,26} However, medication regimen complexity in RACFs has not been explored using number of daily administration times. The objective of this study was to explore variation in medication regimen complexity in RACFs according to resident age, length of stay, comorbidity, dementia severity, frailty, and dependence in ADLs, and compare number of daily administration times and MRCI as measures of regimen complexity.

1784 submit your manuscript | www.dovepress.co DovePress Clinical Interventions in Aging 2019:14

Dovepress

Methods

Study Design And Setting

This study was a cross-sectional analysis of baseline data collected from the SImplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents (SIMPLER) study (Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry Trial ID ACTRN12617001060336).²⁷ The SIMPLER study is an ongoing cluster-randomized controlled trial conducted in eight metropolitan and rural RACFs in South Australia. In Australia, RACFs are synonymous with "nursing homes" or "long-term care facilities" and provide 24-hour supported accommodation for predominantly older people whose care needs can no longer be supported at home.¹ The SIMPLER study was approved by the Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee and conducted in accordance with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki. The full SIMPLER study design and methodology have been described previously.27

Participants

Study participants were recruited between April and October 2017. All eligible residents were invited to participate by trained research nurses who were employed as part of the study. Residents were eligible if they took at least one regular medication and were able to complete structured assessments in English. Residents who were estimated to have less than 3 months to live or deemed medically unstable (e.g. experiencing delirium) based on the judgement of senior RACF nursing staff were excluded. Residents could also be excluded at the discretion of the nursing staff or primary physician. Residents provided written informed consent to participate. Where the resident was unable to provide informed written consent, consent to participate was sought from the resident's guardian, next-of-kin, or significant other.²⁷

Data Source/Measurements

Four trained research nurses collected baseline demographic and clinical data using a web-based standard data collection form. Cognitive impairment was assessed using the Dementia Severity Rating Scale (DSRS). This scale consists of 12 cognitive and functional domains and was completed with input from a staff informant.^{28,29} The DSRS is suitable to assess impairments in residents with and without a documented dementia diagnosis.²⁹ The DSRS is not a diagnosis tool for dementia and was used to capture the many residents who may have some level of cognitive impairment without a documented dementia Chen et al

diagnosis. ADLs were assessed using the 6-item Katz ADL scale.³⁰ The DSRS and Katz ADL scales were completed with input from a staff-informant who had known the resident for at least 2 weeks. Frailty was assessed using the 7-item Fatigue, Resistance, Ambulation, Incontinence or illness, Loss of weight, Nutritional status, and Help with dressing in nursing homes (FRAIL-NH) scale.31,32 The FRAIL-NH was constructed from four items from the Katz ADL scale, two items from the Mini Nutritional Assessment Short Form, and one item from the Quality of Life in Alzheimer's Disease Scale.³³ A score between 6 and 14 was considered indicative of advanced frailty.33 Clinical diagnoses were extracted from each participant's medical record of "active" conditions. A Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) score was calculated for each participant using the version updated and validated by Quan et al (2011).³⁴ We did not weight for age because correlations with age were investigated separately. Where severity of certain diagnoses was not recorded (e.g. the severity of "liver disease" was not recorded), the diagnoses were assumed to be mild. The DSRS, Katz-ADL, FRAIL-NH, and CCI are all validated scales that have been previously used in studies in the RACF setting, allowing comparison with existing literature.²⁸⁻³⁴ Length of stay was calculated from the time of first admission to an RACF within the aged care provider organization to the date of baseline data collection.

Medication Assessment

Prescription and non-prescription medication data were extracted by hand directly from hard copies of each resident's medication administration chart and recorded in a Microsoft Access (2017) database.¹⁸ Data extracted included medication name, strength, dose, formulation, frequency of administration, time of administration, and special instructions for administration. Medications were classified using the World Health Organization (WHO) Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification system.³⁵ If a participant was taking two different formulations of the same medication it was counted as two medications. Regular medications were defined as those that were charted for administration on a regular basis with a frequency of administration of at least once weekly.

Outcome

Medication regimen complexity was assessed using two methods: number of daily administration times and the MRCI.

cript | www.dovepress.com 1785

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2019:14

Number Of Daily Administration Times

The overall number of daily administration times was operationally defined as the total number of charted medication administration times over a 24 hrs period for regular mediations.²⁷ This was calculated by counting the number of unique times of administration over a 24 hrs period extracted from the medication chart (e.g. 08:00, 17:00). All prescription and non-prescription medications (e.g. multivitamins, complementary and alternative medication) present on their medication administration chart ("charted") for administration daily or more frequently were included, regardless of the dose formulation. The application of once-daily patches (e.g. glyceryl trinitrate patches) was considered to be an administration time while the removal was not. The following were excluded when calculating the number of daily administration times: pro re nata (PRN, or as required) and short-term medications, nutritional drinks, and regular medications administered less than daily (e.g. 6 monthly injections, once weekly tablets, patches applied every third day).

Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI)

The MRCI is a 65-item validated tool and the most widely used measure of medication regimen complexity.^{3,14} There are three sections that comprise the MRCI score: section A refers to formulation of the medication, section B refers to frequency of administration, and section C refers to additional or special instructions for administration. MRCI scores are cumulative for each medication in the regimen, including PRN medication. As such, there is no maximum MRCI score. Higher scores indicate more complex medication regimens. MRCI scores were calculated using SAS statistical software using the data extracted from the resident's medication administration chart. The algorithm used was based on the original MRCI³ with the following updates for new formulations: wafers and oral-disintegrating tablets were given the same value as sublingual sprays/tablets. Soft-mist inhalers, a new formulation introduced since the development of the MRCI, were given the same value as metereddose inhalers, the closest equivalent dose form. There was no information available to assess "take/use as directed" and "tapering/increasing dose" in section C.

It is possible to have medication regimens with the same MRCI score, but a different number of daily administration times. The prescribed frequency of a medication (section B) does not necessarily reflect the overall number of daily administration times. For example, a resident taking two once-daily medications (e.g. candesartan 16mg once daily and atorvastatin 40mg once daily) may take both together in a single daily administration time. Alternatively, the resident may separate the doses to two daily administration times by taking candesartan in the morning and atorvastatin in the evening. In this example, the single and separated administration times of two once-daily medications are considered equally complex by the MRCI's Section B. However, two daily administration times are more complex

Statistical Analysis

than one daily administration time.

Demographic data were summarized using medians and interquartile ranges (IQRs). Age, length of stay in the RACF, DSRS score, FRAIL-NH, Katz-ADL score, MRCI score, and number of daily administration times were analyzed as continuous variables. Associations were presented as scatter plots. We reversed the Katz-ADL scale score for presentation in scatterplots by giving points for dependence (rather than independence) in order to assist with interpretation alongside the other scales. Correlations were evaluated using the Spearman correlation coefficient. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression models were performed to calculate odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) to examine associations between the above continuous variables and multiple administration times (model 1) and high MRCI score (model 2). The outcome of multiple administration times was defined as five or more daily administration times. High MRCI scores were classified as scores in the upper quartile (>55.5). In our multivariate model, we included only FRAIL-NH and not Katz-ADL as the two scales assess frailty and disability, respectively, but have a number of items in common. Analyses were conducted in SAS v 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC) and R v 3.5.0 (Comprehensive R Archive Network) with RStudio v 1.1.453. Results were considered significant if p<0.05.

Results

There were 242 permanent residents recruited from 8 RACFs in South Australia (Figure 1). The median age of participants was 87 years and the age distribution was left-skewed. The sample was representative of the resident population within the wider organization (n=703), in which the median age was 87 years (IQR 81–92), there were 523 females (74%) and 356 residents were living with dementia (50.6%). The recruited sample of residents was also similar to the wider aged care population in Australia with respect to age (62% vs 59% aged 85 years

submit your manuscript | www.dovepress.co DovePress Clinical Interventions in Aging 2019:14



Figure I Study recruitment flow diagram. Abbreviation: RACFs, residential aged care facilities

or older), sex (74% vs 67% female), and length of stay (2.54 years vs 2.92 years).³⁶ The sample was also comparable to previous studies in RACFs in Australia with respect to age and length of stay.^{11,37–39}

Participants took a median of nine regular medications (IQR 6-12). Over half (n=128, 53%) were taking nine or more regular medications. Number of regular medications was significantly correlated with length of stay (r_s=0.13, p=0.04) and DSRS score (r_s=-0.23, p<0.001). Correlations between scores of all correlates tested are reported in the supplementary material. In total, residents were charted 3287 medications, which included 2235 regular medications and 1094 PRN medications. The most prevalent therapeutic subgroups were for analgesics (n=231 residents) and drugs for constipation (n=201 residents). Tablets or capsules were the most common dosage form (n=1699, 75% of regular medications) charted. Formulations with the highest proportion of residents in the "high" complexity group were nebulizers (n=19/28, 68%), aerolizers (n=8/12, 67%), and pre-filled injections (n=11/17, 65%). Two-thirds (n=1440, 63%) of regular medications were charted for once-daily administration.

Over one-third of participants (n=86, 36%) had five or more administration times per day. The median MRCI score was 42. The frequency of medication administration contributed most to the overall MRCI score (Table 1 and Figure 2). Total MRCI score was positively correlated with number of daily administration times (r_s =0.47, p<0.001) (Figure 2). Section B of the MRCI had a stronger correlation with number of daily administration times (r_s =0.56) than section A (r_s =0.33) and section C (r_s =0.27) (all p<0.001).

Both number of daily administration times and MRCI score were positively correlated with length of stay in RACF (r_s =0.185, p=0.004 and r_s =0.265, p<0.001, respectively), FRAIL-NH score (r_s =0.231 and r_s =0.335, respectively, both p<0.001) and dependence in ADLs (r_s =0.211 and r_s =0.327, respectively, both p<0.001). The MRCI score was weakly negatively correlated with CCI score (r_s =-0.160, p=0.013) (Figures 3 and 4). There were no significant correlations between number of daily administration times and age (r_s =0.01, p=0.91) or DSRS score (r_s =-0.02, p=0.79).

manuscript | www.dovepress.com 1787 DovePress

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2019:14

Chen	et al
------	-------

Table I Baseline Characteristics	Of SIMPLER	Participants
----------------------------------	------------	--------------

Characteristic Median (Interquartile Range) Unless Specified	Total n=242
Age in years	87 (81–92)
Female; n (%)	179 (74%)
Rural; n (%)	48 (20%)
Length of stay in the residential aged care facility (RACF) in years	2.5 (1.0-4.7)
Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) score ^a	2 (2–3)
Documented dementia diagnosis; n (%)	131 (54%)
Dementia Severity Rating Scale (DSRS) score ^{b,c}	21 (11.8–38.3)
Frailty in Nursing Homes (FRAIL-NH) score ^{b,d}	7 (3–10)
Katz Index of Independence in Activities of Daily Living (Katz-ADL) ^{b,e,f}	I (I-3)
Number of charted medications	13 (9–17)
Regular Pro re nata (PRN)	9 (6–12) 4 (2–7)
Most prevalent medications charted (ATC code); n (% of residents)	
Paracetamol (N02BE01) Docusate with sennosides (A06AB56) Macrogol (A06AD15) Colecalciferol (A11CC05) Furosemide (C03CA01)	224 (93%) 145 (60%) 103 (43%) 85 (35%) 76 (31%)
Number of medication administration times per day	4 (3–5)
Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI) score	42 (28.5–55.5)
Section A score (formulation) Section B score (frequency) Section C score (special instructions for administration)	9 (5–13) 19.8 (14–26) 11 (7–17)

Notes: ^aPossible range: 0–24, 0=none of the Charlson comorbidities. ^bMissing for n=2. ^cPossible range: 0–54 (mild impairment, 0–18; moderate impairment, 19–36; severe impairment, 37–54). ^aPossible range: 0–14 (non-frail, 0–1; frail, 2–5; most frail, 6–14). ^cPossible range: 0–6 (dependence in all domains, 0; independence in all domains, 6). ^fWhen reversed to score for dependence: 5 (3–5). **Abbreviation:** ATC. Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical.

In univariate logistic regression, length of stay was associated with both multiple medication administration times (OR: 1.10; 95% CI: 1.01–1.20) and high MRCI score (OR: 1.13; 95% CI: 1.03–1.24) (Table 2). In the multivariate logistic regression model, FRAIL-NH score was associated with multiple medication administration times (OR: 1.13; 95% CI: 1.03–1.24) and high MRCI score (OR: 1.26; 95% CI: 1.13–1.41). The DSRS score was inversely associated with both multiple medication administration times (OR: 0.97; 95% CI: 0.94–0.99) and high MRCI score (OR: 0.95; 95% CI: 0.92–0.98).

Discussion

The main findings were that residents who were frailer and dependent in ADLs were more likely to have complex medication regimens when measured using number of daily administration times and MRCI score. To our knowledge, this was also the first study to establish the strong correlation between number of administration times and MRCI in RACFs. Effectively identifying residents with complex medication regimens is important to better target medication management interventions, such as medication regimen simplification, to particularly vulnerable residents. MRCI is likely to be time-consuming for clinicians to calculate in routine clinical practice unless incorporated into an electronic medication management system. In contrast, a count of daily administration times is easier for RACF nurses and other health professionals to measure and screen for medication regimen complexity.

Medication regimen complexity was positively correlated with frailty and dependence in ADLs. This was consistent with a previous study in Australian RACFs in which MRCI was associated with dependence in ADLs.⁴⁰ Increasing frailty and dependence in ADLs may coincide with underlying changes in medical conditions which prompt prescribing of additional medications. Increasing frailty and dependence in ADLs may also necessitate changes to routes of administration (for example, crushed medications and mixing with thickened fluid to aid swallowing). Physicians and pharmacists may not proactively simplify medication regimens for frail residents and residents requiring assistance with ADLs for a number of reasons. Physicians and pharmacists may overestimate the capability and availability of RACF clinical staff to assess and simplify medication regimens. Similarly, there may be a perception that because residents are supported to take medications there is less need for simplification than in other settings.⁴¹ It is also possible that physicians and pharmacists do not fully recognize the complexity of a resident's medication regimen because they are not typically involved in medication administration. In a previous study, provision of a visualization of a patient's medication regimen for 1 week to the patient's treating physician was able to reduce medication regimen complexity by a mean of 2.47 (standard deviation, SD 1.55) doses per day in a hospital setting.²⁶

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2019:14



Figure 2 Scatter plot of Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI) score versus daily administration times with linear regression lines.

Medication regimen complexity was positively correlated with length of stay. Over time, medications may be added and not ceased from the medication chart. Residents of RACFs may have multiple prescribers who are reluctant to discontinue medications prescribed by others.⁴² A previous German study reported that the number of PRN medications increased with length of stay.⁴³ The Ageing@NH study of newly admitted residents to Belgian RACFs found an increase in the proportion of residents with extreme polypharmacy (the concomitant use of >10 medications) and residents using PRN medications over 2 years.⁴⁴ Additionally, residents of Australian RACFs can be referred for government-funded collaborative medication reviews every 2 years unless more frequent reviews can be justified on the basis of clinical need.⁴⁵ In these collaborative medication reviews, clinical pharmacists undertake a systematic, comprehensive medication review and evaluate medication management and make recommendations, such as ceasing medication or changing formulations, to the resident's primary physician for implementation.⁴⁶ It has been estimated that 38% of all RACFs residents will receive a collaborative medication review annually.¹ This means that residents with longer RACF stays may have up to 2 years between comprehensive medication reviews and may not have had a recent comprehensive medication review in which medication regimen complexity could have been addressed.

our manuscript | www.dovepress.com 1789 DovePress

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2019:14



Figure 3 Plots of correlation of daily administration times with (A) age, (B) length of stay, (C) Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) score, (D) Dementia Severity Rating Scale (DSRS) score, (E) Frailty in Nursing Homes (FRAIL-NH) score, and (F) Katz Index of Independence in Activities of Daily Living (Katz-ADL) score, reversed to score for dependence. Solid lines: linear regression line; shaded areas: 95% confidence intervals. *Missing for n=2.

Our study found an inverse association between medication regimen complexity and dementia severity in multivariate analysis. Previous studies have reported residents with cognitive impairment are less likely to have complex medication regimens,^{40,47,48} and are less likely to experience polypharmacy, or the concomitant use of multiple medications (commonly >8).^{2,49} Recently, there has been focus in Australia on implementing a palliative approach to medication prescribing for residents with advanced dementia, and deprescribing for all older adults experiencing inappropriate polypharmacy.^{50,51} Deprescribing refers to reducing medications after consideration of therapeutic goals, benefits and risks, and medical ethics.⁵² Physicians may increasingly recognize the value of deprescribing medications for which the benefits no longer outweigh risks, especially in people with dementia and those who may have a shorter life expectancy.^{40,44,53} This finding may also be a reflection of documented undertreatment in people living with dementia, particularly in pain management.44,54

Medication regimen complexity was correlated with comorbidity when complexity was measured using MRCI but not daily administration times. This was unexpected because prescribing according to disease-based clinical practice guidelines has been described as a key contributor to polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity for people with multimorbidity.42 Our study found a median CCI score of 2, which was consistent with a previously published study in Australian RACFs.¹⁷ Residents with multimorbidity may have been more likely to have been referred for medication reviews, and may have a clinical need to receive medication reviews at more frequent intervals. This closer monitoring may help to decrease medication regimen complexity, although a retrospective study of comprehensive medication reviews for residents of RACFs did not find any significant impact on MRCI.37 Where pharmacists were given education and encouraged to simplify medication regimen, clinical medication reviews were found to reduce medication regimen complexity for older people in hospitals.55 We measured comorbidity using CCI, which does not measure total comorbidity. Previous studies have suggested that chronic pulmonary disease, diabetes, and congestive heart failure are particularly associated with higher MRCI score,



Figure 4 Plots of correlation of Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI) score with (A) age, (B) length of stay, (C) Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) score, (D) Dementia Severity Rating Scale (DSRS) score, (E) Frailty in Nursing Homes (FRAIL-NH) score, and (F) Katz Index of Independence in Activities of Daily Living (Katz-ADL) score, reversed to score for dependence. Solid lines: linear regression line; shaded areas: 95% confidence intervals. *Missing for n=2.

while cognitive impairment is associated with lower MRCI scores.40,56 The CCI also does not include some medical conditions associated with medications that have frequent administration that may increase medication regimen complexity, such as Parkinson's Disease and chronic pain syndromes.²² However, it should be noted that complexity of medications for single conditions has not been found to be representative of overall complexity of the whole medication regimen, which often has medications to treat multiple conditions.⁵⁷ Additionally, PRN medications are included when calculating MRCI score, whereas they were not included in a count of daily administration times. It is possible that PRN medications for symptom management may be more prevalent in residents with more medication conditions. Interventions to reduce complexity should be targeted to residents with conditions associated with higher MRCI but involve a full regimen review.

A previous validation study in Australian RACFs found that all residents with five or more administration times could have their medication regimens simplified.⁵⁸ Medication simplification refers to:

The process of consolidating reducing medication complexity through strategies such as administering medications at the same time, standardizing routes of administration, using long-acting formulations in preference to shorter-acting agents, and switching from multiple single-ingredient preparations to a combination formulation where possible.²⁷

A study of discharge prescriptions in Germany found that 18% of multidose medications could be simplified to oncedaily dosing.²⁵ Regimen simplification may be valuable to complement other medication management interventions including medication reconciliation, review, and deprescribing. Our finding that over one-third of residents had five or more administration times suggests there is significant opportunity to reduce the number of administration times. Medication regimen simplification using structured tools⁵⁸ on or soon after admission to RACFs may be a useful strategy to reduce the number of administration times. Observation of 23 medication rounds across two Australian RACFs found that between 3.5 and 4.8 mins (SD 0.6–1.1) were spent on medication administration per

it your manuscript | www.dovepress.com 1791 DovePress

Table 2 Univariate And Multivariate Logistic Regression Analysis

	Multiple Medication Administration Times		High MRCI Score	
	Unadjusted OR (95% CI)	Adjusted ^a OR (95% CI)	Unadjusted OR (95% CI)	Adjusted ^a OR (95% CI)
Gender male	0.65 (0.34–1.20)	0.71 (0.36–1.36)	0.50 (0.22-1.03)	0.59 (0.25-1.28)
Age (years)	1.01 (0.98–1.05)	1.00 (0.97-1.04)	1.02 (0.98-1.06)	1.01 (0.97–1.06)
Length of RACF stay (years)	1.10 (1.01–1.20)	1.09 (0.99-1.20)	1.13 (1.03–1.24)	1.10 (1.00–1.22)
ссі	0.98 (0.82–1.16)	1.03 (0.86-1.23)	0.91 (0.75–1.11)	0.97 (0.78–1.18)
DSRS	0.99 (0.98–1.01)	0.97 (0.94–0.99)	0.99 (0.98–1.01)	0.95 (0.92-0.98)
FRAIL-NH	1.06 (0.99–1.14)	1.13 (1.03–1.24)	1.13 (1.04–1.22)	1.26 (1.13–1.41)
Katz-ADL	0.90 (0.77–1.03)	-	0.81 (0.67–0.96)	-

Note: ^aMultivariate model did not include Katz-ADL due to collinearity with FRAIL-NH score.

Abbreviations: ADL, activities of daily living; CCI, Charlson Comorbidity Index; CI, confidence interval; DSRS, Dementia Severity Rating Scale; MRCI, Medication Regimen Complexity Index; OR, odds ratio; RACF, residential aged care facility.

resident per round.⁵⁹ Reducing administration times would enable RACF staff to shift time spent administering medications to provision of other care activities, although further studies are required to determine how much time could be redirected towards other care activities as a result of simplifying medication regimens.

Strengths And Limitations

A strength of our study was that we extracted medication information directly from medication administration charts and so were able to accurately assess MRCI and administration times with high internal consistency, including all charted prescription and non-prescription medications. Although clinical diagnoses were extracted directly from medical records, we may have underestimated overall comorbidity using the CCI score because we only collected information about current diagnoses and because the CCI was developed to predict mortality and does not account for all diagnoses and their severity. However, the CCI has become widely used as a general measure of multimorbidity in the RACF setting.

An important strength of our study was the inclusion of a sample of residents that was representative of the wider resident population of the aged care provider organization in terms of age, sex and dementia diagnosis.⁶⁰ However, we were not able to determine whether the sample was representative in terms of health status and medication use. The complexity of medication regimens in this study was higher than among residents who received medication reviews in Australia in 2011–12 (median MRCI score of 25.5); however, this may also be partly explained by an increase in polypharmacy over time.³⁷ This study's median MRCI was also high when compared to studies in RACFs in Brazil and Portugal, although the participants were also younger and had lower rates of polypharmacy.^{15,16} These international studies did not include non-prescription medications. This may reflect the trend for Australian RACFs to cater to residents who have complex care needs or are most frail.⁴² Finally, only associations were investigated in this study; conclusions about causation cannot be made.

Conclusion

Residents of RACFs who were dependent in ADLs, had advanced frailty, and with longer lengths of stay were more likely to have the most complex medication regimens and, therefore, may benefit from targeted strategies to reduce medication regimen complexity. A count of daily administration times could be used to identify residents with these characteristics who may benefit from interventions to reduce medication regimen complexity.

Data Sharing Statement

Final data set access will be limited to study investigators. Other study-related documents, study protocol and model consent form have been previously published and can be accessed at <u>https://www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/</u>TrialReview.aspx?id=372482.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the staff and residents of Helping Hand Aged Care for their participation in this study. Thanks also extend to Jessica Bailey, Grace Wan, and Lina Ly for their assistance with data management.

Disclosure

This work was supported by the NHMRC Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre (grant number GNT9100000). The

Dovepress

Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre receives support from the NHMRC and funding partners including Helping Hand Aged Care, HammondCare, Brightwater and Dementia Australia. The contents of the published materials are solely the responsibility of the individual authors identified, and do not reflect the views of the NHMRC and any other funding bodies or the funding partners. EYHC was supported by a postgraduate research scholarship funded by the Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre and the Monash University Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences. JSB was supported by an NHMRC Dementia Research Leadership Fellowship. MC, MH and JvE are employed by Helping Hand Aged Care. JKS and JI were supported by NHMRC Early Career Fellowships. The authors report no other conflicts of interest in this work.

References

- Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Seaman KL, Corlis M, Bell JS. Medication management policy, practice and research in Australian residential aged care: current and future directions. *Pharmacol Res.* 2017;116:20–28. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2016.12.011
- Jokanovic N, Tan ECK, Dooley MJ, Kirkpatrick CM, Bell JS. Prevalence and factors associated with polypharmacy in long-term care facilities: a systematic review. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2015;16 (6):535.e531–535.e512. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2015.03.003
- George J, Phun Y-T, Bailey MJ, Kong DCM, Stewart K. Development and validation of the medication regimen complexity index. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2004;38(9):1369–1376. doi:10.1345/aph.1D479
- Vogelsmeier A, Scott-Cawiezell J, Zellmer D. Barriers to safe medication administration in the nursing home – exploring staff perceptions and concerns about the medication use process. *J Gerontol Nurs.* 2007;33(4):5–12.
- Teunissen R, Bos J, Pot H, Pluim M, Kramers C. Clinical relevance of and risk factors associated with medication administration time errors. *Am J Health Syst Pharm.* 2013;70(12):1052–1056. doi:10.2146/ajhp120247
- Szczepura A, Wild D, Nelson S. Medication administration errors for older people in long-term residential care. *BMC Geriatr.* 2011;11:82. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-11-82
- Barber ND, Alldred DP, Raynor DK, et al. Care homes' use of medicines study: prevalence, causes and potential harm of medication errors in care homes for older people. *Qual Saf Health Care*. 2009;18 (5):341–346. doi:10.1136/qshc.2009.034231
- Gilmartin-Thomas JF, Smith F, Wolfe R, Jani Y. A comparison of medication administration errors from original medication packaging and multi-compartment compliance aids in care homes: a prospective observational study. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2017;72:15–23. doi:10.1016/j. ijnurstu.2017.03.008
- Keers RN, Williams SD, Cooke J, Ashcroft DM. Prevalence and nature of medication administration errors in health care settings: a systematic review of direct observational evidence. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2013;47(2):237–256. doi:10.1345/aph.1R147
- Patel CH, Zimmerman KM, Fonda JR, Linsky A. Medication complexity, medication number, and their relationships to medication discrepancies. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2016. doi:10.1177/1060028016647067
- 11. Lalic S, Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, et al. Polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity as risk factors for hospitalization among residents of long-term care facilities: a prospective cohort study. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2016;17(11):1067.e1061–1067.e1066. doi:10.1016/j. jamda.2016.08.019

- Wimmer BC, Bell JS, Fastbom J, Wiese MD, Johnell K. Medication regimen complexity and polypharmacy as factors associated with all-cause mortality in older people: a population-based cohort study. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2016;50(2):89–95. doi:10.1177/ 1060028015621071
- Alves-Conceição V, Rocha KSS, Silva FVN, Silva ROS, DTd S, Lyra-Jr D. Medication regimen complexity measured by MRCI: a systematic review to identify health outcomes. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2018;52(11):1117–1134. doi:10.1177/106002801 8773691
- Paquin AM, Zimmerman KM, Kostas TR, et al. Complexity perplexity: a systematic review to describe the measurement of medication regimen complexity. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* 2013;12(6):829–840. doi:10.1517/14740338.2013.823944
- Alves-Conceição V, Silva D, Santana V, Santos E, Santos LMC, Lyra D. Evaluation of pharmacotherapy complexity in residents of long-term care facilities: a cross-sectional descriptive study. *BMC Pharmacol Toxicol.* 2017;18(1):59. doi:10.1186/s40360-017-0164-3
- Advinha AM, de Oliveira-Martins S, Mateus V, Pajote SG, Lopes MJ. Medication regimen complexity in institutionalized elderly people in an aging society. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2014;36(4):750–756. doi:10.1007/s11096-014-9963-4
- Lalic S, Jamsen KM, Wimmer BC, et al. Polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity as factors associated with staff informant rated quality of life in residents of aged care facilities: a crosssectional study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2016;72(9):1117–1124. doi:10.1007/s00228-016-2075-4
- McDonald MV, Peng TR, Sridharan S, et al. Automating the medication regimen complexity index. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2013;20 (3):499–505. doi:10.1136/amiajnl-2012-001272
- Olson CH, Dierich M, Adam T, Westra BL. Optimization of decision support tool using medication regimens to assess rehospitalization risks. *Appl Clin Inform.* 2014;5(3):773–788. doi:10.4338/ACI-2014-04-RA-0040
- Wolf MS, Curtis LM, Waite K, et al. Helping patients simplify and safely use complex prescription regimens. *Arch Intern Med.* 2011;171 (4):300–305. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2011.39
- Lindquist LA, Lindquist LM, Zickuhr L, Friesema E, Wolf MS. Unnecessary complexity of home medication regimens among seniors. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2014;96(1):93–97. doi:10.1016/j. pec.2014.03.022
- Richter A, Anton SE, Koch P, Dennett SL. The impact of reducing dose frequency on health outcomes. *Clin Ther.* 2003;25(8):2307– 2335. doi:10.1016/s0149-2918(03)80222-9
- Williams B, Shaw A, Durrant R, Crinson I, Pagliari C, de Lusignan S. Patient perspectives on multiple medications versus combined pills: a qualitative study. *QJM*. 2005;98(12):885–893. doi:10.1093/ qjmed/hci139
- Witticke D, Seidling HM, Klimm HD, Haefeli WE. Do we prescribe what patients prefer? Pilot study to assess patient preferences for medication regimen characteristics. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. 2012;6:679–684. doi:10.2147/PPA.S35950
- Witticke D, Seidling HM, Lohmann K, Send AF, Haefeli WE. Opportunities to reduce medication regimen complexity: a retrospective analysis of patients discharged from a university hospital in Germany. *Drug Saf.* 2013;36(1):31–41. doi:10.1007/s40264-012-0007-5
- Muir AJ, Sanders LL, Wilkinson WE, Schmader K. Reducing medication regimen complexity: a controlled trial. J Gen Intern Med. 2001;16(2):77–82. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016002077.x
- Sluggett JK, Chen EYH, Ilomäki J, et al. SImplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents (SIMPLER): study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial. *Trials*. 2018;19(1):37. doi:10.1186/s13063-017-2417-2

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2019:14

our manuscript | www.dovepress.com [793 DovePress

- Clark CM, Ewbank DC. Performance of the Dementia severity rating scale: a caregiver questionnaire for rating severity in alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*. 1996;10(1):31–39.
- Xie SX, Ewbank DC, Chittams J, Karlawish JHT, Arnold SE, Clark CM. Rate of decline in Alzheimer's disease measured by a dementia severity rating scale. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*. 2009;23(3):268– 274. doi:10.1097/WAD.0b013e318194a324
- 30. Katz S, Ford AB, Moskowitz RW, Jackson BA, Jaffe MW. Studies of illness in the aged: the index of ADL: a standardized measure of biological and psychosocial function. *JAMA*. 1963;185(12):914–919. doi:10.1001/jama.1963.03060120024016
- 31. Kaehr E, Visvanathan R, Malmstrom TK, Morley JE. Frailty in nursing homes: the FRAIL-NH scale. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2015;16(2):87–89. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2014.12.002
- Theou O, Sluggett JK, Bell JS, et al. Frailty, hospitalization, and mortality in residential aged care. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2018;73(8):1090–1096. doi:10.1093/gerona/glx185
- Theou O, Tan ECK, Bell JS, et al. Frailty levels in residential aged care facilities measured using the frailty index and FRAIL-NH scale. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2016;64(11):e207–e212. doi:10.1111/jgs.14490
- 34. Quan H, Li B, Couris CM, et al. Updating and validating the charlson comorbidity index and score for risk adjustment in hospital discharge abstracts using data from 6 countries. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2011;173(6):676– 682. doi:10.1093/aje/kwq433
- ATC/DDD Index [Internet]. Oslo: World Health Organisation Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology; 2018. Available from: <u>https://www.whocc.no/atc_ddd_index/</u>. Accessed October 15, 2018.
- 36. GEN Aged Care Data [Homepage on the Internet]. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2017. Available from: <u>https://www.gen-agedcaredata.gov.au</u>. Accessed November 15, 2018.
- Pouranayatihosseinabad M, Zaidi TS, Peterson G, Nishtala PS, Hannan P, Castelino R. The impact of Residential Medication Management Reviews (RMMRs) on medication regimen complexity. *Postgrad Med.* 2018. doi:10.1080/00325481.2018.1502016
- 38. Borotkanics R, Rowe C, Georgiou A, Douglas H, Makeham M, Westbrook J. Changes in the profile of Australians in 77 residential aged care facilities across New South Wales and the Australian capital territory. *Aust Health Rev.* 2017;41(6):613–620. doi:10.1071/ AH16125
- 39. Residential Aged Care and Home Care 2013–14 [Internet]. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2015. Available from: <u>http://www.aihw.gov.au/aged-care/residential-and-home-care-2013-14/</u>. Accessed May, 2017. Accessed May 15, 2017.
- Herson M, Bell JS, Tan ECK, Emery T, Robson L, Wimmer BC. Factors associated with medication regimen complexity in residents of long-term care facilities. *Eur Geriatr Med.* 2015;6(6):561–564. doi:10.1016/j.eurger.2015.10.003
- Elliott RA. Reducing medication regimen complexity for older patients prior to discharge from hospital: feasibility and barriers. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2012;37(6):637–642. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2710. 2012.01356.x
- 42. Jokanovic N, Tan EC, Dooley MJ, Kirkpatrick CM, Elliott RA, Bell JS. Why is polypharmacy increasing in aged care facilities? The views of Australian health care professionals. *J Eval Clin Pract*. 2016;22(5):677–682. doi:10.1111/jep.12514
- 43. Dorks M, Schmiemann G, Hoffmann F. Pro re nata (as needed) medication in nursing homes: the longer you stay, the more you get? *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2016;72(8):995–1001. doi:10.1007/ s00228-016-2059-4
- 44. Ivanova I, Wauters M, Stichele RV, et al. Medication use in a cohort of newly admitted nursing home residents (Ageing@NH) in relation to evolving physical and mental health. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* 2018;75:202–208. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2018.01.005

- 45. The Sixth Community Pharmacy Agreement. Residential Medication Management Review Programs (RMMR) and Quality Use of Medicines Program (QUM) Program Rules. Canberra; 2017.
- 46. Pharmaceutical Society of Australia. Guidelines for Pharmacists Providing Residential Medication Management Review (RMMR) and Quality Use of Medicines (QUM) Services. 2011.
- 47. Wimmer BC, Johnell K, Fastbom J, Wiese MD, Bell JS. Factors associated with medication regimen complexity in older people: a cross-sectional population-based study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2015;71(9):1099–1108. doi:10.1007/s00228-015-1883-2
- Lee DS, De Rekeneire N, Hanlon JT, et al. Cognitive impairment and medication complexity in community-living older adults: the health, aging and body composition study. *J Pharm Technol.* 2012;28 (4):156–162.
- Morin L, Vetrano DL, Rizzuto D, Calderón-Larrañaga A, Fastbom J, Johnell K. Choosing wisely? Measuring the burden of medications in older adults near the end of life: nationwide, longitudinal cohort study. *Am J Med.* 2017;130(8):927–936.e929. doi:10.1016/j. amjmed.2017.02.028
- 50. Guideline Adaptation Committee. Clinical Practice Guidelines and Principles of Care for People with Dementia. Sydney: NHMRC Partnership Centre for Dealing with Cognitive and Related Functional Decline in Older People; 2016. Retrieved from: <u>http:// sydney.edu.au/medicine/cdpc/documents/resources/dementia-guide</u> <u>lines_final_for%20website.pdf</u>. Accessed September 23, 2019.
- Scott IA, Anderson K, Freeman CR, Stowasser DA. First do no harm: a real need to deprescribe in older patients. *Med J Aust.* 2014;201:390–392. doi:10.5694/mja14.00146
- 52. Turner JP, Edwards S, Stanners M, Shakib S, Bell JS. What factors are important for deprescribing in Australian long-term care facilities? Perspectives of residents and health professionals. *BMJ Open*. 2016;6(3):e009781. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-009781
- 53. Schuling J, Gebben H, Veehof LJG, Haaijer-Ruskamp FM. Deprescribing medication in very elderly patients with multimorbidity: the view of Dutch GPs. A qualitative study. *BMC Fam Pract*. 2012;13:56. doi:10.1186/1471-2296-13-52
- Reeve E, Bell J, Hilmer S. Barriers to optimising prescribing and deprescribing in older adults with dementia: a narrative review. *Curr Clin Pharmacol.* 2015;10(3):168–177.
- Elliott RA, O'Callaghan C, Paul E, George J. Impact of an intervention to reduce medication regimen complexity for older hospital inpatients. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2013;35(2):217–224. doi:10.1007/ s11096-012-9730-3
- Bellostas-Muñoz L, Díez-Manglano J. Complexity of the medication regimen for polypathological patients. *Rev Clin Esp.* 2018;218 (7):342–350. doi:10.1016/j.rce.2018.04.009
- Libby AM, Fish DN, Hosokawa PW, et al. Patient-level medication regimen complexity across populations with chronic disease. *Clin Ther.* 2013;35(4):385–398.e381. doi:10.1016/j.clinthera.2013.02.019
- Chen EY, Sluggett JK, Ilomaki J, et al. Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE). *Clin Interv Aging*. 2018;13(1178–1998 (Electronic)):975–986. doi:10.2147/CIA.S158417
- McDerby N, Kosari S, Bail K, Shield A, Peterson G, Naunton M. The effect of a residential care pharmacist on medication administration practices in aged care: a controlled trial. *J Clin Pharm Ther.* 2019. doi:10.1111/jcpt.12822
- 60. Hughes GA, Bell JS, Chen EY, et al. Would you like to participate? Factors impacting on participant recruitment for quality use of medicines interventions in residential aged care. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2019;15(5):e12. doi:10.1016/j.sapharm.2019.03.100

Dovepress

Chen et al

Clinical Interventions in Aging

Dovepress

Publish your work in this journal

Clinical Interventions in Aging is an international, peer-reviewed journal focusing on evidence-based reports on the value or lack thereof of treatments intended to prevent or delay the onset of maladaptive correlates of aging in human beings. This journal is indexed on PubMed Central, MedLine, CAS, Scopus and the Elsevier Bibliographic databases. The manuscript management system is completely online and includes a very quick and fair peer-review system, which is all easy to use. Visit http://www.dovepress.com/ testimonials.php to read real quotes from published authors.

Submit your manuscript here: https://www.dovepress.com/clinical-interventions-in-aging-journal

Clinical Interventions in Aging 2019:14

submit your manuscript | www.dovepress.com 1795 DovePress

PART D: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

7. Chapter Seven: Discussion

7.1 Main findings

The overall aim of this thesis was to evaluate and address the burden of medication regimen complexity on older people and the health systems that serve them.

In Chapter Two, a systematic review of medication reconciliation and review in Australian RACFs found that although existing medication reviews were successful in identifying and resolving medication-related problems among recipients, there was no evidence to suggest medication reviews reduce medication regimen complexity. There was also no evidence of any tools or algorithms having been developed or evaluated in Australia that could be used collaboratively by clinicians to simplify medication regimens.

The potential clinical outcomes and burdens of complex medication regimens were investigated in Chapters Three and Four. In Chapter Three, a population-based cohort study in Hong Kong showed that older people with AF who received an OAC commonly had complex medication regimens. Higher medication regimen complexity was not associated with a higher risk of intracranial, gastrointestinal, or other bleeding for people with AF in community settings in the first 90 days of initiating oral anticoagulants. Over the longer full follow up period (median of 501 days), there was a small but significant increased risk of bleeding. This adds to the body of literature on independent risk factors for bleeding in people who receive OACs. This knowledge is important for assessing treatment benefits and risks. Chapter Four guantified the burden of complex medication regimens in terms of the time taken for nurses to administer medications in Australian RACFs. A total of 57 medication rounds were observed across different times of day, unit types, and staff responsible for medication administration. In an average unit of 22 residents, the overall time spent on medication administration rounds was 5.2 hours. Crushing or cutting tablets, which adds to complexity, occurred in 22% of tablet and capsule administrations observed, and this increased the time needed for medication preparation and administration.

Chapter Seven

To address the gap in medication regimen simplification identified in Chapter Two, Chapter Five described the development and validation of a novel tool to help clinicians simplify medication regimens. A seven-member expert panel reached consensus on five implicit criteria to comprise the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE). These criteria were successfully applied to a sample of 50 medication regimens by two independent clinical pharmacists to validate the tool. There was moderate agreement between the pharmacists, who found that 29/50 and 30/50 of the regimens could be simplified. MRS GRACE was subsequently evaluated in the SIMPLER cluster RCT.¹¹⁴ Chapter Six uses the baseline data collected from the SIMPLER study participants to investigate the factors associated with medication regimen complexity in residents of aged care facilities. Simplification is a service that may be delivered within or in a similar way to existing medication review programs in RACFs, although Chapter Two and subsequent research from Tasmania suggests that this is not currently occurring.¹¹⁷ Findings from the SIMPLER study suggest that medication regimen simplification may relieve the burden of complex medication regimens by reducing the number of daily medication administration times. The tool was recently adapted and piloted among recipients of community home care services.¹⁶⁰ Simplification was possible for 56% (n=14) of participants. Half of the participants had simplification recommendations implemented at follow up.¹⁶⁰ Further translation and implementation of the tool is expected with clinical articles describing the tool recently published in Australian Journal of Pharmacy and accepted for publication in Australian Journal of General Practice.^{161,162}

7.1.1 Measuring medication regimen complexity

The research in this thesis used various measures of medication regimen complexity appropriate to the aims and methods of the individual studies. Chapter Three, a population-based study using electronic medical records for 19,292 older people, used the MRCI algorithm. Chapter Four, an observational study interested in time taken for medication administration rounds, considered dose alterations and other methods of administration.¹⁶³ Chapters Five and Six were set in RACFs where staff are responsible for most medication administration. Chapter Five used number of
daily administration times, while Chapter Six used both number of daily administration times and the MRCI.^{164,165}

Although MRCI has become a gold-standard measure of medication regimen complexity, it does have limitations in the RACF setting.³⁸ The MRCI was validated in a cohort of community-based people with COPD who managed their own medications.⁴⁸ When determining the MRCI score, PRN medications are given half the weight of the corresponding frequency when given regularly on the basis that symptoms would prompt administration. The process of PRN medication administration in RACFs is not so straightforward, as nurses and care workers are usually responsible for deciding and administering PRNs.³ Additionally, many residents with cognitive decline may not communicate symptoms verbally, potentially making it easier for nurses and care staff to miss cues that PRN medications are needed.¹⁶⁶ In RACFs, a majority of residents (94%) have one or more PRN medications charted.¹⁶⁷

The MRCI assigns more weight to administration frequencies less than daily. For example, once daily has a score of 1, while once weekly is considered to be more complex and has a score of 2.⁴⁸ This may be because people managing their own medications may lose track of medications administered less than daily; that is, it is less complex to remember to take something every day than it is to remember to take something once a week. However, in an RACF setting where medications are prescribed on a medication chart and trained staff are responsible for administration, once weekly may be viewed as a simpler option. Conversely, medications with irregular and less frequent dosing intervals such as transdermal opioids are frequently implicated in medication incidents, which are a leading source of complaint (33%) to the Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission in Australia.^{85,168}

In an RACF setting, the overall number of daily administration times determines medication administration rounds for aged care staff, rather than the frequency of individual medications. Chapter Four demonstrated that each medication round involves a proportion of 'fixed time' irrespective of the number of medications administered during that round (e.g. preparation of the medication trolley). However, individual medications are the basis of frequency of administration scoring in the MRCI. Therefore, overall number of administration times was addressed in the

Chapter Seven

simplification tool developed for use in RACFs in Chapter Five. Overall number of daily administration times was used as the primary endpoint in the SIMPLER study in recognition that addressing this aspect of complexity had the most opportunity to benefit for both residents and staff.¹⁵⁹ For residents, consolidating administration times may decrease disruption to leisure or social activities and allow redirected time from medication administration to be spent on other resident-centred care activities, such as non-pharmacological interventions that support residents' independence and dignity.¹⁶⁹ For staff, time saved from streamlined medication administration rounds may mean less time pressure for safe medication administration practices. Number of daily administration times is also a more convenient measure to calculate in everyday practice. Chapter Six investigated the correlation between MRCI score and overall number of daily administration times to validate the use of daily administration times as a measure of overall medication regimen complexity in RACFs.¹⁶⁵ The results showed that MRCI and number of administration times were moderately correlated, despite dose frequency of individual medications within the regimen (section B of the MRCI) being responsible for the highest proportion of the total MRCI scores.¹⁶⁵ This finding suggests that a count of overall daily administration times is a simple and meaningful indicator of medication regimen complexity in the residential aged care setting.

Medication regimen complexity was not included in the international core outcome set for clinical trials of medication review in multi-morbid older patients with polypharmacy.¹¹⁶ This may be because medication regimen complexity defined using the MRCI is difficult to benchmark. The thesis established that range of MRCI scores was varied across countries and settings. There are no established levels of 'low' or 'high' complexity, or widely used thresholds that are associated with clinical outcomes. Additionally, since resident preference is important, some people may prefer not to have their medication regimens simplified. Medication regimen complexity is benchmarked across all 180 public-sector residential aged care facilities in Victoria, Australia using the indicator 'more than 4 medication administration times'. Addressing medication regimen complexity has also been identified as a priority in recent international consensus principles for medication management in frail older people.¹⁷⁰ Lack of knowledge of medication regimen simplification as a stand-alone concept could also have influenced the participants

who were interviewed about what they would expect from a medication review and who participated in the Delphi questionnaire survey. When considering important factors about medication regimens that you do not have to use personally, complexity may not be prioritised.

Although the development of the core outcome set specified that feasibility issues were not considered in selecting the set, it is worth noting that calculating the MRCI score requires relatively more data and can be time-consuming to calculate. While software exists to automate the calculation of MRCI, their use is not widespread.¹⁷¹ This is one reason why number of daily medication administration times may be a more practical indicator of complexity for inclusion in a core outcome set than MRCI.

7.1.2 Current burden of medication regimen complexity

This thesis further characterised the prevalence of complex medication regimens in older people and found it impacts various groups differently. Results presented in Chapters Five and Six from two different Australian RACF populations consistently reported that approximately one third of residents in Australian RACFs had five or more administration times.^{164,165} Residents who were more dependent in ADLs and more frail were more likely to have complex medication regimens in the study presented in Chapter Six.¹⁶⁵ Additionally, the prevalence of medication regimen complexity in older people with AF in an international setting was established in Chapter Three.

There was no association between dementia severity and medication regimen complexity in Chapter Six.¹⁶⁵ This is consistent with existing literature on the inverse relationship between dementia and medication regimen complexity.⁶³ People living with dementia who reside in RACFs have also been found to be less likely to experience polypharmacy.⁸⁷ The lack of association between regimen complexity and dementia severity may be because physicians proactively deprescribe medications for people living with dementia.¹⁷² Physicians may also be less likely to initiate new medications for people with dementia, particularly those with advanced dementia or swallowing difficulties.¹⁷³ However, the time-motion study conducted in Chapter Four found that medication administration for residents living in memory support units took an average of one extra minute per resident per round.¹⁶³ If

Chapter Seven

people living with dementia do not have more complex medication regimens, this increased time may be attributable to increased needs in other care domains such as needing to crush medication and staff-resident communication. 'Miscellaneous care' had a higher average time for residents in memory support units (109.7 seconds compared to 62.1 seconds, p=0.351). Increased care needs may also indirectly increase the time needed for all activities, which is difficult to measure and account for separately. The longer length of time needed to administer medications to residents with dementia has aged care policy and resourcing implications. This is because people are now admitted to residential aged care later and with more complex multimorbidity including dementia than when the current funding models for residential aged were developed.^{8,85}

Chapter Six also identified that residents who were more dependent in ADLs and more frail had more complex medication regimens.¹⁶⁵ These residents may need more care time aside from medication administration. This may be due to people who are frail having high rates of comorbid cardiovascular, endocrine, and respiratory conditions.¹⁷⁴⁻¹⁷⁷ These conditions have been associated with more complex medication regimens among residents of aged care facilities.⁶³ Care time outside of medication administration rounds was not investigated in Chapter Four. Resident information such as Katz-ADL score or frailty score was also not collected, as the study focused on medication administration only. However, it is likely that if increased care time is needed for residents more dependent in ADLs and more frail, it could be partly attributed to them having complex medication regimens with more daily administration times, formulations and/or extra administration needs such as having to give tablets one at a time or crushing them.

Decreased pill burden and decreased frequency of administration are generally preferred by consumers.^{132,136,137} A cross-sectional study of RACF residents living with dementia identified that polypharmacy (defined as five or more medications) was associated with lower self-reported health-related QOL.¹⁷⁸ However, a similar study in Australian RACFs did not find a link between staff-informant QOL and overall medication regimen complexity when measured using the MRCI.¹⁷⁹ This may be because the weighting of items in the MRCI do not reflect the impact they have on medication-taking experience for consumers. Since the MRCI originated for a

Chapter Seven

community-dwelling COPD cohort, it reflects the consumer experience better than the experience of someone administering medication to another person. However, the MRCI was developed by researchers and validated by an expert panel comprised of an adherence expert, pharmacy practice academic, research nurse, clinical pharmacist, and a home medication review consultant.⁴⁸ Patients, patient advocates, or nurses responsible for administering medications were not included. There may, as a result, be some gap in the weighting for what consumers find burdensome in every day use. For example, when investigating perceived medication burden among community-dwelling patients across six community pharmacies in England, while overall MRCI score showed a probable but nonsignificant association, dosing frequency was the only variable that significantly increased burden.³⁹ This may suggest that Part B (frequency) is underweighted.

In the SIMPLER study, medication regimen complexity was measured primarily through number of daily administration times.¹¹⁴ There were no significant differences in staff-informant QOL between the residents who did and did not receive the simplification intervention, or before and after receiving the intervention.¹¹⁴ This suggests that while simplification did not improve QOL by that measure, there was also no negative impact. It may also be that existing and validated QOL measures do not focus on medication-taking experience. The improvement in experience that simplification offers may not be large enough to be measured by the QOL scales. The use of a humanistic scale that specifically considers medication-related burden may be a more effective impact measure.¹⁸⁰ Additionally, it has been previously suggested that it takes a 10-point increase in the MRCI score to be clinically relevant.¹⁸¹ It was not clear whether this clinical significance refers to QOL or other outcomes.

Simplification through decreasing the number of daily administration times may help to increase the efficiency of nursing time spent on medication administration rounds. However, Chapter Four did not investigate the minimum time required to safely administer medications. Dosing frequency often contributes the most to overall complexity. Chapter Four demonstrated that the medication administration round includes time spent per resident as well as time spent on the administration round itself (e.g. preparation of the medication trolley and travel). Consolidating daily

administration times may release time from the medication round that could be redirected to improving medication administration safety or resident-centred care. Medication regimen simplification was a concept that was identified as an important area for study by both aged care providers and researchers to improve staff and resident experience.¹⁸²

7.1.3 Medication reviews to address medication regimen complexity

In a recent pilot study in Canberra, Australia, comprehensive medication review was identified as one of the most frequently performed activities of an embedded aged care pharmacist.¹⁰⁸ The systematic review conducted in Chapter Two identified one paper that included medication regimen complexity as an outcome of medication reviews.¹¹⁷ It found that although 30% of pharmacists' recommendations reduced MRCI, RMMRs did not significantly reduce average MRCI scores, either after recommendations or after GP uptake of recommendations.¹¹⁷ Simplification may be a lower priority in medication reviews, which have typically focused on medication-related problems such as drug interactions, dose optimisation, and monitoring, despite having practical benefits for residents and staff.¹⁸³

There may be value in incorporating a measure of regimen complexity into the medication review process. However, the MRCI can be time-consuming to calculate. It contains 65-items across three sections that are summed to obtain the total score.⁴⁸ While the MRCI can and has been automated,¹⁷¹ many clinicians and aged care nursing staff do not have easy access to these programs. Similar barriers have been encountered when Drug Burden Index has been proposed as a tool to guide medication review.^{184,185} Where it has been automated and integrated into existing systems, MRCI at hospital admission has been suggested to predict complexity of care needed and so could be a tool used to assist resource allocation.¹⁸⁶ It is also possible that a lack of tools available to support simplification was a barrier.

In the SIMPLER RCT, MRS GRACE was applied as a stand-alone intervention delivered by a pharmacist in the SIMPLER cluster-RCT. The intervention reduced the mean number of daily administration times without any significant changes in harms.¹¹⁴ The reduction in administration times was sustained over 12 months of follow-up.¹⁸⁷ This could be replicated in practice by having simplification as a stand-

alone intervention, conducted as one of a number of activities of an on-site residential aged care pharmacist, or potentially through telehealth. MRS GRACE could also be applied in as part of a multidisciplinary service conducted by pharmacists in collaboration with other health professionals such as nurses or nurse practitioners. This would complement existing medication review services (Figure 3). The accompanying explanatory statement for MRS GRACE prompts medication reconciliation and review before applying the tool to situate the simplification process into the established suite of activities.¹⁶⁴ Integration of automated MRCI calculation and the MRS GRACE into medication review software may help to prompt simplification. A similar electronic clinical decision support tool with automated alerts and care management information has been successful in home care patients.⁶² Alternately, a count of overall number of administration times may also be used as a quick indicator of medication regimen complexity. This has the benefit of also being the domain of medication regimen complexity that consumers report as most burdensome.



Figure 3: Flow of medication review services incorporating simplification

In Chapter Two, undertreatment was the most common MRP identified during RMMRs.¹⁸³ The systematic review also identified a study that investigated the impact of RMMRs on anticoagulant use in residents with atrial fibrillation.¹⁵⁶ The retrospective review of 146 residents used validated risk assessment scores and identified risk factors such as dementia, previous fall, renal failure and concomitant bleeding risk medication, to determine the appropriateness of anticoagulants were underutilised in residents of Australian RACFs.¹⁵⁶ This was consistent with literature on underuse of anticoagulants, although the studies either did not consider, or did not report consideration of residents' goals of care or whether the GP had discussed the benefits and risks with residents.^{31,156,188} Overall, RMMRs did not result in

Chapter Seven

recommendations to start antithrombotic medication for any of the residents in whom it appeared to be indicated and did not have any contraindications for therapy.¹⁵⁶ The authors cited a lack of good quality clinical trial evidence for the use of antithrombotic medication in older people, medication regimen complexity, multimorbidity, and limited life expectancy as possible reasons for underutilisation and the lack of recommendations to initiate guideline-recommended therapy.¹⁵⁶ While this study investigated RMMR reports completed before the subsidisation and widespread use of DOACs in Australia,¹⁵⁶ a more recent study using RMMR data has also found underuse of anticoagulants.³¹ That study suggested that physicians considered bleeding risk as the most important factor when prescribing anticoagulants, rather than stroke risk.³¹ These safety concerns in older people, compounded by caution regarding medication regimen complexity and multimorbidity, may be unnecessarily leading to undertreatment. Results from Chapter Three suggest there is no association between bleeding risk and medication regimen complexity in people initiating oral anticoagulants, including in people aged 80 years or older. These results should be interpreted with caution in the RACF setting as this was a population-based study that may not be representative of a residential aged care population with increased frailty. However, the results may help prescribers and pharmacists performing comprehensive medication reviews avoid undertreatment by providing more evidence to consider when weighing the risks and benefits of anticoagulants for individual residents with complex medication regimens.

7.1.4 Medication regimen complexity is a multidisciplinary problem that needs an interdisciplinary intervention

The systematic review in Chapter Two found that increased collaboration between health professionals involved in resident care resulted in increased uptake of recommendations.¹⁸³ The RMMR program funded by the Australian Government is a collaborative, multidisciplinary process.¹⁰⁹ A pilot study identified that communication was an important role and benefit of an "aged care pharmacist" employed permanently and co-located in RACFs.¹⁰⁸ Almost 80% of the pharmacist's activities were initiated at the request of the residents or their care team. Pharmaceutical opinion was the most frequently requested activity, in part due to the convenience of having the pharmacist on-site.¹⁰⁸ While communication occurs as part of most

activities, stand-alone communication accounted for 6.8% of total activity time.¹⁰⁸ Importantly, multidisciplinary stakeholder consultation was a key element of the development of MRS GRACE and its subsequent evaluation in the SIMPLER study.^{159,164} This was particularly important because application of MRS GRACE was trialled as a part of a one-off intervention by a clinical pharmacist who was external to the aged care provider organisation and not necessarily known to the residents' usual nurses and GPs.¹¹⁴

Interdisciplinary care for older people is especially important because multiple chronic conditions may mean they receive care from multiple specialist physicians.⁸ One-third of residents living in RACFs received specialist attendance; however, this represents reduced access compared to people using home support (74%), home care (65%), and those who did not use aged care services (58%).¹⁸⁹ Medications are commonly prescribed according to clinical practice guidelines, which are designed for individual medical conditions and rarely consider the impact of multimorbidity on treatment options and outcomes.^{8,190} Adherence to multiple individual guidelines may lead to polypharmacy and more complex medication regimens.⁸ Interdisciplinary care, where different disciplines work together rather than separately to consider the whole of the resident's needs, may help to improve medication management.¹⁹¹

Chapter Six found that Charlson's Comorbidity Index (CCI) did not correlate with number of daily administration times, and was significantly and negatively correlated with MRCI. Medication regimen complexity has been shown to be associated with certain medication conditions such as COPD, congestive heart failure, and diabetes, which may not reflect the same weighting as they receive in the CCI.⁶³ Some medical conditions may require treatment with medications that require frequent dosing due to pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic limitations (for example, Parkinson's disease, pain medication, or lubricant eye drops), or more complex routes of administration (for example, insulin for people with diabetes or inhalers for people with COPD).^{48,138} There is also evidence that the efficacy of some drugs may be affected by the time of administration, however, more investigation is needed into the clinical value of time-specific administration in people with multimorbidity and complex medication regimens.¹⁹²

Chapter Seven

A lack of interdisciplinary collaboration with nurses who administer medications to residents may also lead to increased medication regimen complexity if medications are not added to existing medication administration rounds. Additional medications may be added to existing medication administration rounds, which would not increase the number of daily administration times, but would increase the MRCI score. The results from Chapter Five suggest that there are many cases where number of daily administration times could be simplified and while the length of stay of the medication charts used was not collected, it is unlikely they all did not have regimen changes since admission. A lack of discussion with nursing staff who administration aids not being co-located on site. It may also be that some additional medications present unavoidable complexity, such as sedatives.

Recognising the importance of involving the entire care team, MRS GRACE was developed using a process that included collaboration with stakeholders from a range of backgrounds including those who would be involved in the RMMR process, to ensure the tool was multidisciplinary in nature.¹⁶⁴ While the tool was validated by clinical pharmacists, MRS GRACE was designed as an implicit tool to help clinicians simplify medication regimens that can be used by any health professional with knowledge of residents' preferences, pharmacological properties of medications, and the availability of different medication products and formulations. MRS GRACE does not discriminate medications or medical conditions.¹⁶⁴ Additionally, to encourage collaboration between members of the health care team, referral points are included in the accompanying explanatory document.¹⁶⁴

7.1.5 The challenge of getting comprehensive data to inform care and enhance clinical outcomes

In a field where data are increasingly available, the use of pharmacoepidemiological approaches to investigate medication safety and health outcomes in real world scenarios has been invaluable for older people who are typically underrepresented in clinical trials. However, in Australia, the aged care setting remains "data rich but information poor".¹⁹³ Many aged care providers will collect information such as medication use and quality indicators, but these data from residents of RACFs in Australia are not currently routinely linked in population-based databases. This limits

the ability to investigate clinical outcomes of RMMRs and other interventions in RACFs with high quality, longitudinal data. For example, in Chapter Two, there was a clear gap in the literature on the clinical outcomes of comprehensive medication reviews. This is despite RMMRs being an Australian Government-funded service for over 20 years.¹⁸³ In contrast, Chapter Three presented the use of a population-based database to investigate the impact of medication use on clinical outcomes. Unfortunately, the population-based database did not easily distinguish people living in RACFs. Population-based databases do not usually include information for interventions such as RMMRs. The Registry of Older South Australians, launched in 2018, links data from health and aged care sectors and may present a unique opportunity to explore clinical outcomes of RMMRs for residents of RACFs.¹⁹⁴

Chapter Two also found a gap in evidence for resident-centred outcomes. The experience of residents is arguably the most important outcome of any intervention. An important area for future development may be inclusion of resident and patient reported outcomes into large databases. Administrative data are primarily collected and coded for reimbursement purposes rather than evaluating resident experience. Adding subjective, resident or patient reported outcomes, such as a QoL or goal attainment scale, as part of routinely collected reimbursement data may help to centre the resident or patient in their care.¹⁹⁵ New aged care quality standards introduced in 2019 were developed using a consumer-centred approach.⁷⁸ The experience of residents was assessed by the Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission using a 10 question survey developed in consultation with residents to identify their priorities.^{78,196} Responses were generally positive.⁷⁸ The areas of inquiry in this experience survey included feeling safe, enjoying the food, having someone to talk to, being treated with respect, and having healthcare needs met. These domains are often not addressed by studies of medication interventions in RACFs, which tend to use endpoints such a change to medications, hospitalisation or mortality.^{183,197} Such outcomes are objective, generally easily measured and routinely collected in practice. In Chapter Two, the outcome investigated by most studies was the identification and resolution of medication-related problems. Safety is important while residents are receiving direct care; however, this must be delivered and handled in a way that also improves residents' experience and quality of life.

7.2 Strengths and limitations

Strengths and limitations of specific research studies have been discussed previously in Chapters Two to Six. This section will discuss the strengths and limitations of this thesis overall.

7.2.1 Strengths

This thesis used diverse methodology to investigate the aim and objectives, including methods that are not commonly used in RACF settings.

Chapter Two used a systematic review of both scientific and grey literature to evaluate comprehensive medication reviews in Australian RACFs. There was a lack of longitudinal studies and RCTs identified in the review. RCTs are considered the best quality evidence for determining the efficacy of health service interventions. Additionally, there was only one study out of 14 that was an RCT that included clinical or resident-centred outcomes. This thesis addressed some of these gaps. Chapter Three was a population-based cohort study using variable-rich data and validated outcomes. It involved an international sample of 19,292 older people to investigate a clinical outcome over time. Chapter Four used an observational timeand-motion study, a method commonly used in hospital settings. This involved collecting primary data in the residential aged care setting using a purpose-built data collection template in WOMBAT software. MRS GRACE was developed using nominal group technique and then validated by two independent clinical pharmacists. Nominal group technique combines qualitative and quantitative methodologies and is an increasingly popular method for generating group consensus.¹⁹⁸ MRS GRACE was also developed as an implicit rather than explicit tool that requires clinician judgement and expertise to apply. Part of this clinician judgement and expertise is assessing the residents' preferences. Chapter Six presented cross-sectional analyses of baseline data collected from a cluster RCT to investigate resident characteristics associated with complex medication regimens.

This thesis included research that was informed by, and included, a number of stakeholders in aged care. Consumers, carers, and aged care providers were part of the conception of medication regimen simplification as a possible useful service. A

multidisciplinary team was involved for all studies included in this thesis. This collaboration increases the relevance and likelihood of translation of the research to real-world scenarios that involve multidisciplinary teams. The value of this approach is evident through the anecdotal early interest in the MRS GRACE tool among researchers of different backgrounds and among aged care provider organisations in Australia and internationally.

7.2.2 Limitations

Organisational culture may be an important factor determining quality of care.¹⁹⁹ It is unclear how generalisable the findings in this thesis are across different aged care provider organisations. Although the research reported in Chapters Four and Six included multiple RACF sites, the RACFs were part of a single aged care provider organisation that invested in research and development, including in relation to improving medication management.

There could have been bias due to the selection of RACFs from the same provider, which has standard procedures and largely share the same pharmacy group providing medications. A recent report on residential care quality indicators from the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety found differences in quality indicators between government-run, not-for-profit, and for-profit run RACFs.²⁰⁰ Not-for-profit run RACFs had the highest number of emergency department presentations or hospitalisation for medication-related events per 100 residents per facility. It is unclear whether this reflected quality of care. The analyses relied on hospital coding and the overall rate of events coded as medication-related were low. The comparison was not adjusted for risk and may also reflect baseline differences in resident profile. Differences may also arise due to location given that in several states such as Victoria, government-run RACFs are predominately located in rural and regional areas whereas larger profit RACF are predominately located in metropolitan areas.

This thesis did not include person-level factors that influence complexity in the definition of medication regimen complexity. Characteristics such as socioeconomic status, health literacy, cultural and environmental factors may modulate an individual's ability to manage their medication regimen.²⁰¹ Research conducted in the

Chapter Seven

United States has suggested that people with lower health literacy dose their medications on more frequent occasions than people with higher health literacy when presented with the same set of dosing instructions.²⁰² These are all important considerations when assessing the appropriateness of medication changes.⁵³ The MRCI, which has become the gold standard measure of regimen complexity, does not include person-level factors.^{38,48} A new algorithm for determining the complexity of medication regimens is being developed to include factors such as drug dosage form, product characteristics and packaging, dosage schemes, additional instructions, patient characteristics (sociodemographic characteristics, health-related conditions, experiences, attitudes towards disease/therapy), and process characteristics.²⁰¹ The ability to use this algorithm in the future will, however, be limited by data availability, as these parameters may not be routinely collected and/or include in large, population-based databases.

7.3 Implications for policy and clinical practice

The research presented in this thesis has had real and important implications for policy and clinical practice. Chapters Two, Four, Five, and Six were undertaken in the long-term aged care setting, which is and will continue to undergo changes in response to the changing needs of residents who are increasingly frail on admission. The research is also important in terms of the recommendations that will arise from the current Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety in Australia that was established in 2018.²⁰³ Findings from this thesis have already been presented to the Royal Commission and have been cited in the Commissioner's Interim Report sub-titled *Neglect*.^{85,193} All research publications contributing to this thesis also have clinical implications that are translatable to existing practice.

The Royal Commission terms of reference included the quality of aged care services, how best to deliver aged care services, and how to ensure that aged care services are person-centred.²⁰³ Pharmacists were consulted in the Commission hearings and their evidence contributed to the Commission's interim report.⁸⁵ The systematic review in Chapter Two was included in evidence given by Dr Janet Sluggett on "Access to aged care and clinical care" to the Commission.²⁰⁴ MRS GRACE and the SIMPLER study in Chapters Five and Six were included in the

NHMRC Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre's submission.²⁰⁵ The Commission's final report is expected to be released in November 2020.²⁰³

It was announced in November 2019 that medication safety was to become the next National Health Priority Area.²⁰⁶ Residential aged care was a setting identified as an important focus within this new Priority Area.¹⁰⁷ Research from Chapters Two, Five and Six were referenced in the Pharmaceutical Society of Australia's 'Medicines Safety: Aged Care' report, which was launched in the Australian Federal Parliament in February 2020.¹⁰⁷ The identification of this new national health priority area may mean increased funding and coordination in projects that translate and/or improve medication-related interventions for older people. Already, from April 2020, RMMR funding was increased to include remuneration for pharmacists to participate in up to two follow-up services with residents within nine months of the initial comprehensive review.²⁰⁷ These follow-up services are remunerated at a rate of \$56.33 for the first and \$28.16 for the second follow-up service.²⁰⁷ Research presented in Chapter Two discussed the lack of remunerated follow-up as a barrier to interprofessional collaboration and clinical decision-making.¹⁸³

The third World Health Organization's Global Patient Safety Challenge – *Medication without harm* was launched in 2017.²⁴ Australia's response to the Challenge identified three flagship areas: polypharmacy, reducing harm from high-risk medications, including OACs, and improving medication safety at transitions of care. Chapter Three studied the safety of OACs in older people with complex medication regimens, who often also experience polypharmacy. Additionally, the data used included inpatient and outpatients and assessed safety of OACs in an initiation period up to 90 days, which potentially has implications for OAC safety during transitions of care.

A new quality indicator 'Percentage of residents with more than four regular administration times' was introduced in a pilot program of the existing quality indicator program in Victorian public RACFs.²⁰⁸ This indicator is now being collected on quarterly on a voluntary basis across all public-sector RACFs in Victoria. A tool such as MRS GRACE (Chapter Five) can be used to address this quality indicator and improve resident and staff experience of medication taking. Main findings from the SIMPLER study have shown that the application of MRS GRACE by a clinical pharmacist working with a multidisciplinary care team was successful in reducing the number of administration times.¹¹⁴ Furthermore, there was a sustained reduction in number of administration times up to 12 months after study enrolment.¹⁸⁷ An ongoing trial is investigating the integration of on-site pharmacists in residential aged care.¹⁹⁷ Simplification could be a good value activity for pharmacists integrated into the residential aged care team.

Medication regimen simplification is within the scope of practice for pharmacists and GPs but may require some education to introduce the concept. Research from this thesis has contributed to a clinical manuscript for The Australian Journal of General Practice, a practical article aimed at GPs. Patterns of high prescribing to older adults are measurable as trends at a physician level, so addressing simplification resources to physicians is important.²⁰⁹ Implementing simplification in the curriculum for pharmacy students is also showing promising results, with students being able to organise complex medications into simplified UMS dosing times.²¹⁰ Teaching simplification as a concept during undergraduate training may help students improve people's medication-taking experience through simplification in practice.

7.4 Future directions

Findings from this thesis have already been used for further research. MRS GRACE has been extended to community-dwelling older people through a pilot and feasibility study in which simplification activities were provided to older people receiving community-based care packages.²¹¹ The simplification intervention was valued by stakeholders and some participants reported being "happy" with their simplified medication regimen.¹⁶⁰ There is large scope of impact in community-based home care as older people receive visits from nurses and care workers and the timing of the travel and/or visits may be made more efficient. Being able to self-manage a medication regimen is often a determinant of being able to continue to live independently at home. If a person needs support to administer their medications, consolidating dose administration times to coincide with a nurse or family member visit may allow people to remain living at home.

In this thesis, medication regimen complexity was measured at one point in time. A 12-month follow-up of the SIMPLER study demonstrated that a once-off

simplification intervention achieved sustainable decreases in daily administration times.¹⁸⁷ Longitudinal studies investigating trends in medication regimen complexity over time would further characterise the burden and may also be useful in prioritising interventions for older people. The use of more advanced statistical methods, such as accounting for a time-varying exposure in Chapter Three, may also increase the precision of estimates of the impact of complexity on clinical outcomes.

The MRCI treats complexity mainly as a dimension related to the medication regimen, largely independent to the patient, although some patient factors such as swallowing difficulties may be included through weighting for need to crush tablets. The adaptation of a 'patient-level' MRCI more accurately reflect medication regimen complexity in real world settings. However, 'patient-level' MRCI is still largely a medication-related measure. The Medication-Related Burden Quality of Life (MRB-QoL) scale V.1 has been developed to address the impact that medications may have on psychological, social, physical and financial well-being of individuals.¹⁸⁰ The MRB-QoL is a comprehensive tool that contains subscales in five domains: routine and regimen complexity, psychological burden, functional and role limitation, therapeutic relationship and social burden. Initial testing has found that it has good construct validity and internal consistency.¹⁸⁰ Further validation of this indicator to consider the patient-perspective on complexity, including patient factors such as health literacy or dexterity, would be important to understand how patients relate to complex medication regimens.

In Chapter Two, there were no studies that investigated to what extent residents' goals of care were considered in medication review. Future studies that include retrospective review of comprehensive medication review recommendations should investigate whether recommendations were made considering the resident's goals of care. For example, 'undertreatment' was a frequent recommendation but medications may be deprescribed intentionally while an indication is still present because the resident and their prescriber has assessed that the benefits no longer outweigh the risks (perhaps due to the length of treatment needed for evidence-based benefit). It was not reported if 'undertreatment' recommendations were made with goals of care in mind. Recommendation reports could be analysed for acknowledgement of goals of care.

Chapter Seven

Since the publication of this paper, there have been updates to the RMMR program that will require evaluation in future research. RMMRs can now be referred by specialists in pain medicine, specialist physicians, specialist psychiatrists and specialists in palliative medicine, in addition to GPs.²⁰⁷ This could encourage interdisciplinary care. The lack of remuneration for follow-up care as a barrier for high-quality medication reviews has also been addressed by new funding for dedicated remuneration for up to two follow-up consultations within nine months after the initial comprehensive medication review was added to the RMMR program. These follow-up services are remunerated at a rate of \$56.33 for the first and \$28.16 for the second follow-up service.²⁰⁷ However, remuneration for the initial RMMR, which can be a time-consuming process, involving travel, coordinating time to communicate with the resident, and writing a report of the recommendations, remains stable (\$111.09 in 2019, when this paper was published, and \$112.65 in 2020 at the time of thesis submission). Elliott et al. (1999) found that the time needed is highly variable (between 20 and 180 minutes per review), with more time needed for residents with complex medication regimens who are becoming increasingly prevalent in RACFs.²¹² The opportunity for follow-up could increase the recommendation and implementation of activities that may be perceived as lower priority such as simplification.

Pharmacists are trained in the therapeutic and pharmacological properties of medications and are therefore well placed to apply MRS GRACE. However, the tool may be suitable for application by other health professional groups such as geriatricians, nurse-practitioners or registered nurses. A future direction is exploring models of collaboration between pharmacists and these other health professionals for the purpose of simplifying medication regimens. Ideally, MRS GRACE would be used at least with the involvement of residents to consider resident-related factors, which includes their individual preferences. Including nursing staff involved in the medication administration may also be valuable in understanding regulatory and safety imperatives or unintended consequences.

This thesis did not include any economic evaluation of the burden of medication regimen complexity. This is potentially an important area for further evaluation if the intervention is to be scaled-up and funded. A broad-ranging analysis including the

cost of the intervention and potential cost savings involved with decreased time and burden would provide good evidence for large scale implementation.

Findings from Chapter Three on the time taken to administer medications could be used in an economic analysis. However, it would be best to use the time necessary for safe medication administration and to communicate with residents appropriately. To study the time necessary to safely administer medications, future studies should include an assessment of medication errors, and/or an observer to also assess medication administration and communication with residents against pre-determined criteria for safe administration (for example, correct use of eye drops or inhalers). Additionally, extra time may be taken by residents refusing medication was a reason for some missing medication provision. However, the data collected in Chapter Three for when medications were prepared but not provided in the medication administration round are not complete with respect to reasons for each occasion. The reasons were noted separately to the WOMBAT tool. Anecdotally, there were few cases of nurses 'struggling' to administer medications. The time taken up by refusals and the relationship between complex medication regimens and refusals is an area for future research.

Improving health data infrastructure in Australia will increase the ability to investigate clinical outcomes in older people, which would allow robust evaluation of medication safety and medication-related interventions. The Registry of Older South Australians and introduction of electronic medical and medication record systems by aged care providers represent a great opportunity to address clinical questions for residents of RACFs.¹⁹⁴ These developments in Australia mirror the advances in the availability of administrative and electronic medical record data internationally. Additionally, the adoption of MyHealthRecord, an online summary of health information controlled by individuals, by the wider community may also represent rich sources of information that can be used to investigate gaps identified by this thesis.²¹³ MyHealthRecord especially will deliver more data than ever before into the hands of consumers and their health care team. This increased visibility may have unforeseen impacts on the way medications are managed and may impact medication regimen complexity if medication lists are being centralised and reviewed regularly through the electronic record.

8. Chapter Eight: Conclusion

Findings from this thesis have improved the understanding of the burden of medication regimen complexity for older people, including residents of RACFs, and created a novel tool to help address this burden. There is good evidence that collaborative medication reviews in Australian RACFs are successful in identifying and resolving medication-related problems, but there is currently no evidence that RMMRs reduce medication regimen complexity or optimise prescribing of anticoagulants. Good quality population-based data were used to find that having a complex medication regimen should not necessarily be a barrier to prescribing anticoagulants for older people with AF in community settings. However, use should be monitored carefully as regimen complexity is associated with increased bleeding risk over treatment periods longer than 90 days. In RACFs, medication administration with complex elements, such as dose modification, took longer for each resident in each medication round. Each medication round had preparation time in addition to resident administration. Consolidating administration times may allow medication round time to be more effectively used for other resident-centred care activities. To assist with medication regimen simplification, a new tool was developed and evaluated in a cluster RCT. MRS GRACE was developed with clinical and consumer input and validated by pharmacists. Analyses of the baseline data collected in the RCT showed overall number of administration times is an alternate measure of complexity that may be useful for RACFs and older people. Findings from this thesis have contributed to policy evaluations which can inform the expansion of clinical activities of health professionals such as pharmacists to include medication regimen simplification.

REFERENCES

1. Marengoni A, Angleman S, Melis R, et al. Aging with multimorbidity: A systematic review of the literature. *Ageing Res Rev.* 2011;10(4):430-439.

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population
 Division. *World population prospects: The 2019 revision.* New York: United Nations;
 2019.

3. Sluggett JK, Ilomäki J, Seaman KL, Corlis M, Bell JS. Medication management policy, practice and research in australian residential aged care: Current and future directions. *Pharmacol Res.* 2017;116:20-28.

4. Harrison SL, Lang C, Whitehead C, et al. Trends in prevalence of dementia for people accessing aged care services in australia. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2020;75(2):318-325.

5. Willis E, Price K, Bonner R, et al. *Meeting residents' care needs: A study of the requirement for nursing and personal care staff.* Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation; 2016.

6. McNamara KP, Breken BD, Alzubaidi HT, et al. Health professional perspectives on the management of multimorbidity and polypharmacy for older patients in australia. *Age Ageing.* 2017;46(2):291-299.

 Bailey SC, Opsasnick LA, Curtis LM, et al. Longitudinal investigation of older adults' ability to self-manage complex drug regimens. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2020;68(3):569-575.

8. Jokanovic N, Tan EC, Dooley MJ, Kirkpatrick CM, Elliott RA, Bell JS. Why is polypharmacy increasing in aged care facilities? The views of australian health care professionals. *J Eval Clin Pract.* 2016;22(5):677-682.

9. Wimmer BC, Cross AJ, Jokanovic N, et al. Clinical outcomes associated with medication regimen complexity in older people: A systematic review. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2017;65(4):747-753.

10. Alves-Conceição V, Rocha KSS, Silva FVN, et al. Are clinical outcomes associated with medication regimen complexity? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2019;54(4):301-313.

11. Alves-Conceição V, Rocha KSS, Silva FVN, Silva ROS, Silva DTd, Lyra-Jr DPd. Medication regimen complexity measured by mrci: A systematic review to identify health outcomes. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2018;52(11):1117-1134.

12. Krska J, Katusiime B, Corlett SA. Patient experiences of the burden of using medicines for long-term conditions and factors affecting burden: A cross-sectional survey. *Health Soc Care Community.* 2018;26(6):946-959.

13. Maddigan SL, Farris KB, Keating N, Wiens CA, Johnson JA. Predictors of older adults' capacity for medication management in a self-medication program: A retrospective chart review. *J Aging Health.* 2003;15(2):332-352.

14. Onder G, Vetrano DL, Marengoni A, Bell JS, Johnell K, Palmer K. Accounting for frailty when treating chronic diseases. *Eur J Intern Med.* 2018;56:49-52.

15. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Older australia at a glance. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/older-people/older-australia-at-aglance/contents/summary. Accessed January 14, 2020.

 HealthyHK, Department of Health, The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region,. Population characteristics: Age strucutre. https://www.healthyhk.gov.hk/phisweb/en/healthy_facts/popn_char/age_structure/. Accessed January 14, 2020.

17. Charlesworth CJ, Smit E, Lee DSH, Alramadhan F, Odden MC.
Polypharmacy among adults aged 65 years and older in the united states: 1988–
2010. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2015;70(8):989-995.

Page AT, Falster MO, Litchfield M, Pearson S-A, Etherton-Beer C.
 Polypharmacy among older Australians, 2006–2017: A population-based study. *Med J Aust.* 2019;211(2):71-75.

19. Hilmer SN, McLachlan AJ, Le Couteur DG. Clinical pharmacology in the geriatric patient. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol.* 2007;21(3):217-230.

20. Lam KD, Miao Y, Steinman MA. Cumulative changes in the use of long-term medications: A measure of prescribing complexity. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2013;173(16):1546-1547.

21. von Buedingen F, Hammer MS, Meid AD, Müller WE, Gerlach FM, Muth C. Changes in prescribed medicines in older patients with multimorbidity and polypharmacy in general practice. *BMC Fam Pract.* 2018;19(1):131.

22. American Geriatrics Society Expert Panel on the Care of Older Adults with M. Patient-centered care for older adults with multiple chronic conditions: A stepwise approach from the American Geriatrics Society. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2012;60(10):1957-1968.

23. Institute for Safe Medication Practices. High-alert medications in long-term care (LTC) settings. https://www.ismp.org/recommendations/high-alert-medications-long-term-care-list. Accessed 5 June, 2020.

24. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. *Medication without harm – who global patient safety challenge. Australia's response.* Sydney: ACSQHC; 2020.

25. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. The NSQHS standards. https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards. Accessed 21 July, 2020.

26. Institute for Safe Medication Practices. High-alert medications in community/ambulatory settings. https://www.ismp.org/recommendations/high-alert-medications-community-ambulatory-list. Accessed 5 June, 2020.

27. Institute for Safe Medication Practices. High-alert medications in acute care settings. https://www.ismp.org/recommendations/high-alert-medications-acute-list. Accessed 5 June, 2020.

28. Dumitrescu I, Casteels M, De Vliegher K, Dilles T. High-risk medication in community care: A scoping review. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2020;76(5):623-638.

29. Fanning L, Ryan-Atwood TE, Bell JS, et al. Prevalence, safety, and effectiveness of oral anticoagulant use in people with and without dementia or cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2018;65(2):489-517.

30. Bernaitis N, Bowden M, La Caze A. A clinical audit of oral anticoagulant therapy in aged care residents with atrial fibrillation. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2020;42(2):474-481.

31. Frain B, Castelino R, Bereznicki LR. The utilization of antithrombotic therapy in older patients in aged care facilities with atrial fibrillation. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost.* 2018;24(3):519-524.

32. Chao TF, Liu CJ, Lin YJ, et al. Oral anticoagulation in very elderly patients with atrial fibrillation - a nationwide cohort study. *Circulation.* 2018.

33. Pratt NL, Ramsay EN, Caughey GE, Shakib S, Roughead EE. Uptake of novel oral anticoagulants in Australia. *Med J Aust.* 2016;204(3):104-105.

34. Mongkhon P, Alwafi H, Fanning L, et al. Patterns and factors influencing oral anticoagulant prescription in people with atrial fibrillation and dementia: Results from UK primary care. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2020; early online. DOI: 10.1111/bcp.14464

35. Morgan A, Joshy G, Schaffer A, et al. Rapid and substantial increases in anticoagulant use and expenditure in australia following the introduction of new types of oral anticoagulants. *PLoS One.* 2018;13(12):e0208824.

36. Jokanovic N, Tan ECK, Dooley MJ, Kirkpatrick CM, Bell JS. Prevalence and factors associated with polypharmacy in long-term care facilities: A systematic review. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2015;16(6):535.e531-535.e512.

37. Claxton AJ, Cramer J, Pierce C. A systematic review of the associations between dose regimens and medication compliance. *Clin Ther.* 2001;23(8):1296-1310.

38. Paquin AM, Zimmerman KM, Kostas TR, et al. Complexity perplexity: A systematic review to describe the measurement of medication regimen complexity. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* 2013;12(6):829-840.

39. Krska J, Corlett AS, Katusiime B. Complexity of medicine regimens and patient perception of medicine burden. *Pharmacy (Basel).* 2019;7(1):18.

40. Johnson PN, Miller JL, Hagemann TM, Castro C, Harrison D. External validation of the medication taper complexity score for methadone tapers in children with opioid abstinence syndrome. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2013;48(2):187-195.

41. Gwynn ME, Poisson MO, Waller JL, Newsome AS. Development and validation of a medication regimen complexity scoring tool for critically ill patients. *Am J Health Syst Pharm.* 2019;76(Supplement_2):S34-S40.

42. Newsome AS, Anderson D, Gwynn ME, Waller JL. Characterization of changes in medication complexity using a modified scoring tool. *Am J Health Syst Pharm.* 2019;76(Supplement_4):S92-S95.

43. Stange D, Kriston L, Langebrake C, et al. Development and psychometric evaluation of the German version of the Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI-D). *J Eval Clin Pract.* 2012;18(3):515-522.

44. Melchiors AC, Correr CJ, Fernández-Llimos F. Tradução e validação para o português do Medication Regimen Complexity Index. *Arq Bras Cardiol.* 2007;89:210-218.

45. Saez de la Fuente J, Such Diaz A, Cañamares-Orbis I, et al. Cross-cultural adaptation and validation of the Medication Regimen Complexity Index adapted to Spanish. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2016;50(11):918-925.

46. Okuyan B, Babi B, Sancar M, et al. Validation of the Turkish version of Medication Regimen Complexity Index among elderly patients. *J Eval Clin Pract.* 2016;22(5):732-736.

47. Lee S, Jang J, Yang S, et al. Development and validation of the korean version of the Medication Regimen Complexity Index. *PLoS One.*2019;14(5):e0216805-e0216805.

48. George J, Phun Y-T, Bailey MJ, Kong DCM, Stewart K. Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Complexity Index. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2004;38(9):1369-1376.

49. Ferreira JM, Galato D, Melo AC. Medication regimen complexity in adults and the elderly in a primary healthcare setting: Determination of high and low complexities. *Pharm Pract (Granada).* 2015;13(4):659.

50. Yeh A, Shah-Manek B, Lor KB. Medication regimen complexity and A1c goal attainment in underserved adults with type 2 diabetes: A cross-sectional study. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2016;51(2):111-117.

51. Rettig SM, Wood Y, Hirsch JD. Medication regimen complexity in patients with uncontrolled hypertension and/or diabetes. *J Am Pharm Assoc (2003)*. 2013;53(4):427-431.

52. Libby AM, Fish DN, Hosokawa PW, et al. Patient-level medication regimen complexity across populations with chronic disease. *Clin Ther.* 2013;35(4):385-398.e381.

53. Hirsch JD, Metz KR, Hosokawa PW, Libby AM. Validation of a patient-level medication regimen complexity index as a possible tool to identify patients for medication therapy management intervention. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2014;34(8):826-835.

54. Díez-Manglano J, Bellostas Muñoz L. Simplified medication regimen and survival in polypathological patients. *Medicina Clínica (English Edition).* 2020;154(7):248-253.

55. Ruiz Ramos J, Juanes Borrego AM, Blazquez Andion M, Mangues Bafalluy MA, Puig Campmany M. Elderly people with drug-related problems identified in the emergency department: Impact of therapeutic complexity on consultations to the health system. *SAGE Open.* 2020;10(2):2158244020924373.

56. Ayele AA, Tegegn HG, Ayele TA, Ayalew MB. Medication regimen complexity and its impact on medication adherence and glycemic control among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in an Ethiopian general hospital. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care.* 2019;7(1):e000685-e000685.

57. Morillo-Verdugo R, Robustillo-Cortés MA, Abdel-Kader Martín L, Álvarez de Sotomayor Paz M, Lozano de León Naranjo F, Almeida González CV. Determination of a cutoff value for medication regimen complexity index to predict polypharmacy in hiv+ older patient. *Rev Esp Quimioter.* 2019;32(5):458-464.

58. Santos FSD, Dias BM, Reis AMM. Emergency department visits of older adults within 30 days of discharge: Analysis from the pharmacotherapy perspective. *Einstein (Sao Paulo).* 2019;18.

59. Pantuzza LLN, Ceccato MdGB, Silveira MR, Pinto IVL, Reis AMM. Validation and standardization of the Brazilian version of the Medication Regimen Complexity Index for older adults in primary care. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 2018;18(6):853-859.

60. Colavecchia AC, Putney DR, Johnson ML, Aparasu RR. Discharge medication complexity and 30-day heart failure readmissions. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2017;13(4):857-863.

61. Sevilla-Sanchez D, Molist-Brunet N, Amblas-Novellas J, Roura-Poch P, Espaulella-Panicot J, Codina-Jane C. Adverse drug events in patients with advanced chronic conditions who have a prognosis of limited life expectancy at hospital admission. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2017;73(1):79-89.

62. McDonald MV, Feldman PH, Barrón-Vayá Y, Peng TR, Sridharan S, Pezzin LE. Outcomes of clinical decision support (CDS) and correlates of CDS use for home care patients with high medication regimen complexity: A randomized trial. *J Eval Clin Pract.* 2016;22(1):10-19.

63. Herson M, Bell JS, Tan ECK, Emery T, Robson L, Wimmer BC. Factors associated with medication regimen complexity in residents of long-term care facilities. *Eur Geriatr Med.* 2015;6(6):561-564.

64. Wimmer BC, Bell JS, Fastbom J, Wiese MD, Johnell K. Medication regimen complexity and number of medications as factors associated with unplanned hospitalizations in older people: A population-based cohort study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2015;71(6):831-837.

65. Wimmer BC, Johnell K, Fastbom J, Wiese MD, Bell JS. Factors associated with medication regimen complexity in older people: A cross-sectional population-based study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2015;71(9):1099-1108.

66. Olson CH, Dierich M, Adam T, Westra BL. Optimization of decision support tool using medication regimens to assess rehospitalization risks. *Appl Clin Inform.* 2014;5(3):773-788.

67. Schoonover H, Corbett CF, Weeks DL, Willson MN, Setter SM. Predicting potential postdischarge adverse drug events and 30-day unplanned hospital readmissions from medication regimen complexity. *J Patient Saf.* 2014;10(4):186-191.

68. Wimmer BC, Dent E, Visvanathan R, et al. Polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity as factors associated with hospital discharge destination among older people: A prospective cohort study. *Drugs Aging.* 2014;31(8):623-630.

69. Willson MN, Greer CL, Weeks DL. Medication regimen complexity and hospital readmission for an adverse drug event. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2013;48(1):26-32.

70. Manzano-García M, Pérez-Guerrero C, Álvarez de Sotomayor Paz M, Robustillo-Cortés MdIA, Almeida-González CV, Morillo-Verdugo R. Identification of the medication regimen complexity index as an associated factor of nonadherence to antiretroviral treatment in HIV positive patients. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2018;52(9):862-867.

71. Curtain CM, Chang JY, Cousins J, Parameswaran Nair N, Bereznicki B, Bereznicki L. Medication Regimen Complexity Index prediction of adverse drug reaction–related hospital admissions. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2020;54(10):996-1000.

72. Sevilla-Sanchez D, Molist-Brunet N, González-Bueno J, et al. Medication regimen complexity on hospital admission in patients with advanced chronic conditions in need of palliative care. *Eur J Hosp Pharm.* 2018;26(5):262.

73. Mansur N, Weiss A, Beloosesky Y. Looking beyond polypharmacy: Quantification of medication regimen complexity in the elderly. *Am J Geriatr Pharmacother.* 2012;10(4):223-229.

74. Bellostas-Muñoz L, Díez-Manglano J. Complexity of the medication regimen for polypathological patients. *Rev Clin Esp.* 2018;218(7):342-350.

75. Onder G, Marengoni A, Russo P, et al. Advanced age and medication prescription: More years, less medications? A nationwide report from the Italian medicines agency. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2016;17(2):168-172.

76. Pantuzza LL, Ceccato MGB, Silveira MR, Junqueira LMR, Reis AMM. Association between medication regimen complexity and pharmacotherapy adherence: A systematic review. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2017;73(11):1475-1489.

77. Brysch EG, Cauthon KA, Kalich BA, Sarbacker GB. Medication regimen complexity index in the elderly in an outpatient setting: A literature review. *Consult Pharm.* 2018;33(9):484-496.

78. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *Consumers' experience of residential aged care: Australia 2017-19.* Canberra: AIHW; 2019.

79. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. People's care needs in aged care. https://www.gen-agedcaredata.gov.au/Topics/Care-needs-in-aged-care. Accessed January 14, 2020.

80. Khadka J, Lang C, Ratcliffe J, et al. Trends in the utilisation of aged care services in Australia, 2008–2016. *BMC Geriatr.* 2019;19(1):213.

81. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. GEN - aged care data. https://www.gen-agedcaredata.gov.au.

82. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *GEN fact sheet 2018-19: People using aged care.* Canberra: AIHW; 2020.

83. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *Australia's welfare 2019 in brief.* Canberra: AIHW; 2019.

84. Commonwealth of Australia (Department of Health). *2018-19 Report on the operation of the Aged Care Act 1997.* Canberra; Department of Health; 2019.

85. Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. *Interim report: Neglect, Volume 1.* Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety; 2019.

86. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *Australia's welfare 2017.* Canberra: AIHW; 2017.

87. Jokanovic N, Jamsen KM, Tan ECK, Dooley MJ, Kirkpatrick CM, Bell JS. Prevalence and variability in medications contributing to polypharmacy in long-term care facilities. *Drugs Real World Outcomes.* 2017;4(4):235-245.

88. Theou O, Tan ECK, Bell JS, et al. Frailty levels in residential aged care facilities measured using the Frailty Index and FRAIL-NH scale. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2016;64(11):e207-e212.

89. World Health Organization. *World report on ageing and health.* Geneva: World Health Organisation; 2015.

90. Kaehr E, Visvanathan R, Malmstrom TK, Morley JE. Frailty in nursing homes: The FRAIL-NH scale. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2015;16(2):87-89.

91. Kojima G. Prevalence of frailty in nursing homes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2015;16(11):940-945.

92. Buckinx F, Reginster JY, Gillain S, Petermans J, Brunois T, Bruyere O.
Prevalence of frailty in nursing home residents according to various diagnostic tools. *J Frailty Aging.* 2017;6(3):122-128.

93. Vetrano DL, Palmer K, Marengoni A, et al. Frailty and multimorbidity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2018;74(5):659-666.

94. Kitson A, Marshall A, Bassett K, Zeitz K. What are the core elements of patient-centred care? A narrative review and synthesis of the literature from health policy, medicine and nursing. *J Adv Nurs.* 2013;69(1):4-15.

95. Department of Health and Ageing. *Guiding principles for medication management in residential aged care facilities*. Canberra: Department of Health and Ageing; 2012.

96. Australian Government. Aged care quality standards.https://www.myagedcare.gov.au/aged-care-quality-standards. Accessed 21 July, 2020.

97. Australian Aged Care Quality Agency. *Pocket guide to the accreditation standards*. Parramatta: Australian Aged Care Quality Agency; 2014.

98. Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. *Guidance and resources for providers to support the aged care quality standards.* 2019.

99. training.gov.au. Unit of competency details: HLTHPS006 - Assist Clients With Medication (release 2). 2015. Accessed 1 December, 2020.

100. Qian S, Yu P, Hailey D, Wang N, Bhattacherjee A. Medication administration process in a residential aged care home: An observational study. *J Nurs Manag.* 2018;26(8):1033-1043.

101. Sefidani Forough A, Lau ETL, Steadman KJ, et al. Appropriateness of oral dosage form modification for aged care residents: A video-recorded observational study. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2020;42(3):938-947.

102. Qian S, Yu P, Hailey DM, Wang N. Factors influencing nursing time spent on administration of medication in an Australian residential aged care home. *J Nurs Manag.* 2016;24(3):427-434.

103. Thomson MS, Gruneir A, Lee M, et al. Nursing time devoted to medication administration in long-term care: Clinical, safety, and resource implications. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2009;57(2):266-272.

104. Rayner J-A, Fetherstonhaugh D, Cowen S. Research priorities in residential aged care services: A statewide survey. *Australas J Ageing.* 2019; 39(1):40-47.

105. The Department of Health. Health assessment for people aged 75 years and older.

https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/mbsprimarycare_m bsitem_75andolder. Accessed 10 July, 2020.

106. The Department of Health. Multidisciplinary case conferences. https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/mbsprimarycarecaseconf-factsheet.htm. Accessed 10 July, 2020.

107. Pharmaceutical Society of Australia. *Medicine safety: Aged care.* Canberra: Pharmaceutical Society of Australia; 2020.

108. McDerby NC, Kosari S, Bail KS, et al. The role of a residential aged care pharmacist: Findings from a pilot study. *Australas J Ageing.* 2020; 39(3):e466-e471.

109. Pharmaceutical Society of Australia. *Guidelines for comprehensive medication management reviews.* ACT: Pharmaceutical Society of Australia; 2020.

110. Pharmaceutical Society of Australia. *Guidelines for Quality Use Of Medicines* (*QUM*) *services.* ACT: Pharmaceutical Society of Australia; 2020.

111. Pharmacy Programs Administrator. *Program rules: Quality use of medicines.* Pharmacy Programs Administrator; 2020.

112. Urbis. Evaluation of the Quality Use Of Medicines program. 2018.

113. Elliott RA, O'Callaghan C, Paul E, George J. Impact of an intervention to reduce medication regimen complexity for older hospital inpatients. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2013;35(2):217-224.

114. Sluggett JK, Chen EYH, Ilomäki J, et al. Reducing the burden of complex medication regimens: SImplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents (SIMPLER) cluster randomized controlled trial. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2020;21(8):1114-1120.e1114.

115. Masnoon N, Shakib S, Kalisch Ellett L, Caughey GE. Rationalisation of polypharmacy in practice: A survey of physicians and pharmacists. *Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research.* 2019;50(3):233-241.

116. Beuscart J-B, Knol W, Cullinan S, et al. International core outcome set for clinical trials of medication review in multi-morbid older patients with polypharmacy. *BMC Med.* 2018;16(1):21.

117. Pouranayatihosseinabad M, Zaidi TS, Peterson G, Nishtala PS, Hannan P, Castelino R. The impact of Residential Medication Management Reviews (RMMRs) on medication regimen complexity. *Postgrad Med.* 2018.

118. Stafford AC, Tenni PC, Peterson GM, et al. Drug-related problems identified in medication reviews by Australian pharmacists. *Pharm World Sci.* 2009;31(2):216-223.

119. Gheewala PA, Peterson GM, Curtain CM, Nishtala PS, Hannan PJ, Castelino RL. Impact of the pharmacist medication review services on drug-related problems and potentially inappropriate prescribing of renally cleared medications in residents of aged care facilities. *Drugs Aging.* 2014;31(11):825-835.

120. Turner JP, Edwards S, Stanners M, Shakib S, Bell JS. What factors are important for deprescribing in Australian long-term care facilities? Perspectives of residents and health professionals. *BMJ Open.* 2016;6(3):e009781.

121. Shelton PS, Fritsch MA, Scott MA. Assessing medication appropriateness in the elderly. *Drugs Aging.* 2000;16(6):437-450.

122. American Geriatrics Society Beers Criteria® Update Expert Panel. American geriatrics society 2019 updated AGS Beers Criteria® for potentially inappropriate medication use in older adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2019;67(4):674-694.

123. Potter K, Flicker L, Page A, Etherton-Beer C. Deprescribing in frail older people: A randomised controlled trial. *PLoS One.* 2016;11(3):e0149984.

124. Hilmer SN, Mager DE, Simonsick EM, et al. A drug burden index to define the functional burden of medications in older people. *Arch Intern Med.* 2007;167(8):781-787.

125. Hanlon JT, Schmader KE, Samsa GP, et al. A method for assessing drug therapy appropriateness. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 1992;45(10):1045-1051.

126. Page AT, Potter K, Clifford R, McLachlan AJ, Etherton-Beer C. Medication appropriateness tool for co-morbid health conditions in dementia: Consensus recommendations from a multidisciplinary expert panel. *Intern Med J.* 2016;46(10):1189-1197.

127. O'Mahony D, O'Sullivan D, Byrne S, O'Connor MN, Ryan C, Gallagher P.Stopp/start criteria for potentially inappropriate prescribing in older people: Version 2.*Age Ageing.* 2015;44(2):213-218.

128. Witticke D, Seidling HM, Lohmann K, Send AF, Haefeli WE. Opportunities to reduce medication regimen complexity: A retrospective analysis of patients discharged from a university hospital in Germany. *Drug Saf.* 2013;36(1):31-41.

129. Lindquist LA, Lindquist LM, Zickuhr L, Friesema E, Wolf MS. Unnecessary complexity of home medication regimens among seniors. *Patient Educ Couns.* 2014;96(1):93-97.

130. Bangalore S, Kamalakkannan G, Parkar S, Messerli FH. Fixed-dose combinations improve medication compliance: A meta-analysis. *Am J Med.* 2007;120(8):713-719.

131. Sherrill B, Halpern M, Khan S, Zhang J, Panjabi S. Single-pill vs freeequivalent combination therapies for hypertension: A meta-analysis of health care costs and adherence. *J Clin Hypertens*. 2011;13(12):1751-7176.

132. Baumgartner A, Drame K, Geutjens S, Airaksinen M. Does the polypill improve patient adherence compared to its individual formulations? A systematic review. *Pharmaceutics*. 2020;12(2):190.

133. Bartlett LE, Pratt N, Roughead EE. Does a fixed-dose combination of amlodipine and atorvastatin improve persistence with therapy in the Australian population? *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2018;34(2):305-311.

134. Furtado Dos Santos S, Almeida-Brasil CC, Costa JO, et al. Does switching from multiple to single-tablet regimen containing the same antiretroviral drugs improve adherence? A group-based trajectory modeling analysis. *AIDS Care.* 2020:1-9.

135. Alhnan MA, Okwuosa TC, Sadia M, Wan K-W, Ahmed W, Arafat B.
Emergence of 3D printed dosage forms: Opportunities and challenges. *Pharm Res.* 2016;33(8):1817-1832.

136. Stange D, Kriston L, von Wolff A, Baehr M, Dartsch DC. Medication complexity, prescription behaviour and patient adherence at the interface between ambulatory and stationary medical care. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2013;69(3):573-580.

137. Witticke D, Seidling HM, Klimm HD, Haefeli WE. Do we prescribe what patients prefer? Pilot study to assess patient preferences for medication regimen characteristics. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. 2012;6:679-684.

138. Richter A, Anton SE, Koch P, Dennett SL. The impact of reducing dose frequency on health outcomes. *Clin Ther.* 2003;25(8):2307-2335.

139. Srivastava K, Arora A, Kataria A, Cappelleri JC, Sadosky A, Peterson AM. Impact of reducing dosing frequency on adherence to oral therapies: A literature review and meta-analysis. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. 2013;7:419-434.

140. Coleman CI, Roberts MS, Sobieraj DM, Lee S, Alam T, Kaur R. Effect of dosing frequency on chronic cardiovascular disease medication adherence. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2012;28(5):669-680.

141. Shi L, Hodges M, Yurgin N, Boye KS. Impact of dose frequency on compliance and health outcomes: A literature review (1966-2006). *Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res.* 2007;7(2):187-202.

142. Iskedjian M, Einarson TR, MacKeigan LD, et al. Relationship between daily dose frequency and adherence to antihypertensive pharmacotherapy: Evidence from a meta-analysis. *Clin Ther.* 2002;24(2):302-316.

143. Samir Abdin M, Grenier-Gosselin L, Guénette L. Impact of pharmacists' interventions on the pharmacotherapy of patients with complex needs monitored in multidisciplinary primary care teams. *Int J Pharm Pract.* 2020;28(1):75-83.

144. Muir AJ, Sanders LL, Wilkinson WE, Schmader K. Reducing medication regimen complexity: A controlled trial. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2001;16(2):77-82.

145. Wolf MS, Taitel MS, Jiang JZ, et al. Prevalence of universal medication schedule prescribing and links to adherence. *Am J Health Syst Pharm.* 2020;77(3):196-205.

146. Bailey SC, Wolf MS, Lopez A, et al. Expanding the universal medication schedule: A patient-centred approach. *BMJ Open.* 2014;4(1):e003699.

147. Tan ECK, Sluggett JK, Johnell K, et al. Research priorities for optimizing geriatric pharmacotherapy: An international consensus. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2018.

148. Lau WCY, Chan EW, Cheung CL, et al. Association between dabigatran vs warfarin and risk of osteoporotic fractures among patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. *JAMA*. 2017;317(11):1151-1158.

149. Law SWY, Lau WCY, Wong ICK, et al. Sex-based differences in outcomes of oral anticoagulation in patients with atrial fibrillation. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2018;72(3):271-282.
150. Lau WCY, Li X, Wong ICK, et al. Bleeding-related hospital admissions and 30-day readmissions in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation treated with dabigatran versus warfarin. *J Thromb Haemost.* 2017;15(10):1923-1933.

151. Chan EW, Lau WCY, Leung WK, et al. Prevention of dabigatran-related gastrointestinal bleeding with gastroprotective agents: A population-based study. *Gastroenterology.* 2015;149(3):586-595.e583.

152. Sluggett JK, Bell JS, Lang C, et al. Variation in provision of collaborative medication reviews on entry to long-term care facilities. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2020; early online. DOI: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.10.027.

153. Disalvo D, Luckett T, Bennett A, Davidson P, Agar M. Pharmacists' perspectives on medication reviews for long-term care residents with advanced dementia: A qualitative study. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2019.

154. Czarniak P, Hattingh L, Sim TF, Parsons R, Wright B, Sunderland B. Home medicines reviews and residential medication management reviews in western australia. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2020;42(2):567-578.

155. Christensen L, Rick Turner J, Peterson GM, et al. Identification of risk of QT prolongation by pharmacists when conducting medication reviews in residential aged care settings: A missed opportunity? *J Clin Med.* 2019;8(11):1866.

156. Nishtala PS, Castelino RL, Peterson GM, Hannan PJ, Salahudeen MS. Residential medication management reviews of antithrombotic therapy in aged care residents with atrial fibrillation: Assessment of stroke and bleeding risk. *J Clin Pharm Ther.* 2016;41(3):279-284.

157. Pugh D, Pugh J, Mead GE. Attitudes of physicians regarding anticoagulation for atrial fibrillation: A systematic review. *Age Ageing.* 2011;40(6):675-683.

158. Abel Latif AK, Peng X, Messinger-Rapport BJ. Predictors of anticoagulation prescription in nursing home residents with atrial fibrillation. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2005;6(2):128-131.

159. Sluggett JK, Chen EYH, Ilomäki J, et al. SImplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents (SIMPLER): Study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial. *Trials.* 2018;19(1):37.

160. Sluggett JK OC, Gibson S, Angley MT, Corlis M, Hogan ME, Caporale T, Hughes GA, Van Emden J, Bell JS. Simplifying medication regimens for people receiving community-based home care services: Outcomes of a non-randomized pilot and feasibility study. *Clin Interv Aging.* 2020;15:797-809.

161. Rigby D. Medication in review: Medicine complexity. *AJP: The Australian Journal of Pharmacy.* 2020;101(1197):78.

162. Bell JS MB, Chen EYH, Bergen PJ, Reynolds L, Sluggett JK. Strategies to simplify complex medication regimens. *Aust J Gen Pract.* 2020; in press.

163. Chen EYH, Bell JS, Ilomäki J, et al. Medication administration in Australian residential aged care: A time-and-motion study. *J Eval Clin Pract.* 2020; early online. DOI: 10.1111/jep.13393.

164. Chen EY, Sluggett JK, Ilomaki J, et al. Development and validation of the Medication Regimen Simplification Guide for Residential Aged CarE (MRS GRACE). *Clin Interv Aging.* 2018;13:975-986.

165. Chen EY, Bell JS, Ilomäki J, et al. Medication regimen complexity in 8 Australian residential aged care facilities: Impact of age, length of stay, comorbidity, frailty, and dependence in activities of daily living. *Clin Interv Aging.* 2019;2019(14):1783-1795.

166. Tan ECK, Visvanathan R, Hilmer SN, et al. Analgesic use and pain in residents with and without dementia in aged care facilities: A cross-sectional study. *Australas J Ageing.* 2016;35(3):180-187.

167. Stasinopoulos J, Bell JS, Ryan-Atwood TE, et al. Frequency of and factors related to pro re nata (PRN) medication use in aged care services. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2017;14(10):964-967.

187

168. Jokanovic N, Ferrah N, Lovell JJ, et al. A review of coronial investigations into medication-related deaths in Australian residential aged care. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2018;15(4):410-416.

169. Moyle W, Fetherstonhaugh D, Greben M, Beattie E, group A. Influencers on quality of life as reported by people living with dementia in long-term care: A descriptive exploratory approach. *BMC Geriatr.* 2015;15:50.

170. Liau SJ, Lalic S, Sluggett JK, et al. Medication management in frail older people: Consensus principles for clinical practice, research, and education. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2020; early online. DOI: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.05.004.

171. McDonald MV, Peng TR, Sridharan S, et al. Automating the Medication Regimen Complexity Index. *J Am Med Inform Assoc.* 2013;20(3):499-505.

172. Page AT, Etherton-Beer CD, Clifford RM, Burrows S, Eames M, Potter K. Deprescribing in frail older people - do doctors and pharmacists agree? *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2016;12(3):438-449.

173. Reeve E, Bell J, Hilmer S. Barriers to optimising prescribing and deprescribing in older adults with dementia: A narrative review. *Curr Clin Pharmacol.* 2015;10(3):168-177.

174. Marengoni A, Zucchelli A, Vetrano DL, et al. Heart failure, frailty, and prefrailty: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Int J Cardiol.* 2020;316:161-171.

175. Vetrano DL, Palmer KM, Galluzzo L, et al. Hypertension and frailty: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open.* 2018;8(12):e024406.

176. Castrejón-Pérez RC, Gutiérrez-Robledo LM, Cesari M, Pérez-Zepeda MU. Diabetes mellitus, hypertension and frailty: A population-based, cross-sectional study of Mexican older adults. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 2017;17(6):925-930.

177. Marengoni A, Vetrano DL, Manes-Gravina E, Bernabei R, Onder G, Palmer K. The relationship between copd and frailty: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Chest.* 2018;154(1):21-40.

178. Bosboom PR, Alfonso H, Almeida OP, Beer C. Use of potentially harmful medications and health-related quality of life among people with dementia living in residential aged care facilities. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra.* 2012;2(1):361-371.

179. Lalic S, Jamsen KM, Wimmer BC, et al. Polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity as factors associated with staff informant rated quality of life in residents of aged care facilities: A cross-sectional study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2016;72(9):1117-1124.

180. Mohammed MA, Moles RJ, Hilmer SN, Kouladjian O'Donnel L, Chen TF. Development and validation of an instrument for measuring the burden of medicine on functioning and well-being: The medication-related burden quality of life (MRB-QoL) tool. *BMJ Open.* 2018;8(1):e018880.

181. Wimmer BC, Bell JS, Fastbom J, Wiese MD, Johnell K. Medication regimen complexity and polypharmacy as factors associated with all-cause mortality in older people: A population-based cohort study. *Ann Pharmacother.* 2016;50(2):89-95.

182. Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre. *Evidence for change: CDPC final report* 2019. Sydney: CDPC; 2019.

183. Chen EYH, Wang KN, Sluggett JK, et al. Process, impact and outcomes of medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities: A systematic review. *Australas J Ageing.* 2019;38(S2):9-25.

184. Kouladjian O'Donnell L, Gnjidic D, Chen TF, Hilmer SN. Integration of an electronic drug burden index risk assessment tool into Home Medicines Reviews:
Deprescribing anticholinergic and sedative medications. *Ther Adv Drug Saf.*2019;10:2042098619832471.

185. Sawan M, O'Donnell LK, Reeve E, et al. The utility of a computerised clinical decision support system intervention in Home Medicines Review: A mixed-methods

process evaluation. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2020; early online. DOI: 10.1016/j.sapharm.2020.06.010.

186. Lepelley M, Genty C, Lecoanet A, et al. Electronic medication regimen complexity index at admission and complications during hospitalization in medical wards: A tool to improve quality of care? *Int J Qual Health Care.* 2017;30(1):32-38.

187. Sluggett JK, Hopkins RE, Chen EY, et al. Impact of medication regimen simplification on medication administration times and health outcomes in residential aged care: 12 month follow up of the SIMPLER randomized controlled trial. *J Clin Med.* 2020;9(4):1053.

188. Singh P, Arrevad PS, Peterson GM, Bereznicki LR. Evaluation of antithrombotic usage for atrial fibrillation in aged care facilities. *J Clin Pharm Ther.* 2011;36(2):166-171.

189. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *Interfaces between the aged care and health systems in Australia—first results. Cat. No. Age 99.* Canberra: AIHW;
2019.

190. Hughes LD, McMurdo MET, Guthrie B. Guidelines for people not for diseases: The challenges of applying UK clinical guidelines to people with multimorbidity. *Age Ageing.* 2012;42(1):62-69.

191. Jessup RL. Interdisciplinary versus multidisciplinary care teams: Do we understand the difference? *Aust Health Rev.* 2007;31(3):330-331.

192. Kaur G, Phillips C, Wong K, Saini B. Timing is important in medication administration: A timely review of chronotherapy research. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2013;35(3):344-358.

193. Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. *Interim report: Neglect, Volume 2.* Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety; 2019.

194. Inacio MC, Bray SCE, Whitehead C, et al. Registry of older South Australians (ROSA): Framework and plan. *BMJ Open.* 2019;9(6):e026319.

190

195. Rockwood K, Howlett S, Stadnyk K, Carver D, Powell C, Stolee P. Responsiveness of goal attainment scaling in a randomized controlled trial of comprehensive geriatric assessment. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 2003;56(8):736-743.

196. Wells Y, Herd A, D F. *Developing a consumer experience report: Pilot stage.*Melbourne: Australian Institute for Primary Care & Ageing, La Trobe University;2017.

197. Kosari S, Davey R. Integrating pharmacists in residential aged care facilities study. https://www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?id=379337. Accessed 23 June, 2020.

198. Harvey N, Holmes CA. Nominal group technique: An effective method for obtaining group consensus. *Int J Nurs Pract.* 2012;18(2):188-194.

199. Sawan MJ, Jeon Y-H, Fois RJ, Chen TF. A qualitative study exploring visible components of organizational culture: What influences the use of psychotropic medicines in nursing homes? *Int Psychogeriatr.* 2016;28(10):1725-1735.

200. Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. *Residential care quality indicator profile.* Canberra: Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety; 2020.

201. Schmidt SJ, Wurmbach VS, Lampert A, et al. Individual factors increasing complexity of drug treatment—a narrative review. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2020;76(6):745-754.

202. Wolf MS, Curtis LM, Waite K, et al. Helping patients simplify and safely use complex prescription regimens. *Arch Intern Med.* 2011;171(4):300-305.

203. Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. Royal commission into aged care quality and safety.

https://agedcare.royalcommission.gov.au/Pages/default.aspx. Accessed 23 June, 2020.

204. Sluggett JK. *Statement of Dr Janet Kathleen Sluggett.* Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety; 2019.

205. Cumming A, Thompson J, Grosvenor S, Kurrle S. NHMRC partnership centre on dealing with cognitive and related functional decline in older people submission to the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality And Safety. 2019.

206. The Department of Health, Minister The Hon Greg Hunt MP. *Health ministers unite in response to Aged Care Royal Commission interim report* [press release]. Commonwealth of Australia; 2019.

207. Pharmacy Programs Administrator. Residential medication management review and quality use of medicines.

https://www.ppaonline.com.au/programs/medication-managementprograms/residential-medication-management-review-and-quality-use-of-medicines. Accessed 21 July, 2020.

208. Sluggett JK, Stasinopoulos J, Bell JS. Medication management by informal caregivers - under-recognized and under-supported. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2017;14(3):215-217.

209. Ellenbogen MI, Wang P, Overton HN, et al. Frequency and predictors of polypharmacy in us medicare patients: A cross-sectional analysis at the patient and physician levels. *Drugs Aging.* 2020;37(1):57-65.

210. Kebodeaux C, Woodyard JL, Kachlic MD, Allen SM, Schadler AD, Vouri SM. Student pharmacists' ability to organize complex medication regimens according to the Universal Medication Schedule. *Am J Pharm Educ.* 2020; early online. DOI: 10.5688/ajpe7531.

211. Sluggett JK, Page AT, Chen EYH, et al. Protocol for a non-randomised pilot and feasibility study evaluating a multicomponent intervention to simplify medication regimens for people receiving community-based home care services. *BMJ Open.* 2019;9(7):e025345-e025345. 212. Elliott RA, Thomson WA. Assessment of a nursing home medication review service provided by hospital-based clinical pharmacists. *The Australian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy.* 1999;29(5):255-260.

213. Australian Digital Health Agency. What is my health record? https://www.myhealthrecord.gov.au/for-you-your-family/what-is-my-health-record. Accessed 23 June, 2020.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1

The Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI)

This appendix contains a reproduction of the Medication Regimen Complexity Index (MRCI) from George et al., *Ann Pharmacother*, 2004, including updates described in Chapter Six.

Instructions

- MRCI applies only to prescribed medications. All entries are to be made only on information on the label or drug chart (at the time of dispensing or discharge). No assumptions are to be made on clinical judgement.
- 2. There are three sections in the scale. Complete each section before proceeding to the next. At the end, add the scores for the three sections to give the MRCI.
- If the same medication (same brand and same dosage form) is present more than once in different strengths in a regimen (e.g. Marevan 5mg, 3mg and 1mg mdu), it is still considered as one medication.
- 4. In cases where the dosage is optional, choose the dosing instruction with the smallest dose/frequency. (e.g. Ventolin MDI 1-2 puffs, 2-3 times daily will get weightings for 'metered dose inhalers', 'variable dose' and 'twice daily'; but not for 'multiple units at one time').
- In certain cases the dosing frequency needs to be calculated (e.g. Ranitidine 1mane and 1nocte is 1twice daily).
- 6. It is possible that with certain 'use as directed' instructions, the regimen will not get a score under dosing frequency (e.g. Prednisolone 5mg mdu).
- 7. If there is more than one dosing frequency direction, they should be scored for all the dosing frequency directions (e.g. Ventolin MDI 2 puffs bd and prn, will get scores for 'metered dose inhalers', 'multiple units at one time', 'twice daily' as well as 'prn').
- 8. Instances where two or more medications are mutually exclusive, they need to be scored twice or more as prn with the recommended dosing frequency (e.g. Ventolin MDI or Ventolin nebuliser twice daily will get scores for both 'metered dose inhalers' and 'nebuliser' under dosage forms, but needs to be scored two times for 'twice daily prn').
- In cases where there is no matching option, choose the closest option (e.g. six time daily could be considered as 'q4h').

Part A

Sum the weighting corresponding to each dosage form present in the regimen.

Dosage Forms		Weighting
	Capsules/Tablets	1
	Gargles/Mouthwashes	2
	Gums/Lozenges	2
Oral	Liquids	2
	Powders/Granules	2
	Sublingual sprays/tabs	2
	Wafers/oral-disintegrating tablets	2
	Creams/Gels/Ointments/Lotions	2
	Dressings	3
	Paints/Solutions	2
Topical	Pastes	2
	Patches	2
	Sprays	1
	Shampoos	2
	Ear drops/creams/ointments	3
	Eye drops	3
Ear, eye & nose	Eye gels/ointments	3
	Nasal drops/cream/ointment	3
	Nasal spray	2
	Accuhalers	3
	Aerolizers	3
	Metered dose inhalers	4
Inholation	Nebuliser	5
Innalation	Oxygen/Concentrator	3
	Turbuhalers	3
	Soft mist inhalers	4
	Other DPIs	3
	Dialysate	5
	Enemas	2
	Prefilled injection	3
Othors	Injection – ampoules/vials	4
Others	Pessaries	3
	Patient controlled analgesia	2
	Suppositories	2
	Vaginal creams	2
	Total for Section A	

Part B

Multiply the number of medications in the regimen corresponding to the dosing frequency in each category by the assigned weighting. In cases where there is no exact option, choose the closest option.

Dosing frequency	Weighting	Weighting x no. of medications
Once daily	1	
Once daily prn	0.5	
Twice daily	2	
Twice daily prn	1	
Three times daily	3	
Three times daily prn	1.5	
Four times daily	4	
Four times daily prn	2	
q 12h	2.5	
q 12h prn	1.5	
q 8h	3.5	
q 8h prn	2	
q 6h	4.5	
q 6h prn	2.5	
q 4h	6.5	
q 4h prn	3.5	
q 2h	12.5	
q 2h prn	6.5	
prn/sos	0.5	
On alternate days or less frequently	2	
Oxygen prn	1	
Oxygen <15hrs	2	
Oxygen >15hrs	3	
Tot	al for Section B	

Part C

Multiply each corresponding additional direction present in the regimen by the assigned weighting

Additional directions	Weighting	Weighting x no. of medications
Break or crush tablet	1	
Dissolve tablet/powder	1	
Multiple units at one time (e.g. 2 tabs, 2 puffs)	1	
Variable dose (e.g. 1-2 caps, 2-3 puffs)	1	
Take/use at specified time/s (e.g. mane, nocte, 8	1	
AM)		
Relation to food (e.g. pc, ac, with food)	1	
Take with specific fluid	1	
Take/use as directed	2	
Tapering/increasing dose	2	
Alternating dose (e.g. one mane & two nocte,	2	
one/two on alternate days)		
Tota	al for Section C	

Appendix 2

Chapter Three: Ethics approval

This appendix contains the ethics approval letters for the cohort study presented in Chapter Three from the following committees:

- The University of Hong Kong/Hospital Authority Hong Kong West Cluster
- Monash University



香港大學 University of Hong Kong



香港大學及醫管局港島西醫院聯網研究倫理委員會

Institutional Review Board of the University of Hong Kong/ Hospital Authority Hong Kong West Cluster (HKU/HA HKW IRB)

Address: Rm 901, 9/F, Administration Block, Queen Mary Hospital, 102 Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong Tel 2255 3923 2255 4086

Dr. Esther Chan

Pharmacology and Pharmacy The University of Hong Kong 27-Nov-18

Dear Dr. Chan,

IRB Reference Number: UW 13-468

The HKU/HA HKW IRB is authorized by a joint agreement of the University of Hong Kong and Hospital Authority Hong Kong West Cluster to review and monitor clinical research. It serves to ensure that research complies with the Declaration of Helsinki and acts in accordance to ICH GCP guidelines, local regulations and Hospital Authority and the University policies.

In accordance with our standard operating procedures, we have duly performed ethics and scientific review of your application/submission. We hereby write to inform you that your application/ submission has been approved, on the above date, by an expedited process with details shown below.

Protocol title	:	Pharmacoepidemiology and pharmacoeconomics of anticoagulant and antiplatelet therapy for cardiovascular disease in Hong Kong
Study site(s)	:	Queen Mary Hospital
IRB reviewer	:	Dr. S L Lui, Deputy Chairman of the HKU/HA HKW IRB
Document(s) approved	:	01. Protocol Amendment Application Form dated 15 November 2018 (Addition of Co-Investigator - Ms. Esa Yan Horng CHEN)
	:	02. Study Protocol; Version V10 dated November 14, 2018
Document(s) reviewed	:	03. Short CV of Co-Investigator; signed and dated 20/11/18
Regular Progress Report(s) Required	:	Every 12 months from the date of initial approval and during the period of the study

You, being the principal investigator of the study at your study site, are reminded to comply with our requirements and to maintain communication with us during the period of the study by undertaking the principal investigator's responsibilities including (but not limited to):

- if the study is an industry-sponsored clinical study, submitting to us a copy of the fully executed indemnity
 agreement satisfying the Hospital Authority's requirement prior to commencement of the study (if it has not
 been submitted yet);
- observing and complying with all applicable requirements under our standard operating procedure ("HKU/HA HKW IRB SOP"), the Declaration of Helsinki and the ICH GCP (if applicable)
- submitting regular progress report(s) at the required intervals (as specified above) in accordance with the requirements in the IRB SOP;
- not implementing any amendment/change to any approved study document/material without our written approval, except where necessary to eliminate any immediate hazard to the subjects or if an amendment/change is only of an administrative or logistical nature;
- notifying us of any new information that may adversely affect the rights, safety or well-being of the subjects or the proper conduct of the study;
- reporting any deviation from the study protocol or compliance incident that has occurred during the study and
 may adversely affect the rights, safety or well-being of any subject in accordance with the requirements in
 the IRB SOP;
- submitting safety reports on all SAEs observed at your study site or SUSARs reported from outside your study site in accordance with the requirements in the IRB SOP; and
- submitting a final report in accordance with the requirements in the IRB SOP upon completion or termination of the study at your study site.

UW 13-468 27-11-2018 Page 1 of 2

In addition to the above, you are also reminded to observe and comply with other applicable regulatory and management requirements including (but not limited to):

- if required by Hong Kong laws or regulations, obtaining a certificate for clinical trial through the Hong Kong Department of Health and complying with the associated requirements; and
- obtaining the necessary consent from the management of your institution/department in accordance with the requirements of your institution/department; and
- obtaining prior approval before commencing the study from the appropriate head(s) of the study site (e.g. Head / COS / Nurse Manager / Department Manager etc) with regards to the use of facilities and subject recruitment logistics/arrangement. It is advisable to print IRB's Reference Number on all recruitment materials for potential and actual study participants.
- comply with the new reporting requirement of study results with effect from June 2015
 as stated in the World Health Organization (WHO) Statement on Public Disclosure of Clinical Trial
 Results for any phases of clinical trials on: (1) the main findings within 12 months, or at most within 24
 month, of study completion, and (2) the key outcomes within 12 months of study completion. These
 results must be posted in a free-to-access, public available, searchable clinical trial registry. The full
 text of the WHO Statement is available in http://www.who.int/ictrp/results/reporting/en/.

Yours sincerely,

chin's

Mr. Chris Yip HKU/HA HKW IRB Secretary

UW 13-468 27-11-2018 Page 2 of 2



Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee

Confirmation of Registration

Project Number:17798Project Title:Pharnacoepidemiology and pharmacoeconomics of anticoagulant and antiplatelet therapy for cardiovascular disease in Hong KongChief Investigater:Dr enni IlomakiRegistration Dat:31/01/2019Expiry Date:31/01/2024

Terms:

- 1. Registration is valid whilst you hold a position at Monash University, and approval at the primary HREC is current.
- 2. This notification does not constitute HREC approval. It is the responsibility of the Chief Investigator to ensure that approval from the primary HREC continues for the duration of the research.
- End of project: You should notify MUHREC at the conclusion of the project or if the project is discontinued before the expected date of completion.
 Retention and storage of data: The Chief Investigator is responsible for the storage and retention of the original data pertaining to this project in accordance with
- 4. Retention and storage of data: The Chief Investigator is responsible for the storage and retention of the original data pertaining to this project in accordance with the Australian Code for the Responsible Conduct of Research.

Kind Regards

Professor Nip Thomson

Chair, MUHREC

CC: Professor Simon Bell, Dr Janet Sluggett, Ms Esa Chen

Page 1 of 1

Appendix 3

Chapter Four: Ethics approval

This appendix contains the ethics approval letters for the time-and-motion study presented in Chapter Four.



Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee

Approval Certificate

This is to certify that the project below was considered by the Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee. The Committee was satisfied that the proposal meets the requirements of the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research and has granted approval.

 Project Number
 11054

 Project Title:
 A time-and-motion study of medication administration by nurses and care workers in residential aged care homes

 Chief Investigator:
 Dr Janet Sluggett

 Expiry Date:
 30/01/2023

Terms of approval - failure to comply with the terms below is in breach of your approval and the Australian Code for the Responsible Conduct of Research.

- 1. The Chief Investigator is responsible for ensuring that permission letters are obtained, if relevant, before any data collection can occur at the specified organisation.
- 2. Approval is only valid whilst you hold a position at Monash University.
- 3. It is responsibility of the Chief Investigator to ensure that all investigators are aware of the terms of approval and to ensure the project is conducted as approved by MUHREC.
- You should notify MUHREC immediately of any serious or unexpected adverse effects on participants or unforeseen events affecting the ethical acceptability of the project.
- 5. The Explanatory Statement must be on Monash letterhead and the Monash University complaints clause must include your project number.
- 6. Amendments to approved projects including changes to personnel must not commence without written approval from MHUREC.
- 7. Annual Report continued approval of this project is dependent on the submission of an Annual Report.
- 8. Final Report should be provided at the conclusion of the project. MUHREC should be notified if the project is discontinued before the expected completion date.
- 9. Monitoring project may be subject to an audit or any other form of monitoring by MUHREC at any time.
- 10. Retention and storage of data The Chief Investigator is responsible for the storage and retention of the original data pertaining to the project for a minimum period of five years.

Thank you for your assistance.

Professor Nip Thomson

Chair, MUHREC

CC: Assoc Professor Simon Bell, Dr Jenni Ilomaki, Ms Esa Chen, Prof Sarah Hilmer, Ms Tessa Caporale, Ms Michelle Hogan, Ms Megan Corlis

List of approved documents:

Document Type	File Name	Date	Version
Questionnaires / Surveys	Questionnaire_170919	19/09/2017	170919
Consent Form	Consent form_180115	15/01/2018	180115
Explanatory Statement	Participant information_180116	16/01/2018	180116
Supporting Documentation	FRA_180105_Risk-Management-Research placements_SA	16/01/2018	180116

Appendix 4

Chapter Four: Participant information and consent form.

This appendix contains the following documents for the time-and-motion study presented in Chapter Four:

- Participant information sheet
- Participant consent form
- Participant demographic questionnaire





INFORMATION SHEET FOR RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS A TIME-AND-MOTION STUDY OF MEDICATION ADMINISTRATION IN RESIDENTIAL AGED CARE HOMES Project number: 11054

Dr Janet Sluggett (Chief investigator) Centre for Medicine Use and Safety Monash University Phone: 03 9903 9533 Email: janet.sluggett@monash.edu Ms Michelle Hogan (Helping Hand contact) Project Officer, Research and Development Helping Hand Aged Care Phone: 08 8224 7871 Email : <u>mehogan@helpinghand.org.au</u>

You may be invited to participate in a research project involving the observation of medication administration processes in residential aged care homes.

What does the research involve?

The primary purpose of this research project is to measure the average time it takes to administer medications in residential aged care homes.

There is currently little information about how long it takes to administer medications in aged care homes. Improving our understanding of the medication administration process will allow health care professionals and aged care providers to identify opportunities to optimise medication administration. The results of this study will be used as part of the assessment of the impact of the Simplification of Medications Prescribed to Long-tErm care Residents (SIMPLER) study that aimed to simplify medication regimens by reducing the number of times that medications need to be given each day.

Participation in this project will involve a one-time collection of basic information about yourself, and being observed carrying out your normal duties during the medication administration round. The investigator will be using a tablet computer device to record the time observed to complete specific tasks relating to medication administration (e.g. crushing tablets, measuring liquids). You may occasionally be asked by the investigator to clarify details of a task, to verbally state which task you are performing, or to specify the dementia status of a resident.

It is anticipated that it will take 5-10 minutes of your time to fill out the consent form and the questionnaire in order to participate.

Why may you be chosen for this research?

You are receiving this information because you are involved in administering medications in Helping Hand Aged Care homes. You may be approached by a study investigator before commencing a medication administration round and asked if you would like to participate. The medication administration rounds chosen will been chosen to accommodate the investigators' availability. The purpose of this study is to measure the average time taken to administer medications, not to assess individual performance.

What are my rights?

Your participation is completely voluntary and you have the right to withdraw at any time. Whether or not you choose to participate will not have any consequence.

What are the possible risks?

Participating in this project does not pose any foreseeable risk for you. It is not anticipated that completing a questionnaire or being observed carrying out your normal role will cause you any harm or distress. You have the right to withdraw from further participation at any stage or to decline to answer specific questions without consequence.

What are the possible benefits?

There are no costs associated with participating in this project, nor will you be paid. You may not directly benefit from participating in this project. However, information obtained in this project may benefit others in the future by improving the way medications are used in residential aged care homes.

How will confidentiality, data access and security be arranged?

Your personal information will be kept strictly confidential and no identifiable data will be reported. Data recorded on the tablet computer will not be linked to individuals or contain identifiable details. All project data will be securely stored at the Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences at Monash University or on a secure website hosting platform for five years. A report of the study may be submitted for publication, but you will not be identifiable in such a report or in any published results. You may request a copy of this report by contacting the chief investigator.

Funding and conflicts of interest

This project is supported by the National Health and Medication Research Council (NHMRC) Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre (CDPC). The CDPC receives support from the NHMRC and Funding Partners including Helping Hand Aged Care, HammondCare, Brightwater Care Group and Alzheimer's Australia. Three of the study investigator team (Ms Megan Corlis, Ms Tessa Caporale, and Ms Michelle Hogan) are employees of Helping Hand, but do not work directly with employees who will be approached regarding participation in this research, nor will they be involved in obtaining consent from employees to participate in this study.

Approval for this project has been granted by the Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee and the Helping Hand ethical review panel. This research will be conducted according to the NHMRC National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research.

If you have any ethical concerns about this project or questions about the rights of participants please contact:

Executive Officer, Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee (MUHREC) Room 111, Building 3e, Research Office Monash University VIC 3800 Tel: (03) 9905 2052 Fax: (03) 9905 3831 E-mail: <u>muhrec@monash.edu</u>

Thank you,

Dr Janet Sluggett (Chief investigator)





CONSENT FORM FOR RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS

A TIME-AND-MOTION STUDY OF MEDICATION ADMINISTRATION IN RESIDENTIAL AGED CARE FACILITIES Project number: 11054

Chief investigator: Dr Janet Sluggett Centre for Medicine Use and Safety, Monash University 381 Royal Parade PARKVILLE VIC 3052 Email: janet.sluggett@monash.edu

I have been invited to participate in the research project stated above, involving the observation medication administration processes in residential aged care homes.

I agree to the following:	Yes	No
I have read and understood the participant information		
I understand that participating in this project involves providing basic demographic information		
I understand that participating in this project involves being observed during my normal work shift carrying out my normal duties		
I understand that I can refuse to answer any questions and can withdraw consent to participate at any time without consequence		
I understand that my personal information will be kept confidential and that the data collected will not be linked to me individually		
I consent to participate in this project		

Participant name (please print)

Participant Signature

Date





DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE FOR RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS

A TIME-AND-MOTION STUDY OF MEDICATION ADMINISTRATION IN RESIDENTIAL AGED CARE FACILITIES Project number: 11054

AGE	
SEX	
CURRENT ROLE	
AVERAGE NUMBER OF HOURS WORKED PER FORTNIGHT	
HIGHEST EDUCATIONAL QUALIFICATION	
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE IN AGED CARE	
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE ADMINISTERING MEDICATION	
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE IN CURRENT ROLE	

Appendix 5

Chapter Five: Ethics approval

This appendix contains the ethics approval letters for the nominal group technique presented in Chapter Five.

MONASH University

Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee

Approval Certificate

This is to certify that the project below was considered by the Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee. The Committee was satisfied that the proposal meets the requirements of the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research and has granted approval.

 Project Number:
 0731

 Project Title:
 Development and validation of a medication regimen simplification guide

 Chief Investigator:
 Dr Janet Sluggett

 Expiry Date:
 03/10/2021

Terms of approval - failure to comply with the terms below is in breach of your approval and the Australian Code for the Responsible Conduct of Research.

- 1. The Chief Investigator is responsible for ensuring that permission letters are obtained, if relevant, before any data can occur at the specified organisation.
- 2. Approval is only valid whilst your hold a position at Monash University.
- 3. It is responsibility of the Chief Investigator to ensure that all investigators are aware of the terms of approval and to ensure the project is conducted as approved by MUHREC.
- 4. You should notify MUHREC immediately of any serious or unexpected adverse effects on participants or unforeseen events affecting the ethical acceptability of the project.
- 5. The Explanatory Statement must be on Monash letterhead and the Monash University complaints clause must include your project number.
- 6. Amendments to approved projects including changes to personnel must not commence without written approval from MHUREC.
- 7. Annual Report continued approval of this project is dependent on the submission of an Annual Report.
- Final Report should be provided at the conclusion of the project. MUHREC should be notified if the project is discontinued before the expected completion date.
- 9. Monitoring project may be subject to an audit or any other form of monitoring by MUHREC at any time.
- 10. Retention and storage of data The Chief Investigator is responsible fo the storage and retention of the original data pertaining to the project for a minimum period of five years.

Thank you for your assistance.

Professor Nip Thomson

Chair, MUHREC

Page 1 of 1

Appendix 6

Chapter Five: Participant information and consent form

This appendix contains the following documents for the nominal group technique presented in Chapter Five:

- Participant information sheet
- Participant consent form





INFORMATION SHEET FOR RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS

DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF A MEDICATION REGIMEN SIMPLIFICATION GUIDE

You have been invited to participate in a research project as a member of an expert panel to advise on the development of a novel guide for simplifying medication regimens.

Purpose of this research project

The primary purpose of this research project is to develop and pilot test a structured process to simply medication administration for residents of aged care facilities.

Your rights

Whether or not you choose to participate will not have any adverse consequence. Your participation is completely voluntary and you have the right to withdraw at any time. Your personal information will be kept strictly confidential. All project data will be securely stored at the Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences at Monash University for five years. A report of the study may be submitted for publication, but you will not be identified in such a report or in any published results unless you give consent to be named in the acknowledgements section. You may request a copy of this report by contacting the chief investigator.

Description of project

Participation in this project will involve being a part of an expert panel to develop, pilot test, and perform an initial face-validity check of a draft of the guide for medication regimen simplification. There are currently no routinely implemented structured approaches specifically designed to simplify medication regimens in residential aged care facilities. The development of a systematic and structured approach will allow health care professionals to identify opportunities to simplify medication regimens during routine care. The guide will be used in the intervention arm of a cluster randomised controlled trial investigating the impact of a structured process to simply medication administration for residents of aged care facilities

It is anticipated that the expert panel will meet once for approximately four hours at Helping Hand Aged Care offices in North Adelaide. Your identity will be known by other members of the expert panel, but the panel discussion will not be audio or video recorded, and no identifiable data will be collected.

Your safety

Participating in this project does not pose any foreseeable risk for you. It is not anticipated that completing an interview or participating in a focus group will cause you any distress. You have

the right to withdraw from further participation at any stage or to decline to answer specific questions without consequence.

Possible benefits

You may not directly benefit from participating in this project. However, information obtained in this project may benefit others in the future by improving the way medications are used in residential aged care settings.

This research will be conducted according to the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research.

This project has been approved by the Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee (project number 0731).

Funding and conflicts of interest

This project is supported by the NHMRC's Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre. Dr Sluggett, the chief investigator, is a pharmacist accredited to provide medication reviews to residents of aged care facilities. She does not have a direct financial interest in this research.

If you have any ethical concerns about this project or questions about the rights of participants please contact:

Executive Officer Monash University Human Research Ethics Committee (MUHREC) Room 111, Building 3e Research Office Monash University VIC 3800 Tel: (03) 9905 2052 Fax: (03) 9905 3831 E-mail: <u>muhrec@monash.edu</u>

If you have any questions about the project you can contact the chief investigator: Dr Janet Sluggett Centre for Medicine Use and Safety Monash University 381 Royal Parade PARKVILLE VIC 3052 Email: janet.sluggett@monash.edu





CONSENT FORM FOR RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS

DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF A MEDICATION REGIMEN SIMPLIFICATION GUIDE

Chief investigator:	Dr Janet Sluggett
	Centre for Medicine Use and Safety
	Monash University
	381 Royal Parade
	PARKVILLE VIC 3052
	Email: janet.sluggett@monash.edu

I have been invited to participate in the research project stated above, involving the convening of an expert panel to develop a novel guide for simplifying medication regimens.

I have read and understood the participant information and I hereby consent to participate in this project.

I consent to the following:	Yes	No
Participating in an expert panel to develop, pilot test, and performing an initial face-validity check of a guide for medication regimen simplification		
Having my name included in an acknowledgements section of any reports produced and/or published as a result of this study		

Participant name (please print)

Participant Signature

Date